

Socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities in the dietary habits of adolescents in Belgium

Analysis of the "Health Behaviour in School-aged Children" Surveys

Doctoral thesis submitted by Manon ROUCHE

in fulfilment of the requirements of the PhD Degree in public health ("Docteur en santé publique") Academic year 2020-2021

Supervisor: Professor Katia CASTETBON

Research Centre for Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Clinical Research

Doctoral thesis jury:

Philippe Donnen (Université libre de Bruxelles, Chair) Isabelle Godin (Université libre de Bruxelles, Secretary) Olivier Bruyère (University of Liège) Benedicte Deforche (Ghent University) Carl Lachat (Ghent University) Pedro Marques-Vidal (Lausanne University Hospital)

FOREWORD

Dietary habits account for a significant proportion of preventable deaths and disabilities. Numerous initiatives have been put in place to raise public awareness of healthy dietary habits as part of chronic disease prevention. Moreover, diet is particularly prone to social inequalities, which can lead to social inequalities in health. In order to reduce the burden of diet-related diseases, there is a need to develop public health initiatives that reduce such inequalities or at least do not increase them. In this respect, socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities in relation to diet as well as the underlying mechanisms need to be thoroughly understood.

Adolescence is a critical transition period characterised by the acquisition of health behaviours that can continue into adulthood. During this process of existential transformation, diet plays an important role. Influenced by their school, family and peer environments, adolescents can acquire both unfavourable and health-promoting dietary behaviours. These behaviours may be a way to control their body and its transformations or to define their identity, outside of their families but in connection with their peers, for instance. Nowadays, adolescents are particularly open to new ideas and eager to impose their choices and preferences. Adolescence thus represents a window of opportunity to induce the acquisition of favourable behaviours that can be spread through adolescents' social networks and that may last a lifetime.

In this context, a research project was developed to comprehensively assess social and cultural disparities in diet among adolescents and young adults in Belgium. This project was a preliminary stage of an intervention trial aimed at reducing social and cultural inequalities in diet among this population. Funding for four years was granted by the Wallonia-Brussels Federation in the framework of the "*Action de Recherche Concertée – Projets Consolidation 2016-2020*" [Concerted Research Action - Consolidation Projects].

Within the framework of this project, two doctoral theses have been carried out. The first one, already published, had the objective of studying the socioeconomic and cultural disparities relating to the diet of adolescents and young adults living in Belgium. It was based on the data from the National Food Consumption Survey (FCS). The second, this one, used the data from the "Health Behaviour in School-aged Children" (HBSC) surveys carried out in Belgium. The differences between the studies in the populations, sampling methods, and data collection on diet and social indicators make the two theses complementary in order to achieve the global objective of the research project.

FOREWORD

This thesis manuscript focuses on adolescents recruited in the school setting, using the HBSC surveys. The first chapter defines the framework of the thesis, including a literature review on diet disparities among adolescents, and the objectives. Methods are presented in the second chapter. Chapters 3, 4 and 5 present the three parts of analyses carried out on the HBSC survey data. The sixth and final chapter consists of a general discussion followed by a conclusion.

ABSTRACT

Diet contributes to a large proportion of preventable deaths and diseases. Adolescence is a period during which diet may particularly evolve, and therefore represents an opportunity to develop long-lasting healthy dietary behaviours. However, dietary habits are particularly subject to social variations, which may lead to social inequalities in health. Tackling them requires public health actions based on a comprehensive approach of social determinants at this life stage.

This doctoral thesis aimed to examine socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities in dietary habits among adolescents, using the repeated cross-sectional Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) surveys conducted in French- and Dutch-speaking Belgian schools. The three specific objectives of this aim were: (i) to study the socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits of adolescents from different migration status; (ii) to determine trends in dietary disparities between 1990 and 2014; (iii) to estimate disparities in dietary habits according to the socioeconomic and migration status at both individual and contextual levels.

Firstly, different socioeconomic disparity patterns according to the migration status were observed, with narrower disparities in 1st-generation immigrants than among natives, highlighting the major role of cultural influences in immigrant populations. Secondly, the long-term trend analyses emphasised increasing disparities for healthy foods and decreasing disparities for unhealthy foods. In addition, when the consumption of a food group increased overall, disparities decreased, and vice-versa. Finally, the multilevel analyses showed that individual and school disparities were independently associated with food consumption frequencies. Furthermore, this observational assessment revealed the weak relationships between nutrition policy in schools and dietary habits. Note that in the Brussels-Capital Region, native adolescents were at higher risk of unhealthy dietary behaviours than immigrants, but the risk of unhealthy behaviours tended to be higher when, in the school, the socioeconomic index decreased, and the proportion of immigrants increased.

Overall, our analyses underlined the need to include, in addition to the socioeconomic factors, cultural components in public health actions aimed at addressing social inequalities in adolescent diet, in a multicultural context such as Belgium. Support to schools, with a greater emphasis on those disadvantaged in order to prevent increased inequalities, is needed to develop a consistent and effective nutrition policy. Finally, further studies are needed to better understand the mechanisms behind dietary disparities among adolescents, particularly those related to their migration status and broader socioeconomic environment.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My first thanks go to my thesis supervisor, Katia Castetbon. I can never thank you enough for having trusted me to carry out this project and for having given me a taste for research and this field of study. I also thank you for your availability, your patience, your kindness, and your high standards. I am also thankful to you for having challenged me and continuing to challenge me since we met. Finally, I am so grateful for all that you have taught me and given me.

I would like to thank Philippe Donnen for having accepted to chair my thesis jury, and Isabelle Godin, for being the secretary. I also thank them and Olivier Bruyère, Bart de Clercq and Benedicte Deforche, for their yearly accompaniment during these three years of thesis. Thanks also to Carl Lachat and Pedro Marques-Vidal for having accepted to be part of my thesis jury.

I warmly thank my colleagues from the ARC-Cost-HBSCint-DRINK meetings, Amélie, Angéline, Camille and Lucille. I wish you all the best in your research projects and hope that we will meet again one day to collaborate.

I would also like to thank the SIPES team for having welcomed me four years ago as a master student, then as a PhD student and as a researcher a few months ago. I would particularly like to thank Emma, Maud and Thérésa for their unfailing presence, even from a distance. Thank you also Emma for proofreading part of this thesis, my articles and for your support on English.

I thank the ESP and CR2 for hosting me. I would like to thank especially Amandine and Lionel to whom I wish all the best in their doctoral thesis. I would also like to thank all the people who contributed to this thesis, especially through HBSC and in particular all the people who worked on the French-speaking surveys as well as Maxim and Bart.

My warmest thanks to the ULB Peer Writers and in particular to Mathias. You have followed me over the weeks and months in my thesis and in particular the writing of it. Your weekly support and invaluable advice contributed to the completion of this manuscript.

I thank my family for their unfailing support. I thank you more particularly, Dad, for teaching me, especially during a foot race some twenty years ago, to never give up. This perseverance allowed me to move mountains and to reach the end of this thesis project.

Finally, I would like to thank you so much, Stéphane. Thank you for supporting me in this project and for always being there. Thank you for everything.

SCIENTIFIC VALORISATION

Related to the doctoral thesis

Published scientific papers

Rouche M, Dierckens M, Desbouys L, Pedroni C, Lebacq T, Godin I, Deforche B, Castetbon K. Twenty-Four-Year Trends in Family and Regional Disparities in Fruit, Vegetable and Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption among Adolescents in Belgium. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18(9):4408.

Rouche M, de Clercq B, Lebacq T, Dierckens M, Moreau N, Desbouys L, Godin I, Castetbon K. Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(4):812.

Submitted scientific papers

Rouche M, Lebacq T, Pedroni C, Holmberg E, Bellanger A, Desbouys L, Castetbon K. Dietary disparities among adolescents according to individual and school socioeconomic index: a multilevel analysis. *Public Health Nutr*. [Under Review].

Oral presentations

Rouche M, Dierckens M, Desbouys L, Pedroni C, Lebacq T, Godin I, Deforche B, Castetbon K. Changes in disparities related to the family structure regarding fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage in adolescents in Belgium between 1990 and 2014. European Association for Research in Adolescence, September 2020, Online (Porto, PT).

Rouche M, Dierckens M, Desbouys L, Pedroni C, Lebacq T, Godin I, Deforche B, Castetbon K. Changes in disparities related to the family structure regarding fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage in adolescents in Belgium between 1990 and 2014. Public Health PhD Students' Day, November 2019, Louvain (BE).

Rouche, M, de Clercq B, Lebacq T, Dierckens M, Moreau N, Desbouys L, Godin I, Castetbon K. Socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits according to migration status among adolescents. Public Health PhD Students' Day, December 2018, Liège (BE).

Rouche, M. Adolescents issus des migrations en Belgique : des comportements alimentaires contrastés. Symposium Belgique (ESP-ULB) – Suisse (IUMSP-UNIL) "Alimentation et santé publique", November 2018, Brussels (BE).

Poster presentation

Rouche M, de Clercq B, Lebacq T, Dierckens M, Moreau N, Desbouys L, Godin I, Castetbon K. Socioeconomic dietary disparities according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium. Poster presented during the annual ISBNPA meeting in June 2019, Prague (CZ).

Apart from the doctoral thesis

Published scientific papers

Pedroni C, Vandevijvere S, Desbouys L, **Rouche M**, Castetbon K. The cost of diets according to diet quality and sociodemographic characteristics in children and adolescents in Belgium. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* [In press].

Pedroni C, Castetbon K, Desbouys L, **Rouche M**, Vandevijvere S. The cost of diets according to nutritional quality and sociodemographic characteristics: a population-based assessment. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2021.05.024

Chatelan A, **Rouche M**, Dzielska A, Lebacq L, Fismen AS, Kelly C, Zaborskis A, Kopcakova J, Tsareva A, Kalman M, Castetbon K. Time trends in consumption of sugary soft drinks and related socioeconomic differences among adolescents in Eastern Europe: signs of a nutrition transition? *Am J Clin Nutr*. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqab175

Desbouys L, **Rouche M**, De Ridder K, Pedroni C, Castetbon K. Ten-year changes in diet quality among adolescents and young adult (Food Consumption Survey 2004 and 2014, Belgium). *Eur J Nutr.* 2021. 60(6):3225-35

Desbouys L, De Ridder K, **Rouche M**, Castetbon K. Food consumption in adolescents and young adults: Age-specific socio-economic and cultural disparities (Belgian Food Consumption Survey 2014). *Nutrients*. 2019;11(7):1520.

Rouche M, Castetbon K, Dujeu M, Meroc E, Lebacq T, Pedroni C, Senterre C, Godin I, Moreau N. Feelings about the timing of first sexual intercourse and health-related quality of life among adolescents. *BMC Public Health*. 2019;19(1):408.

Submitted scientific papers

Dujeu M, Castetbon K, **Rouche M**, Lebacq T, Pedroni C, Godin I. Eight-year changes in adolescent self-rated health and life satisfaction in relation to living arrangement: repeated cross-sectional national surveys (HBSC) in French-speaking Belgium. *J Divorce Remarriage* [Under review].

Chatelan A, Lebacq T, **Rouche M**, Kelly C, Fismen AS, Kalman M, Dzielska A, Castetbon K. Long-term trends in the consumption of sugary and diet soft drinks among adolescents: a cross-national survey in 21 European countries. *Eur J Nutr*. [Under review].

Oral presentations

Chatelan A, **Rouche M**, Dzielska A, Lebacq L, Fismen AS, Kelly C, Zaborskis A, Kopcakova J, Tsareva A, Kalman M, Castetbon K. Trends in adolescent soda consumption in Eastern Europe between 2002 and 2018. ISBNPA, 20th annual meeting, June 2021, Online.

Chatelan A, Lebacq T, **Rouche M**, Dzielska A, Fismen AS, Colette K, Castetbon K. Time trends in the consumption of sugar- and artificially sweetened beverages among adolescents from 21 European countries between 2002 and 2018. Excellence in Pediatrics, 12th conference "Improving child health globally", December 2020, Online (Amsterdam, NL).

Lebacq T, **Rouche M**, Bellanger A, Dujeu M, Holmberg E, Eggen M, Desnouck V, Chatelan A, Castetbon A. Daily consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages among adolescents: The role of contextual school factors. Excellence in Pediatrics, 12th conference "Improving child health globally", December 2020, Online (Amsterdam, NL).

Desbouys L, **Rouche M**, De Ridder K, Castetbon K. Change in disparities of dietary quality score (FSAm-NPS) in adolescents and young adults between 2004 and 2014 in Belgium. Federation of European Nutrition Societies, 13th European Nutrition Conference, October 2019, Dublin (IRL).

Supervision of master student

Master's dissertation presented by **Kouam Kaping Armelle Vanessa** (2019/2020 academic year) : *Durée de séjour en Belgique et consommation de fruits et de boissons sucrées chez les adolescents immigrés : étude HBSC 2018*.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD	1
ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
SCIENTIFIC VALORISATION	5
TABLE OF CONTENTS	8
LIST OF TABLES	11
LIST OF FIGURES	12
LIST OF APPENDICES	13
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	15
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	17
1. Food-related public health issues	17
1.1. Diet and health	17
1.1.1. Diet: a risk factor and a protective factor for health	17
1.1.2. Main dietary guidelines in Belgium	18
1.2. Social inequalities in health applied to diet	22
1.2.1. Origins of social epidemiology as a science	22
1.2.2. Concepts related to social inequalities in health	23
1.2.3. Main indicators of social position	
1.3. Adolescent diet: main issues and disparities	39
1.3.1. Adolescence, a key period for the acquisition of dietary behaviours	39
1.3.2. Updating knowledge on dietary disparities in adolescents	40
2. Methodological issues in nutritional epidemiology: Focus on dietary behaviours	52
2.1. Brief overview of nutritional epidemiology issues	52
2.2. Dietary data collection in school-based surveys: the short Food Frequency Questionnaire	54
2.2.1. Food Frequency Questionnaire	54
2.2.2. Short Food Frequency Questionnaire	56
2.3. Issues related to the interrelation of the different indicators of social position in diet: the ca	ses of
effect modification and confounding	57
2.3.1. Effect modification of the social position indicators	57
2.3.2. Confounding in the relationship between social position and dietary habits	58
3. Objectives of the thesis	61

	3.1.	Main objective	61
	3.2.	Specific objectives	61
СНА	PTER I	I. METHODS	62
1.	The	"Health Behaviour in School-aged Children" survey	
	1.1.	General aims and objectives	
	1.2.	Sampling	63
	1.3.	Data collection	
	1.3.1	. Individual-level data	
	1.3.2	Context-level data	69
2.	Anal	yses of dietary disparities among adolescents	72
	2.1.	Sample studied	72
	2.2.	Reprocessing data	72
	2.2.1	. Food consumption	72
	2.2.2	Individual characteristics	76
	2.2.3	School characteristics	79
	2.3.	Statistical analyses	
	2.3.1	. Migration status as an effect modifier of the association between socioeconomic status	and
	dieta	ry habits – Chapter III	
	2.3.2	Long-term trends in dietary disparities – Chapter IV	
	2.3.3	. Individual and school socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits – Chapter V	
СНА	PTER I	II. SOCIOECONOMIC DISPARITIES IN ADOLESCENT DIET: MIGRATION ST	ATUS
AS A	MODI	FIER	89
1.	Intro	duction	89
2.	Publ	ished paper: "Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary according to migration status among	
ad	lolescent	s in Belgium"	91
3.	Add	itional analyses	114
	3.1.	Socioeconomic characteristics of adolescents of different migration status	114
	3.2.	Dietary habits and proportion of time spent in Belgium	117
4.	Cone	clusion	118
СНА	PTER I	V. LONG-TERM TRENDS IN DIETARY DISPARITIES AMONG ADOLESCENTS	12 0
1	Intro	duction	120
1.	muu		120
2.	Publ	ished paper: "Twenty-Four-Year Trends in Family and Regional Disparities in Fruit, Veget	able
an	d Sugar-	Sweetened Beverage Consumption among Adolescents in Belgium"	121
3.	Add	tional analyses on the Brussels-Capital Region	136
4.	Cone	clusion	139

CHAPTER V. DIETARY DISPARITIES AMONG ADOLESCENTS: RESPECTIVE EFFECTS OF			
INDIVDUAL AND SCHOOL CHARACTERISTICS			
1. Introduction			
2. Draft paper: "Dietary disparities among adolescents according to indiv	idual and school socioeconomic		
status: a multilevel analysis"			
3. Additional analyses on the Brussels-Capital Region			
4. Conclusion			
CHAPTER VI. GENERAL DISCUSSION			
1. Summary of results			
2. Methodological considerations			
2.1. Internal validity			
2.1.1. Selection bias			
2.1.2. Information bias			
2.1.3. Confounding			
2.2. External validity			
3. Research perspectives			
4. Public health implications			
CHAPTER VII. CONCLUSION			
REFERENCES			
APPENDICES			

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Food group consumption according to socioeconomic or sociocultural
characteristics of adolescents
Table 2 . General layout of the HBSC short Food Frequency Questionnaire. ⁶⁷
Table 3 . sFFQ questions according to the survey year and region. 70
Table 4 . sFFQ answer modalities according to the survey year and region
Table 5. Transformation of the original consumption frequencies into frequency
consumption in days per month for variables making up the composite variables73
Table 6. Food groups, variables, and categorisation (reference category in bold;
corresponding summed frequencies in days per month in grey) used for analyses on
socioeconomic disparities by migration status (chapter III)74
Table 7. Food groups, variables, and categorisation (reference category in bold;
corresponding summed frequencies in days per month in grey) used for analyses on long-
term trend in disparities (chapter IV)75
Table 8. Food groups, variables, and categorisation (reference category in bold;
corresponding summed frequencies in days per month in grey) used for analyses on
contextual disparities (chapter V)75
Table 9. Characteristics of adolescents (%) according to their migration status in the French-
speaking 1986, 2010, 2014, 2018 and Dutch-speaking 2014 surveys116
Table 10. Prevalence and Relative Index (RII) and Slope Index of Inequalities (SII) related to
migration status in fruit, vegetables, and sugar-sweetened beverages consumption among
adolescents between 1986 and 2014. HBSC, French-speaking Belgium, 1986-2010-2014. 138
Table 11. Summary of trends in dietary habits and related inequalities. 141
Table 12. Multilevel logistic regressions for fruit consumption (ref: daily consumption)
(n=1,603). 2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium
Table 13. Multilevel logistic regressions for crisps and fries consumption (ref: non-daily
consumption) (n= 1,603). 2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium
Table 14. Description of the successive models and their specific objectives

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Épi alimentaire / Voedingstak – Five priorities for eating better. Source: Food in	
action, 20191	9
Figure 2. Cut-out triangle developed by the Vlaams Instituut Gezond Leven. Source: Vlaam	S
Instituut Gezond Leven, 20172	0
Figure 3. Cut-out food pyramid developed by Food in Action and the Haute Ecole Léonard	
de Vinci. Source: Food in Action, 20202	0
Figure 4. Types of relationship between a health determinant and a health risk2	4
Figure 5. Diagram illustrating the main pathways of generation of health inequalities from	
social environment2	6
Figure 6. Flowchart showing selection of reports included in the literature review4	2
Figure 7. Directed Acyclic Graph from distal factors (D) through proximal factors (P) to	
dietary habits (O), with confounder (C)5	9
Figure 8. Flow chart of invited and participating French-speaking schools and adolescents	
for the HBSC surveys used in this research6	5
Figure 9. Flow chart of invited and participating Dutch-speaking schools and adolescents fo	r
the HBSC surveys used in this research6	6
Figure 10. Map of dietary habits and their determinants based on the analysis of the Health	
Behaviour in School-aged Children surveys in Belgium. Source: adapted from "Carte de la	
santé et de ses déterminants" of the National Institute of Public Health of Québec, 2012)17	4

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A. Research syntax used in Medline for updating knowledge on dietary disparities
Appendix B. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for studies in the literature review
Appendix C. Example of the short Food Frequency Questionnaire in HBSC
Appendix D. Outlines of multilevel modelling – Methods related to chapters III and V210
Appendix E. Outlines of Multiple Correspondence Analysis – Methods related to chapter V
Appendix F. Supplementary material to the article "Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary
according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium" - Multilevel logistic regression
models related to the results in figure form
Appendix G. Supplementary material to the article "Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary
according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium" - Multilevel logistic regression
stratified by geographical origin of immigrants
Appendix H. Supplementary material to the article "Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary
according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium" – Comparisons between
adolescents included in analyses and those eligible but not included
Appendix I. Supplementary material to the article "Twenty-four-year trends in family and
regional disparities in fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among
adolescents" – Inclusion diagram
Appendix J. Supplementary material to the article "Twenty-four-year trends in family and
regional disparities in fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among
adolescents" - Food consumption and characteristics of participants by survey year231
Appendix K. Supplementary material to the article "Twenty-four-year trends in family and
regional disparities in fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among
adolescents" - Graphical representation of prevalence of food consumption by survey year
Appendix L. Measures of inequalities related to family structure and school region in dietary
habits of adolescents in Belgium (Chapter IV)
Appendix M. Measures of inequalities related to migration status in dietary habits of
adolescents in French-speaking Belgium (Chapter IV)

Appendix N. Supplementary material to the article "Dietary disparities among adolescents
according to individual and school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis" – Inclusion
diagram
Appendix O. Supplementary material to the article "Dietary disparities among adolescents
according to individual and school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis" – Factor map
of the Multiple Correspondence Analysis
Appendix P. Supplementary material to the article "Dietary disparities among adolescents
according to individual and school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis" – Food
consumption and characteristics of participants
Appendix Q. Supplementary material to the article "Dietary disparities among adolescents
according to individual and school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis" – Multilevel
logistic regressions for dairy products consumption
Appendix R. Results of the additional analyses carried out on the Brussels-Capital Region
(Chapter V)

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- 24HR 24-hour dietary recall
- CBE Crossroad Banks for Enterprise
- CVDs Cardiovascular diseases
- DALYs Disability-adjusted life-years
- DQI-AM Diet Quality Index for Adolescents, including a specific Meal index
- EFSA European Food Safety Authority
- FAO Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations
- FAS Family Affluence Scale
- FBDG Food-Based Dietary Guidelines
- FCS Belgian Food Consumption Survey
- FFQ Food Frequency Questionnaire
- FWB Wallonia-Brussels Federation
- HBSC Health Behaviour in School-aged Children
- HCPC Hierarchical Clustering on Principal Components
- HEI Healthy Eating Index
- HPS Health Promoting School
- KIDMED Mediterranean Diet Quality Index for children and adolescent
- MOR Median Odds Ratio
- N/A Not available
- NCDs Non-communicable diseases
- OR Odd Ratio
- PAF Population Attributable Factor
- PCV Proportional Change of Variance

- POOR Proportion of Opposed Odds Ratio
- PR Prevalence Ratio
- RRR Relative Risk Ratio
- SEI Socioeconomic index
- SES Socioeconomic status
- sFFQ Short Food Frequency Questionnaire
- SHC Superior Health Council
- SSB Sugar-sweetened beverage
- T2D Type 2 diabetes mellitus
- U.K. United Kingdom
- U.S. United States
- VPC Variance Partition Coefficient
- WHO World Health Organisation

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

**

1. Food-related public health issues

In the past few decades, numerous studies, such as cohort studies¹ and randomised trials,² have been conducted to better understand the complex relationships between food consumption and health.³ Based on strong evidence, it has been concluded that diet may have favourable, neutral or unfavourable effects on health.^{3,4} As a result of the accumulation of knowledge, learned societies and research institutions have synthesised such an evidence.³ Among the most successful syntheses is the one carried out since 1997 by the *World Cancer Research Fund* and the *American Institute for Cancer*.⁵ This continuously updated report summarises and appraises knowledge and levels of evidence on the links between food (along with physical activity and body weight) and cancer.

Following knowledge syntheses, national and international consensus have been reached on the main outlines of "healthy eating". The World Health Organisation (WHO) has taken up this consensus to call for a global commitment to reduce the heavy and growing burden of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) related to unhealthy diet and physical inactivity.⁶ In this regard, WHO has issued over the years sets of recommendations for policies and action plans at various levels, based on current issues. Thus, in the 2010's, WHO released recommendations for tackling childhood obesity following its rapid increase worldwide.⁷ Recently, the emergence of climate change issues has raised the importance of sustainable food production and eating habits. In 2019, based on the growing body of work on this topic,⁸ the WHO and the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) have issued guiding principles for sustainable healthy diets.⁹

1.1.Diet and health

1.1.1.Diet: a risk factor and a protective factor for health

Dietary habits account for a significant proportion of preventable deaths and disabilities in Europe and around the World.¹⁰ In 2019, the dietary risk factors were estimated to be responsible for eight million deaths worldwide (18.9% of total deaths) and 188 million disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) (11.6% of total DALYs) related to NCDs among all ages.¹¹ In Belgium, the dietary risk factors were estimated to be responsible for 13 thousand

deaths (13.1% of total deaths) and 228 thousand DALYs (8.0% of total DALYs) with regards to NCDs. Dietary risks are the third leading cause of NCDs deaths and the fourth of NCDs' DALYs in Belgium. The three most important dietary risks for NCDs are diet low in whole grains, and high in red and processed meat.¹¹

Yet diet may also play a role in the prevention of NCDs,⁴ such as cancer, cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), or type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D). In this regard, fruit,^{4,12,13} vegetables,^{4,12,13} legumes,^{4,14} whole grains,^{4,15} nuts,^{4,14} and fish^{16,17} should be consumed in adequate quantities. Indeed, while consuming these foods in insufficient quantities may increase the risk of developing NCDs,⁴ consuming them in adequate quantities may decrease this risk.⁸ In contrast, foods such as sugar-sweetened beverages (SSB),^{4,18} crisps,¹⁹ fries,¹⁹ red meat^{4,20} or processed meat^{4,20} should be consumed in limited quantities, in order to limit the risk of developing NCDs. Because these foods do not provide key nutrients that cannot be found in other sources, they may not be consumed at all from a nutritional standpoint.

1.1.2. Main dietary guidelines in Belgium

Since 1997, the Belgian Superior Health Council (SHC) has developed dietary guidelines organised around nutrients for the population. They are mainly intended for health professionals to help the population adopt a healthy and balanced diet.²¹ With the aim of issuing practical guidelines more directly to the Belgian population, these nutrient-based guidelines have been translated into food-based guidelines,²¹ the first time being in 2005.²²

In 2019, the SHC published the latest food-based guidelines, aimed at the healthy adult population.²¹ The methodology used for the translation came from the guide for establishing Food-Based Dietary Guidelines (FBDG) issued in 2010 by the European Food Safety Agency (EFSA).²³ Accordingly, on the basis of the main diet-related health issues in Belgium and the foods that largely contribute to them, as well as given the current dietary habits observed in the 2014 Belgian Food Consumption Survey (FCS), the 2016 guidelines organised around nutrients were translated into a practical guideline.²¹ Thanks to this methodology, these dietary guidelines give advice on foods and food groups that provide the nutrients needed to promote overall health and prevent NCDs. They focus on the foods to be encouraged at the level of the Belgian population, while taking into account the sociocultural aspects too.²¹

The 2019 food-based dietary guidelines emphasise 12 recommendations, including five "golden rules".²⁴ These five priorities, which are considered to have the greatest benefit for public health, have been promoted through video clips²⁵ and graphically represented (**Figure**

1).²⁶ Other recommendations include the limited consumption of SSB, and of processed and red meat, and the consumption of adequate amounts of fish and dairy products.²¹



Figure 1. Épi alimentaire / Voedingstak – Five priorities for eating better. Source: Food in action, 2019.

While dietary guidelines are national, they can be the subject of public health actions or communication at different levels. For example, nutrition labelling has been mandatory in Belgium since the 1990s as a result of a European directive.²⁷ In 2011, the European regulation defined the mandatory labelling information. This regulation was applied in our country from 2014.²⁷ Furthermore, although still voluntary in Belgium, the Nutri-Score has recently been adopted as the official nutritional logo at the federal level; this formalisation has been supported by information campaigns.²⁸ At last, since 2016, sugar- and artificially-sweetened beverages have been specifically subject to a regularly revised national excise duty.²⁹

Alongside the federal actions, two food guides based on the national dietary recommendations have been disseminated at the regional level for several years.³⁰ Until recently, the latest revisions of the food pyramids were relatively similar. However, since 2017, the *Vlaams Instituut Gezond Leven* [Flemish Institute for Healthy Living] has been disseminating a simple and colourful cut-out triangle (inverted pyramid) in Flanders (**Figure 2**).³¹ Conversely, the pyramid disseminated in Wallonia by a private communication company ("Food in Action") was somewhat modified during the 2020 review.³² It is now a cut-out food pyramid (**Figure 3**) that takes health and sustainability considerations into account. Compared to the pyramid

distributed in Flanders, it is more complete but also much more complex for the general public, and the foods to be consumed in sufficient quantities are less clearly highlighted.



Figure 2. Cut-out triangle developed by the Vlaams Instituut Gezond Leven. *Source: Vlaams Instituut Gezond Leven, 2017.*



Figure 3. Cut-out food pyramid developed by Food in Action and the Haute Ecole Léonard de Vinci. *Source: Food in Action, 2020.*

Overview on adolescents

At present, the 2019 dietary recommendations around foods are not intended for the adolescent population.²¹ Yet, the first version of the food-based dietary guidelines issued in 2005 were developed for adolescents aged 12 to 18.³³ Interestingly, the 2016 dietary recommendations organised around nutrients were developed for adolescents and relatively similar to those for adults.³⁴ In 2014 in Flanders, the *Vlaams Instituut Gezond Leven* made some food-based recommendations for 12-18-year old adolescents.³⁵ These recommendations, intended to Flemish, are similar to the 2019 national dietary guidelines for adults.^{21,35}

Communication of dietary guidelines regarding foods are not specifically aimed at adolescents. While the cut-off pyramid disseminated in Wallonia is only intended for the adult population, the Flemish triangle is intended for the population aged over one year. Previously, the 2005 food-based guidelines intended for adolescents were disseminated through a practical guide for healthy eating, initiated by the *Plan Fédéral Nutrition Santé / Federaal Voedings- en Gezondheidsplan* [Federal Nutrition (and) Health Plan].³³ However, information in this guide was imprecise and disperse.³³

In Belgium, actions promoting healthy eating habits among adolescents are rather scattered and may differ between regions or even at a more local level. For instance, in Flanders, the competent authorities have committed to phasing out unhealthy drinks and snacks in schools, such as sweetened drinks, with the aim of eliminating them by 2020-2021.³⁶ By contrast, in the Wallonia-Brussels Federation (FWB), the issue of banning vending machines in schools was included in a legislative project in 2005 and several times afterwards but was never concluded. With the support of governmental bodies, schools can promote healthy eating habits through various means such as improving the food environment or implementing educational programmes. However, such initiatives are not coordinated, and their content is not checked.

•

Diet is a key factor in improving population health. In Belgium, a number of initiatives have been developed at the federal level and federated entities to raise public awareness of healthy dietary habits as part of the NCDs prevention. The multiplication of these initiatives may have a positive effect, as long as the messages conveyed are clear, understandable and unambiguous. However, this would require more collaboration among the federated entities in charge of health promotion and perhaps with the federal government. The initiatives currently implemented are aimed at the general population but are never targeted at specific populations, including adolescents. Yet, in addition to the content, the form of the message needs to be adapted to these specific populations. In this respect, there still is considerable room for improvement.

1.2. Social inequalities in health applied to diet

1.2.1. Origins of social epidemiology as a science

Although the development of social epidemiology methods as we know them now is fairly recent, the first pioneering works around the social conditions influencing health dates back to the 19th century. At that time, Villermé and Virchow highlighted social class and work conditions as major determinants of health.^{37,38} Shortly afterwards, Chadwick pointed out that the physical environment may have a significant effect on health.^{37,38} However, the assumption of social conditions was overshadowed by other theories at the end of the 19th century, including the germs theory.³⁸ As a result, the social variations in health had drawn less attention. Meanwhile, the improvement of the physical environment and medical advances have resulted in an increase in life expectancy. In Belgium, the life expectancy at birth was less than 50 years at the end of the 19th century, ³⁹

However, how inequalities have changed over the past century in Europe is not fully clear. While it is assumed that absolute inequalities in mortality have been reduced with the increase in life expectancy, the change in relative inequalities is less clear.⁴⁰ In Europe, the interest in health inequalities resurged with the publication of the *Black Report* in 1980 in England. This was the first report to highlight the increasing health inequalities in the second half of the 20th century despite the modern welfare state. Furthermore, at the end of the 20th century, an increase in relative inequalities was observed in Western Europe despite many improvements regarding, for instance, social security and health care systems.⁴⁰ As a result, interest in the influence of socio-structural factors on health significantly increased.³⁸ Since then, many reports have confirmed the trends in health inequalities.⁴¹ Among the most recent is the pioneering report *Marmot Review*, which also sets out an evidence-based strategy to address health inequalities.⁴²

Meanwhile, it has become apparent that health behaviour was not only conditioned by the individual but also by society. This has increased the need for contextual analyses that consider both individual-level and contextual-level data, such as multilevel analyses. These recent findings have been the beginning of the broad development of social epidemiology. Nowadays, it is defined as the "*branch of epidemiology that studies the social distribution and social determinants of states of health*".³⁷

1.2.2. Concepts related to social inequalities in health

1.2.2.1. Social inequalities in health

Social inequalities in health are considered as health differences observed across social groups.⁴³ There are two main approaches to defining social groups.³ The first uses the term "social class" that refers to Marx.^{3,44} A social class is a group or a category of individuals who develop a common consciousness and a sense of belonging that lead to collective action.⁴⁴ The second approach uses statistical aggregates that refer to Weber and is privileged in epidemiology.^{3,44} A stratum is a group of individuals occupying similar positions, with similar prospects for development.^{3,44} In practice, the way to stratify people into social groups is quite specific to societies.⁴³ For instance, in India, the "caste" is a meaningful distinction. The race/ethnicity and to a lesser extent social class are relevant distinctions in the United States (U.S.) although somewhat discussed.⁴⁵ In the United Kingdom (U.K.), the level of schooling achieved is a meaningful grouping.⁴³ In Belgium, like in other European countries, one of the most important definitions of social group is also based on education level.

Differences in health can be denominated by different terms, leading to slightly different meanings^a behind. Throughout this thesis, we have interchangeably used "inequalities" and "disparities" to describe differences, without any *a priori* moral judgment. In other words, we do not postulate that a social group has systematically favourable dietary habits. By contrast, "inequities" are "*systematic differences in health that could be avoided by reasonable means*". Thus, it implies a moral judgment⁴³ and is not used throughout this work.

1.2.2.2. Social gradient in health and other types of relationships with health

Social inequalities cannot be reduced to the extremes of the social hierarchy, such as "rich" *vs.* "poor".³ They cover the whole of society.³ In addition, a social gradient can be observed, such that the higher the position in social hierarchy, the lower risks of morbidity and mortality.³⁷ A social gradient in health may be observed throughout the range of level of education, income or occupation. For instance, in Europe, the mortality rates are greater among the low than the mid, and among the mid than the highly educated.⁵⁰ However, the social gradient is not limited

^a Note that there is an ambiguity in the meaning of those terms. While it can be inverted across continents,⁴⁶ for some languages a single word exists to cover all meanings.⁴⁷ Work is ongoing on the clarification of these terms,^{43,48} but the ambiguity persists. As a matter of fact, the WHO defines "*inégalités*" [inequalities] in French⁴⁹ in the same way as "inequity" in English.

to socioeconomic indicators. It can be observed throughout the range of social groups, such as migration status (see **Chapter III**, section 2).

In addition to the social gradient reflecting a linear relationship, a U- or J-shaped relationship can sometimes be observed (**Figure 4**). For instance, a U-shaped relationship has been observed between occupational status and risk of mortality. Individuals with a low or a high occupational status may have a higher risk of mortality than those with an intermediate one.⁵¹ This can be explained by a strenuous physical occupation for those at the bottom of the hierarchy and a stressful occupation for those at the top.⁵² A similar U-shaped relationship between certain health behaviours and health is also observed. For example, an adequate level of physical activity is beneficial for cardiac morbidity, but low and extreme levels may have a detrimental effect on such morbidities.⁵³

In other instances, a J-shaped relationship has been observed. Among non-smokers, the lowest mortality risk was observed for individuals with a body mass index of 20-22 after more than 20 years of follow-up.⁵⁴ Underweight individuals have a higher mortality risk than normal body weight individuals, and a similar risk to overweight individuals. Moreover, this risk increased substantially with obesity. In fact, underweight individuals are particularly at risk of developing respiratory diseases, while overweight individuals are at risk of developing T2D and a wide range of NCDs.⁵⁴



Figure 4. Types of relationship between a health determinant and a health risk.

1.2.2.3. Social determinants of health inequalities

Social determinants of health inequalities are defined as "*contexts, social norms, social structures, and their determinants*".⁵⁵ Three main pathways have been highlighted to explain the causal process (**Figure 5**).⁵⁵ First, health may determine social position, in a perspective known as "social selection" (pathway A on **Figure 5**). Thus, healthier individuals would move towards a better social position.⁵⁵ For instance, a healthy individual may have access to the entire educational system while a sick or disabled individual may experience difficulties. However, this is not considered to be the main contributor of health inequalities.⁴⁰

The main explanation of health inequalities⁴⁰ is likely to be the "social causation" (pathway B).⁴⁰ This perspective implies that inequalities in health are raised by the differential distribution of more specific health determinants across social groups.^{40,56} These include the health system, material, psychosocial and behavioural factors.^{40,56} Even if people with higher socioeconomic status can, for example, benefit from better treatment or better prognostic factors, access to the health care system does not contribute significantly to health inequalities in Western Europe.⁵⁶ Material factors are related to "conditions of economic hardship" and "damaging conditions in the physical environment".⁵⁶ Psychosocial factors include "stressful living circumstances" or lack of social support. Regarding behavioural factors, the most important health-related behaviours are smoking, diet, alcohol consumption and physical activity. A differential distribution of these behaviours contributes to explain social inequalities in health. For instance, the median contribution (calculated as part of a systematic review)⁵⁷ to socioeconomic differences in all-cause mortality can be up to one-third for tobacco and onefifth for alcohol, physical activity, and diet, depending on the socioeconomic indicator used.⁵⁷ In addition, the median contribution to socioeconomic differences in cardiovascular diseases can be up to more than half for alcohol, one-fourth for diet, one-fifth for tobacco and one-tenth for physical activity.⁵⁷

Lastly, the timing of exposures may influence health (pathway C) through different mechanisms.⁵⁵ First, an exposure at a specific period has lifelong effects, the so-called "critical periods" model.⁵⁶ Second, health factors may accumulate gradually over the life course ("accumulation of risk" model).⁵⁶

25



Figure 5. Diagram illustrating the main pathways of generation of health inequalities from social environment.

Social inequalities in health have a longstanding interest. Today, reducing health inequalities has become a major but still a challenging public health issue. However, a clear understanding is necessary to develop effective public health initiatives. These initiatives must cover the entire social structure and all periods of life, especially critical periods. Comprehensively addressing those determinants is needed to reduce inequalities but implementation of effective actions in "real life" is highly challenging.

1.2.3. Main indicators of social position

Many indicators can reflect social status and therefore social inequalities in health.⁵⁸ There is no single best indicator, universally applicable. Each indicator measures different aspects of the social hierarchy.³ Some of them are specific to periods of life.⁵⁸

The choice of the indicators should be adapted to the research question. However, it also depends on the feasibility to collect such information in the surveys. It is also necessary to consider the theoretical framework for a correct interpretation.³ Two main groups of indicators are described below with examples based on their relationships with diet: socioeconomic position indicators and sociocultural position indicators. Following their presentation, we will address their application to the adolescent population.

1.2.3.1. Socioeconomic position

Socioeconomic position refers to the "social and economic factors that influence what positions individuals or groups hold within the structure of a society".⁵⁸ In the literature, the terms "status" and "position" are often used interchangeably. However, they refer to different

theories.⁵⁹ Socioeconomic status refers to the "prestige- or rank-related characteristics" whereas socioeconomic position includes actual resources in addition to status.⁵⁹ Nevertheless, throughout this work, we have used both terms indifferently, without intending to refer to either theory.

Socioeconomic position is mostly captured by indicators such as education, income and occupation. More rarely but still important, subjective indicators and ecological indicators may be used. Other indicators are used to a greater or a lesser extent, such as housing or wealth, however, these are not developed below.

Education

Due to its robust association with health,⁶⁰ education is a frequently used indicator around the world.³⁷ In short, it mirrors the overall knowledge of individuals. Depending on the context, it is referred to as either years of schooling (continuous variable) or degree credentials (categorical variable).³⁷ While the years of schooling implies that every year contributes similarly to the socioeconomic position, the degree credentials imply that the socioeconomic position is determined by a specific achievement.⁵⁸ However, education as understood above does not consider the quality of education. Although complex to measure, the quality of education might be important, especially in studies including a sociocultural dimension.³⁷ Interestingly, the indicator has methodological advantages relatively to the others, such as ease of measurement or high response rate.⁵⁸ It is also more stable (especially in adults) and less sensitive in the contentious sense than other indicators,⁵⁸ including in Belgium. However, education cannot be directly compared between individuals from different birth cohorts or from different countries.⁵⁸

Different mechanisms are potentially involved in its association with health. First, it is an important determinant of occupation and income,³⁷ discussed further below. In addition, education may improve long-term health through a well-educated social network. For instance, peers may influence patterns of adolescents' diet. Finally, schooling is a place to acquire knowledge relevant for health. In addition to factual and specific knowledge, schooling may form long-lasting cognitive and emotional skills for healthy behaviours.³⁷ Thus, education is strongly associated with health literacy, which refers to a set of "*competencies related to accessing, understanding, appraising and applying health information*".⁶¹ As a result, higher educated individuals are likely to have a better grasp of the health promotion messages

regarding dietary behaviours.⁵⁸ For instance, they may better understand and assimilate nutritional information on products through labelling.³

Income

The income of an individual or a household is the indicator of socioeconomic position that most directly measures material resources.⁵⁸ However, asking about income is sensitive and people may be reluctant to disclose accurate information,⁵⁸ leading to a high rate of non-response. One way to partially address this issue is to ask people to place themselves within predefined income categories, although absolute income provides a much more precise information. In addition, it can be converted into a relative indicator, such as levels of poverty. Ideally, income should be disposable income (i.e. reflecting what can be spent) and not, for example, gross income (i.e. ignoring debts or loans).⁵⁸ It is worth noting that income is a dynamic indicator, with sudden changes possible in a short period of time and its effect accumulates over the life course.³ Income is also life stage dependent and follows a curvilinear trajectory with age.⁵⁸ As a result, it is not suitable for certain periods of life.⁵⁸

Pathways between income and health can be direct or indirect but also reverse.⁵⁸ Firstly, it provides "*better access to the means to produce good health*".³⁷ Thus, income gives access to better quality material resources,⁵⁸ such as better quality foods. It also helps to access services that may improve health directly through health services or indirectly through education. In addition, income fosters self-esteem and social standing.⁵⁸ Furthermore, it partly determines the budget allocated to each aspect of daily life, including the food budget.³ It should be noted, however, that this budget is also determined by other aspects, such as food prices.^{62,63} Finally, health may in turn influence income⁵⁸ through loss of income due to sick leave, work loss or care costs.

Occupation

Occupation is a well-established indicator in health studies.⁵⁸ It characterises working relations and conditions. In addition to the different type of occupations, the reasons for unemployment also deserve attention.⁵⁸ Indeed, social conditions of students may differ greatly from those seeking a job, for instance. Interestingly, numerous national classification schemes have been developed to group individuals according to occupation and implies specific aspects of the socioeconomic position.³ Among others, we can mention the British (i.e. Registrar-General's Social Class) and the French (i.e. *Professions et Catégories Socio-professionnelles* [Professions and Socio-professional Categories]) nomenclatures. Nevertheless, they may not apply to other national contexts.³

Occupation possibly influences health through different mechanisms. First, it strongly determines income, discussed earlier. In addition, occupation reflects social standing, which can give certain privileges, such as access to education, also discussed earlier. Occupation also defines the social networks, which may also influence diet. Finally, it may determine the social environment, including the food environment.⁵⁸ Each occupation also has a different working pace,³ which can have an impact on the time spent preparing the meal or eating it.

Ecological indicators

Ecological indicators can either be used to measure the socioeconomic conditions of an area or as proxies for unavailable individual indicators.⁶⁴ In the latter case, the more socioeconomically heterogeneous the area, the higher the potential misclassification. This can, therefore, lead to an incorrect estimate of the association with health outcomes and behaviours. Ecological indicators can be aggregated from individual level or small area data, through administrative databases. Typically, the aggregate measures, such as proportion of unemployed or proportion of highly educated individuals, are combined into a composite score.⁶⁴

Ecological indicators used as a measure of the socioeconomic conditions of an area can have an independent influence on individual socioeconomic indicators of health⁶⁴ and health behaviours.⁶⁵ However, it remains unclear if the association between ecological indicators and health outcomes or health behaviours are related to "*the socioeconomic characteristics of where people live, independently of the characteristics of the people living in these areas*".⁶⁴ This lack of clarity is partly due to the fact that ecological indicators are mostly constructed from aggregates of individual level data.⁶⁴

29

Overview on adolescents

Studying socioeconomic disparities in adolescents' dietary habits is quite challenging. Indeed, collecting data on these three classic indicators of socioeconomic position can be tricky in adolescent self-report studies.³ Adolescents, especially younger ones, may not know or be willing to give their parents' occupation, education or income.⁵⁸ Therefore, indicators, such as the Family Affluence Scale, have been developed specifically for adolescents and can be used to reflect their social position. In addition to other objective indicators like parental working status, subjective indicators can also reflect the socioeconomic position of adolescents. As long as these subjective indicators relate to what they think and not to what their parents think, they may be adapted to this population.

Family Affluence Scale

Developed by the Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) network, the Family Affluence Scale (FAS) is a "*brief assets-based measure of family wealth that was designed for use in adolescent surveys*".⁶⁶ The assets-based measures are an alternative to parents' income and consists of directly asking for the family's material conditions of an acceptable standard of living. One of the main issue of the FAS is that it should reflect the "*societal patterns of consumption and lifestyles of families with adolescents*".⁶⁶ It must therefore be culturally sensitive, but also cross-nationally adapted to the very variable contexts across the European countries that participate in the HBSC surveys and over time.⁶⁶ Hence, its revision is regularly discussed within the network.

The FAS was firstly developed in the 1990s⁶⁶ and has been revised twice since then. The first version (FAS I) included three items: number of cars, number of vacations and having your own bedroom. The second version of the FAS (FAS II) was developed in 2002 and additionally includes computer ownership. For the most recent revision (FAS III), the item "number of vacations" was refined by "holidays abroad" and two new items were added: owning a dishwasher and number of bathrooms. The latter version also has the advantage of including several anchored items for cross-national comparability.⁶⁶

The validity and reliability study regarding FAS III has shown that income is sufficiently but not perfectly associated with family wealth,⁶⁶ which is not surprising. Indeed, there are multiple sources of family affluence. For example, if we refer to the FAS questions, some occupation positions offer a company car or substantial discounts on household appliances. The house or

car can also be inherited. The relevance of this indicator to the evolution of socioeconomic conditions is currently under discussion. Similarly, the item on holidays abroad is questionable, as people may prefer to go to the country where they live or return to their country of origin (without even speaking about the ongoing restrictions due to the Covid-19 pandemic).

The specific pathways between FAS and health or diet have not been enough documented so far. However, based on the results of the validation and reliability study, it can be assumed that the mechanisms are similar to those of classical indicators of socioeconomic position, especially those of income.

Working status

The parental working status provides information on whether or not the parents are working, regardless of the type or the environment of work. While the parental occupation indicator focuses mainly on employment, the working status indicator emphasises mainly on unemployment. In this respect, two categories can be distinguished: unemployed parents who are actively seeking for a job and those who are not seeking for a job (homemakers, disabled parents, students...).⁶⁷ This more precise categorisation allows a better understanding of the effects on health, but it is also more likely to lead to a higher non-response rate than simple distinction between employment and unemployment.

To some extent and in most situations, family income can be considered as proportional to the number of working parents. Thus, working status can influence health through mechanisms similar to those of income. In addition, people who do not work may suffer from a lack of material resources, loss of self-esteem and social isolation that can affect the whole family.⁶⁴ Unemployment can also be a source of conflict and stress in the family,⁶⁷ which can negatively influence health and health behaviours. Finally, the parental working status may reflect the time parents have available for education or for everyday life, for example preparing meals. In this respect, unemployed parents who are not actively seeking for a job are likely to have more time than employed parents or those seeking for a job, to be involved in the family life, at least in theory.

Subjective indicator

Subjective indicators refer to "*an individual's perception of his/her place in the socioeconomic structure*".⁶⁸ Individuals assess their subjective position according to different criteria, specific to each one if the question does not give any indication of reference points. For instance, they

can rely on their own characteristics, including education, or on their social environment,⁶⁸ proximal or distal. As a result, subjective indicators mainly reflect the relative position perceived by the individual in the society. An advantage of this type of measure is that they rarely cause problems with knowledge or understanding among adolescents.³ As a matter of fact, the subjective socioeconomic position is assessed in HBSC surveys by asking adolescents the following question: "*How well off do you think your family is?*".⁶⁷

At present, subjective indicators are not sufficiently mobilised to review the different pathways with health or diet. However, subjective indicators could reflect dimensions of the socioeconomic position other than those captured by objective indicators and that fall outside conventional hierarchies, especially for youths.³ Therefore, subjective and objective indicators might be independently associated with health outcomes.⁶⁹ Subjective position may influence health by psychosocial factors, which may lead to risky behaviours for instance. It can reflect ability or choices in the budget use to purchase resources,⁷⁰ such as healthy or accessory foods.

1.2.3.2. Sociocultural position

In addition to the socioeconomic position, the sociocultural position can be used to describe the social position. The sociocultural position indicators related to the origin and geographic setting are described below.

Race/ethnicity, nationality, place of birth

Sociocultural position indicators related to the origin include race, ethnicity, nationality, and place of birth. Unlike socioeconomic position indicators, they are generally used alone. The use of a particular sociocultural indicator depends mainly on what is meaningful for the research's objectives but also, and above all in some circumstances, on what is ethically acceptable to collect.

Race and ethnicity are mainly used in Anglo-Saxon countries, especially in the U.S.⁴³ Although often defined and conceptualised in different ways,⁴³ these concepts mainly refer to a notion of social construct^b, the social identity.⁷² Beyond the numerous definitions, a large number of ethnicity/race categories can be listed. Examples can be given such as "non-Hispanic blacks",

^b In French-speaking countries, "race" mainly refers to a biological construct. Therefore, it is rarely used since it makes no scientific sense. Furthermore, Unesco has recommended the term "ethnic group" to deal with the different notions of construction across scientists.⁷¹ Consequently, the two terms are often used together to refer to the social construct. However, the term related to "ethnic group" is not universally accepted by scientists, especially French-speaking ones, and is therefore infrequently used.

"Whites/Caucasian" or "Asians".^{45,72} Nevertheless, terms used are mostly pejorative, stigmatising and depersonalising, leading to adverse consequences to communication.⁴⁵ In addition, there is a lack of clarity on methods of categorisation. They can be based on self-identification or be assigned by investigators, generating misclassification.⁴⁵ At last, the retained categories are often specific to the societal context, making comparisons between studies complex. Still, relatively homogeneous groups in terms of some cultural dimensions are expected to be found with this type of classification, even if highly heterogeneous behaviours cannot be excluded.

Although much rarer, sociocultural position can also be defined using nationality,⁷³ an administrative dimension. The nationalities are then frequently grouped into two: nationals and non-nationals. The group of non-nationals can then be broken down according to the nationality. However, nationality is not granted in the same way in different countries, complicating the comparison of studies. For instance, some countries rely on the principle *jus sanguinis* (right of blood) while others on the principle *jus soli* (right of soil). Moreover, while some countries prohibit multiple citizenship, others may allow it, with or without conditions, such situations changing over time.

Another sociocultural indicator related to the origin is the country of birth of the individual and that of its previous generations. This information is mostly used to define "migration status".⁷⁴ Three main groups can be identified: "native-born" (with native background) ; "second-generation immigrants" (native-born population with at least one foreign-born parent); "first-generation immigrants" (foreign-born population).⁷⁴ This grouping has the advantage of enabling to compare the results of the different studies, regardless of the country where the study is carried out. Nonetheless, groups are obviously heterogeneous in terms of culture. Categories relating to immigrants can be made more precise by declining according to the regions of birth, such as the continent, the length of stay in the country or the age of arrival. Such information allows to distinguish between recent and non-recent immigrants, and immigrants who arrived at a more or less young age, for instance.

It is worth noting that the migration history of Belgium is particular and thus deserves to be summarised. Initially an emigrating country, Belgium has gradually become an immigrating country with a first significant wave of immigrants at the end of the First World War.⁷⁵ First, Italians came to Belgium for heavy industry and then for mining. Following the labour migration agreement of 1956, many Spaniards immigrated in Belgium. In the meantime, there

was a migration of Portuguese and Greeks. Later, a massive low-cost labour force was recruited from Turkey and Morocco. With the economic crisis of 1970s, migration has been restricted to family reunion. Meanwhile, political refugees have increased. Lastly, as a consequence of historical colonial ties, an African community dominated by the Congolese community developed.⁷⁵ In recent years, the European institutions in Brussels – the *de facto* capital of the European Union – have attracted many young and highly-qualified expatriates.

In the last population census, 42% of the population of Brussels was born abroad whereas 14% of the population of Wallonia and 10% of Flanders were born abroad.⁷⁶ In 2019, 10% of immigrants in Belgium were born in Romania, 9% in France, 6% in Morocco, 5% in the Netherlands, 3% in Italy, and the same proportion in Bulgaria, in Poland, in Afghanistan, in Spain, in India and in Turkey, and 2% or less in other countries.⁷⁷ There is no recent official data on the country of birth of immigrants by region, but by nationality (to be distinguished with the country of birth as explained above). In Wallonia, in order of importance, we have Italians, French, Germans, Moroccans, Spaniards, Romanians, Portuguese, Turks, Dutch and Congolese.⁷⁸ In Brussels, the French come first, followed by the Moroccans, Romanians, Italians, Spaniards, Poles, Portuguese, Bulgarians, Germans and Congolese.⁷⁹

To sum up, immigrants in Belgium mainly come from Europe and in a lesser extent, North Africa, with a very large variety of origins. The reasons behind migration have changed over the years and therefore, immigrants' profiles may highly differ, especially between Brussels and the rest of Belgium.

Overall, the aforementioned indicators are of interest because they contain a strong cultural dimension. However, depending on the country and social context, they reflect different notions and imply different pathways to health inequalities. For example, being immigrant or of a certain ethnic group may have different consequences in Europe than in the U.S. Nevertheless, we do not develop the mechanisms specific to the American context, not relevant to this work. The mechanisms that can only be applied to the European context are developed below. Some syntheses discussed their scope,^{72,75} particularly in relation with the paradox observed between the low socioeconomic position and high life expectancy of the adult immigrant population.⁷⁵

Among the mechanisms that can globally apply to all three indicators are biological and genetic differences as a partial explanation for differences in health.^{72,75} Although often limited to the simple description of differences between racial/ethnic groups due to criticism of race as a

biological construct, the presence of protective or cancer predisposing genes has been observed in some populations. In addition, health inequalities may be better explained by sociological or psychological effects.^{72,75} On the one hand, racial and ethnic minority groups may have negatively experienced racism and discrimination.⁷² In addition to generating stress, racism may limit access to resources. These include a lower access to educational opportunities (and we have addressed earlier the role of education), but also a lower access to resources that would support the attainment of better health status, such as neighbourhood with a healthy food supply.⁷² On the other hand, immigrants may positively benefit from "social capital" or "social networks"⁷⁵ referred to above. Finally, culture itself is likely to influence health behaviours, including dietary habits.⁷⁵ For instance, the attitudes towards life or body are part of cultural tradition,⁷⁵ implying different health behaviours across culture. In addition to different smoking or alcohol habits, differences related to diet, such as food purchase, conservation, preparation or pattern (quality, quantity or timing), can be noted.⁷⁵ However, it appears that these differences in behaviour, and therefore health between groups, would reduce over time through the acculturation process.^{80–82}

Lastly, many hypotheses specific to immigrants have been proposed to explain health inequalities resulting from the migrant mortality advantage, such as the healthy-migrant effect or the "salmon bias" hypothesis.⁷⁵ The healthy-migrant effect refers to a selection process in the population of origin. Under this assumption, individuals who immigrate are in a better health than those who do not. This selection process is considered to be so strong that immigrants would be healthier than the host population.⁷⁵ However, this explanation for the migrant mortality advantage is refuted, as immigrants are generally younger than the overall host population and therefore just not ill yet.⁸³

It has also been argued that the mortality advantage is attributable to a selective return migration among less healthy immigrants, referred to as "salmon bias" hypothesis.⁷⁵ In this instance, less healthy and older immigrants tend to return to their birth country with a desire to die there, leaving behind a healthy population in the host country.⁸⁴ One of the issues is that deaths abroad do not contribute to national statistics. If the second out-migration is not registered, individuals are rendered "statistically immortal". Consequently, errors in numerators and/or denominators are generated in the national mortality data, resulting in the artificially lower mortality among immigrants.⁸⁴

35
Therefore, these hypotheses would not be a sufficient explanation for health inequalities observed between immigrants and natives. While the salmon bias is mainly the result of a statistical artifact, the selection process plays a role with regard to the country of departure and not to the host country. In fact, the migrant mortality advantage behind health inequalities is likely to be due to the interplay between lifestyle, dietary intake and health system.⁷⁵

Acculturation process

Based on the Gordon model^c, during the acculturation process, an individual is partially or fully "*acquiring, retaining, and/or relinquishing behaviours and values of his or her original culture and the host culture*".⁸⁵ By definition, acculturation is not a linear but a dynamic, multidimensional and complex process involving, among others, social position. Therefore, in regard to diet acculturation, immigrants do not only increase the local foods (i.e. of the host country) and decrease the traditional foods (i.e. of country of origin). For example, they can find new ways to consume traditional and local foods,⁸⁵ resulting in original dietary behaviours. However, while some advocate the "best of both worlds" hypothesis (i.e. taking the best, leaving the worst),⁷⁵ it appears that changes in immigrants' dietary behaviour can be both healthier and less healthy.⁸⁵

Diet acculturation can be measured using single-item measures, acculturation scales or foodbased assessments.⁸⁵ The last two measures provide a rather accurate picture of the acculturation process. However, they are often developed for specific populations. Therefore, they are not always appropriate when studying immigrants from very variable origins. Although giving less precise information, single-item measures are simple and factual, facilitating their inclusion in non-specific populations, particularly those aimed at adolescents. Among these measures are the length of residency in the host country and country of origin, and the migration generation.⁸⁵

^c There is currently no standard definition of acculturation.⁸⁵ There are several theories put forward such as that of Robert Park or Milton Gordon. Robert Park's theory reflects the experience of many European immigrants but not of physically or culturally distinct immigrants. In addition, he considers the stages of the process to be irreversible,⁸⁵ which seems to us extreme.

Space and place

In addition to individual characteristics, the geographical setting where one lives matters for health.⁸⁶ Two geographical indicators are to be distinguished: space and place. Space "*deals with measures of distance and proximities*" of exposure sources.⁴³ In contrast, place "*refers to membership in political or administrative units*", such as region or school district.⁴³ These concepts are often treated as exchangeable since people in the same place are often very close to each other in space.⁴³ Nevertheless, some may belong to the same place and be far away or, conversely, be close but belong to different places.

Differences in health can be explained by mechanisms specific to space, place or both. Space can provide information about exposure to pollutants, but also proximity to health services⁴³ or various food environments³ (e.g. fast food, vending machine, fresh fruit and vegetable market). Each place can implement specific public health initiatives and determine exposure within the population.⁴³ In Belgium, health promotion is under the responsibility of regions since the sixth reform of the State^d, leading to different exposures between their inhabitants. Food pyramids are an example of this situation (see **section 1.1.2**). In addition, organisation and accessibility of services, such as health services or food supply, can be specific to places.³ Finally, health inequalities may be caused by a social-interactive mechanism.⁸⁸ In addition to social networks, behaviours may be changed through contact with neighbours.⁸⁸ Four culturally different countries and with different dietary habits surround Belgium, which can lead to different dietary habits from one region to another.

^d Belgium is Federal State composed of federated entities.⁸⁷ The Federal State has three Regions that are based on territory: Flemish Region, Walloon Region and Brussels-Capital Region. There are also three language-based communities, namely the Flemish Community (composed of inhabitants of the Flemish Region and the Dutch-speaking inhabitants of the Brussels-Capital Region), the French Community (composed of inhabitants of the Walloon Region and the French-speaking inhabitants of Brussels-Capital Region) and the German-speaking Community (composed of German-speaking inhabitants of the Walloon Region). Each of these federated entities has its own powers as defined by the Federal State. Reforms have been carried out over the years, with changes in powers within the federated entities.⁸⁷ Health promotion is one example of a power shift in authority.

Overview on adolescents

Adolescents are not particularly reluctant to answer questions about sociocultural position, at least in Europe. Nevertheless, there may be a relatively large amount of missing data for migration status. Indeed, to determine it, the parents' country of birth is required. However, adolescents, and especially younger ones, may not be informed. Conversely, race and nationality of the parents are generally not asked for.

Adolescents spend a lot of time at school, where they are independent of their parents, making it an important place and space. It is therefore important to make a clear distinction between school space and place and that of the residence, as they can be very different. The advantage of school-based surveys is that sampling procedures usually make it possible to find out the place of the school, which usually results in reliable information and no missing data.

Many sociocultural and socioeconomic factors are involved in social inequalities in health. These may play a direct or indirect role through health behaviours, such as diet. Although often interrelated, sociocultural and socioeconomic indicators are not interchangeable. Indeed, each of them is independently linked to health (and diet) through mechanisms of its own. Thus, each indicator provides complementary information for understanding and tackling social inequalities. Moreover, studying disparities among adolescents requires indicators adapted to this population. Persistent social inequalities, combined with changes in the socioeconomic and sociocultural position and environment of individuals over time, underline the current relevance of research on the social determinants of inequalities.

38

1.3. Adolescent diet: main issues and disparities

1.3.1. Adolescence, a key period for the acquisition of dietary behaviours

Adolescence is the transition period between childhood and adulthood,⁸⁹ defined by the WHO as the period between 10 and 19 years of age.⁹⁰ Changes in biological growth and major social role transitions have led to an expanded and more inclusive definition to consider adolescence as the period from 10 to 24 years of age.⁸⁹ This period is characterised by a rapid biological maturation, psychosocial, cognitive, and emotional development.⁹¹

These changes are translated into evolving health behaviours,^{92–94} including dietary habits. Although their awareness of the long-term effects of such behaviours is rising, adolescents' risk perception remains low.⁹³ This can therefore result in the acquisition of unhealthy behaviours,⁹³ including inadequate dietary habits. Furthermore, there is growing evidence that behaviours initiated during this period are strongly likely to track into adulthood.^{92,95} Therefore, adolescence should be seen as "*the years of laying down the foundations for health that determine health trajectories across the life course*".⁹³

During this period characterised by upheavals, diet takes an important place in the adolescent's life.⁹⁶ It is experienced as a means of regulating and controlling his/her body and its transformations, defining his/her identity, and differentiating himself/herself from his/her family while identifying with a peer group.⁹⁶ Adolescent's dietary behaviours can therefore be shaped by several factors,⁹⁴ perhaps specific to this period of life.

Because of the biological changes it undergoes, the body becomes a central concern for the adolescent.⁹⁶ Moreover, as their relationship with the body constantly evolves, adolescents are looking for new role models. In a body image conscious society, adolescents adopt overvalued practices of body (e.g. dieting or physical exercises) and shape (weight, height) control to mirror these role models.⁹⁶ While in some cultures, thinness is promoted, others emphasise overweight, leading to various body images and practices. This quest for the culturally ideal body combined with genetic, developmental, psychological and sociocultural factors can lead, in extreme situations, to eating disorders,⁹⁷ with significant short- and long-term consequences.

The socio-relational environment of adolescents plays an important role in their dietary behaviours.⁹⁶ With regard to the family environment, each member of the family may contribute. Parents usually transmit rules and values that lead to healthy or unhealthy dietary behaviour.⁹⁶ Beyond the sociocultural and socioeconomic characteristics of their members,

families may also be constrained by the parents' time and energy, especially single parents. Moreover, siblings may influence dietary behaviours through two opposite phenomena. On the one hand, siblings can serve as role models for both healthy and unhealthy dietary behaviour, leading to an imitation of siblings.⁹⁸ On the other hand, adolescents may want to differentiate themselves from their siblings and thus behave differently.⁹⁸ In addition, adolescents can help prepare meals, which can be time consuming with large siblings, but such a siblings can also be a socioeconomic barrier to healthy eating.

Besides, during this transition period, adolescents are likely to distance themselves from their parents and family environment, although they often remain financially dependent on them.⁹⁶ As adolescents gain independence, they become more and more influenced by peers and other influences such as media,⁹⁵ especially in building their identity.⁹⁶ They become closer to peers who essentially share their interests and values, and who can become role models for adolescent's eating habits. In addition, peers represent an opportunity to differentiate themselves from family dietary habits. In some situations, escaping parental control, adolescents feel free to consume unhealthier foods, such as fattier or sweeter foods. However, the group effect can also lead to positive behaviours by encouraging their peers to eat healthily.⁹⁶

Moreover, the school environment is an important determinant⁹⁴ since adolescents spend a large part of their daily life there. In addition to being a meeting place between peers, schools can transmit values related to diet, in particular through the canteen menu or the vending machines.⁹⁶ Beyond food availability, schools can set up projects and activities that promote healthy dietary behaviours, as well as nutrition education. In addition, school courses, such as biology classes, are a fruitful way to learn about health behaviour issues.

1.3.2. Updating knowledge on dietary disparities in adolescents

A systematic review on diet disparities has recently been undertaken⁹⁹ as part of the underlining project of this doctoral thesis. The objective of this review was "*to explore how diet (overall and by food group) differs according to socioeconomic and cultural characteristics of adolescents and young adults from high-income countries*".⁹⁹ This work confirmed the socioeconomic gradient previously observed among adults. However, the findings have highlighted a lack of high-quality studies and the need to examine more carefully population sub-groups, such as immigrants.⁹⁹

Following this systematic review, a knowledge update has been carried out in the framework of this doctoral thesis. The research syntax (**Appendix A**) was based on the systematic review mentioned above, using Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) keywords but was adapted to the population, i.e. adolescents. As the objective was to follow up on the systematic review, articles published between 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2020 were evaluated. Targeted studies aimed to examine individual diet according to the social position of adolescents. The Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes and Study design (PICOS) inclusion and exclusion criteria were adapted from the systematic review⁹⁹ and are presented in **Table B-1** (**Appendix B**).

A total of 1,065 additional articles were identified. Reasons for the exclusion of records are presented in **Figure 6**. Among the 29 abstracts assessed for eligibility, ten met all the eligibility criteria and were kept. In addition, eight articles that did not distinguish between adolescents and children were reviewed and described if they provided information additional to the previous review.

The summary results of the systematic review are presented first. These are followed by a description of the results of the new studies by type of outcome: dietary patterns, scores and food groups. The direction of association is described for all indicators except for ethnicity, which is context-specific. Emphasis has been placed on the frequencies of consumption of the food groups and the social indicators used in this work; the related results are displayed by food groups in **Table 1**.



*These articles were included and thus described if they provided information additional to the previous review.

Figure 6. Flowchart showing selection of reports included in the literature review.

1.3.2.1. Dietary patterns

Disparities in dietary patterns were studied based on different types of dietary patterns that can generally be classified as "healthier" or "unhealthier". A sufficient number of studies conducted on dietary pattern disparities related to parental education level was identified during the systematic review. The related conclusion was that healthier patterns generally were associated with a high parental education level, especially maternal, while unhealthier patterns were associated with lower levels of education.⁹⁹ Regarding parental occupation, healthier patterns were also consistently related to a high level (e.g. white *vs.* blue collar)¹⁰⁰; however, there was no clear conclusion for unhealthier patterns.⁹⁹ Only investigated once, being unemployed was found to be associated with healthier patterns while working was found to be related to unhealthier patterns.¹⁰¹ Since these results of the systematic review, no new studies on any of these indicators have been identified.

Income was not sufficiently studied to draw conclusions.⁹⁹ One recently published study conducted in Canada addressed income but without distinguishing children and adolescents. It was found that the percentage of individuals with a "pasta" pattern, a "rice" pattern or a "white bread" pattern was lower in the highest income quintile than in the other four quintiles.¹⁰² To date, disparities in dietary patterns related to FAS and contextual socioeconomic status have not been addressed and those related to family structure are unknown.

Finally, dietary patterns according to ethnicity and migration remain understudied to establish conclusions. From the systematic review, findings regarding ethnicity were mixed, with unhealthier patterns observed both in "whites" and "non-whites";⁹⁹ since then, this issue has not been addressed. The previously mentioned Canadian study, which examined income, also investigated migration status that was not addressed before; compared to all other grain-based patterns and "no grain" pattern (i.e. less than one serving of grain-based foods per day), the lower percentage of natives (*vs.* immigrants) was found in the "rice" pattern.¹⁰²

1.3.2.2. Nutritional and dietary scores

Social disparities were studied using several scores adapted to adolescents, such as the KIDMED index (Mediterranean Diet Quality Index for children and adolescent)¹⁰³ or the DQI-AM (Diet Quality Index for Adolescents, including a specific Meal index).¹⁰⁴ The systematic review revealed that a higher dietary score was consistently associated with a higher parental education level, especially maternal.⁹⁹ The conclusions to be drawn about occupation were less straightforward, although a higher dietary score was usually found among those with a higher

occupation.⁹⁹ Few studies examined income; so far, the results of the different indicators are mixed.⁹⁹ While household income was not found to be associated with dietary score,¹⁰⁵ a higher dietary score was observed when father had an income.¹⁰⁶ In addition, dietary score was shown in a study to increase with FAS categories.¹⁰⁷ No studies on any of the above-mentioned indicators were identified for the knowledge update, which did not allow the conclusions to be reinforced. Contextual socioeconomic level as such was not addressed at all, but socioeconomic level based on individual socioeconomic characteristics and geographical region type was found not to be associated with the Healthy Eating Index (HEI) in Portugal.¹⁰⁸ Family structure has not been addressed regarding diet scores up to now.

Lastly, findings from the systematic review regarding migration status were contradictory, with a higher diet score among natives (*vs.* immigrants) or a more favourable score among 1st- and 2nd-generation immigrants (*vs.* 3rd-generation immigrants).⁹⁹ These results could not be reinforced as the migration status has not been investigated since then. While no study on ethnicity was eligible for the systematic review, a recently published U.S. study indicated that the HEI tended to differ by ethnicity.¹⁰⁹

1.3.2.3. Food groups (**Table 1**)

In this section on food groups, only the results for fruit and vegetables, dairy products, SSB and salty and sweet energy-dense foods, which are the main food groups analysed in this thesis, are presented. Given the few and heterogenous reports on other food groups like meat,⁹⁹ these food groups have not been further investigated and are not presented.

Fruit and vegetable

The "vegetable" group usually includes raw, cooked or canned vegetables, and the "fruit" group includes fresh, whole or dried fruit. The systematic review pointed out that higher intake and daily frequency of fruit were consistently associated with a higher parental education level.⁹⁹ Similarly, daily vegetable frequency was related to a higher education level. However, results regarding vegetable intake were inconsistent, considering that non-significant and significant associations were reported.⁹⁹ Since then, a recently published Belgian study has reinforced the conclusion by finding that the mean daily consumption of fruit and vegetables increased with the level of parental education among 10-13 year olds and was higher among those with a high level of education (postgraduate *vs.* secondary or lower education) for the 14-17-year-old stratum (**Table 1**).¹¹⁰

Conclusions on parental occupation are complex to draw because of the small number of studies and the mixed findings. While consumption of fruit systematically increased with occupation level, vegetable consumption was found to increase with parental occupation level in one study and not to be associated in another.⁹⁹ Since the systematic review, occupation was investigated in three studies,^{110–112} including the one mentioned above,¹¹⁰ and concluded that consumption of fruit and/or vegetables increased with parental occupation level (**Table 1**). More specifically, a higher mean of fruit and vegetable consumption was observed among managerial or academic professions of parents (*vs.* manual worker) among the 14-17-year-old stratum in Belgium.¹¹⁰ In Ireland, adolescents with parents in managerial, professional or technical occupations (*vs.* those whose parents are non-manual, skilled manual, semi-skilled or unskilled) are more likely to have a higher frequency of fruit or vegetable consumption.¹¹¹ In addition, a higher frequency consumption of vegetables was observed among adolescents with white-collars parents (*vs.* those with manual white collars parents, parents having a manual job or being inactive) in Denmark.¹¹²

Finally, findings regarding income were not consistent; some of the studies found a higher intake among those with a higher household income while others found no association.⁹⁹ Studies investigating FAS allow more robust conclusions to be drawn albeit to be confirmed: a higher daily fruit and vegetable consumption was associated with a higher FAS.⁹⁹ All these results could not be strengthened by more recent studies.

The contextual socioeconomic level is not yet sufficiently studied regarding disparities in fruit and vegetable consumption. However, this issue was recently addressed in two studies.^{108,111} In Ireland, non-daily consumption of fruit or vegetables was highlighted to be more frequent in disadvantaged schools (definition based on socioeconomic demographic characteristics of pupils).¹¹¹ In addition, socioeconomic level based on individual characteristics and geographical type of area was associated with a higher intake of fruit and vegetables in Portugal.¹⁰⁸ There was a lack of studies examining disparities related to family structure, but recently, it was not found to be associated with fruit and vegetable intakes.¹¹⁰

Following several studies on the subject, it can be argued that fruit and vegetable consumption varies according to ethnicity,⁹⁹ which was confirmed by the recently published Canadian study.¹¹³ Migration status is still too rarely studied and has not been the subject of a recent study. Nevertheless, a higher consumption of these foods was previously found in immigrants compared to natives.¹¹⁴

Dairy

The "dairy" group mainly includes milk, yoghurt and cheese with or without taking into account fat and sugar content. Socioeconomic disparities in dairy consumption tended to be non-significant but were not sufficiently investigated to definitively support this conclusion.⁹⁹ Disparities related to parental education levels were observed, as well as for income, for some but not all dairy product consumption. Parental occupation was not found to be associated with any dairy product consumption.⁹⁹ The FAS, the family structure and the contextual socioeconomic level were not addressed in dairy consumption disparities among adolescents. The conclusions cannot be strengthened following the knowledge update, as no new study has been issued on this subject.

Finally, disparities related to migration status are not yet clarified due to a lack of studies. Findings from the systematic review regarding ethnicity were inconsistent as it was found that dairy product consumption both differed and did not differ by ethnic groups.⁹⁹ Since then, the Canadian study has found differences in consumption according to the ethnic group.¹¹³ In fact, adolescents of European ethnicity had a higher mean daily frequency consumption of cheese and yoghurt, as well as milk, while those of Asian ethnicity had the lowest consumption of cheese and yoghurt and Indigenous adolescents the lowest consumption of milk.¹¹³

Sugar-sweetened beverages

In most of the studies relating to dietary disparities, SSB were defined as sugary, soft and diet drinks, with some also including fruit juices. Findings regarding disparities related to parental educational level in SSB consumption were robust⁹⁹ and confirmed with the recent literature;¹¹⁵ higher consumption was observed among those with a lower level. During the systematic review, only one identified study addressed occupational status and found no association with SSB consumption.¹¹⁶ Since then, two studies have been carried out,^{110,111} but the related disparities remain unclear. In Belgium, maternal occupation was not found to be associated with SSB mean intake.¹¹⁰ Conversely, daily SSB consumption was higher among adolescents with semi-skilled or unskilled parents (*vs.* those with parents in managerial, professional or technical occupations) in Ireland.¹¹¹ Only one study in the systematic review addressed income and found no association with consumption.¹¹⁶ Since then, a study has addressed household income in Norway and also found no association with mean frequency consumption.¹¹⁵ The FAS was rarely studied, and conclusions were mixed. Indeed, a higher consumption of SSB was observed among adolescents with a low FAS,¹¹⁶ but a recently published U.S. study

highlighted a non-significant association with weekly consumption.¹¹⁷ Another recently published study provided some initial results on the socioeconomic environment and found that daily frequency consumption of SSB was higher in disadvantaged Irish schools.¹¹¹

In the initial systematic review, no study addressed disparities related to the family structure. Since then, no disparities were found in Belgium and in the U.S.^{110,117} However, a recent study conducted in eight European countries found family structure-related disparities among adolescents together with children.¹¹⁸ It showed a lower SSB intake among those living in a two-parent biological family configuration than among those in a two-parent blended/adoptive family configuration for boys and among those in a single-parent family configuration for girls.

Finally, ethnicity was found to be consistently associated with SSB consumption,⁹⁹ which was further confirmed by the recent literature coming from the U.S. and Canada.^{113,117} Disparities related to the migration status were inconclusive but were only addressed twice, once at the time of the systematic review¹¹⁴ and once at the time of the knowledge update.¹¹⁰ A higher consumption was found among both immigrants (*vs.* natives) in Balearic Islands ¹¹⁴ and natives (*vs.* immigrants born outside EU) in Belgium.¹¹⁰

Salty and sweet energy-dense food

The salty and sweet energy-dense food group generally included fatty, salty and sweet snacks, and fast food in the retained studies. Higher consumption of energy-dense food was almost systematically associated with a lower parental level of education^{99,119} and a lower FAS.⁹⁹ However, results from the systematic review regarding parental occupation level and income were mixed, making it difficult to draw conclusions.⁹⁹ Nevertheless, although no new selected study has investigated income-related disparities, parental occupation level were studied in two new studies. In Ireland, consumption of crisps was more frequent among adolescents with semi-skilled or unskilled parents (*vs.* those with parents in managerial, professional or technical occupations).¹¹¹ In Spain, consumption of sweets and pastries was more frequent among adolescents with an unemployed father (*vs.* those with a working father).¹¹⁹

None of the studies in the systematic review addressed socioeconomic environment and family structure, and the recent literature is inconclusive. While it was found that being in a disadvantage school was associated with a higher daily consumption of energy-dense foods in Ireland,¹¹¹ the socioeconomic status, based on individual and area characteristics, was not found to be conclusively associated with these foods in Portugal.¹⁰⁸ Regarding family structure,

a lower consumption of sweets and pastries was observed among adolescents living in blended and in two-biological parent families (*vs.* one-parent family) in Spain.¹¹⁹

No conclusion can be drawn on ethnicity and migration status due to the small number of studies on the subject. However, the recent Canadian study reported ethnic disparities in crisps and fries but not in sweets, pastries and ice cream consumption.¹¹³ In addition, a previously published study on Balearic Islands found that immigrants generally had higher energy-dense food consumption than natives.¹¹⁴ No new study could be identified on this subject to update knowledge.

To summarise, the literature review highlighted clear disparities according to the level of education and, to a lesser extent, of parental occupation. Conclusions regarding disparities related to other socioeconomic indicators, such as FAS or contextual socioeconomic level, still need to be reinforced with additional studies. Finally, too few studies have examined sociocultural disparities, preventing conclusions to be drawn, even if disparities have been reported here and there.



Adolescence is a key period for present and future health. It is characterised by the acquisition of health and dietary behaviours that can last a lifetime. Moreover, many socioeconomic and sociocultural factors are involved in the social inequalities relating to adolescent diet. In the literature, socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities in adolescent diet have been identified. However, the findings need to be strengthened, especially for some aspect of the socioeconomic disparities and for sociocultural disparities. A better understanding of social disparities will help act more effectively on the social inequalities in adolescents' dietary habits.

 Table 1. Food group consumption according to socioeconomic or sociocultural characteristics of adolescents.

Reference	Population, design,	Age range	n	Diet collection	Intake or frequency of	Exposure variables	Associations			
	time of collection,	(years)		method	consumption	(number of categories)				
	country									
	Food groups: fruit and vegetable									
Desbouys, 2019 ¹¹⁰	FCS, cross-sectional,	10-13; 14-17	435; 460	24HR (x2)	Mean consumption of fruit	Household type (2)	NS			
	2014, Belgium				and vegetables (g/d)	Household education (3)	Mean increases with education in 10-13yo;			
							lower mean for secondary or lower (vs.			
							postgraduate) in 14-17yo			
						Maternal occupation (6)	Lower mean among manual worker (vs.			
							managerial or academic) in 14-17yo			
						Country of birth (3)	Higher mean among immigrants in 14-17yo			
Kelly, 2018 ¹¹¹	HBSC, cross-sectional,	-14-16+	5344	sFFQ	Frequency consumption of	Social class (3)	% inversely decreases with social class			
	2010, Ireland				fruit or vegetables (non-	Disadvantaged school (2)	Higher % for disadvantaged schools			
					daily)					
Rasmussen, 2018 ¹¹²	HBSC, cross-sectional,	11-15	17243	sFFQ	Frequency of vegetables	Occupational social class (3)	Higher % for middle and low social class, for			
	2002 to 2014 (4 surveys),				(less than weekly)		each survey year			
	Denmark									

24HR: 24-hour dietary recall; sFFQ: short Food Frequency Questionnaire; NS: non-statistically significant.

(Continued)

Reference	Population, design,	Age range	n	Diet collection	Intake or frequency of	Exposure variables	Associations			
	time of collection,	(years)		method	consumption	(number of categories)				
	country									
	Food group: sugar-sweetened beverages (SSB)									
Bolt-Evenson,	Schools, longitudinal	Mean: 11.5,	437	sFFQ	Frequency of SSB (mean)	Parental education (2)	Age group of 15.5: mean frequency higher			
2018115	cohort, 2001-2005-	15.5	(including				among low parental education			
	2016, Norway		adults)			Household income (2)	NS			
Chung, 2018 ¹¹⁷	HBSC, cross-sectional,	10-17	2138	sFFQ	Frequency of soft drinks	Family structure (2)	NS			
	2009-10, U.S.				(more than once a week)	FAS (3)	NS			
Desbouys, 2019 ¹¹⁰	FCS, cross-sectional,	10-13; 14-17	435; 460	24HR (x2)	Mean consumption (g/d) of	Household type (2)	NS			
	2014, Belgium				sugary sweetened	Household education (3)	Mean decrease with education			
	-	-			beverages	Maternal occupation (6)	NS			
					-	Country of birth (3)	Higher mean for immigrants born outside EU			
							(vs. Natives)			
Kelly, 2018 ¹¹¹	HBSC, cross-sectional,	-14-16+	5344	sFFQ	Frequency consumption of	Social class (3)	Higher % for low social class (NS for middle)			
	2010, Ireland				soft drinks (daily)	Disadvantaged school (2)	Higher % for disadvantaged schools			

24HR: 24-hour dietary recall; sFFQ: short Food Frequency Questionnaire; NS: non-statistically significant.

(Continued)

Reference	Population, design,	Age range	n	Diet collection	Intake or frequency of	Exposure variables	Associations
	time of collection,	(years)		method	consumption	(number of categories)	
	country						
			Food group	: salty and sweet	energy-dense food		
Garrido-Fernandez,	Secondary education	12-16+	8068	sFFQ	Consumption at schools of	Mother's education (6)	Candy: higher odds when no university degree
2020119	high school, cross-				snacks with sweets, candy,	Father's education (6)	Candy, sweets and pastries: higher odds when
	sectional, N/A, Spain				bagged crisps, sweets and		no university degree
					pastries (yes/no)	Family type (6)	Sweets and pastries: higher when other than
							1st-gen. ^a or extended ^b
						Mother's employment (5)	NS
						Father's employment (5)	Sweets and pastries: higher odds when
							unemployed father
Kelly, 2018 ¹¹¹	HBSC, cross-sectional,	-14-16+	5344	sFFQ	Frequency consumption of	Social class (3)	Chips: Higher % for low social class (NS for
	2010, Ireland				sweets, chips (daily)		middle)
						Disadvantaged school (2)	Chips: Higher % for disadvantaged schools

sFFQ: short Food Frequency Questionnaire; NS: non-statistically significant. ^a 1st-generation family: parents and children; ^b extended family: grand-parents, children, grand-children.

2. Methodological issues in nutritional epidemiology: Focus on dietary behaviours

2.1.Brief overview of nutritional epidemiology issues

Interest in the relationship between diet and occurrence of disease is longstanding, but the methods used have recently evolved to become more specific.¹²⁰ Until several decades ago, the focus was mainly on deficiency syndromes, using clinico-epidemiological methods. For instance, in the mid-18th century, observations about scurvy led Lind to conduct one of the first controlled clinical trials, by giving different treatments (including citruses) to pairs of suffering men.¹²¹ Such deficiency syndromes are usually characterised by a high frequency among those with insufficient nutrient intakes, and an almost null frequency among those with adequate intakes.¹²⁰ Another characteristic is the short latent periods, with a rapid onset of symptoms but also a rapid reversal of the clinical symptoms. As a result, experiments rather than observations were carried out.¹²⁰ In the 1970s, the focus was developed in low-income countries, with particular emphasis on stunting and wasting of children due to insufficient energy and protein intake along with multiple micronutrient deficiencies.¹²² Specific diagnosis and case management methods have been elaborated accordingly.

In high-income countries, contemporary nutritional epidemiology has been focusing on the potential involvement of diet in the growing increase in NCDs incidence, such as cancer, T2D or CVDs.¹²⁰ These diseases greatly differ from deficiency syndromes. First of all, they have multiple causes most often acting in combination, such as several components of diet, physical activity and other lifestyle behaviours. Secondly, many of these diseases have a long latent period, resulting from a cumulative exposure over several years. Finally, although these diseases are currently among the most frequent causes of mortality and morbidity, their incidence is rather low in the population in comparison with the relatively high frequency of exposure to multiple risk factors. Moreover, they may result from insufficient or excessive consumption, and are more difficult to reverse.¹²⁰

Besides, diet itself represents a complex set of highly correlated exposures.¹²⁰ With a few exceptions, all individuals are exposed to assumed causal dietary factors, as everyone eats fat and fibre, for example. Hence, most often, exposure cannot be determined as only absent or present. Furthermore, eating patterns evolve during the lifetime; in general, there is no clear change at a specific turning point in time.

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

Beyond the complexity of diet, individuals are generally not aware of the food contents. As a result, nutrients have to be determined indirectly either through food declaration or biochemical measurements. The features of NCDs and diet have therefore led to the development of sophisticated methods in nutritional epidemiology. One of the greatest challenges in this area is to identify practical methods for assessing diet that are reasonably accurate and relatively inexpensive given the number of subjects needed to be included in studies.

٠

In recent years, knowledge on the diet-health relationships has become increasingly advanced albeit not definitive, thanks to the numerous studies using elaborate nutritional epidemiology methods. Within this scope, the used methods must provide a comprehensive assessment of the diet that captures its complexity, even if specific parts are of interest for research. At present, in order to implement effective public health actions regarding diet-related diseases, a broad understanding of determinants of diet is needed. In this respect, and unlike the diet-health approach, it is not always necessary to use potential resource-intensive methods that comprehensively assess diet, including energy and nutrients. Therefore, the remainder of this section is focusing on the methods used to assess dietary habits in the context of large-scale studies among adolescents, and the issues related to these methods. The methods assessing other components of nutrition, such as nutritional status or nutrient intake, are therefore not addressed as part of this doctoral dissertation.

2.2.Dietary data collection in school-based surveys: the short Food Frequency Questionnaire

Several methods for describing adolescent diet in large-scale population surveys are theoretically available. They include 24-hour dietary recalls (24HR), food records or Food Frequency Questionnaires (FFQ).¹²⁰ Each of these methods have strengths and weaknesses. Since they all are based on declaration, no single method perfectly measures dietary exposure and is suitable for all circumstances. The method choice will depend mainly on the type of survey and on the research objective, such as the diet components of interest, the target population and its ability to participate in the collection, along with the financial and human resources available.¹²³

In cross-sectional school-based surveys, the time allocated to pupils to complete surveys is relatively limited, thus restricting the length of the questionnaire. In addition, when such surveys cover a wide range of topics, the related questionnaires may become particularly long. Therefore, the inclusion of a comprehensive assessment is rather impossible and a balance between the accuracy of the diet assessment and the limited number of questions has to be found. Besides, in school-based surveys, it is complex to invite all families of participating pupils in order to obtain additional information on diet. Therefore, the chosen diet assessment methods should not require additional information from families. In view of all these circumstances, the short Food Frequency Questionnaire (sFFQ), a method based on principles quite similar to the FFQ, seems to be one of the best choices despite some actual limitations.

2.2.1. Food Frequency Questionnaire

In the 20th century, investigators searched for a method that would provide a reliable and comprehensive assessment of usual diet.¹²⁰ In this regard, a detailed dietary history interview was developed in 1947. This method included a 24HR, a menu recorded for three days and a checklist of foods consumed over the previous month. However, this long and complex method is resource-intensive (time, financial, human), which led researchers to find an alternative. Based on the dietary history checklist, the FFQ was then developed a decade later. Having become frequent in the 1980s and 1990s, FFQs are now used less and less as it is less informative than other methods whose technical improvement through online tools has made them easier to use and to treat along with an enhanced reliability.¹²⁰ Indeed, 24HR can be easily multiplied with the development of computer technology and, accompanied by a Food Propensity Questionnaire,¹²⁴ can measure usual diet with a small number of recall days.

The FFQ aims to estimate individuals' usual food consumption.¹²⁵ Individuals are asked to report how frequently they consume the foods, in a finite list, during a given period of time, for example, several months to a year.¹²⁰ In some cases, they are also requested to give information on usual servings and composition,¹²⁰ resulting in an increased burden which is not always worthwhile in view of the additional data it provides.¹²⁶

The list of foods cannot be endless; it is defined according to the purpose of the study¹²⁰ and to the target population.¹²⁵ If the objective of the study is aetiological, then the list should be as complete as possible, even if the full variability of the population's diet cannot be reflected with a defined list.¹²⁷ However, if the objective is to study the determinants of a specific nutrient, then the list may be focused more on foods related to that nutrient. In this case, the number of foods that are not related to this nutrient can be limited as long as they allow a correct estimate of total energy intake. This limitation thus avoids having particularly long lists, which also has disadvantages. Indeed, to avoid the impairment of concentration and accuracy but to keep reliability on the estimations, the list should be of an adequate length; usually, it consists of a hundred or so items.¹²⁸ In this respect, the foods selected must be as appropriate and informative as possible, like being discriminating or consumed by a significant number of individuals.¹²⁰ The items must then be compiled in such a way as to obtain a clear and unambiguous questionnaire, since its organisation and structure can influence the interpretation of certain foods.¹²⁷

Frequency responses usually range from five to ten options, for instance from "never" to "more than six times a day".¹²⁰ While most of the information for some foods are at the lower end of the scale, for other foods, information can be at the high end, hence the need for a sufficient number of responses covering the whole scale. In addition, each frequency category cannot be too broad to remain discriminatory and give some precise estimates.¹²⁰

The FFQ is a tool that makes it possible to measure the usual consumption of a large number of individuals in a relatively simple, resource-efficient and easy to administer manner. The burden on respondents is considered as acceptable in most situations.¹²³ However, the FFQ is sensitive to measurement errors.¹²⁶ For example, the length of the list can lead to over- or underestimating the consumption of certain foods.^{120,127} Compared to other methods, the portion size is more complex to estimate as it has to be an average of a consumption that can highly varied over the given period of time. The finite list of foods without information on their characteristics (e.g. combination, cooking) is not as accurate as other methods, like 24HR.

Finally, the FFQ requires respondents to make a significant cognitive effort, since they are required to average themselves their consumption over a long period of time.¹²⁰ At last, some similar foods may be grouped together creating a complex cognitive question when the respondent consumes one of these foods frequently and the other infrequently.¹²⁶

2.2.2. Short Food Frequency Questionnaire

The sFFQ uses the same approach as the FFQ in that individuals are asked to report the frequency of consumption of a finite list of foods over a given period of time (or "usually"), leading to an estimation of usual intake. However, the sFFQ differs from the FFQ on the food items listed. While the FFQ list is composed of detailed foods such as bananas or pears, the sFFQ list is composed of food groups like fruit. As a result, far fewer items are included than in the FFQ, making this short list of a dozen or so items a unique feature of this short instrument. Similar to the FFQ, the food list must correspond to the objective of the survey and the population surveyed. However, this short list of food groups will not allow the estimation of total energy intake.

The sFFQ allows the usual consumption of food groups to be captured with relatively few resources in large-scale surveys. The short form of the questionnaire is ideal for adolescents who can quickly lose concentration and fall into boredom. The sFFQ can be easily integrated into multi-thematic surveys working with already long questionnaires. However, this tool has actual limitations. First of all, it requires a significant cognitive effort from the respondent by asking for an average or usual consumption of food groups. In addition, the sFFQ is more imprecise than the FFQ because only the consumption of global food groups can be estimated. Finally, social desirability bias is particularly present in the sFFQ, with consumption declarations close to the well-known dietary recommendations. It is less easily detectable than with FFQ lists or other declaration methods. Thus, errors in declaration are possible, limiting the analyses of related data.

2.3.Issues related to the interrelation of the different indicators of social position in diet: the cases of effect modification and confounding

Adolescents' dietary habits are determined by a set of strongly interrelated socioeconomic and sociocultural factors discussed above. In order to better understand the relationship between these factors and dietary habits, attention should be paid to the interrelation between these factors. In some cases, the strength of the association between one indicator of social position and dietary habits may differ according to the levels of another social position indicator, referred to as an effect modification. In other cases, the association between one of the social position indicators and dietary habits may be "explained" by another indicator, which is referred to confounding when causal inference is assumed. For these reasons, the interrelationship between the social position indicators must be considered as it provides a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms of the social inequalities in dietary habits.

2.3.1. Effect modification of the social position indicators

Effect modification occurs when the magnitude of the association between the social position indicator and dietary habits differs depending on the level of another social position indicator.¹²⁹ If such an effect is present, analyses should ideally be stratified on the latter indicator to obtain strata-specific associations. This stratification thus provides meaningful information that should be used to implement public health actions.

While the literature on social position as a determinant of adolescents' dietary habits is growing,⁹⁹ there are currently still too few studies examining the interaction between indicators of social position. Yet these indicators are likely to interact between each other.¹³⁰ It is therefore worth investigating whether, for example, native adolescents with a low socioeconomic status have different dietary habits than immigrant adolescents within the same socioeconomic status. If this is the case, stratification enables to identify the groups most at risk of unhealthy dietary habits, but also those least at risk. These new social groups with specific risks of unhealthy dietary habits would thus provide meaningful information. As a result, it will help better understand the mechanisms behind the respective disparities related to socioeconomic position (socioeconomic status in this case) and sociocultural position (migration status in this case). The role of culture in relation to socioeconomic conditions within sociocultural groups may also be apprehended. Ultimately, the relevant socioeconomic and sociocultural components can be integrated into public health initiatives, increasing their effectiveness.

In the context of the social determinants of diet, several modification effects can be identified. However, even if there are several modifying effects or if modifying effects remain after the first stratification, multiple stratification is not recommended. Indeed, in addition to the substantial decrease in the sample size per stratum and therefore in the statistical power, the results may become uninformative and very complex to interpret. The choice of the variable on which the stratification is carried out should ideally be based on explanatory hypotheses.

2.3.2. Confounding in the relationship between social position and dietary habits

Factors influencing dietary habits can be described as either "proximal" or "distal" in the causal pathway.^a Proximate factors of diet directly influence dietary habits and are therefore proximate links in the causal chain (*P* in our notation in **Figure 7**).¹³² In contrast, distal factors influence dietary habits indirectly through intermediate factors that are more proximal to diet.¹³² These factors are distal links in the causal chain (*D* in our notation). Socioeconomic and sociocultural determinants as studied in this work are considered to be distal factors of diet, which would influence dietary habits through more proximal causes. For example, education, occupation, FAS or migration status can influence dietary habits through social standing and networks as well as resources (see **sections 1.2.3.1** and **1.2.3.2**). Income can also determine dietary habits through self-esteem and budget (section **1.2.3.1**). Finally, migration status can influence dietary habits through attitudes towards life and the body, for example (section **1.2.3.2**). Other factors can also be mentioned, such as physical activity and body mass index, provided that they are indeed determinants of dietary habits.

In assessing the causal association between a proximal factor and diet (*P* and *O* in our notation), attention should be paid to a third factor that may confound this association (*C* in our notation). Confounding occurs when the observed association between a proximal factor and diet is due, at least in part, to a third proximal factor that is associated with the former proximal factor and causally associated with diet.¹³³ Thus, confounding is a causal concept and is described as a "mixing" or a "blurring" of effects.¹³⁴ Ignoring this confounding factor can lead to an erroneous estimation of the association, such as over- or underestimating. Confounding can be controlled by different methods, either during the study design with random allocation into intervention

^a The use of the terms "proximal" and "distal" is currently being discussed as they are subject to distortion.¹³¹ In the framework of this work, these terms are only used in relation to the causal pathway and therefore have no other meaning than those mentioned above.

groups, restriction to certain characteristics of the study population, or matching between subjects, or during analyses, through multivariable regressions.¹³³

When studying socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities in dietary habits (*D* and *O* in our notation, respectively), a variation in the association between these distal factors and dietary habits can also be observed after adjustment for another factor of social position. However, unlike proximal factors, it is complex to conclude to a misestimation of the studied association and therefore to confounding. Indeed, while confounding is based on causality, social position factors are far along the causal path to dietary habits, with many intermediate factors. Due to the distal relationship, socioeconomic and sociocultural factors may not be more causal than each other in relation to dietary habits.

In fact, the variation that can be observed after the adjustment of a third factor is rather due to the interrelation of the social position factors studied. Although interrelated, these factors are associated with dietary habits through their own mechanisms, even though these factors may have commonalities. Indeed, while migration status is associated with socioeconomic status, for example, these factors are related to dietary habits differently at least in part (see **section 1.2.3**). Therefore, even if the effects are statistically "absorbed", it cannot be concluded that there are no socioeconomic or sociocultural disparities when using multivariable modelling.

Not considering a factor of social position in the study of socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities does not represent a conceptual error, since the association will not be incorrectly estimated. However, caution should be taken in order to avoid adjusting for overlapping factors and over-adjusting the relationship studied with intermediate factors like taste, preference or physical activity when it is a determinant of dietary habits, since the association obtained will not be more accurate. Over-adjustment corresponds to an *"undesirable consequence of the adjustment of an intermediate variable that lies on the causal path"* between social position and dietary habits.¹³⁵ Controlling for this intermediate variable will bias towards null the association between social position and dietary habits.¹³³



Figure 7. Directed Acyclic Graph from distal factors (D) through proximal factors (P) to dietary habits (O), with confounder (C).

•

Among all the methods theoretically available for describing adolescent diet in large-scale surveys and in the study of social disparities related to diet, the sFFQ seems to be the most adequate tool. Indeed, its short format is an advantage for multi-thematic surveys of adolescents. Restricted to the frequency of consumption of a few food groups, certain limitations must be kept in mind, such as its relative imprecision and its susceptibility to social desirability bias. Moreover, the study of social disparities in dietary habits raises specific issues. For example, the interrelationship between different social factors may complicate the interpretation of statistical results. In addition, caution should be taken not to adjust for intermediate factors in the relationship between social determinants and dietary habits, especially without using appropriate methods. This would lead to overadjustment and bias in the study of social disparities in dietary habits.

3. Objectives of the thesis

3.1. Main objective

The literature review highlighted socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities in dietary habits among adolescents. However, current knowledge still is too scattered. In addition, too little attention was paid to the role that certain socioeconomic and sociocultural factors can play in specific associations between an indicator of the social position and dietary habits of adolescents. Therefore, the aim of this doctoral thesis was to strengthen current knowledge by **studying socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities in dietary habits among adolescents, using the Health Behaviour School-aged Children surveys conducted in French- and Dutch-speaking schools. This general objective was addressed in three chapters, each responding to a specific objective.**

3.2. Specific objectives

Based on the 2014 French- and Dutch-speaking HBSC surveys, chapter III aimed:

- To describe dietary habits among adolescents from different migration backgrounds;
- To study socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits of adolescents from different migration backgrounds.

Using the 1990, 2002 and 2014 French- and Dutch-speaking HBSC surveys, aims of **chapter IV** were:

- To assess trends in the prevalence of food consumption among adolescents between 1990 and 2014;
- To determine how the dietary disparities related to the family structure and to the school region have evolved during this time period.

Based on the 2018 French-speaking HBSC survey, chapter V aimed:

• To estimate disparities in dietary habits according to the individual and contextual (school) socioeconomic status.

CHAPTER II. METHODS

* **

1. The "Health Behaviour in School-aged Children" survey

1.1.General aims and objectives

The HBSC study is a repeated cross-sectional and cross-national school-based research. It focuses on adolescent health behaviours, health and well-being. Initiated in 1982, the first HBSC survey took place in 1983/1984 under the aegis of the WHO Regional Office for Europe in five countries: England, Finland, Norway, Austria and Denmark.¹³⁶ Since the second survey in 1985/1986, the HBSC WHO collaborative survey has been carried at four-year intervals in a continuously increasing number of countries in Europe and North America. In 2017/2018, 49 countries participated in the tenth round of the survey.¹³⁷

In Belgium, the HBSC survey is conducted independently in French-speaking schools in the Wallonia-Brussels Federation (FWB), and in Dutch-speaking schools. In the French-speaking part, the first survey took place in 1986 and was initially carried out every two years before being repeated every four years from 1994.¹³⁸ Until the 2014 survey, the protocol was not submitted to any ethics committee. Nevertheless, the solicited school authorities approved and allowed to carry out the surveys. Later, the 2018 survey received the authorisation from the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Psychology at the *Université libre de Bruxelles*. In Dutch-speaking schools, the survey started with the 1989/1990 round. It has been carried out every two years since the second survey in 1994, then at four-year intervals since the 2006 survey.¹³⁹ Data collection has been approved by the Ethics Committee of the University Hospital of Ghent.^{140,141}

The HBSC surveys aim to "gain new insight into and increase understanding of adolescent health behaviours, well-being and health in their social context".¹⁴² To achieve this goal, its main objectives are as follows:

- *"To contribute to theoretical, conceptual, and methodological development in the said area [health behaviour, health and well-being] of research;*
- To monitor and to compare health behaviour, health, well-being and social contexts of school-aged children in member countries through the collection of relevant data;

- To disseminate findings to researchers, health and education policy makers, health promotion practitioners, school staff, parents, young people and other relevant audiences;
- To provide an international source of expertise and intelligence on adolescent health for public health, health education and health promotion".¹⁴³

1.2.Sampling

Each survey should be based on the methods drawn up within the international protocol of the survey year, to the extent possible. The priority of the survey sampling is to draw a nationally-representative estimations;⁶⁷ therefore, the methods to achieve this may differ between survey years and regions. The sampling plan targets the population of school adolescents aged 11, 13 and 15 years.¹³⁶ These ages correspond to the key periods of adolescence, that is the onset, followed by physical and emotional changes and related challenges, and the intermediate years when important life and career decisions are made.¹⁴² If a relatively large proportion of adolescents is held back or advanced, as is the case in Belgium, continuous grades should be sampled to achieve the representativeness of the three age groups.⁶⁷

The goal of the HBSC survey sampling in Belgium is to be representative of the population enrolled in full-time mainstream education in Dutch- and French-speaking schools, while respecting the internationally recommended minimum sample size of around 1,500 adolescents for the three target age groups.¹³⁶ Since the precise information for the first surveys that were carried out during a pre-digital period is not available, only the sampling of the surveys used in this thesis will be described.

In the French-speaking part, schools in the surveys from 1986 to 2002 were drawn from a random sample stratified for provinces, school networks and form of education.¹⁴⁴ From 2010 to 2018 surveys, schools were drawn from a random sample stratified proportionally to the distribution of the school population by province and education system.^{145–147} In the 2018 survey, the number of schools selected in each stratum was proportional to the size of the schools (i.e. number of students) in these strata.¹⁴⁷ In 2018, the Brussels-Capital Region was oversampled to enable specific analyses to be carried out, as done in **Chapter V** for instance. Due to the insufficient number of participating secondary schools for this survey, a second wave of data collection was carried among the schools in the initial sample that did not participate in the first wave.¹⁴⁷ Within the selected schools, one class from each level from 5th

CHAPTER II. METHODS

primary to 6th (or 7th) secondary was randomly selected,^{144–147} except in the 1986 survey for which only classes from 5th primary to 4th secondary were selected.¹⁴⁴ All adolescents of the selected classes were invited to take part in the survey in spring, except between 1990 and 2002 that took place in winter,¹⁴⁴ and the second wave of 2018¹⁴⁷ that took place in autumn. Overall, the number of participating schools ranged from 78 in the 1990 survey to 362 in the 2014 survey, and the number of adolescents included in the survey database ranged from 3,509 in 1990 to 14,748 in 2002 (**Figure 8**).

In the Dutch-speaking part, the schools in the 2002 and 2014 surveys were drawn from a random sample representative of school networks.^{140,141} In 2002, within the selected primary schools, all adolescents in 5th and 6th primary were invited to participate; in the secondary schools, all adolescents of a randomly selected school year or about 100 adolescents in the selected school were invited to participate.¹⁴⁰ In 2014, classes were selected using a random sample stratified proportionally to the distribution in schools of gender, grade level and type education.¹⁴¹ Afterwards, about fifty students per primary school and a hundred per secondary school were invited to participate.¹⁴¹ The information regarding the sampling procedure of 1990 survey is not available and we assume that the sampling was drawn according to the international recommendations for that year.¹⁴⁸ For the 1990, 2002 and 2014 surveys, adolescents took part to the survey in spring (also in winter for the 1990 survey). Overall, 48, 197 and 98 schools participated in the surveys of 1990, 2002 and 2014, respectively, and 4,204, 17,299 and 9,566 observations were available in the respective databases (**Figure 9**).

CHAPTER II. METHODS



Figure 8. Flow chart of invited and participating French-speaking schools and adolescents for the HBSC surveys used in this research.





1.3.Data collection

The measurement instrument of the HBSC surveys is an international standardised questionnaire, consisting of a mandatory set of questions, optional packages and national items.⁶⁷ Items are translated from English to the national language and then back-translated by a different translator in order to ensure that the same concepts are measured in all countries. All participating countries must use all the mandatory items in their questionnaire but are free

to add any optional and national packages. The mandatory part concerned all age groups excepting (i) the items related to cannabis use and sexual health that are only presented to the 15-year-old adolescents, and (ii) the items considered highly sensitive in some countries. The mandatory items must comply exactly with the content and structure of the questions indicated, as far as translations will allow. Optional packages may be not presented to all age groups but should be placed after the mandatory items on the given topic area. Countries are encouraged to pilot the new questions to check clarity and translations issues, and to estimate the length of the questionnaire to ensure that sufficient time is allocated to answer the questions. Such a standardisation of the questionnaire enables to collect common data across countries, to make comparisons and to gather (cross-)national trend data with the successive surveys.⁶⁷

In Belgium, the questionnaires in French and Dutch differ due to the respective choice of optional packages and "national" questions. Furthermore, different versions of the questionnaire have been developed per survey year, depending on the sensitivity of the questions and the specificities related to the school level. Nevertheless, such different versions of questionnaires have an impact that is deemed minimal for this work but are discussing when appropriate.

In Dutch-speaking schools, four versions were developed in 1990 and designated as follows for: primary schools; 1^{st} and 2^{nd} years of secondary schools; 3^{rd} and 4^{th} years of secondary schools; from 5^{th} year of secondary schools. In 2002, a questionnaire was developed for primary school and another one for secondary schools. For the 2014 survey, three questionnaires were developed, i.e. for primary school, for the first two years of secondary schools and for the 3^{rd} year of secondary schools onward.

In French-speaking schools, a single questionnaire was used in 1986. As to the other surveys used as part of this research, there were three versions, one of which being for primary schools. In 1990 and 2014,¹⁴⁶ a version was also designed for adolescents in the first three years in secondary schools, and another version for older adolescents. In 2002¹⁴⁴ and in 2010,¹⁴⁵ adolescents in Catholic secondary schools (only those from 1st to 4th year of secondary in 2010) received a shortened version. In 2018, a version was developed for adolescents in 1st and 2nd years of secondary school, and another for adolescents from 3rd year of secondary school onwards.¹⁴⁷ The different versions have had no influence on our analyses, albeit parental level of education was only asked to secondary school adolescents.

Methods of administering the questionnaire can be paper-based or online.⁶⁷ If both are used, the layout must be similar. The questionnaires in French and Dutch were paper-based, ^{140,141,144–147} excepting in the 2014 Dutch-speaking survey where questionnaires could also be completed online in secondary schools.¹⁴¹ Envelopes for all individual questionnaires on paper were provided. In this way, each adolescent put it in the envelope after filling it at school and sealed it themselves to ensure confidentiality. For anonymity, adolescents were advised not to write their name.⁶⁷ They were informed that they could choose not to fill in the questionnaire or to skip questions if they wished to do so. No written parental (or guardian) consent was requested in Belgium so far. Instead, an opt-out consent has been chosen.^{141,147}

1.3.1. Individual-level data

In addition to demographic, socioeconomic or sociocultural questions, adolescents are asked about their health behaviours, including diet. To collect information on dietary habits, a sFFQ was used throughout the surveys. Its aim is "to assess the intake of important sources of dietary fibre (e.g. fruit, vegetable) and calcium (e.g. milk), and items of the youth food culture (e.g. soft drinks, sweets, crisps)".⁶⁷ The reliability and relative validity of the HBSC sFFQ have been studied among several dozens of Belgian and Italian children.^{149,150} The validity has been investigated first by comparing it with a food behaviour checklist and a seven-day food diary.¹⁴⁹ second, the FFQ completed twice seven days apart was compared with a seven-day food diary.¹⁵⁰ The results indicated sufficient reliability and validity for "ranking subjects according to consumption of the individual food items"¹⁴⁹ but pointed out overestimation of consumption frequencies that must be kept in mind. The HBSC sFFQs used for this work differed at some point from the validated one regarding the food list. Nevertheless, since the validation studies proceeded food item by food item, there should be no downside to have not use the same sFFQ exactly.

The layout of the sFFQ is a table including the general question, the modalities of answers and a list of food items (see **Table 2**). The sFFQ from the 2018 French-speaking survey is in the **Appendix C** as an example. The HBSC sFFQ has been revised for the 2002 survey. For this reason, the main differences in the sFFQ are between surveys prior to the 2000s and surveys in the 2000s years. In contrast to surveys prior to the 2000s, only a slight difference in terms is to be noted for the sFFQ question between the French- and Dutch-speaking surveys in 2000s (**Table 3**). Similarly, the answer modalities between the French- and Dutch-speaking surveys slightly differed since 2000s, while they differed substantially prior to 2000s (**Table 4**). Indeed,

the revision of the sFFQ led to an increase in the number of answer modalities from five to seven. The order changed in the Dutch-speaking surveys and was reversed compared to the French-speaking version. As the sFFQ includes mandatory and optional items, important differences in the item proposals may happen, especially for the surveys during the 2000s years. Eleven food items were mandatory in the 1986 survey (tea, coffee, fruit, coke or other fizzy drinks, sweets, vegetables, peanuts, potato crisps, chips/fried potatoes, hamburgers or hot dogs, and dark bread) whereas only four are mandatory since the 2002 survey (fruit, vegetables, sweets (candy or chocolate) and regular soft drinks).⁶⁷

1.3.2. Context-level data

In addition to the information collected about adolescents, countries have the opportunity to collect context-level data through a school-level questionnaire.⁶⁷ This questionnaire is completed by a school official, such as the head or a teacher. One of the main objectives of this questionnaire is to describe the main characteristics of schools, the school context and the structures and activities in schools regarding health promotion. Data on school-level were first collected in the 2006 wave by some countries.⁶⁷ In Belgium, only the 2018 French-speaking survey includes a school-level questionnaire, mostly based on the international HBSC questionnaire.

 Table 2. General layout of the HBSC short Food Frequency Questionnaire.⁶⁷

Question

	Frequencies							
	Freq. 1	Freq. 2	Freq. 3	Freq. 4	Freq. 5	Freq. 6	Freq. 7	
Mandatory items								
Optional items								
National items								

Table 3. sFFQ questions according to the survey year and region.

Surveys	Translated question	Original question	
1986 and 1990 French-speaking surveys	Do you drink or eat the following foods?	Bois-tu ou manges-tu les aliments suivants ?	
1990 Dutch-speaking survey	How often do you eat or drink one of the following	Hoe vaak eet of drink je één van de volgende	
	products?	produkten?	
2002 and 2014 Dutch-speaking surveys	How many days a week do you usually eat or drink?	Hoeveel dagen per week of drink jij gewoonlijk?	
From the 2002 French-speaking survey onwards	How many times a week do you usually eat or drink the	Habituellement, combien de fois par semaine bois-tu ou	
	following foods	manges-tu les aliments suivants	

Surveys	Answer modalities						
1986	Several times a day	Once a day	Every week but not	Rarely	Never		
French-Speaking			every day				
1990	More than once a	Once a day	At least once a	Rarely	Never		
French-speaking	day		week				
1990	Every day	Every week	Every month	Less than once a	Never		
Dutch-speaking				month			
2002 French-	More than once per	Once a day, every	5-6 days a week	2-4 days a week	Once a week	Less than once a	Never
speaking onwards	day, every day*	day				week	
2002 Dutch-speaking	Never	Less than 1 day a	1 day a week	2-4 days a week	5-6 days a week	Once a day and this	Every day, more
onwards		week/rarely				every day	than once

Table 4. sFFQ answer modalities according to the survey year and region.

* "Several times a day every day" in the 2014 survey.
2. Analyses of dietary disparities among adolescents

2.1.Sample studied

For all analyses, the preferred strategy was to have a sample with the least amount of missing data. Firstly, only adolescents who responded to all covariates were included (complete cases). The next step differs according to the surveys analysed. For the analyses carried out on surveys up to 2014 (**Chapters III and IV**), the basis sample included adolescents who responded to the most frequently reported food consumption variable, i.e. fruit. For food consumption other than fruit, the sample size was therefore slightly smaller. For the analyses conducted on the 2018 survey (**Chapter V**), the basis sample included adolescents who responded to the sFFQ as a whole. In fact, we initially planned to use the weighting factor calculated only for adolescents who responded to the entire sFFQ. Due to the complexity of the subsequent analyses, this factor could not be reliably taken into account. However, we did not change our strategy for defining the sample afterwards.

The inclusion diagrams of adolescents in the analyses are displayed in the relative chapters. The maximum number of adolescents included for the main analyses in **Chapter III** was 19,172. For the main analyses in **Chapter IV**, the maximum number was 8,001 in 1990, 29,825 in 2002 and 21,939 in 2014. A total of 6,017 adolescents were included in the main analyses of **Chapter V**.

2.2. Reprocessing data

2.2.1.Food consumption

For the analyses carried out as part of this research, food groups to be consumed in sufficient quantities and food groups to be consumed in a limited way were considered. Fruit, vegetables, dairy products, fish and water are food groups that should be consumed in sufficient quantities, whereas crisps and fries, and SSB are those which should be consumed in limited quantities.

Categorisation of all food items was determined in order to correspond as closely as possible to the Belgian nutritional recommendations,³⁴ while also being determined by the original answer modalities that have evolved significantly over time. Food frequency consumption were categorised into two groups – daily and non-daily consumption – excepting for analyses on socioeconomic disparities by migration status (**Chapter III**). For this chapter, food consumption was firstly grouped in three categories: a category corresponding as far as possible

to the Belgian nutritional policies; a category further away from Belgian nutritional policies; and an intermediate category. If no additional information was provided by the intermediate category, food consumption was then categorised into two groups. For all analyses, the reference category for the analyses was the most health-promoting dietary behaviour.

For composite variables (dairy; crisps and fries; SSB), initial frequency consumption for each was transformed into a monthly frequency by multiplying the initial consumption by the number of weeks (4 for analyses in **Chapter III**; 4.35 for analyses in **Chapter V**) (**Table 5**). If the answer modality was a range (e.g. "5 to 6 days a week"), the average was considered (e.g. 5.5 days a week). The differences in frequency consumption in days per month were due to the more precise multiplying factor in **Chapter V** but did not lead to important differences. Afterwards, consumption frequency per month of all items was added up to obtain the composite frequency. The food groups, variables and categorisation, as well as its corresponding consumption of days per month used for analyses are summarised in **Table 6**, **Table 7** and **Table 8**.

Table 5. Transformation of the original consumption frequencies into frequency consumption in days per month for variables making up the composite variables.

Original frequency	Frequency in days	Frequency in days per month		
consumption	per week	Chapter III ^a	Chapter V ^b	
More than once a day		31 days/month	31 days/month	
Once a day		30 days/month	30 days/month	
5-6 days per week	5.5	22 days/month	24 days/month	
2-4 days per week	3	12 days/month	13 days/month	
Once a week	1	4 days/month 4 days/mo		
Less than once a week	0.5	2 days/month 2 days/mot		
Never	0	0 days/month	0 days/month	

^a 4 weeks per month; ^b 4.35 weeks per month.

Table 6. Food groups, variables, and categorisation (reference category in **bold**; corresponding summed frequencies in days per month in grey) used for analyses on socioeconomic disparities by migration status (chapter III).

Food groups	Variables making up the composite variables	Categorisation			
Fruit		> Once a day	5-7 days a week	< 5 days a week	
Vegetables		> Once a day	5-7 days a week	< 5 days a week	
Fish		≥2 days a week	< 2 days		
Dairy products	Milk (whole milk; skim/semi-skimmed milk) Cheese Dairy products	> Once a day (≥ 31 days/month)	≤ Once a day (< 31 days/month)		
Crisps and fries	Crisps Fries	< Once a day (< 25 days/month)	≥ Once a day (≥ 25 days/month)		
Sugar-sweetened beverages	Coke or other sweetened lemonade Coke or other light lemonade	≤ Once a week (< 4.5 days/month)	2-6 days a week (4.5-24.5 days/month)	≥ Once a day (≥ 25 days/month)	

Table 7. Food groups, variables, and categorisation (reference category in bold; corresponding summed frequencies in days per month in grey) used for analyses on long-term trend in disparities (chapter IV).

Food groups	Variables making up the composite variables	Categorisation	
Fruit		Daily	Non-daily
Vegetables	In the 1989/1990 Dutch-speaking survey: Cooked vegetables Raw vegetables	Daily	Non-daily
Sugar-sweetened beverages		Non-daily	Daily

Table 8. Food groups, variables, and categorisation (reference category in bold; corresponding summed frequencies in days per month in grey) used for analyses on contextual disparities (chapter V).

Food groups	Variables making up the composite variables	Categorisation		
Fruit		Daily	Non-daily	
Vegetables		Daily	Non-daily	
Dairy products	Whole milk Skim or semi-skimmed milk Cheese Yoghurt, cottage cheese	Daily (≥ 26.5 days/month)	Non-daily (< 26 days/month)	
Water		Daily	Non-daily	
Crisps and fries	Crisps Fries	Non-daily (< 26 days/month)	Daily (≥ 26.5 days/month)	
Sugar-sweetened beverages	Coca and other sweetened beverages Coca light/zero and other light drinks	Non-daily (< 26 days/month)	Daily $(\geq 26.5 \text{ days/month})$	

CHAPTER II. METHODS

2.2.2. Individual characteristics

As part of this work, the individual information included sociocultural and socioeconomic characteristics collected through the questionnaire completed by the adolescent, namely: gender, age, migration status, family structure, siblings, FAS, perceived family wealth, parental working status and level of education. Questions related to the parental education were only asked to adolescents in secondary school while all the others were asked to all age groups.

The **age** of adolescents generally was calculated from the month and year of birth, and a given date of data collection. The day of birth was only asked for the 1986 French-speaking survey and the 2002 and 2014 Dutch-speaking surveys. For all other surveys or when data was missing for the above surveys, the day of birth was set at 15. Next, the age in completed years was categorised in two or three groups, depending on the study population.

The migration status was defined based on the birth country of adolescents, that of their mother and their father, along with adolescent's age of arrival in Belgium for the 2018 survey. Regardless of their country of birth, adolescents whose both parents were born in Belgium were considered to be "natives" in surveys prior to the 2018 survey. Indeed, since the age of arrival was not available for these surveys, we assumed that foreign-born adolescents were mainly born abroad "by chance" (during holidays for instance) and therefore were not strictly immigrants. In the 2018 survey, adolescents were considered as "natives" when both parents were born in Belgium, and either the adolescent was born in Belgium or arrived in Belgium before one year. In the latter uncommon instance, we also assumed that the adolescent was born abroad "by chance", without important consequences on his/her health behaviours, and therefore could be deemed as a native. For all surveys, adolescents born in Belgium who had at least one parent born abroad were considered "2nd-generation immigrants". Adolescents born abroad whose both parents were not born in Belgium were considered as "1st-generation immigrants". In the 2018 survey, foreign-born adolescents who arrived after the age of one year, and whose both parents were born in Belgium, were also considered as "1st-generation immigrants".

The **family structure** was defined by three categories: "two-parent family"; "blended family"; and "single-parent family". The questions on which the categorisation of the family structure was based have evolved throughout the surveys. Prior to the 2000s, adolescents were only asked who they were living with. From the 2002 survey, adolescents were also asked if they had a second home, and since the 2010 survey (since 2002 for Dutch-speaking adolescents)

76

how often they lived in that home. In addition, between the 2002 and the 2014 surveys (2010 in the French-speaking part), adolescents were asked who they were living with in the second home. All these additional questions allowed us to better determine the family structure:

- Adolescents who lived with both parents and, when the question was asked, reported having no second home, were considered to be living in a "two-parent family" structure. This also applied to adolescents living with both parents who reported having a second home in which they were living less than half of the time. In this instance, the second house was assumed to be a holiday home.
- To be considered as living in a "blended family", adolescents must have reported living with a parent and a stepparent.
- Adolescents mainly living with one parent were considered as living in a "single-parent family". In addition, adolescents living with both parents and having reported a second home in which they lived half of the time were considered to be living in a "single-parent family" structure.
- The family structure of an adolescent who reported living with both parents and a stepparent or with a parent and two stepparents cannot be determined. As a result, the adolescent was randomly assigned to a single-parent or a blended family structure.
- Given the difficulties of interpretation resulting from the specificity and the heterogeneity of the living context, adolescents living in other situations such as foster care homes or with adults other than their (step)parents were not included in analyses.

Adolescent **siblings** were determined by the number of brothers, sisters, half-brothers and halfsisters. They were considered to be "single child" if they declared none of them. They were considered to have "siblings" if they had at least one brother, sister, half-brother or half-sister.

The **Family Affluence Scale** (FAS) measures the family wealth.⁶⁶ This tool is reliable and valid, as explained previously (see **section 1.2.3.1**, "**overview on adolescents**"). To get the FAS of an adolescent, a composite score is calculated based on six items (since 2014): holidays abroad the last 12 months with their family, ownership of up to two or more cars, up to three or more bathrooms, own bedroom and a dishwasher.⁶⁶ The FAS score ranged from 0 to 13 and was divided into three categories based on quintiles. The first quintile (lowest FAS scores) corresponded to adolescents with a low FAS, the second to fourth to adolescents with a medium FAS and the fifth quintile to those with a high FAS.

Adolescents were asked how they felt financially about their family, choosing from five categories ranging from "very well off" to "not at all well off". The last two categories (i.e. "not so well off" and "not at all well off") were merged due to the small sample size within. Thus, the **perceived family wealth** was categorised in four: "very well off"; "quite well off"; "average"; "not so/at all well off".

The **parental working status** was defined based on whether the father and the mother were on a job or not, and if they were not working, the reasons why they were not. Initially, we used this variable for two purposes: (i) to determine the availability of parents through their presence/absence at home; (ii) to estimate their financial situation. Therefore, four categories were defined for analyses carried out with the 2014 surveys: "both parents working"; "one working parent and the other at home"; "one working parent and the other absent from home"; "no working parent".

- Adolescents with both parents working were categorised as having "both parents working".
- Adolescents considered as having "no working parent" were those with both parents not working, along with those with a parent not working, and who did not have or were no longer seeing the second.
- Adolescents with one working parent but no second working parent because he/she was seeking a job were categorised as having "one working parent and the other absent from home". Those with one working parent but without a second parent were also in this category.
- Adolescents reporting to have one working parent but no second working parent because he/she was (pre-)retired, disabled, student or homemaker were categorised as having "one working parent and the other at home". The few adolescents with a working parent but who did not know if the second parent was in a job or the reasons why he/she was not, were also taken into account in this category.

For the 2018 survey, the distinction between the presence and absence of the second parent was no longer made, mainly due to the small sample sizes in each case and the previous lack of results regarding this categorisation. The main purpose of this categorisation was to estimate their financial situation. Thus, three categories were defined: "both parents working"; "one working parent"; "no working parent".

- Adolescents with both parents working were categorised as having "both parents working", as in the 2014 survey.
- Adolescents considered as having "no working parent" were those with both parents not working along with those with a parent not working and no information about the second parent.
- Adolescents with one working parent and no information about the second parent or a non-working second parent were considered to be having "one working parent".

Secondary-school adolescents were asked about their mother's and father's **level of education** in 2018. When the adolescent lived in a two-parent family, the highest level of education was considered. For adolescents living in a single-parent or blended family, the level of the parent with whom the adolescent lived mattered. However, if we could not identify the parent with whom the adolescent lived most of the time, the highest level of education between the two parents was considered. Given the high number of missing data, an additional category was created as "undetermined". The "primary or lower" level of education and the "secondary" level of education were merged due to the small sample size of the former. Therefore, the level of education was categorised in three: "post-secondary education", "secondary or lower" education" and "undetermined".

2.2.3. School characteristics

As part of this work, contextual data include information about schools on the region, the socioeconomic index (SEI), the proportion of immigrants, the selling food at school, the topics related to health or health promotion explicitly addressed in the school mission statement and the purpose of food projects. The school region was available for all surveys (sampling information). The school SEI and the proportion of immigrants, used for the 2018 survey, were extracted from official data for the former and from the individual HBSC data for the latter. The remaining contextual data were gathered through the 2018 school-level questionnaire. Since very few schools sold food and the nutrition-related characteristics of schools differed greatly between primary and secondary schools, analyses including school-level data other than school region were only carried out on adolescents from secondary schools.

The **region** of the school was determined based on the postcode of the school and categorised in two ("Wallonia"; "Brussels-Capital") or three ("Flanders; "Wallonia"; "Brussels-Capital"), depending on whether or not the Dutch-speaking survey was included in our analyses.

CHAPTER II. METHODS

The socioeconomic index (SEI) of a school is officially used to determine the allocation and use of resources, and additional periods allocated in the context of differentiated teaching for schools.¹⁵¹ First, the school SEI is calculated based on individual characteristics of its population: per capita income, level of education, unemployment rates, labour force activity and social assistance rates, and occupational activities. Schools are then increasingly classified, from the lowest to the highest socioeconomic index. Afterwards, in primary and secondary schools separately, based on the cumulated school population, schools are distributed into 20 classes (1: lowest socioeconomic schools; 20: highest socioeconomic schools), each comprising exactly 5% of the total population. As a result, some schools may belong to two classes.¹⁵¹ For the purposes of our analyses, only one class of the two classes was considered, i.e. the higher class. Based on the quartiles, three categories were defined.¹⁵¹ The first quartile corresponded to schools having a "low socioeconomic index" (classes 1 to 5), the second to schools of "medium socioeconomic index" (classes 6 to 10), and the last two quartiles to schools with a "high socioeconomic index" (classes 11 to 20). In fact, low-SEI schools are 100% beneficiaries of resources and additional periods granted. Medium-SEI schools are 50-75% beneficiaries under certain conditions. No resources and no additional periods are granted to high-SEI schools.

Due to its correlation with the school region, the **proportion of immigrants** per school was only used for analyses carried in the Brussels-Capital sample. This variable was determined by dividing the number of immigrants by the number of immigrants and natives participating in the survey. Missing information on migration status was not included in the denominator, resulting in no missing data for this variable. The proportion of immigrants per school in Brussels-Capital ranged from 50.0% to 100%. It was categorised into terciles. The first tercile corresponded to schools with a "low proportion of immigrants" ([50.0-67.3%[]), the second to schools with a "middle proportion of immigrants" ([67.3-91.2%[]) and the third to schools with a "high proportion of immigrants" ([91.2-100%]). Exploratory findings highlighted a high correlation between the proportion of immigrants per school (MIG) and the school socioeconomic index (SEI). Therefore, a composite variable **SEIxMIG** was created, with five categories: "high SEI, low MIG"; "medium SEI, low MIG"; "medium SEI, low SEI schools, low and middle MIG"; "low SEI, low or middle MIG"; "low SEI, high MIG". For the low SEI schools, low and middle MIG were merged due to the small sample size of the low MIG in low SEI schools (n= 10). Combinations not mentioned actually did not exist.

80

Through the school-level questionnaire, schools were asked whether **topics related to health or health promotion were explicitly addressed in the school mission statement** (yes/no). Schools were also asked whether the **purpose of food projects** was to increase the consumption of fruit and vegetables, whole grains... (yes/no); to limit the consumption of sweets, crisps, sugary drinks... (yes/no); to include fruit or vegetables at school events (yes/no). They additionally were asked whether adolescents could buy or not certain products when they had access to food buying places inside the school. **The selling food at school** comprised: bottles of water; sugar-sweetened drinks, fruit drinks that are not 100% pure juice, or so-called sports drinks (Aquarius®, Gastorade®...); flavoured milk; chocolate, sweets, cookies, cakes or ice cream; crisps or fries; fruit; vegetables or salads; filled sandwiches; pizzas or burgers; whole grain bread or other whole grain products. All of these elements were grouped into three, using a classification method preceded by the Multiple Correspondence Analysis (MCA). The three groups represented schools that sold: (1) few foods; (2) mainly health-impairing foods; (3) lots of foods (see Chapter V, section 2).

2.3. Statistical analyses

General outline of statistical analyses is presented by chapter hereafter, and more details are given in the corresponding chapter when necessary. The global analysis strategy is summarised below. Throughout the analyses, the reference categories were assumed to be the most favourable category in terms of health.

All analyses were performed using Stata/IC 14[®] (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA), except for MCA and clustering which were performed using R software. Statistical significance of all tests was set at 0.05 unless other specifications.

2.3.1.Migration status as an effect modifier of the association between socioeconomic status and dietary habits – Chapter III

Preliminary analyses strongly guided the analyses presented in **Chapter III**. First, they revealed a significant number of interactions. These interactions were first evaluated on the basis of the overall *P* value of the two-way term based on dummy independent variables, which was included in the univariate and multivariate models. In the case where the overall *P* value was less than 0.1, we explored the consistency of the differences in association across population sub-groups. These results, combined with the literature and *a priori* hypotheses, led us to stratify our analyses by migration status. Next, stratified analyses conducted on the food

groups categorised into three revealed that the intermediate category of some groups did not provide additional information. Some food groups were subsequently categorised into two. Thereby, the analyses of **Chapter III** to determine dietary disparities: (i) focused on food groups categorised into two or three, and (ii) were stratified by migration status.

Multilevel analysis, outlined in **Appendix D**, was required to handle the hierarchical structure of the 2014 HBSC data resulting from sampling plan (adolescents [level 1] nested in classes [level 2], in turn nested in schools [level 3]).¹⁵² Such a structure can result in correlated or non-independent data. Thus, we might expect that two randomly-selected adolescents from the same class and the same school should be more alike regarding food frequency consumption than two adolescents from different classes and schools.¹⁵³ In other words, characteristics of the class and the school, particularly in terms of nutrition, might influence adolescent dietary habits. However, we assumed that influence of the class characteristics on dietary habits were marginal compared with those of schools. Therefore, only the school level was considered in multilevel analyses.

The first step before performing multilevel analyses is to determine whether dietary habits actually differ between schools or not. Hence, a likelihood ratio test comparing the one-level model to the two-level random intercept model^a is performed.¹⁵⁴ When the null hypothesis of no group difference is rejected (P value significant), the two-level model is retained. A significant test implies that the more complete (i.e. two-level) model fits better than the less complete (i.e. one-level) model. However, to make the results easier to interpret and to be consistent, multilevel models were carried out for all food groups, including those for which there was no group difference. Nevertheless, the lack of contextual data did not make possible to further investigate the possible school effect. In fact, there was no school-level questionnaire available for the 2014 survey, which was only developed from the 2018 survey.

The strategy adopted here for the multilevel analyses was to carry out a series of models. The first model (*null* model) is an empty model that consists of the school-specific random effect without any independent variables. Associations between independent variables (socioeconomic characteristics) and a given food consumption were then evaluated by univariate regression (model 1). Finally, multilevel binary logistic regression was performed for food groups with consumption frequencies in two categories (odds ratio (OR) and 95% CI); multilevel multinomial logistic regression was used for food groups with consumption

^a School residuals u_i are not fixed and are considered to vary across schools

frequencies falling into three categories (relative risk ratio (RRR)^a and 95%CI). All covariates with a P value < 0.20 in the univariate analyses were included in the initial multivariable regression model. Manual backward stepwise selection was used to determine the final model (model 2), consisting of iteratively removing the predictor with the highest P value, and higher than 0.05. In order to facilitate comparisons of findings between migration groups, a socioeconomic predictor significantly associated with food consumption in a given migration status group was retained for all other migration status groups.

Finally, additional analyses were performed to estimate the role of immigrants' geographical origin on disparities. Further stratifying analyses on the origin of immigrants was not relevant since the sample size of some categories were already small. Therefore, we opted to subsequently adjust analyses on the origin of immigrants. Nevertheless, it should be noted that the categories remain very heterogeneous and do not allow a meaningful interpretation of the effect modification of the migration status.

2.3.2. Long-term trends in dietary disparities – Chapter IV

Studying trends in inequalities over a long period of time is challenging. First, it considerably limits the choice of variables to be studied due to several changes in the items collected throughout the surveys. In addition, it requires a measure that helps to compare these inequalities over time. For this purpose, we have used the Relative Index of Inequality (RII) and the Slope Index of Inequality (SII).⁶⁰ The use of these measures facilitates the comparison of inequalities at different points, such as time or place, by considering the population size and the relative position of groups. Furthermore, these aggregate measures of the magnitude of inequalities take into account the whole distribution and not only the extreme groups,⁶⁰ allowing the situation of inequality related to a characteristic in relative and absolute terms, respectively.⁶⁰

The RII and SII are complementary in the results interpretation. All relative differences being equal, an absolute difference can be much higher when frequency of unfavourable food consumption is high compared with a situation where the frequency is low.¹⁵⁵ Moreover, absolute and relative differences can move in opposite directions, meaning that the absolute difference may decrease over the time while relative difference increases. Therefore, both

^a RRR are interpreted similarly to OR but they differ on one point: not one but several categories are compared to the same reference category.

measures should be considered to better understand the trends in inequalities. In addition, the interpretation of the RII and SII must be related to the Population Attributable Factor (PAF).¹⁵⁶ Indeed, changes in inequalities may result from a shift in the population structure. Thus, an increase over time in RII and SII could be due to an upward shift in the population, with an increase in the proportion of the population at the top of the hierarchy. If this is the case, then the PAF should decrease over the same time period.¹⁵⁶

All the analyses of **Chapter IV** were stratified by survey year. Firstly, the categories of the different characteristics studied (i.e. family structure, school region and migration status) were ranked based on prior hypothesis.^{110,157} Subsequently, a modified-ridit transformation^{158,159} was applied to obtain a ranking score x_i between 0 and 1. The ranks x_i were determined as follows:

$$\frac{c_i + c_{i-1}}{2}$$

where c_i the fraction of the population in the class *i* or lower ($c_0 = 0$ and $c_i = 1$).¹⁵⁹

According to this formula, the scores $x_i=0$ and $x_i=1$ correspond to hypothetical categories. Based on the ranking of the categories, a score of 0 corresponds to the so-called hypothetical best-placed category, i.e. those who should have the lowest prevalence of unfavourable dietary habits. Conversely, a score of 1 corresponds to the so-called hypothetical worst-placed category, i.e. those who should have the highest prevalence of unfavourable dietary habits.

For each food group, crude RII and SII were estimated first. Secondly, RII and SII were adjusted for all the independent variables. Trends over time in RII and SII were estimated by including a two-way interaction term modified-ridit score by survey.¹⁶⁰ In the case where the evolution of RII and SII was quadratic, a test for quadratic trend was performed (including survey year squared in the two-way interaction term).

For these analyses, we opted for a Poisson regression rather than a logistic regression. The prevalence ratios (PR) obtained using Poisson regression are more interpretable and easier to understand than OR in cross-sectional studies. Namely, OR cannot be interpreted as PR given that OR can strongly overestimated PR.¹⁶¹ Nevertheless, a disadvantage of Poisson regression is that it is not yet sufficiently developed in the usual statistical software and cannot be used properly with some advanced statistics methods, such as multilevel analyses (**Chapters III** and **V**). In this **Chapter IV**, the structure of the data could not be taken into account because the older databases did not reliably include class or school information.

2.3.3.Individual and school socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits – Chapter V

Preliminary analyses revealed that contextual variables, especially food sold at school, were rarely associated with food group consumption (data not shown). We then assumed that the school environment as a whole could influence dietary habits, but the magnitude of each health promotion action was much less impacting. Therefore, we performed an MCA, outlined in **Appendix E**, to study the associations between all the school variables' categories.¹⁶²

First of all, we carried out an MCA on all the contextual variables (see **section 2.2.3**). This MCA enabled to distinguish six groups that could be summarised into two following the two principal components: food sales *vs.* all other contextual variables (data not shown). Then, we calculated two scores according to the two summarised groups by assigning a weight (i.e. coordinates on the axis) to each variable. Again, scores were rarely associated with food consumption (data not shown). Finally, such results added to the literature suggested that structural and contextual variables related to health promotion should be considered separately and that the foods sold should be considered together using clustering.

Before performing clustering, missing data were imputed using R, to avoid not including a whole school in the subsequent analyses. Then, an MCA was performed on *foods available at schools* and was intended to be the preliminary step to hierarchical clustering.¹⁶² Indeed, one solution to avoid instability¹⁶³ is to first transform categorical variables into quantitative variables before performing a hierarchical clustering.

Clustering method, an unsupervised classification^a, aims to classify patterns^b into clusters based on similarity.¹⁶⁴ Among the numerous methods,¹⁶⁴ we have chosen to perform a Hierarchical Clustering on Principal Components (HCPC). As suggested by its name, this method is performed on *principal components* that were obtained through the MCA.

To create the clusters, the agglomerative method used consists in beginning with each school belonging to a distinct group.¹⁶⁴ Then, the schools are merged given their similarity until all the schools are in the same group. The method of merging follows the Ward's criterion¹⁶⁴ and aims to minimise the increase in within-group inertia, the inertia being defined as the squared Euclidean distance between schools.¹⁶⁶. The number of clusters to retain was chosen based on

^a Groups are not known *a priori*

^b A pattern consists of a vector¹⁶⁴ such that obtained by the MCA¹⁶⁵

the change in inertia along with the interpretability of the clusters. Thus, Q clusters were retained when Q minimised the criterion $\frac{\Delta(Q)}{\Delta(Q+1)}$, with $\Delta(Q)$ the between-inertia increase.¹⁶⁷ According to this, four clusters should have been selected for analyses in **Chapter V**, but these were not easily interpretable. As a result, we have reduced the number of clusters to three.

Multilevel analyses were performed to handle the data structure (adolescents < classes < schools). Preliminary analyses confirmed that dietary habits were not influenced by class characteristics in addition to those of schools (data not shown). Therefore, only the school level was considered in analyses of **Chapter V**.

As for **Chapter III**, a succession of models was carried out. The first model (model 1), also known as the *null* model, is an empty model that consists of the school-specific random effect without any independent variables. In the second model (model 2), individual-level variables were added up to the model 1 estimating the school effect. Then, a third model (model 3) was performed and consisted in evaluating the school-level variables (including clusters) together with the individual-level variables and the school effect. Among others, this strategy allowed to describe the change in the group effect explained by the variables at the individual- and school-levels.

In models 2 and 3, the slopes of all the independent individual-level variables can be allowed to vary across schools, leading to a very complex and difficult to estimate model. Hence, if the effect of a variable is not different from one group to another, it is not necessary to use a random slope. To determine whether the slope should be fixed or random, a likelihood ratio test is performed,¹⁶⁸ comparing a first model with a fixed slope nested in a second with a random slope. The random slope model is retained when the *P* value is statistically significant, meaning that this model fits better than the fixed slope model. We allowed all the independent individual-level variables to vary in turn across schools in models 2 and 3. However, no *P* value of the likelihood ratio test was significant. Therefore, all the independent individual-level variables were fixed across schools. Note that contextual variables, which are specific to schools, may also vary and could be considered at a higher level, i.e. level 3. However, we did not use such a level in our analyses.

Measures and interpretation of multilevel analyses

In contrast to chapter III, the analyses in this chapter went beyond the simple consideration of the within-cluster correlation, in particular by including school-level variables. In addition to

specific measures for multilevel analyses that are necessary to understand the hierarchical data, school-level measures are needed to properly interpret the results. Two main types of measures can be distinguished in multilevel analyses: the measures of association between the food frequency consumption (our topic) and the independent variables, such as the OR, and the measures of components of variance and of heterogeneity, such as the variance partition coefficient.¹⁵³ The latter measures help better evaluate the general contextual effects.¹⁵³

The logit of the **intercept** β_0 is the probability of having a food frequency consumption detrimental to health at an average school (model 1) for an adolescent of reference (model 2) and a school of reference regarding school characteristics (model 3).¹⁵³ An "average school" means a school whose random effect is equal to zero. An adolescent and a school of reference mean that individual and school covariates, respectively, equal to zero too.¹⁵³

The interpretation of the **Odds Ratio** is conditional on other independent variables and schoolspecific random effect, leading to a within-school interpretation.¹⁵³ Therefore, the OR of X_{ij} in model 2 determines the association between variable X_{ij} and the food frequency consumption, adjusted on the other independent variables for adolescents within the same school. Nevertheless, the interpretation of the OR of Z_j (school-level independent variables) is problematic because, by definition, the value of the school-level variable is constant for all individuals in the school. Therefore, in order to properly assess the association between the food frequency consumption and the school-level variables, another measure is presented: the Proportion of Opposed Odds Ratios (POOR).¹⁵³

The **Proportion of Opposed Odds Ratios** is the proportion of pairwise OR "with the opposite direction to the overall OR".¹⁶⁹ A pairwise OR means an OR comparing two adolescents "*whose values of a school-level independent variable differs by one unit but who have identical value for other individual- and school-level independent variables*".¹⁵³ The values of the POOR range between 0 and 50% and provide information on the homogeneity of the association.¹⁵³ The closer to zero the POOR, the more homogeneous the association. Conversely, the closer to 50%, the more heterogeneous the association. For instance, a POOR equals to 0% means that the direction of the association is the same for all schools, albeit the strength may differ. A POOR of 50% implies that it is not possible conclude to an association between the given variable and dietary habits.

The **Variance Partition Coefficient** (VPC) is the proportion of the residual variation in food frequency consumption that is attributable to systematic difference between schools,¹⁵³ i.e.

between-group variations. The VPC values range from 0 to 1. The closer the VPC value is to one, the more adolescents from the same school have the same frequency of food consumption. Conversely, if the VPC is close to zero, adolescents from the same school would be no more alike regarding food consumption than those coming from a theoretical simple random sample of the population. Interestingly, since the individual-level variance is fixed when using latent variable formulation in binary logistic regression, a scale correction factor was applied to the variance of models 2 and 3, resulting in a corrected VPC.¹⁵³

The **Median Odds Ratio** (MOR), a measure of heterogeneity, is the median of the set of OR that could be obtained by comparing two random adolescents from different schools with the same values for the independent variables (characteristics): one at higher risk of having an unhealthy food frequency consumption and one at lower risk.¹⁵³ Therefore, in half of comparisons, the odd of having a food frequency consumption detrimental to health would be less than the MOR for an adolescent at the school at higher risk, compared to another adolescent attending a school at lower risk.¹⁵³ One feature of interest of this measure is that it is directly comparable with the measures of association of individual- and school-level variables. This makes it possible to determine whether the magnitude of the effect of clustering (contextual effect) is smaller or greater than that of the individual or school characteristics.¹⁵³

The **Proportional Change in Cluster Variation** (PCV) quantifies the variation explained by a multilevel model (e.g. model 2 or model 3).¹⁵³ The PCV allows to describe the change in the group effect explained by the variables at the individual- and school-levels.

CHAPTER III. SOCIOECONOMIC DISPARITIES IN ADOLESCENT DIET: MIGRATION STATUS AS A MODIFIER

* **

1. Introduction

The literature review pointed to growing evidence that in high income countries, adolescents' diet varies according to their social position, despite some limitations regarding several food groups.⁹⁹ Numerous studies consistently found an association between socioeconomic status and dietary habits of adolescents.^{170,171} However, research remains very scattered in terms of sociocultural position. Until now, studies mainly conducted in the U.S. oriented towards ethnic groups,^{172,173} making the transposition of the findings to Belgium complex and doubtful. With regard to migration status, studies are even rarer,^{114,174} like among adults.⁸² Nevertheless, it has been shown that immigrant adolescents tend to gradually mimic the diet of native-born adolescents^{114,174} through an acculturation process. However, this research was mainly carried out in particular contexts (such as in Balearic Islands)¹¹⁴ or concerned only immigrants of limited origins.¹⁷⁴ In view of all these results, the first objective of this chapter was **to estimate the dietary habits of adolescents living in Belgium according to their migration status**, i.e. natives, 2nd-generation immigrants or 1st-generation immigrants (see definition **Chapter II**, **section 2.2.2**).

While studies on the association between social position and diet have multiplied in recent times, none of them focused on the interplay of indicators, particularly between socioeconomic position and sociocultural background. Yet a modifying effect of sociocultural background on the association between socioeconomic position and health has already been observed in adults¹⁷⁵ and adolescents.¹³⁰ It is therefore to be expected that migration status may modify the association between socioeconomic indicators and adolescents' dietary habits. Thus, the second objective of this chapter was **to estimate the socioeconomic disparities in the dietary habits in adolescents of different migration status**.

These two main objectives have been addressed in the paper presented in section 2. The analyses presented in this paper were based on data for adolescents aged 10 to 19 years from the French- and Dutch-speaking surveys of 2014. The supplemental materials of the paper are

presented in **appendices F-H** of the doctoral thesis: (i) multilevel logistic regression models that related to the main results in the main text, but presented in a figure form (**Appendix F**); (ii) multilevel logistic regression stratified by geographical origin of immigrants (**Appendix G**); and (iii) comparison between the characteristics of adolescents included in the analyses and of those eligible but not included (**Appendix H**).

To summarise the main findings related to these objectives, a migration gradient in the dietary habits of adolescents was actually highlighted. Specifically, favourable frequency consumption gradually increased (for healthy food, such as vegetables or fish) or decreased (for unhealthy food, like crisps and fries) from natives to 2nd-generation immigrants, and from 2nd-generation immigrants to 1st-generation immigrants. Moreover, several socioeconomic disparities were identified in dietary habits of adolescents. These were mainly observed in natives and, to a lesser extent, in 2nd-generation immigrants. Even more limited socioeconomic disparities were found among 1st-generation immigrants.

These findings raise the question of whether these migration-related differences in socioeconomic disparities between adolescents are more driven by the culture or by the socioeconomic conditions. In order to help address this issue, insight into the description of socioeconomic characteristics of the immigrant adolescents in Belgium, in comparison with natives, is required. Besides, Belgium has a special migration history, with countries of origin and reasons for immigration varying greatly over the years.⁷⁵ Studying the changes in immigrant characteristics would help document whether history is reflected in the characteristics of the HBSC adolescents, and therefore whether the 2014 survey stood out from the others. Thus, complementary analyses were carried out and aimed **to describe the socioeconomic characteristics of adolescents according to their migration status and throughout the survey years (section 3.1)**.

Furthermore, the migration gradient in the dietary habits of adolescents observed in the published paper suggests a process of acculturation, as mentioned above.^{114,174} The issue of dietary acculturation deserves more attention among 1st-generation immigrant adolescents. Indeed, these adolescents can be distinguished on many characteristics that can have an impact on such a process, like, among others, the proportion of their life spent in the host country. Although too little investigated, we assumed that the higher the proportion of time spent in Belgium by 1st-generation immigrants, the closer they are to the dietary consumption of 2nd-generation immigrants and natives who have spent their whole life in Belgium. In this respect,

additional analyses aimed to **determine the food consumption of adolescents according to the proportion of their past life in Belgium**. These additional analyses came from a Public Health master's thesis developed during the academic year 2019-2020 and were based on the 2018 HBSC survey conducted in French-speaking schools (**section 3.2**). They should therefore be considered as an exploratory illustration of this hypothesis.

2. Published paper: "Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium"



Article

Socioeconomic Disparities in Diet Vary According to Migration Status among Adolescents in Belgium

Manon Rouche ^{1,*}, Bart de Clercq ², Thérésa Lebacq ^{1,3}, Maxim Dierckens ², Nathalie Moreau ^{1,3}, Lucille Desbouys ¹, Isabelle Godin ⁴ and Katia Castetbon ^{1,3}

- ¹ Research Center in Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Clinical Research, School of Public Health, Université libre de Bruxelles (ULB), 1040 Brussels, Belgium; theresa.lebacq@ulb.ac.be (T.L.); nathalie.moreau@ulb.ac.be (N.M.); lucille.desbouys@ulb.ac.be (L.D.); katia.castetbon@ulb.ac.be (K.C.)
- ² Department of Public Health and Primary Care, Ghent University (UGent), 9000 Ghent, Belgium; b.declercq@ugent.be (B.d.C.); maxim.dierckens@ugent.be (M.D.)
- ³ Service d'Information Promotion Education Santé (SIPES), School of Public Health, Université libre de Bruxelles (ULB), 1040 Brussels, Belgium
- ⁴ Research Centre in Social Approaches to Health, School of Public Health, Université libre de Bruxelles (ULB), 1040 Brussels, Belgium; isabelle.godin@ulb.ac.be
- * Correspondence: manon.rouche@ulb.ac.be; Tel.: +32-2-555-40-59

Received: 11 March 2019; Accepted: 6 April 2019; Published: 10 April 2019



Abstract: Little information concerning social disparities in adolescent dietary habits is currently available, especially regarding migration status. The aim of the present study was to estimate socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits of school adolescents from different migration backgrounds. In the 2014 cross-sectional "Health Behavior in School-Aged Children" survey in Belgium, food consumption was estimated using a self-administrated short food frequency questionnaire. In total, 19,172 school adolescents aged 10-19 years were included in analyses. Multilevel multiple binary and multinomial logistic regressions were performed, stratified by migration status (natives, 2nd- and 1st-generation immigrants). Overall, immigrants more frequently consumed both healthy and unhealthy foods. Indeed, 32.4% of 1st-generation immigrants, 26.5% of 2nd-generation immigrants, and 16.7% of natives consumed fish \geq two days a week. Compared to those having a high family affluence scale (FAS), adolescents with a low FAS were more likely to consume chips and fries \geq once a day (vs. < once a day: Natives aRRR = 1.39 (95%CI: 1.12–1.73); NS in immigrants). Immigrants at schools in Flanders were less likely than those in Brussels to consume sugar-sweetened beverages 2–6 days a week (vs. \leq once a week: Natives aRRR = 1.86 (95%CI: 1.32–2.62); 2nd-generation immigrants aRRR = 1.52 (1.11–2.09); NS in 1st-generation immigrants). The migration gradient observed here underlines a process of acculturation. Narrower socioeconomic disparities in immigrant dietary habits compared with natives suggest that such habits are primarily defined by culture of origin. Nutrition interventions should thus include cultural components of dietary habits.

Keywords: migration status; dietary habits; food frequency questionnaire; socioeconomic disparities; adolescents

1. Introduction

High consumption of foods such as chips and fries [1] and sugar-sweetened beverages (SSB) [2] might be associated with increased noncommunicable diseases (NCD); by contrast, adequate consumption of fruits, vegetables [2,3], fish [2], and dairy products [4] might reduce NCD and all-cause mortality. Furthermore, it has been estimated that up to two-thirds of NCD social inequalities may be explained by dietary disparities [5,6].



In addition, evidence indicates that dietary habits during adolescence may continue into adulthood [7–9]. To implement effective prevention of NCD throughout the lifetime, disparities in adolescent eating behavior warrant elucidation. However, information on this topic is scarce in Western countries. Although several studies have pointed out the association between dietary habits and socioeconomic status (SES) among adolescents [10,11], SES may not explain all observed variations.

Among other determinants of dietary habits, migration status may play a role [12,13]; however, published studies are rare, even among adults, and are often oriented towards a specific ethnic group [12,13]. Studies on health related to migration have revealed a mortality advantage in immigrants compared to natives, despite the lower SES of most immigrants [14]. This paradox could be explained by the "healthy-migrant effect", i.e., positive self-selection, and an unhealthy return-migration effect, also known as the "salmon-bias hypothesis" [14]. However, these selection processes are subject to caution; "beneficial cultural and behavioral factors", like dietary habits, may be the most plausible explanation for this paradox [14]. The immigrant health advantage may also tend to wear off with length of stay in the host country, mostly due to an acculturation process [15,16], wherein foreign individuals partially integrate behaviors and cultural aspects of the host population while maintaining their roots [17]. This has been highlighted in some adult dietary studies and suggests gradual adaptation to the natives' eating habits according to years spent in the host country [18]. In adolescents, dietary habits varying according to migration status (including a gradient across migration generations) might also be expected, but such investigations have thus far been limited [19,20].

An effect modification between migration status and socioeconomic characteristics was emphasized in a previous study on adult self-rated health: A gradient was revealed across social classes in natives, which was not the case for immigrants from poor countries [21]. Similarly, in adolescents, a clear gradient throughout family affluence categories was observed for health-related quality of life in natives but not in immigrants [22]. Therefore, a possible effect modification of migration status on socioeconomic characteristics should be considered when evaluating disparities in dietary habits.

The aim of this study was to estimate socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits of school adolescents from different migration backgrounds. We first hypothesized that adolescent immigrants have healthier dietary habits than natives and that food consumption frequencies increase or decrease gradually according to the migration generation, related to an acculturation process. Secondly, we assumed that migration status might modify the association between socioeconomic characteristics and dietary habits in adolescents.

2. Materials and Methods

Research was carried out using data from the "Health Behavior in School-Aged Children" (HBSC) survey conducted in 2014 in Belgium. The cross-national HBSC survey takes place every four years in around 40 countries in Europe and North America under the aegis of the World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe. Its goal is to produce comprehensive indicators supporting implementation of health prevention and promotion policies and interventions. Questionnaires are self-administrated in the classroom, and anonymity and data confidentiality are guaranteed [23].

Belgium has a regionalized administration in which wide demographic variations are observed, including those concerning migration. In 2014 in Belgium, this study was carried out separately in French- and Dutch-speaking schools covering the three regions, Wallonia, Flanders, and Brussels, with the latter including both French- and Dutch-speaking schools.

This survey was carried out according to guidelines articulated in the Declaration of Helsinki. For French-speaking schools, the survey was approved by school authorities. This protocol was not submitted to a medical ethics committee in view of the topics and methods used for data collection (Belgian law of May 7, 2004 and Advisory Committee on Bioethics of Belgium, opinion $n^{\circ}40$, 12/2/2007). For Dutch-speaking schools, the study was approved by the ethics review committee of the University Hospital of Ghent (project EC/2013/1145). Following advice from school authorities,

no written consent was requested for French-speaking schools; for the Dutch-speaking schools, consent was passive. Adolescents were clearly informed about survey content and about their full right to refuse to fill out the questionnaire or answer specific questions. All procedures used during data collection enabled confidentiality and anonymity.

2.1. Sampling

The French- and Dutch-speaking surveys were conducted on a random sample stratified proportionally with the school networks and included public and private schools. In addition, in the French-speaking part, the sample was stratified proportionally with the province (n = 6); in the Dutch-speaking part, it was stratified proportionally with the form of education (ordinary, general, technical, vocational, art secondary education, and non-native newcomer classes).

In all regions, schools were first randomly selected based on an official list. Next, classes from fifth grade elementary school (corresponding to adolescents aged \pm 10 years) to the final grade of the secondary school (corresponding to adolescents aged \pm 18 years) were selected in each grade among the schools that agreed to participate in the study. All adolescents from selected classes were invited to participate on a voluntary basis. In French-speaking schools, classes were randomly selected. In Dutch-speaking schools, distributions of gender, grade, and form of education from the previous survey were used as temporary proxies to select classes.

In 2014, 781 schools in the French-speaking schools and 208 schools in the Dutch-speaking schools were invited to participate. Among these schools, 168 in the French- and 98 in the Dutch-speaking areas actually participated, corresponding, respectively, to a participation rate of 21.5% and 47.1%.

In total, 23,552 questionnaires were collected (Figure 1). Since, in Dutch-speaking schools, adolescents aged 20 or over were not questioned, only adolescents 10 to 19 years old were included in the joint database (n = 23,031). The basis sample included all participants who responded to all covariates and to the food consumption variable that was most frequently filled in, i.e., fruits. Thus, the maximum number of adolescents included in the analyses was 19,172 (Figure 1). For food consumption other than fruits, the sample size was slightly lower.

2.2. Measures

Food Frequency Questionnaire. Food data were collected using a validated short food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) [24,25] that included a total of 22 food groups (17 in the Dutch part, 18 in the French part, including 13 in common). Seven answer categories were proposed: "more than once a day"; "once a day"; "5–6 days a week"; "2–4 days a week"; "once a week"; "less than once a week"; and "never".

Migration status. Adolescents born abroad and whose parents were not both born in Belgium were considered "1st-generation immigrants". Adolescents born in Belgium and who had at least one parent born abroad were considered "2nd-generation immigrants". Adolescents whose parents were born in Belgium were considered to be "natives".

Geographical area of origin. Based on countries of origin of adolescents for 1st-generation immigrants and of parents for 2nd-generation immigrants, five categories were defined for complementary analyses: (1) Europe; (2) America; (3) Asia; (4) Middle East and North Africa; (5) Sub-Saharan Africa. For 2nd-generation immigrants, in the particular case where the parents were from two different geographical areas, the category was randomly chosen between the mother's and the father's area of origin.

Family affluence. The family affluence scale (FAS) is composed of six items and has been validated in Europe [26]. The FAS score ranged from 0 to 13 and was divided into three categories after ridit analysis transformation—"low", "medium", and "high"—corresponding, in the national sample, to the 20% of adolescents with the lowest FAS scores, the 60% of adolescents with the intermediate score, and the 20% of adolescents with the highest FAS scores, respectively.





Parental working status. Based on parental employment and reason for parental unemployment, four categories were defined: (1) Adolescents with both parents working; (2) adolescents with parent(s) not working (those with a parent not working and without a second parent were placed in this category (n = 365)); (3) adolescents with one working parent and the other at home (housewife/husband, pre-retired, disabled or student); (4) adolescents with one working parent and the other "absent" from home (seeking a job, or adolescent not living with the second parent).

In addition, gender, age, family structure, siblings, and school region were taken into account in the analyses.

2.3.1. Reprocessing Data

For all food items, categorization was defined so as to correspond as closely as possible to Belgian nutritional policies [27] but was also determined by the original answer modalities. Food consumption was first divided into three categories: A category corresponding as closely as possible to the Belgian nutritional policies, a category further removed from Belgian nutritional policies, and an intermediate category. If the intermediate category did not provide additional information, categorization was reduced to two categories. Frequency of *fruit and vegetable consumption* was classified into three categories: ">once a day", "5–7 days a week" (low frequency), and "<5 days a week" (very low frequency). Frequency of *fish consumption* was classified into: "≥two days a week" and "<two days a week" (low frequency). Milk (whole and semi-skimmed/skimmed), cheese, and other dairy product frequencies were transformed into consumption per month of 30 days and added up to obtain frequency of *dairy consumption*; this was then divided into total consumption of 31 days or more, which corresponded to consumption ">once a day", or else to consumption "≤once a day" (low frequency). Consumption of chips and fries and SSB was similarly processed. Frequency of chips and fries consumption was classified into: "<once a day", strictly corresponding to consumption under 25 days, and "≥once a day" (high frequency). Frequency of SSB consumption was classified into: "Sonce a week", corresponding to total consumption under 5 days, "2–6 days a week" (high frequency) and "≥once a day" (very high frequency), corresponding to a total of 25 days or more.

2.3.2. Modeling

Due to a significant effect modification of migration status on several covariates for each food group analyzed, analyses were stratified by migration status. Since individuals were nested within schools, multilevel models were used. In each model for each food group, the school effect was controlled and estimated. The "null" model referred to the estimation of the school effect. Associations between covariates and a given food consumption were then evaluated by univariate regression, corresponding to "model 1". Multilevel binary logistic regression was performed for food groups with consumption frequencies in two categories (odds ratio (OR) and 95% CI); multilevel multinomial logistic regression was used for food groups with consumption frequencies falling into three categories (relative risk ratio (RRR) and 95%CI). The reference category was assumed to be the most favorable category in terms of health. All covariates with a *p* value < 0.20 were included in the initial multivariable regression model. Manual backward stepwise selection was used to determine the final model: It consisted of iteratively removing the predictor with the highest p value, and higher than 0.05. Following removal, confounding was evaluated with a tolerance threshold for variation of OR and RRR set at 10%. If variation was greater than 10%, the variable was then retained in the model. In order to facilitate comparisons between migration strata, a predictor significantly associated with food consumption in a given migration status group was retained for all other migration status groups. The results of the regressions are graphically presented and available as supplementary tables (Supplementary Tables S1–S6).

In order to estimate the role of the immigrants' geographical area of origin on socioeconomic and sociodemographic disparities, the same modeling was carried out only in immigrant adolescents and adjusted for the geographical area of origin.

Colinearity and fitting of models were verified. Statistical significance of tests was set at 0.05. All analyses were performed using Stata/IC 14[®] (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

3. Results

The sample of 19,172 school participants included 69.6% natives, 22.0% 2nd-generation immigrants, and 8.4% 1st-generation immigrants. In univariate analyses, differences in sociodemographic and socioeconomic characteristics were observed according to migration status (Table 1).

 	Sample	Natives	2nd-Generation Immigrants	1st-Generation Immigrants	u valua
Variables	(n = 19, 172)	(n = 13,353)	(n = 4214)	(n = 1605)	<i>p</i> value
	%	%	%	%	
Gender					< 0.001 +
Boys	50.6	51.5	47.5	51.7	
Girls	49.4	48.5	52.5	48.3	
Age					<0.001 [¥]
10–12 years	28.8	29.6	28.7	22.5	
13–16 years	50.2	49.9	50.6	51.4	
17–19 years	21.0	20.5	20.7	26.1	
Family structure ^a					< 0.001
Two parents	66.4	66.1	67.9	65.0	
Blended family	14.1	15.8	9.9	12.0	
Single-parent family	19.5	18.1	22.2	23.0	
Family Affluence Scale ^a					< 0.001
High	19.4	20.6	17.0	16.4	
Medium	63.7	66.1	59.8	53.6	
Low	16.9	13.3	23.2	30.0	
Parental working status ^a					< 0.001
Both parents working	68.4	76.1	51.9	47.0	
One working, the other at home	17.4	13.4	27.8	23.7	
One working, the other not at home	8.1	7.2	8.5	14.0	
None working	6.1	3.3	11.8	15.3	
Siblings					<0.001 ⁺
Single child	9.3	9.8	7.5	10.5	
Siblings	90.7	90.2	92.5	89.5	
School Region					< 0.001
Brussels-Capital	11.4	3.4	29.2	31.7	
Wallonia	46.6	48.7	43.0	38.2	
Flanders	42.0	47.9	27.8	30.1	
Geographical area of origin					< 0.001 *
Europe			43.7	59.8	
America			3.0	6.7	
Asia			7.3	7.7	
Middle East and South Africa			36.0	13.1	
Sub-Saharan Africa			10.0	12.7	

Table 1. Sociodemographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the sample overall and by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014.

^a For details, see *Methods* section, [†] Nonsignificant difference between natives and 1st-generation immigrants, [¥] Nonsignificant difference between natives and 2nd-generation immigrants, ^{*} Comparison between 1st- and 2nd-generation immigrants.

Irrespective of migration status, one adolescent out of five ate fruits (17.2%) or vegetables (18.8%) >once a day and fish \geq two days a week (20.2%) (data not tabulated). Eight pupils out of ten (79.6%) ate dairy products >once a day. Nearly half of the adolescents (43.7%) drank SSB \geq once a day; fewer than one-eighth (12.2%) ate chips and fries \geq once a day (data not tabulated).

Immigrants significantly more often ate fruits (>once a day and 5–7 days a week), vegetables (>once a day) and fish (\geq two days a week) than did natives (Figure 2). In addition, immigrants significantly more often consumed SSB (\geq once a day), and chips and fries (\geq once a day) than natives. Moreover, the proportion of 2nd-generation immigrants having low or very low intake of vegetables, fish, chips and fries was significantly at an intermediate level, i.e., higher (or lower) than that of natives, and lower (or higher) than that of 1st-generation immigrants. However, a significant difference in dairy product consumption was observed only between 2nd-generation immigrants and natives (Figure 2).

In immigrants only, and compared with immigrants from a European country, statistically significant differences in food consumption frequencies were found in those from the Middle East and North Africa areas, and from sub-Saharan Africa, for vegetable, fish, dairy, chips and fries, and SSB (Supplementary Table S7). Immigrants from America also slightly differed regarding SSB and chips and fries consumption, and those from Asia for chips and fries consumption. Overall, estimates of the SES characteristics were not modified by the addition of origins in the modeling except only for siblings in 1st-generation immigrants for chips and fries consumption (data not shown).



Figure 2. Distribution of food consumption frequencies by migration status in the sample, HBSC, Belgium, 2014. Favorable, moderately favorable, and unfavorable behaviors are represented, respectively, in green, orange, and red. * Nonsignificant difference between 2nd- and 1st-generation immigrants, † nonsignificant difference between natives and 1st-generation immigrants.

3.1. Fruit Consumption (Reference Category: >Once a Day)

In all migration strata, the likelihood of very low fruit consumption frequency (<5 days a week) significantly decreased with the FAS (except in 1st-generation immigrants: NS for medium FAS vs. high FAS) (Figure 3). In addition, natives having a medium FAS were more likely to eat fruits 5–7 days a week (low frequency) than those with a high FAS. Native adolescents in blended families were more likely to declare very low or low fruit consumption compared to adolescents with two parents; native adolescents in single-parent families also had greater odds of very low frequency. There was no significant association with parental working status. In all migration strata, adolescents in Flanders were significantly more likely to declare low or very low fruit consumption than adolescents in Brussels-Capital (Figure 3).

Moreover, age was significantly associated with fruit consumption frequency in all migration strata (Figure 3). This was also the case for gender in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants, whereas the existence of siblings was associated with fruit consumption frequency only in natives. The school effect upon the very low fruit consumption of all migration groups was significant, as was its effect upon the low frequency found in natives (Figure 3).

3.2. Vegetable Consumption (Reference Category: >Once a Day)

In natives and 1st-generation immigrants only, the odds of very low vegetable consumption frequency (<5 days a week) decreased with FAS (Figure 4). The same applied to low frequency (5–7 days a week) in natives. In 2nd-generation immigrants, adolescents having a medium FAS were more likely to declare very low or low vegetable consumption than those with a high FAS; in addition, adolescents having a low FAS were more likely to eat vegetables <5 days a week.

Compared with adolescents with two parents, native adolescents from a single-parent family were at greater odds of consuming vegetables <5 days a week (Figure 4). Native adolescents with two working parents were more likely to declare a low frequency than adolescents with one parent who worked and the other who stayed at home. Moreover, 2nd-generation immigrants with both working parents were less likely to declare a very low frequency. Compared with adolescents in Brussels-Capital, adolescents in Flanders were more likely to eat vegetables 5–7 days a week in all migration strata; in addition, immigrants in Flanders were more likely to declare a very low frequency, whereas 2nd-generation immigrants in Wallonia were less likely to do so (Figure 4).

Gender was significantly associated with vegetable consumption frequency in all migration strata. This was also the case for age in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants, while the existence of siblings was associated only in natives. The school effect was significant only in natives (Figure 4).

3.3. Fish Consumption (Reference Category: \geq Two Days a Week)

In natives and 2nd-generation immigrants, the likelihood of eating fish at low frequency (<two days a week) decreased with FAS. Moreover, low fish consumption was more frequent in adolescents from blended families than in those having two parents (Figure 5). Compared with adolescents with one working parent and the other who stayed at home, 2nd-generation immigrants with no working parents were less likely to eat fish at low frequency. In 1st-generation immigrants, adolescents whose parents both worked were more likely to declare low fish-eating frequency. For all migration strata, compared with Brussels-Capital, adolescents in Flanders and Wallonia were significantly more likely to declare low frequency (Figure 5).

In addition, gender was significantly associated with fish consumption frequency in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants. The school effect was significant in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants.



Figure 3. Multiple multilevel multinomial regression* for fruit consumption (reference category: >once a day) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (*n* = 19,172). * RRR < 1: More favorable for health; RRR > 1: Less favorable for health.



Figure 4. Multiple multinomial regression* for vegetable consumption (reference category: >once a day) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (*n* = 18,974). * RRR < 1: More favorable for health; RRR > 1: Less favorable for health.



OR of school

3.16 (2.28-4.36); 1.38 (1.05-1.81); 1.15 (0.75-1.76)

Figure 5. Multiple multilevel logistic regression* for fish consumption (reference category: \geq two days a week) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (n = 18,924). * OR < 1: More favorable for health; OR > 1: Less favorable for health.

3.4. Dairy Product Consumption (Reference Category: >Once a Day)

For all migration situations, neither FAS nor family structure nor parental working status was significantly associated with dairy consumption (Figure 6). Compared with Brussels-Capital, natives and 2nd-generation immigrants in Flanders were at significantly lower odds of consuming dairy foods \leq once a day (Figure 6).

In addition, dairy consumption frequency was significantly associated with gender in all migration strata and with age in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants, whereas the presence of siblings was significant only in natives. The school effect was significant in all migration strata (Figure 6).

3.5. Chips and Fries Consumption (Reference Category: <Once a Day)

Compared with those having a high FAS, natives with a low FAS were significantly more likely to declare frequent eating of chips and fries (\geq once a day) (Figure 7). High frequency was also more likely in natives from blended or single-parent families than in those with two parents. Compared with adolescents having one working parent and the other who stayed at home, adolescents with two working parents were less likely to consume chips and fries \geq once a day whatever their migration status. In natives and 2nd-generation immigrants with no working parents, high frequency was more likely. In Flanders, compared to Brussels-Capital, adolescents among all migration groups were significantly less likely to declare high consumption of chips and fries; in Wallonia, this was also the case for 2nd- and 1st-generation immigrants (Figure 7).

In addition, frequent eating of chips and fries was significantly associated with gender in all migration strata, and with age in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants. Sibling presence was significantly associated only in 1st-generation immigrants. The school effect was significant in all migration strata (Figure 7).

3.6. Sugar-Sweetened Beverages (Reference Category: ≤Once a Week)

In natives and 2nd-generation immigrants, the odds of declaring very high SSB consumption (≥once a day) decreased with FAS (Figure 8). For all migration strata, adolescents from blended families were significantly more likely to declare very high frequency. In addition, natives from blended families were more likely to consume SSB at high frequency (2–6 days a week). In natives and 2nd-generation immigrants, very high SSB frequency was more often seen in adolescents from single-parent families (vs. two-parent families) and in adolescents with nonworking parents (vs. one working parent and the other at home) and was less likely in adolescents with both parents working. In 2nd-generation immigrants only, very high SSB frequency was also less likely in adolescents with one parent working and the other absent from the home. In Flanders, compared with Brussels-Capital, natives and 2nd-generation immigrants were more likely to consume SSB 2–6 days a week.

In addition, "gender and age" was significantly associated with SSB frequency in all migration strata, whereas "siblings" was significant only in natives. The school effect was significant only in natives (Figure 8).





0.38 (0.30-0.48); 0.25 (0.21-0.31); 0.27 (0.19-0.39)

Figure 6. Multiple multilevel logistic regression* for dairy product consumption (reference category: >once a day) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (n = 18,541). * OR < 1: More favorable for health; OR > 1: Less favorable for health.





0.10 (0.07-0.16); 0.37 (0.24-0.55); 0.40 (0.23-0.71)

Figure 7. Multiple multilevel logistic regression* for chips and fries consumption (reference category: <once a day) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (*n* = 18,853). * OR < 1: More favorable for health; OR > 1: Less favorable for health.



Figure 8. Multiple multilevel multinomial regression* for sugar-sweetened beverages consumption (reference category: \leq once a week) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (n = 18,642). * RRR < 1: More favorable for health; RRR > 1: Less favorable for health.

4. Discussion

The aim of the present study was to estimate socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits of school adolescents in Belgium from different migration backgrounds. Our results emphasize that the migration component that was rarely considered in previous studies is fundamental regarding dietary behavior at these ages. Indeed, dietary habits differed according to migration strata. Furthermore, socioeconomic disparities varied amongst the migration groups: For all food groups, disparities were particularly wide in natives and more limited in 1st-generation immigrants. Overall, the sociodemographic and socioeconomic disparities observed in immigrants did not change after adjusting for their geographical area of origin. By food group, the widest socioeconomic and cultural disparities were observed for SSB and vegetables, and the least for dairy foods. Such findings provide interesting and original hypotheses that could further support the development of health promotion interventions in the future.

4.1. Dietary Acculturation

In descriptive analyses, immigrant adolescents, whether of the 1st or 2nd generation, were more likely to frequently consume both healthy (fruits, vegetables, and fish, but not dairy products) and unhealthy foods (chips and fries, SSB). In addition, a migration gradient in food frequencies was underlined for vegetables, fish, and chips and fries: Consumption gradually increased (for healthy food) or decreased (for unhealthy food) from natives to 2nd-generation immigrants, and from 2nd-generation immigrants to 1st-generation immigrants. However, no significant differences were found between 1st- and 2nd-generation immigrants regarding consumption of fruits, dairy products, and SSB.

The situation of 2nd-generation immigrants in terms of food consumption, intermediate between natives and 1st-generation immigrants, suggests ongoing acculturation. The interplay of host behavior and culture with that of immigrants may lead to a mixture of healthy and unhealthy dietary habits. Indeed, at a given age, 2nd-generation immigrants have probably been in Belgium much longer than 1st-generation immigrants and are therefore more likely to be further engaged in the process of integration of culinary habits of the host country and partial substitution of family roots, as reported for adults in different countries [18]. In addition to the migration generation, the region of origin may play differently in the acquisition of European dietary habits for immigrants. Indeed, differences in dietary habits were of lower size between European, American, and Asian, than between European and African and Middle-East immigrants. Nevertheless, the results could not be precisely interpreted due to the cultural heterogeneity remaining in this categorization by the geographical area of origin.

The acculturation process may depend on factors such as accessibility and affordability, acting as an "external push", and on individual factors such as curiosity, acting as an "internal pull" [28], which might encourage the adding of novel foods to the traditional diet, thus offering wider diversity. Such diversity could result in greater intake via gradual adaptation to new food products [29]. This may also explain why immigrants more frequently ate almost each food group studied. Maintaining traditional food habits implies the availability and accessibility of such food; when this is not the case, then people of foreign culture might progressively abandon their diet in favor of the host diet [30]. The acculturation process should also be further studied by considering the age of arrival in Belgium of the 1st-generation immigrants, unavailable in this survey.

4.2. Socioeconomic Disparities in Dietary Habits

Our results emphasize several socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits in adolescents, mainly in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants. Indeed, adolescents with lower FAS less frequently ate healthy foods like fruits and more frequently consumed unhealthy foods like SSB, consistent with previous studies [10,11]. These disparities may be explained by a lower level of familiarity or adoption of dietary recommendations by parents [31], and by the affordability of healthy foods [32].
Some disparities related to family structure were also revealed, mainly in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants. In line with previous studies [33,34], adolescents from blended or single-parent families more frequently ate chips and fries and SSB and less frequently ate fruits, vegetables and fish. Single-parent families often have fewer financial resources, thereby impairing their access to healthy foods [32]. Indeed, in our sample, 30.8% of adolescents belonging to a single-parent family were in a low FAS compared to 14.0% of adolescents from two-parent families and 15.7% of adolescents from blended families (data not shown). In addition, single parents may also have less time for monitoring meals compared to dual-parent families [33,35]. Adolescents from blended families also tended to have less healthy food habits than adolescents from two-parent families. Indeed, stepparents may have fewer opportunities for active involvement in their stepchildren's education and health [33].

Moreover, parental work status disparities were observed, mainly in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants. In our study, parental working status was mainly related to the socioeconomic condition: 10.2% of adolescents with both parents working had a low FAS, while 51.8% of adolescents with no parents working fell into this category (p < 0.001; 24.1% in those with one parent working and one at home, 31.5% for one parent working and the other "absent" from home). After adjustment for FAS and other covariates, our results related to parental working status were mixed. Indeed, compared to adolescents with both parents working, those with no working parents were more likely to frequently eat vegetables and fish, but they also more frequently ate chips and fries and SSB (data not shown). These results might appear surprising if we assume that parental working status is related only to socioeconomic conditions. However, they suggest an interplay between free time and work. Indeed, parental working status might also indicate that fully employed parents have less time to cook [36].

For all migration strata, eating habits varied according to the school region. Numerous differences were found in consumption frequencies between adolescents attending schools in Flanders, mainly Dutch-speaking, and those in Brussels and Wallonia, both primarily French-speaking. Another study indicating similar regional linguistic specificities in consumption of vegetables, dairy products, fish, and SSB in Switzerland hypothesized a possible influence of culture and eating habits of neighboring countries [37], which might also apply to Belgium: Culinary customs in Flanders may be strongly influenced by the Netherlands, while those in Brussels, although they do not border, and in Wallonia, may be influenced by France, which shares the same language, i.e., French. Further, several differences were pointed out between Brussels and Wallonia, mainly concerning 1st- and 2nd-generation immigrants. In 2011, nearly half of the inhabitants of the Brussels-Capital Region (42.4%) were born outside of Belgium, compared to 10.2% in Flanders and 14.1% in Wallonia [38]. Since the Brussels-Capital region is multicultural, this vast proportion of immigrants might contribute to slowing down the acculturation process; indeed, immigrants are usually surrounded by other immigrants [17]. By contrast, in Wallonia, such a process may have been accelerated, meaning that food habits in immigrants would differ from those of immigrants in Brussels.

Socioeconomic disparities were measurable in all food groups, except for dairy products, for which disparities were statistically significant only for the school region. The absence of socioeconomic disparities in consumption of dairy foods (milk, cheese, and other) could be explained by the diversity of these products and their overall affordability.

4.3. Sociodemographic Disparities in Dietary Habits

Our results underlined gender disparities in food consumption in almost all migration strata. Compared to boys, girls were more likely to more frequently eat fruits and vegetables, which could be explained by taste preferences [39,40], health beliefs, and greater concern about weight [41].

After adjustment for other covariates, sibling disparities continued to be unfavorable to the single child (except for chips and fries in 1st-generation immigrants). The sibling role in food consumption might be explained by two opposite phenomena: "Modeling" leads to imitation of the model (i.e., of the sibling), whereas "de-identification" leads to differentiation from the sibling [42]. The absence of sibling disparities in immigrants could be explained by the manner in which society views sibling

relationships and their respective roles [43]. Thus, immigrants in our study might come from countries that do not promote sibling relationships. However, the sibling role has rarely been examined in dietary studies irrespective of migration status [44], thus preventing interpretation. Certain psychologists have suggested that older siblings may influence health behavior [45]; thus, birth order should be considered when evaluating the association between diet and siblings.

4.4. Strengths and Limitations

Due to the cross-sectional design of the HBSC survey and use of self-administrated questionnaires, a substantial sample size was obtained in each region of Belgium, along with a wide range of topics addressed. Although both Dutch- and French-speaking surveys were conducted separately and in different languages, standardization of the questionnaires according to the international HBSC protocol made it possible to combine data sets [23]. However, the two surveys were not identical. For instance, they were differently stratified in order to reach the representativeness of the linguistic regions. Therefore, the generalization of the results to the school population in Belgium should be interpreted cautiously. A second point related to the independence of studies is the use of reverse order categorization for food frequencies ("never" to ">once a day" for the Dutch-speaking survey versus ">once a day" to "never" for the French-speaking survey) may have contributed to lower frequencies of fruit and vegetable consumption in Flanders compared to Wallonia, since initial responses may have been chosen more frequently. This discrepancy could explain why we obtained results differing from the final national food consumption survey (based on 24-h recall) [46]. The short HBSC FFQ might also lead to inaccuracies due to use of large food group names rather than exact food names, and to the overestimation of consumption frequencies [25]. However, it has been validated in Belgium through a comparison with a seven-day record [24,25]. The conclusion was that it can be considered reliable for "ranking subjects according to consumption of the individual food items" [25]. In addition, we can only conclude about frequencies and the results must be interpreted as such given that a more frequent consumption does not necessarily imply-nor rules out-a higher food amount or a higher energy intake.

A significant strength of the current study was the use of multilevel analyses controlling for the school effect and, therefore, cluster bias. Nevertheless, further interpreting the school effect is difficult given that food-related school characteristics were unavailable in this study. To better understand such effects, further studies should simultaneously consider contextual characteristics of the schools, such as implementation of nutritional actions and canteen use. For some food groups (fruits, vegetables, and SSB), categorization was in three instead of two, as is the case in numerous studies using categorization and FFQ. Although disparities were narrower for the intermediate category and, therefore, little difference from the reference category was observed, intermediate categories provided new information in certain cases. Indeed, in natives and 2nd-generation immigrants, age-related disparities existed for vegetables 5–7 days a week but not for vegetables <5 days a week; in addition, school-region-related disparities existed for SSB consumption 2–6 days a week but not for SSB \geq once a day. Although difficult to interpret, the school effect for natives might be a protective factor for fruits 5–7 days a week.

Another limitation was the rather small sample size of 1st-generation immigrants ($n_{max} = 1605$), leading to fewer participants in some categories ($n_{min} = 159$) and resulting in loss of statistical power. However, confidence intervals of OR and RRR (Figures 3–8) suggested that nonsignificant results in 1st-generation immigrants were mainly due to fewer disparities rather than a lack of precision. This rather small sample size was also restrictive for in-depth analysis stratified by countries or continental regions of origin. To get around the small sample, results were subsequently adjusted for geographical areas of origin. Nevertheless, some cultural heterogeneity remained in this categorization and did not help to precisely interpret the findings.

Several biases could also be highlighted. First, adolescents may have overreported consumption of healthy foods and underreported consumption of unhealthy products due to social pressure [47]. Second, we observed differential distribution of fish and SSB consumption and of several covariates (migration status, gender, family structure, FAS, parental working status, and school region) between included participants and eligible participants not included in analyses due to missing data (Supplementary Table S8), leading to selection bias. Interpretation of results should thus be approached with caution, although some differences in percentages were slight, and statistical significance was mainly due to the large sample size. The generalization of the results is limited to the school adolescents, especially for the eldest beyond the legal school age (18 years of age in Belgium). It should also be interpreted cautiously due to the relatively low participation rate of schools.

5. Conclusions

Overall, rather poor adolescent dietary habits indicate that efforts should be made to improve knowledge and further prevent NCD in adulthood. The process of acculturation of dietary habits pointed out here warrants confirmation, taking into consideration the number of years in the host country and the age of arrival in that country. Narrower socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits among 2nd- and 1st-generation immigrants compared to natives suggest the prevailing role of culture in immigrant dietary habits with respect to socioeconomic conditions. Finally, our study reveals that interventions aimed at improving dietary habits in adolescents must take into account the cultural component of dietary habits, especially in immigrant adolescents. However, further research is needed to better understand the role of culture and its interaction with socioeconomic components in dietary habits.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at http://www.mdpi.com/2072-6643/11/4/812/s1, Table S1: Multilevel multinomial regressions for fruit consumption (reference category: >once a day) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (n = 19,172), Table S2: Multilevel multinomial regressions for vegetable consumption (reference category: >once a day) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (n = 18,974), Table S3: Multilevel logistic regressions for fish consumption (reference category: \geq two days a week) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (n = 18,924), Table S4: Multilevel logistic regressions for dairy product consumption (reference category: >once a day) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (n = 18,541), Table S5: Multilevel logistic regressions for chips and fries consumption (reference category: <once a day) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (n = 18,853), Table S6: Multilevel multinomial regressions for sugar-sweetened beverages consumption (reference category: \leq once a week) stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014 (n = 18,642), Table S7: Multilevel logistic regressions* for food consumption stratified by migration status—HBSC, Belgium, 2014, Table S8: Comparisons of food consumptions, cultural, and sociodemographic characteristics between participants included in the analyses and those excluded due to missing data.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.R. and K.C.; methodology, M.R. and K.C.; formal analysis, M.R.; investigation, M.R.; resources, B.d.C., N.M. and I.G.; data curation, B.d.C., N.M. and I.G.; writing—original draft preparation, M.R. and K.C.; writing—review and editing, B.d.C., T.L., M.D., N.M., L.D. and I.G.; visualization, M.R.; supervision, K.C.; project administration, K.C.; funding acquisition, I.G., K.C. and B.d.C.

Funding: The Wallonia-Brussels Federation (FWB), the Birth and Children Office (ONE), the Walloon Region, the Brussels-Capital Region, and the Government of Flanders (Grant No. GEO-1GDD2A-WT) provided financial support for carrying out the 2014 Health Behavior in School-aged Children (HBSC) study. This work was supported by the French Community of Belgium, as part of the "Actions de Recherche Concertée" funding program. Researchers performed the study (study design, data collection, analyses, interpretation and writing) independently of the funding bodies.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank the schools and students for their participation in the French-speaking and Dutch-speaking Belgian HBSC surveys. They also thank the HBSC International Coordination Center (University of St Andrews, United Kingdom) and the HBSC data Management Center (University of Bergen, Norway) for their scientific support, as well as Maud Dujeu, Camille Pedroni and Patrick De Smet (SIPES, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium) for their collaboration in data cleaning and management, and Jerry Bram for editing reviewing.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1. Grootveld, M.; Percival, B.C.; Grootveld, K. Chronic Non-Communicable Disease Risks Presented by Lipid Oxidation Products in Fried Foods. *HepatoBiliary Surg. Nutr.* **2018**, *7*, 305–312. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 2. Schwingshackl, L.; Schwedhelm, C.; Hoffmann, G.; Lampousi, A.-M.; Knuppel, S.; Iqbal, K.; Bechthold, A.; Schlesinger, S.; Boeing, H. Food groups and risk of all-cause mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2017**, *105*, 1462–1473. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Aune, D.; Giovannucci, E.; Boffetta, P.; Fadnes, L.T.; Keum, N.; Norat, T.; Greenwood, D.C.; Riboli, E.; Vatten, L.J.; Tonstad, S. Fruit and vegetable intake and the risk of cardiovascular disease, total cancer and all-cause mortality—A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 2017, *46*, 1029–1056. [CrossRef]
- 4. Fardet, A.; Rock, E. In vitro and in vivo antioxidant potential of milks, yoghurts, fermented milks and cheeses: A narrative review of evidence. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* **2018**, *31*, 52–70. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stringhini, S.; Dugravot, A.; Shipley, M.; Goldberg, M.; Zins, M.; Kivimäki, M.; Marmot, M.; Sabia, S.; Singh-Manoux, A. Health behaviours, socioeconomic status, and mortality: Further analyses of the British Whitehall II and the French GAZEL prospective cohorts. *PLoS Med.* 2011, *8*, e1000419. [CrossRef]
- 6. Méjean, C.; Droomers, M.; Van Der Schouw, Y.T.; Sluijs, I.; Czernichow, S.; Grobbee, D.E.; Bueno-de-Mesquita, H.B.; Beulens, J.W.J. The contribution of diet and lifestyle to socioeconomic inequalities in cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. *Int. J. Cardiol.* **2013**, *168*, 5190–5195. [CrossRef]
- 7. Lien, N.; Jacobs, D.R.; Klepp, K.-I. Exploring predictors of eating behaviour among adolescents by gender and socio-economic status. *Public Health Nutr.* **2002**, *5*, 671–681. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Kelder, S.H.; Perry, C.L.; Klepp, K.I.; Lytle, L.L. Longitudinal tracking of adolescent smoking, physical activity, and food choice behaviors. *Am. J. Public Health* **1994**, *84*, 1121–1126. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lake, A.A.; Mathers, J.C.; Rugg-Gunn, A.J.; Adamson, A.J. Longitudinal change in food habits between adolescence (11–12 years) and adulthood (32–33 years): The ASH30 Study. *J. Public Health* 2006, 28, 10–16. [CrossRef]
- Drouillet-Pinard, P.; Dubuisson, C.; Bordes, I.; Margaritis, I.; Lioret, S.; Volatier, J.-L. Socio-economic disparities in the diet of French children and adolescents: A multidimensional issue. *Public Health Nutr.* 2017, 20, 870–882. [CrossRef]
- 11. Béghin, L.; Dauchet, L.; de Vriendt, T.; Cuenca-García, M.; Manios, Y.; Toti, E.; Plada, M.; Widhalm, K.; Repasy, J.; Huybrechts, I.; et al. Influence of parental socio-economic status on diet quality of European adolescents: Results from the HELENA study. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2014**, *111*, 1303–1312. [CrossRef]
- 12. Allen, M.L.; Elliott, M.N.; Morales, L.S.; Diamant, A.L.; Hambarsoomian, K.; Schuster, M.A. Adolescent participation in preventive health behaviors, physical activity, and nutrition: Differences across immigrant generations for Asians and Latinos compared with Whites. *Am. J. Public Health* **2007**, *97*, 337–343. [CrossRef]
- Brown, A.G.M.; Houser, R.F.; Mattei, J.; Rehm, C.D.; Mozaffarian, D.; Lichtenstein, A.H.; Folta, S.C. Diet quality among US-born and foreign-born non-Hispanic blacks: NHANES 2003-2012 data. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 2018, 107, 695–706. [CrossRef]
- 14. Deboosere, P.; Gadeyne, S. Adult Migrant Mortality Advantage in Belgium: Evidence Using Census and Register Data. *Population* **2005**, 655–698. [CrossRef]
- 15. Neuman, S. Are immigrants healthier than native residents? IZA World Labor 2014. [CrossRef]
- Vandenheede, H.; Willaert, D.; de Grande, H.; Simoens, S.; Vanroelen, C. Mortality in adult immigrants in the 2000s in Belgium: A test of the 'healthy-migrant' and the 'migration-as-rapid-health-transition' hypotheses. *Trop. Med. Int. Health* 2015, 20, 1832–1845. [CrossRef]
- 17. Barker, G.G. Choosing the best of both worlds: The acculturation process revisited. *Int. J. Intercult. Relat.* **2015**, *45*, 56–69. [CrossRef]
- 18. Méjean, C.; Traissac, P.; Eymard-Duvernay, S.; Delpeuch, F.; Maire, B. Influence of acculturation among Tunisian migrants in France and their past/present exposure to the home country on diet and physical activity. *Public Health Nutr.* **2009**, *12*, 832–841. [CrossRef]
- 19. Llull, R.; Bibiloni, M.; Pons, A.; Tur, J.A. Food consumption patterns of Balearic Islands' adolescents depending on their origin. *J. Immigr. Minor Health* **2015**, *17*, 358–366. [CrossRef]

- 20. Te Velde, S.J.; Wind, M.; van Lenthe, F.J.; Klepp, K.-I.; Brug, J. Differences in fruit and vegetable intake and determinants of intakes between children of Dutch origin and non-Western ethnic minority children in the Netherlands—A cross sectional study. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* **2006**, *3*, 31. [CrossRef]
- 21. Malmusi, D.; Borrell, C.; Benach, J. Migration-related health inequalities: Showing the complex interactions between gender, social class and place of origin. *Soc. Sci. Med.* **2010**, *71*, 1610–1619. [CrossRef]
- 22. Pantzer, K.; Rajmil, L.; Tebé, C.; Codina, F.; Serra-Sutton, V.; Ferrer, M.; Ravens-Sieberer, U.; Simeoni, M.-C.; Alonso, J. Health related quality of life in immigrants and native school aged adolescents in Spain. *J. Epidemiol. Community Health* **2006**, *60*, 694–698. [CrossRef]
- 23. Currie, C.; Griebler, R.; Inchley, J.; Theunissen, A.; Molcho, M.; Samdal, O.; Dür, W. *Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) Study Protocol: Background, Methodology and Mandatory Items for the 2009/10 Survey*; CAHRU: St Andrews, Hong Kong, China, 2010.
- 24. Vereecken, C.A.; Maes, L. A Belgian study on the reliability and relative validity of the Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children food-frequency questionnaire. *Public Health Nutr.* **2003**, *6*, 581–588. [CrossRef]
- Vereecken, C.A.; Rossi, S.; Giacchi, M.V.; Maes, L. Comparison of a short food-frequency questionnaire and derived indices with a seven-day diet record in Belgian and Italian children. *Int. J. Public Health* 2008, *53*, 297–305. [CrossRef]
- Torsheim, T.; Cavallo, F.; Levin, K.A.; Schnohr, C.; Mazur, J.; Niclasen, B.; Currie, C. Psychometric Validation of the Revised Family Affluence Scale: A Latent Variable Approach. *Child. Indic. Res.* 2016, *9*, 771–784. [CrossRef]
- 27. Conseil Supérieur de la Santé. *Recommandations Nutritionnelles pour la Belgique 2016. Avis n°9285;* Conseil Supérieur de la Santé: Bruxelles, Belgium, 2016.
- Hartwell, H.J.; Edwards, J.S.A.; Brown, L. Acculturation and food habits: Lessons to be learned. *Br. Food J.* 2011, 113, 1393–1405. [CrossRef]
- 29. Raynor, H.A.; Vadiveloo, M. Understanding the Relationship Between Food Variety, Food Intake, and Energy Balance. *Curr. Obes. Rep.* 2018, *7*, 68–75. [CrossRef]
- 30. Papadaki, S.; Mavrikaki, E. Greek adolescents and the Mediterranean diet: Factors affecting quality and adherence. *Nutrition* **2015**, *31*, 345–349. [CrossRef]
- Skårdal, M.; Western, I.M.; Ask, A.M.S.; Øverby, N.C. Socioeconomic differences in selected dietary habits among Norwegian 13–14 year-olds: A cross-sectional study. *Food Nutr. Res.* 2014, 58. [CrossRef]
- 32. Morris, M.A.; Hulme, C.; Clarke, G.P.; Edwards, K.L.; Cade, J.E. What is the cost of a healthy diet? Using diet data from the UK Women's Cohort Study. *J. Epidemiol. Community Health* **2014**, *68*, 1043–1049. [CrossRef]
- 33. Stewart, S.D.; Menning, C.L. Family structure, nonresident father involvement, and adolescent eating patterns. *J. Adolesc. Health* **2009**, *45*, 193–201. [CrossRef]
- 34. Baek, Y.J.; Paik, H.Y.; Shim, J.E. Association between family structure and food group intake in children. *Nutr. Res. Pract.* **2014**, *8*, 463–468. [CrossRef]
- Reicks, M.; Banna, J.; Cluskey, M.; Gunther, C.; Hongu, N.; Richards, R.; Topham, G.; Wong, S.S. Influence of Parenting Practices on Eating Behaviors of Early Adolescents during Independent Eating Occasions: Implications for Obesity Prevention. *Nutrients* 2015, 7, 8783–8801. [CrossRef]
- Bauer, K.W.; Hearst, M.O.; Escoto, K.; Berge, J.M.; Neumark-Sztainer, D. Parental employment and work-family stress: Associations with family food environments. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 2012, 75, 496–504. [CrossRef]
- 37. Chatelan, A.; Beer-Borst, S.; Randriamiharisoa, A.; Pasquier, J.; Blanco, J.M.; Siegenthaler, S.; Paccaud, F.; Slimani, N.; Nicolas, G.; Camenzind-Frey, E.; et al. Major Differences in Diet across Three Linguistic Regions of Switzerland: Results from the First National Nutrition Survey menuCH. *Nutrients* 2017, 9, 1163. [CrossRef]
- Census/Statbel. Population par Lieu de Résidence (Province), Sexe, Position dans le Ménage (C), État Civil, Situation sur le Marché de L'emploi (A) et Lieu de Naissance (A). Available online: http://census2011.fgov. be/censusselection/selectionFR.html (accessed on 16 July 2018).
- 39. Bere, E.; Brug, J.; Klepp, K.-I. Why do boys eat less fruit and vegetables than girls? *Public Health Nutr.* 2008, 11, 321–325. [CrossRef]
- 40. Caine-Bish, N.L.; Scheule, B. Gender differences in food preferences of school-aged children and adolescents. *J. Sch. Health* **2009**, *79*, 532–540. [CrossRef]
- 41. Wardle, J.; Haase, A.M.; Steptoe, A.; Nillapun, M.; Jonwutiwes, K.; Bellisle, F. Gender differences in food choice: The contribution of health beliefs and dieting. *Ann. Behav. Med.* **2004**, *27*, 107–116. [CrossRef]

- 42. Salvy, S.-J.; Vartanian, L.R.; Coelho, J.S.; Jarrin, D.; Pliner, P.P. The role of familiarity on modeling of eating and food consumption in children. *Appetite* **2008**, *50*, 514–518. [CrossRef]
- 43. McHale, S.M.; Updegraff, K.A.; Whiteman, S.D. Sibling Relationships and Influences in Childhood and Adolescence. *J. Marriage Fam.* **2012**, *74*, 913–930. [CrossRef]
- 44. Berge, J.M.; Meyer, C.; Maclehose, R.F.; Crichlow, R.; Neumark-Sztainer, D. All in the Family: Correlations between Parents' and Adolescent Siblings' Weight and Weight-related Behaviors. *Obesity* **2015**, *23*, 833–839. [CrossRef]
- 45. Senguttuvan, U.; Whiteman, S.D.; Jensen, A.C. Family Relationships and Adolescents' Health Attitudes and Weight: The Understudied Role of Sibling Relationships. *Fam. Relat.* **2014**, *63*, 384–396. [CrossRef]
- 46. De Ridder, K.; Bel, S.; Brocatus, L.; Cuypers, K.; Lebacq, T.; Moyersoen, I.; Ost, C.; Teppers, E. Enquête de Consommation Alimentaire 2014-2015: Rapport 4: La Consommation Alimentaire. Available online: https://fcs.wiv-isp.be/nl/Gedeelde%20%20documenten/FRANS/Rapport%204/Resume_rapport_ 4_finaal_finaal.pdf (accessed on 13 August 2018).
- 47. Moore, G.F.; Tapper, K.; Moore, L.; Murphy, S. Cognitive, behavioral, and social factors are associated with bias in dietary questionnaire self-reports by schoolchildren aged 9 to 11 years. *J. Am. Diet. Assoc.* **2008**, *108*, 1865–1873. [CrossRef]



© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

3. Additional analyses

3.1. Socioeconomic characteristics of adolescents of different migration status

To help interpret the main findings of this chapter, the socioeconomic characteristics of adolescents were described according to their migration status for the French- and Dutch-speaking HBSC surveys of 2014 (**Table 9**). In addition, the description has been made through the years with the surveys of 1986 and from 2010 onwards (**Table 9**). The surveys from 1988 to 2006 were not described since adolescents were asked about nationality and not country of birth. In view of the large sample sizes, changes in characteristics have been commented on the basis of difference magnitude ("effect") and not of a statistical test. Finally, for a consistent comparison between surveys and since the Dutch-speaking 2014 survey did not include adolescents attending a Brussels school, the regional distribution only covers French-speaking data (Brussels-Capital and Wallonia).

In 2014, almost half of immigrants attended a school in Brussels-Capital region compared to less than a tenth of the natives. Regarding the family structure, immigrants were proportionally more likely than natives to live in a single-parent family, but less likely to live in a blended-family. Overall, for all other socioeconomic indicators, a migration gradient was observed. Indeed, the proportion of adolescents with a high or medium FAS decreased from natives to 2nd-generation immigrants and from 2nd-generation immigrants to 1st-generation immigrants. The proportion of adolescents with a low FAS increased from natives to 1st-generation immigrants, 2nd-generation immigrants also being in an intermediate position. Furthermore, one or no working parent families were more frequent in immigrants. However, a higher proportion of immigrants than that of natives reported for perceived family wealth to be well off or in the average. Finally, the parental education level was not available for this survey, but the results of the 2018 survey also highlighted a gradient, with a higher level in native adolescents.

Socioeconomic characteristics of adolescents with different migration status are relatively stable over the surveys. However, family structure has changed a lot, including a drastic decrease in two-parent families between 1986 and 2010, and a plateau afterwards. Nevertheless, these changes are of the same magnitude between the different categories of migration status. Moreover, among natives, the proportion attending schools in Brussels-Capital was stable between 1986 and 2018 surveys. However, among immigrants, the share enrolled in Brussels-Capital schools increased over the years.

CHAPTER III. SOCIOECONOMIC DISPARITIES IN ADOLESCENT DIET: MIGRATION STATUS AS A MODIFIER

In summary, even if the countries of origin of immigrants and the reasons why they emigrated may have changed,⁷⁵ the socioeconomic profile of adolescent immigrants remained similar over the years. The absence of major changes indicates that the 2014 survey did not stand out from the others. Furthermore, the analysis of the characteristics revealed a diversity of socioeconomic status among both natives and immigrants. Although immigrants have a generally lower socioeconomic status, differences in socioeconomic indicators between them and natives were of limited magnitude, with the exception of parental education and working status. Moreover, the hierarchical distribution of the different indicators was similar across the migration status groups.

These results complement the main findings on dietary disparities highlighted in the paper. As a reminder, narrower socioeconomic disparities were observed among immigrants compared to natives. These differences in disparities cannot therefore be explained only by socioeconomic differences between immigrants and natives, as even if their socioeconomic status differed, it was not to a great extent. On the contrary, dietary habits appears to not be driven by the same factors. Among natives, socioeconomic conditions appear to be a determining factor. In contrast, we assume that culture prevails over socioeconomic conditions in dietary habits of immigrants, especially those of the 1st-generation.

	Natives			S	Second-generation immigrants			First-generation immigrants							
	1986	2010	2	014	2018	1986	2010	2	014	2018	1986	2010	2	014	2018
			Dutch	French				Dutch	French				Dutch	French	
Family structure															
Two-parent family	86.9	64.4	67.2	64.3	61.1	86.1	64.4	69.5	65.9	65.1	88.0	58.2	66.9	62.5	62.6
Blended family	4.2	17.0	14.8	16.8	17.3	3.3	14.3	9.5	10.1	10.0	3.7	16.9	13.6	11.3	12.6
Single-parent family	8.9	18.6	18.0	18.9	21.6	10.6	21.3	21.0	24.0	24.9	8.3	24.9	19.5	26.2	24.8
Family Affluence Scale															
High	N/A	23.9	21.2	19.8	22.7	N/A	20.2	18.6	16.0	17.5	N/A	20.7	18.5	14.8	16.0
Medium	N/A	57.5	66.8	64.5	64.9	N/A	53.5	60.8	58.9	60.3	N/A	47.3	58.3	50.4	54.9
Low	N/A	18.5	12.0	15.8	15.4	N/A	26.3	20.6	25.1	22.2	N/A	32.0	23.2	34.8	29.1
Perceived family wealth															
Well off	N/A	9.3	2.5	7.5	13.8	N/A	10.4	3.2	8.4	15.8	N/A	11.2	6.1	8.2	16.2
Quite well off	N/A	43.3	20.5	43.9	52.1	N/A	40.6	15.9	41.0	47.9	N/A	35.1	12.0	35.7	45.0
Average	N/A	35.2	65.7	35.2	25.8	N/A	35.6	65.0	37.2	27.2	N/A	37.6	62.0	40.9	30.3
Not so/at all well off	N/A	12.2	11.3	13.4	8.3	N/A	13.4	15.9	13.4	9.1	N/A	16.1	19.9	15.2	8.5
Parental working status															
Both parents working	N/A	70.9	79.4	70.8	72.2	N/A	54.7	55.3	48.2	53.4	N/A	49.5	52.2	41.1	51.7
One working parent	N/A	24.6	17.9	23.5	22.6	N/A	34.9	33.8	37.3	36.5	N/A	35.9	30.7	35.9	36.4
No working parent	N/A	4.5	2.7	5.7	5.2	N/A	10.4	10.9	14.5	10.1	N/A	14.6	17.0	20.0	11.9
Parental level of education															
Post-secondary	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	43.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	35.1	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	32.2
Secondary or lower	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	22.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	26.2	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	24.3
Undetermined	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	35.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	38.7	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	43.5
School Region															
Brussels-Capital	8.9	7.5	-	6.5	10.9	20.5	30.6	-	41.2	40.4	29.2	30.7	-	45.4	46.9
Wallonia	91.1	92.5	-	93.5	89.1	79.5	69.4	-	58.8	59.6	70.8	69.3	-	54.6	53.1

Table 9. Characteristics of adolescents (%) according to their migration status in the French-speaking 1986, 2010, 2014, 2018 and Dutch-speaking 2014 surveys.

3.2. Dietary habits and proportion of time spent in Belgium

The proportion of time spent in the host country is an indicator of food acculturation, which may reflect, among other influences, exposure to the host culture.⁸⁵ Therefore, the analyses of this section further explored the issue of acculturation highlighted by the migration gradient. The aim was to estimate the association between daily food consumption (fruit, SSB) and proportion of time spent in Belgium among adolescents attending French-speaking schools, while taking into account a set of socioeconomic indicators. Data came from the 2018 French-speaking HBSC survey, the age at arrival in Belgium being available since that survey only. The proportion of time immigrant adolescents had spent in Belgium was calculated by taking their age and age at arrival of 1st-generation immigrants and was categorised based on terciles: <46%, 46-81%, >81%. A proportion of 100% was attributed by default to 2nd-generation immigrants and natives.

No gradient in the proportion of time spent in Belgium was observed in the non-daily fruit consumption. Nevertheless, adolescents who had not spent their whole life in Belgium were less likely to consume fruit on a non-daily basis than those who had spent all their life in Belgium (percentage of life spent in Belgium <41%: OR= 0.76 (95%CI: 0.61-0.96); 46-81%: OR= 0.65 (0.51-0.81); >81%: OR= 0.66 (0.54-0.82)).

Similarly, no gradient was observed in the daily consumption of SSB. However, 1st-generation immigrants who had spent a small part of their life in Belgium were less likely to report daily SSB consumption than adolescents who had spent their whole life in Belgium (OR=0.73 (0.58-0.91)). No statistical difference was found with 1st-generation immigrants who had spent a larger part of their life in Belgium (46-81%: OR=0.87 (0.65-1.17); >81%: OR=1.26 (0.98-1.63)).

To sum up, the process of acculturation among 1st-generation immigrants cannot be confirmed in both fruit and SSB consumption. Nevertheless, 1st-generation immigrants, regardless of their proportion of life spent in Belgium, more frequently consumed healthy food than 2ndgeneration immigrants and natives. Adolescents who had spent a small part of their life in Belgium less frequently consumed unhealthy food than those who had spent their whole life in Belgium. Particularly in view of our sample size, these results must be confirmed with other food groups, especially those for which a clearer migration gradient had previously been highlighted, such as vegetables and crisps and fries.

4. Conclusion

This chapter aimed to assess dietary habits and related-socioeconomic disparities in adolescents of different migration status, through sub-objectives helping to fill the literature gap in. First, our results highlighted relatively poor dietary habits among adolescents, regardless of their migration status, and that are far from the Belgian dietary guidelines. Interestingly, compared to adolescents in other HBSC countries, Belgian adolescents are among the best ranked for fruit¹⁷⁶ and vegetables¹⁷⁷ but among the worst ranked for SSB consumption.¹⁷⁶

Furthermore, our findings pointed out mixed dietary behaviours among immigrants living in Belgium, which may arise from the interplay of the host country behaviours and culture with those of immigrants.¹⁷⁸ Immigrants were more likely to consume unhealthy foods, such as crisps and fries or SSB, but they were also more likely to consume healthy foods like fruit, vegetables or fish.

A migration gradient was observed, with consumption gradually increasing for both healthy and unhealthy foods from natives to 2nd-generation immigrants, and from 2nd-generation immigrants to 1st-generation immigrants. This gradient suggested a process of acculturation among immigrants. During this process, it appears that immigrants changed their dietary habits to make them both more and less healthy, in contrast with the "best of both worlds" hypothesis.⁷⁵ However, we could not confirm that the proportion of time spent in the host country had a role in this acculturation process, as no gradient was observed among 1st-generation immigrants. The hypothesis regarding diet acculturation therefore deserves to be further investigated by additional analyses on other food groups, such as vegetables, whole grains or crisps and fries. Further analyses should also be carried out with other acculturation indicators such as acculturation scales or specific food-based assessment,⁸⁵ as long as they are adapted to the adolescent population.

Our analyses confirmed that migration status does modify the association between socioeconomic indicators and adolescents' dietary habits, as suggested by the literature on health status.¹³⁰ The results of the stratified analyses revealed significant differences in socioeconomic disparities between adolescents of different migration status. Indeed, compared to natives, narrower disparities were observed in 1st-generation immigrants, and to a lesser extent in 2nd-generation immigrants. Additional analyses have shown that immigrants and natives had equally varied socioeconomic profiles, with a generally lower status among immigrants although differences of limited magnitude with the natives were observed.

Altogether, these results suggest that the dietary habits of immigrants are more determined by the culture than by the socioeconomic conditions.

Thus, several socioeconomic disparities were underlined in dietary habits of natives, and to a lesser extent of 2nd-generation immigrants. In line with previous studies, adolescents with lower FAS^{116,179} and living in single-parent families¹⁸⁰ tend to have less healthy dietary habits. Parental working status disparities were observed, also mainly among natives and 2nd-generation immigrants. The results related to this indicator were less consistent, suggesting that our four-categories indicator was probably related not only to socioeconomic conditions, but also to other concepts, such as meal preparation time. Finally, dietary habits varied according to the school region for all adolescents, regardless of their migration status. Regional differences in diet have already been highlighted among adults in Switzerland,¹⁸¹ a country also characterised by several linguistic regions.

To conclude, a process of diet acculturation was highlighted in the dietary habits of adolescents. Immigrants' dietary habits are less subject to socioeconomic disparities than natives, suggesting the prevailing role of culture over the socioeconomic conditions among immigrants. As an application, interventions aimed at improving dietary habits of adolescents must take into account the cultural component of dietary habits.

CHAPTER IV. LONG-TERM TRENDS IN DIETARY DISPARITIES AMONG ADOLESCENTS

* **

1. Introduction

The results of the 2014 HBSC survey globally highlighted poor dietary habits among adolescents, regardless of their migration status and socioeconomic status (**Chapter III**, **section 2**). Yet a set of actions has been developed in recent decades,^{26–29,31,32} although not specifically targeted at adolescents. These actions have been implemented at local, regional, and national levels together, resulting in variable exposures within the population living in Belgium. Consequently, their evaluation is complex. One way to address their potential effect is to study long-term changes in dietary habits. Therefore, the first objective of this chapter was **to describe trends in the prevalence of three food groups that have been particularly subject to public health actions, i.e. fruit, vegetables and SSB, among adolescents in Belgium between 1990 and 2014**.

In addition, our previous findings confirmed that adolescents' dietary habits are determined by a set of factors. The public health actions can contribute to these disparities in a positive or negative way, in particular when regarding regional disparities. Indeed, the responsibility for health promotion has not always been under the authority of the same stakeholders (see **Chapter I**, section 1.2.3.2, footnote d). Health promotion was firstly under the language communities, with a Flemish decree in 1991¹⁸² and a French decree in 1997.¹⁸³ With the Sixth State Reform for which an agreement was signed in 2011, health promotion has been decentralised from these language communities to the Regions.¹⁸⁴ As a result, actions' content may differ according to the place, leading to regional disparities that may have evolved differently over time.

These interventions may also have various impact on adolescents depending on their social position. Indeed, the societal context has changed. In Belgium, a major change in family structure has been observed in recent decades, with an increase in single-parent and blended families (see definition **Chapter II**, section 2.2.2 and **Table 9**). Under these circumstances, we assumed that such societal context could have influenced dietary disparities. Therefore, the second objective of this chapter was to determine how the dietary disparities related to the family structure and to the school region have evolved between 1990 and 2014.

These two objectives have been addressed in the published paper presented in **section 2**. The supplemental materials of the paper are presented in **appendices I-K** of this doctoral thesis: (i) inclusion diagram of adolescents (**Appendix I**); (ii) food consumption and characteristics of participants by survey year (**Appendix J**); (iii) graphic representation of the prevalence of food consumption by survey year (**Appendix K**). Apart from this paper, the PAF was determined in order to be related to the RII and the SII (**Appendix L**).

In addition to changes in the family structure, the number of immigrants has increased in Belgium,¹⁸⁵ with varying countries of origin and reasons for migration.⁷⁵ As before, it is assumed that these changes may have an impact on dietary disparities related to the migration status. Thus, additional analyses were carried out for the Brussels-Capital Region, which comprises a high proportion of immigrants. The aim of these complementary analyses was to determine how the dietary disparities related to the migration status have evolved between 1986 and 2014 in Brussels-Capital. Results are presented in the text hereafter (section 3) and have not been published elsewhere.

2. Published paper: "Twenty-Four-Year Trends in Family and Regional Disparities in Fruit, Vegetable and Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption among Adolescents in Belgium"





Article Twenty-Four-Year Trends in Family and Regional Disparities in Fruit, Vegetable and Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption among Adolescents in Belgium

Manon Rouche ^{1,*}, Maxim Dierckens ², Lucille Desbouys ¹, Camille Pedroni ¹, Thérésa Lebacq ^{1,3}, Isabelle Godin ⁴, Benedicte Deforche ² and Katia Castetbon ^{1,3}

- ¹ Research Centre in "Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Clinical Research", School of Public Health, Université libre de Bruxelles (ULB), 1070 Brussels, Belgium; Lucille.desbouys@ulb.be (L.D.); Camille.pedroni@ulb.be (C.P.); Theresa.lebacq@ulb.be (T.L.); katia.castetbon@ulb.be (K.C.)
- ² Department of Public Health and Primary Care, Ghent University (UGent), 9000 Ghent, Belgium; maxim.dierckens@ugent.be (M.D.); benedicte.deforche@ugent.be (B.D.)
- ³ Service d'Information Promotion Education Santé (SIPES), School of Public Health, Université libre de Bruxelles (ULB), 1070 Brussels, Belgium
- ⁴ Research Centre in "Social Approaches to Health", School of Public Health, Université libre de Bruxelles (ULB), 1070 Brussels, Belgium; isabelle.godin@ulb.be
- * Correspondence: manon.rouche@ulb.be; Tel.: +32-2-555-40-59

Abstract: Dietary habits are influenced by various determinants that may evolve over time. This study aimed to examine, among adolescents in Belgium, trends in the dietary habits between 1990 and 2014 and to determine changes in family and regional disparities related to diet during this time period. In the 1990, 2002 and 2014 cross-sectional "Health Behaviour in School-aged Children" (HBSC) surveys, food consumption was estimated using a short Food Frequency Questionnaire. The Relative Index of Inequality (RII) enabled quantification of the gradients of inequality related to the family structure and to the region for non-daily fruit and vegetable and daily sugar-sweetened beverage (SSB) consumption. Between 1990 and 2014, the prevalence of non-daily fruit consumption increased from 27.7% to 60.6%, whereas the daily SSB consumption decreased from 58.9% to 34.8%. Over time, a downward trend in family disparities (p = 0.007) was observed for daily fruit consumption (RII: 1.58 (1.33–1.88) to 1.18 (1.13–1.23)). An upward trend in region-related disparities (p < 0.001) for SSB was found (RII: 1.15 (1.07–1.23) to 1.37 (1.28–1.47)). The overall trend of increasing disparities when dietary habits improved and decreasing disparities when dietary habits worsened highlights the need to implement actions that improve overall dietary habits while ensuring that disparities do not increase.

Keywords: dietary habits; social disparities; trends; adolescents

1. Introduction

The dietary habits of adolescents may be determined by a set of individual factors [1], such as the family structure [2], and contextual factors [1], such as the region of a country [3]. Reducing such disparities may be translated into different policy actions, with the combination of these leading to more effective strategies [1].

However, family structure-related disparities in adolescents' dietary habits have been scarcely documented [4]. Adolescents from single-parent and blended families, i.e., composed of a biological/adoptive parent and a non-biological/adoptive parent, are more likely to have less favorable dietary habits compared to those from two-parent families [2,5]. This may be related to there being fewer financial resources for single parents, reducing their access to healthy food [6]. In addition, in blended families, step-parents may be less involved in the health education of their stepchildren [5].



Citation: Rouche, M.; Dierckens, M.; Desbouys, L.; Pedroni, C.; Lebacq, T.; Godin, I.; Deforche, B.; Castetbon, K. Twenty-Four-Year Trends in Family and Regional Disparities in Fruit, Vegetable and Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption among Adolescents in Belgium. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* **2021**, *18*, 4408. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph18094408

Academic Editors: Belén Martínez-Ferrer, Celeste León-Moreno and Ana Romero-Abrio

Received: 30 March 2021 Accepted: 19 April 2021 Published: 21 April 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). Moreover, country region-related disparities in dietary habits have been highlighted in several studies [3,7,8]. For instance, in Switzerland, dietary habits in adults differed according to the linguistic region. One hypothesis was the cultural influence of the neighboring countries [8]. Similarly, in Belgium, adolescents in Flanders are more likely to have healthier dietary habits than those of the two other Belgian regions, i.e., Wallonia and Brussels-Capital [3,7]. Among other determinants, such disparities can be explained by the influence of the neighboring countries, especially for Flanders and Wallonia, and by different cultural [9] and economic [10] backgrounds and food supplies.

Furthermore, the societal context has changed and may have impacted the extent of disparities over time. The few studies on trends in dietary disparities mainly focused on beverages and ethnicity in the U.S. and highlighted persistent disparities [11,12]. Between 1989–1991 and 2007–2008, the consumption of fruit-based and soft drinks per capita intake increased along with disparities related to ethnicity among children [11]. However, between 2003–2004 and 2013–2014, ethnic disparities among children and adolescents regarding the typical intake of fruit drinks declined [12]. This example highlights the need to understand the evolution of such disparities. Indeed, public health initiatives should not only aim at improving the diet of the whole population (population-based approach) [13] or of those at the bottom of a social gradient (targeted approach) [14], but they should also aim to reduce disparities (proportionate universalism approach) [15].

For example, the changing societal context has resulted in a shift of the household structure in recent years. A change in marriage and divorce rates has resulted in an increase in single-parent and blended families [16]. This shift may have been accompanied by changes in the role of the step-parent in blended family structures. Additionally, the three administrative Belgian regions, which are federated entities, are Flanders (mainly Dutch-speaking), Wallonia (mainly French-speaking) and Brussels-Capital (both Dutch-and French-speaking). In recent years, health promotion has been decentralized under the responsibility of the regions. This may have resulted in variable exposure to public health messages regarding diet according to the region.

Under these circumstances, we assume that such societal context changes may have influenced dietary habits and related disparities. The aims of this study were twofold: (i) to describe trends in the prevalence of non-daily fruit and vegetable and daily sugar-sweetened beverage (SSB) consumption among adolescents in Belgium between 1990 and 2014 and (ii) to determine how the dietary disparities related to family structure or to school region have evolved during this time period.

This research is one of the first to investigate, in adolescents, trends over a long period of time regarding different social disparities in several food groups with appropriate methods for analyzing disparities over time. Through our two objectives, our findings might help identify key areas to improve current public health actions on both overall food consumption and related disparities.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study

Since 1983–1984, the World Health Organization collaborative cross-national "Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children" (HBSC) survey has taken place every four years (in almost 50 countries at present) [17]. The survey aims to produce comprehensive indicators supporting the implementation of health promotion policies and interventions. The standardized research protocol has mostly been constant over the years, enabling the analysis of trends.

In Belgium, which is a regionalized country, the HBSC survey has been conducted independently in French-speaking schools since 1986 and in Dutch-speaking schools since 1990. Altogether, these surveys cover the three regions, namely Wallonia, Flanders and Brussels-Capital, with the latter including both French- and Dutch-speaking schools. The present research was based on the surveys conducted in 1990, 2002 and 2014 in French- and Dutch-speaking schools of the three regions.

Following advice from school authorities, no written consent was requested for French-speaking schools; for the Dutch-speaking schools, an opt-out consent process was implemented. For each survey, questionnaires were self-administrated in a classroom. Adolescents were clearly informed on the survey content and on their right to refuse the completion of the entire questionnaire or specific questions. All procedures used during data collection enabled confidentiality and anonymity.

2.2. Sampling

The sampling plans, developed in order to achieve representativeness of the estimators for each linguistic region, were based on a random sample stratified proportionally to the school networks and included public and private schools. In addition, depending on the survey, samples were stratified proportionally to the province and/or the type of education (general, technical, vocational, etc.). For each survey, schools from the mainstream school system were first randomly selected in each stratum based on an official list of all schools in Belgium. The sampling was repeated for each survey, regardless of whether or not some schools had participated in the previous survey(s). Then, one class from the fifth grade of elementary school (corresponding to adolescents aged ± 10 years) to the final grade of secondary school (corresponding to adolescents aged ± 18 years) was randomly selected in each grade among the schools participating in the study. In Flanders, several classes may have been selected when different types of education were available in the school. All adolescents in the selected classes were invited to participate over a period of approximately two months, regardless of their health status or social characteristics when they attended one of the participating schools.

In 1990, 2002 and 2014, data from 8866, 32,048 and 23,688 questionnaires were collected, respectively (Figure S1). Adolescents aged 20 or over (included only in French-speaking schools) were excluded. Participants with no missing data for all covariates and fruit consumption (i.e., the most frequently filled-in dietary variable) were included in the analyses. The rate of missing data ranged from 1.0% to 3.0%. Thus, the maximum number of adolescents included in the analyses was 8001 in 1990, 29,825 in 2002 and 21,939 in 2014 (Figure S1).

2.3. Measures

The HBSC questionnaire is available in two to three versions adapted to the adolescents' age. With regard to these analyses, the questions were exactly the same for all adolescents, regardless of their age.

A validated short Food Frequency Questionnaire (sFFQ) was used [18]—the most reliable tool that could be used given the conditions of data collection. Adolescents were asked how often they usually consumed 16 food groups in 1990 and 23 in 2002 and 2014. Fruits, vegetables ("cooked" and "raw" separately in 1990) and sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) were selected for the analyses. Five-answer categories were proposed in 1990 in the Dutch-speaking questionnaire—"every day"; "every week"; "every month"; "less than once a month"; and "never"—and in the French-speaking questionnaire—"more than once a day"; "once a day"; "at least once a week"; "rarely"; and "never". In 2002 and 2014, seven-answer categories were proposed in French- and Dutch-speaking schools: "more than once a day"; "once a day"; "5–6 days a week"; "2–4 days a week"; "once a week"; "less than once a week"; more a week"; "and "never".

The family structure variable was based on the people declared by the adolescents as living in their main house and, if applicable, in another house. Three categories were determined: "two-parent family" (adolescents living with both parents in the same house); "blended family" (those living with one parent and one step-parent); and "single-parent family" (those living with a single parent). Based on the address of the school, the school regions were (also referred to as) "Flanders" (Flemish), "Wallonia" (Walloon) and "Brussels-Capital" (Brussels).

2.4. Statistical Analyses

2.4.1. Reprocessing Data

All food group answers were categorized as "daily" and "non-daily" consumption in order to correspond, as closely as possible, to the Belgian nutritional recommendations [19], while also being determined by the original answer modalities. In all surveys (except for the 1990 Dutch-speaking assessment), daily consumption corresponded to a consumption of "more than once a day" and "once a day". In the 1990 Dutch-speaking survey, daily consumption corresponded to consumption "every day". All of the other answer categories corresponded to non-daily consumption. In order to focus on unfavorable consumption, dietary outcome was "non-daily" consumption of fruit and vegetables and "daily" consumption of SSB.

Presumed inequalities related to the family structure and to the school region were ranked based on prior hypotheses about the overall dietary pattern of adolescents [3,7]. It was found that two-parent families may be considered as more likely to have favorable dietary habits than single-parent families, with blended families in an intermediate position [7]. In fact, single-parent families may have unhealthier dietary habits, partly due to their limited money and time resources [6] impairing their financial access to healthy food and limiting their availability for preparing healthy meals. In addition, step-parents may be less involved in the nutritional education of children in blended families [5]. Accordingly, the ranking considered here was as follows: two-parent family, blended family and singleparent family. Regional disparities are less homogenous and can differ greatly according to the food group [3,7]. Overall, Walloon adolescents tend to have an intermediate position between Flemish and Brussels adolescents [3,7]. Regional differences may be due to a more or less healthy influence of neighboring countries on the regions [7,8] and different food and socioeconomic environments. In addition, Belgian and regional public health actions might have a different effect [3]. Thus, the retained ranking for the school region was Flanders, Wallonia and Brussels-Capital.

Following such a ranking, a modified ridit transformation [20,21] was distinctly applied to the family structure (model A) and to the school region (model B), and for each survey year, in order to obtain a ranking score x_i between 0 and 1. The family and regional ranks x_i were determined as follows for each family and regional category and for each survey year:

$$\frac{c_i + c_{i-1}}{2} \tag{1}$$

where c_i is the fraction of the population in the class *i* or lower ($c_0 = 0$ and $c_i = 1$) [21].

C

Hypothetical best-placed adolescents had a score equal to 0, while hypothetical worstplaced adolescents had a score equal to 1.

2.4.2. Modeling

Following Mackenbach and Kunst [22], the Relative Index of Inequality (RII) and the Slope Index of Inequality (SII) were used to quantify the gradient of inequality related to the family structure (model A) and to the school region (model B) in relative and absolute terms, respectively. The RII and SII are "the expected relative and excess risks comparing the hypothetical extremes of the scale under the log-linear and linear models, respectively, that best approximate the relation" [23] between the family structure or the school region and dietary habits. These measures are complementary, as relative inequalities and absolute inequalities can evolve in opposite ways, especially with high frequency of unfavorable consumption. Together, therefore, they provide a reliable overview of the situation and prevent wrongly concluding that inequalities have been reduced, for instance. Another advantage of these summary measures of inequality is that they take into account "both the population size and the relative [...] position of groups" [22].

$$\frac{f(1)}{f(0)}]\tag{2}$$

and an identity link function to calculate the SII

$$f(1) - f(0)$$
] (3)

where 0 is the "position of the hypothetical best-placed" adolescents and 1 is the "position of the hypothetical worst-placed" adolescents [23]. Given that the odds ratio estimated by logistic regressions could overestimate the prevalence ratios in cross-sectional studies, a Poisson regression with robust variance was used as a generalized linear model [24].

Following their definitions, the RII and SII can be interpreted as a rate ratio and a rate difference, respectively. An RII equal to 1 means no difference in relative inequalities and an SII equal to zero means no difference in absolute inequalities. A 95% confidence interval (95% CI), i.e., $\alpha = 0.05$, including 1 for the RII and 0 for the SII means that there is no difference in relative and absolute inequalities, respectively. An RII equal to *x* means that worst-placed adolescents are *x*-fold more likely to have a given food frequency consumption than best-placed adolescents. An SII equal to *x* means that worst-placed adolescents are siven food frequency consumption than best-placed adolescents.

For each food group, crude RII and SII values were estimated for models A and B first. Secondly, RII and SII were adjusted for sex, age and school region (model A) or family structure (model B). Trends over time in RII and SII were estimated by including a two-way interaction term modified ridit score (based on family structure for model A and on school region for model B) by survey in the related model equation [25]. In the case where the evolution of RII and SII was quadratic, i.e., an extremum observed in 2002, a test for quadratic trend was performed (including survey year squared in the two-way interaction term).

Due to the substantial sample sizes, the significance of the differences in adolescents' characteristics was determined by the magnitude of the differences rather than the *p*-value. The significance of the RII and SII was based on the 95% CI, while for trends, the *p*-value of the two-way interaction term was used [25]. All analyses were performed using Stata/IC $14.2^{\text{(B)}}$ (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

3. Results

Characteristics of adolescents were considered to be stable over the years, except for the family structure (Table S1). "Single-parent" and "blended" families became more common over time. In addition, in 2014, compared to previous survey years, more adolescents from schools in Wallonia and less adolescents from schools in Flanders were included. Between 1990 and 2014, the prevalence of daily SSB consumption decreased, while the overall prevalence of non-daily fruit and vegetable consumption increased, with a slight decrease since 2002 (Figure S2).

3.1. Disparities Related to the Family Structure

Over the years, disparities related to the family structure were observed for the three food groups, except for SSB consumption in 1990 (Table 1). For instance, in 1990, hypothetical worst-placed adolescents (i.e., from single-parent families) were 1.58-fold (95 %CI: 1.33–1.88) more prone to non-daily fruit consumption than the hypothetical best-placed (i.e., from two-parent families).

Family Structure	1990	2002	2014	P for Trend			
	Non-da	aily fruit consumption					
Single-parent family (%)	33.0	70.7	64.1				
Blended family (%)	34.2	73.7	63.8				
Two parents (%)	26.6	68.4	58.8				
cRII-F (95% CI) ¹	1.56 (1.32–1.86)	1.10 (1.06–1.14)	1.17 (1.13–1.23)	0.43 ^a			
aRII-F (95% CI) ²	1.58 (1.33–1.88)	1.15 (1.11–1.19)	1.18 (1.13–1.23)	0.007 ^a			
cSII-F (95% CI) ¹	13.37 (7.82–18.92)	6.56 (4.10-9.02)	9.91 (7.26-12.55)	<0.001 ^b			
aSII-F (95% CI) ²	13.14 (7.59–18.70)	9.53 (7.04–12.03)	10.40 (7.72–13.08)	<0.001 ^b			
Non-daily vegetable consumption							
Single-parent family (%)	27.0	53.5	49.3				
Blended family (%)	23.8	50.0	41.4				
Two parents (%)	22.6	48.8	43.8				
cRII-F (95% CI) ¹	1.35 (1.10–1.66)	1.14 (1.09–1.21)	1.15 (1.08–1.22)	0.26 ^a			
aRII-F (95% CI) ²	1.30 (1.06–1.60)	1.11 (1.06–1.17)	1.16 (1.09–1.23)	0.32 ^a			
cSII-F (95% CI) ¹	7.30 (2.08–12.51)	6.80 (4.11-9.50)	6.10 (3.42-8.78)	0.68 ^a			
aSII-F (95% CI) ²	6.74 (1.54–11.94)	5.56 (2.84-8.28)	6.81 (4.11–9.50)	0.76 ^a			
Daily sugar-sweetened beverage consumption							
Single-parent family (%)	60.5	44.4	39.7				
Blended family (%)	64.2	44.9	40.2				
Two parents (%)	58.4	39.6	32.0				
cRII-F (95% CI) ¹	1.10 (1.00-1.21)	1.26 (1.18-1.34)	1.51 (1.41–1.62)	<0.001 ^a			
aRII-F (95% CI) ²	1.08 (0.98-1.19)	1.27 (1.19–1.35)	1.47 (1.37–1.58)	<0.001 a			
cSII-F (95% CI) ¹	5.87 (0.00-11.74)	9.70 (7.00-12.40)	15.05 (12.39–17.72)	0.001 ^a			
aSII-F (95% CI) ²	4.80 (-1.11-10.70)	10.10 (7.41–12.80)	14.34 (11.68–17.00)	0.002 ^a			

Table 1. Prevalence and Relative Index and Slope Index of Family Inequalities (RII-F and SII-F) of fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among adolescents between 1990 and 2014 (HBSC, Belgium, 1990–2002–2014).

¹ Crude Relative Index of family Inequality and Slope Index of family Inequality and their 95% confidence intervals; ² Adjusted Relative Index of family Inequality and Slope Index of family Inequality for sex, age and school region, and their 95% confidence intervals; ^a *P* for linear trends; ^b *P* for quadratic trends.

Over time, a downward trend in family structure-related relative disparities (p = 0.007) was observed for non-daily fruit consumption. This was related to a differential increase in non-daily consumption according to the family structure between 1990 and 2014 (Figure 1a). Indeed, initially the biggest non-daily consumer group, adolescents from a blended family had the lowest increase in non-daily fruit consumption between 1990 and 2014. Conversely, adolescents from a two-parent family, i.e., the smallest non-daily consumer group in 1990, showed the highest increase in non-daily consumption. Considerable disparities for non-daily vegetable consumption were observed every survey year (Figure 1b); however, no trend (p = 0.32) was found. Conversely, a trend towards increasing disparities (p < 0.001) was observed for daily SSB consumption due to an increase in consumption differences between adolescents from different family structures (Figure 1c). Indeed, while they already had the lowest daily consumption, adolescents from a two-parent family experienced the largest decrease in daily SSB consumption. The smallest decrease in daily SSB consumption was observed among adolescents from a single-parent family.



Figure 1. Changes in prevalence of food consumption according to the family structure between 1990 and 2014 (HBSC, Belgium, 1990–2002–2014): (a) non-daily fruit; (b) non-daily vegetable; (c) daily sugar-sweetened beverage.

3.2. Disparities Related to the School Region

Regional disparities were observed for all food groups over the years, except for SSB consumption in 2002 and for vegetable consumption in 2014 (Table 2). In 2014, hypothetically worst-placed adolescents (i.e., in a school in Brussels) were 0.55-fold (95% CI: 0.52–0.57) more likely to have non-daily fruit consumption than hypothetically best-placed adolescents (i.e., in a Flemish school).

Table 2. Prevalence and Relative Index and Slope Index of regional Inequalities (RII-R and SII-R) of fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among adolescents between 1990 and 2014 (HBSC, Belgium, 1990–2002–2014).

School Region	1990	2002	2014	P for Trend			
Non-daily fruit consumption							
Brussels-Capital (%)	25.5	61.8	50.8				
Wallonia (%)	27.3	64.0	52.8				
Flanders (%)	28.6	74.4	72.7				
cRII-F (95% CI) ¹	0.87 (0.76-0.99)	0.74 (0.71-0.76)	0.54 (0.52-0.57)	<0.001 ^a			
aRII-F (95% CI) ²	0.83 (0.73-0.96)	0.73 (0.71–0.76)	0.55 (0.52-0.57)	<0.001 a			
cSII-F (95% CI) ¹	-3.92(-7.670.17)	-20.75 (-22.7618.73)	-34.84 (-37.1532.53)	<0.001 ^a			
aSII-F (95% CI) ²	-4.19 (-7.940.45)	-20.71 (-22.7618.67)	-34.68 (-37.0332.33)	<0.001 ^a			
Non-daily vegetable consumption							
Brussels-Capital (%)	24.3	56.8	53.3				
Wallonia (%)	27.1	51.8	40.4				
Flanders (%)	20.0	46.4	46.9				
cRII-F (95% CI) ¹	1.57 (1.35–1.82)	1.31 (1.25–1.37)	0.97 (0.91-1.02)	<0.001 ^a			
aRII-F (95% CI) ²	1.55 (1.33–1.80)	1.29 (1.23–1.34)	0.99 (0.93-1.05)	<0.001 ^a			
cSII-F (95% CI) ¹	11.07 (7.39–14.76)	13.43 (11.24–15.62)	-1.44(-3.79-0.91)	<0.001 ^a			
aSII-F (95% CI) ²	11.38 (7.65–15.10)	12.65 (10.44–14.87)	-0.38 (-2.75-1.98)	<0.001 a			
Daily sugar-sweetened beverage consumption							
Brussels-Capital (%)	64.0	41.1	41.2				
Wallonia (%)	59.2	40.4	35.5				
Flanders (%)	57.3	41.0	32.0				
cRII-F (95% CI) ¹	1.13 (1.06–1.22)	0.99 (0.94–1.04)	1.35 (1.26–1.45)	<0.001 ^b			
aRII-F (95% CI) ²	1.15 (1.07–1.23)	0.99 (0.94–1.04)	1.37 (1.28–1.47)	<0.001 b			
cSII-F (95% CI) ¹	7.41 (3.32–11.49)	-0.55 (-2.72-1.62)	10.27 (7.89–12.66)	<0.001 b			
aSII-F (95% CI) ²	8.13 (4.00–12.26)	1.13 (-1.05-3.31)	11.03 (8.65–13.40)	<0.001 ^b			

¹ Crude Relative Index of regional Inequality and Slope Index of regional Inequality and their 95% confidence intervals; ² Adjusted Relative Index of regional Inequality and Slope Index of regional Inequality for sex, age and family structure and their 95% confidence intervals; ^a *P* for linear trends; ^b *P* for quadratic trends.

Throughout the years, a trend towards increasing disparities with time (p < 0.001) was observed for non-daily fruit consumption. This was related to a differential change in non-daily consumers according to the school region (Figure 2a). The lowest increase in non-daily fruit consumption was observed among adolescents from Walloon schools. Those from Flemish schools had the highest increase in consumption, although they were the largest consumer group in 1990. Interestingly, adolescents considered as better-placed, i.e., adolescents in a Flemish school, were more likely to have non-daily fruit consumption (RII < 1).

In addition, a trend towards decreasing regional disparities (p < 0.001) for non-daily vegetable consumption was found: the lowest increase in non-daily vegetable consumption was observed among adolescents in a Walloon school, while the highest increase was among those in a Flemish school (Figure 2b). Conversely, an upward trend (p < 0.001) was observed for daily SSB consumption. This increase was mainly due to the highest decrease among the initially smallest daily SSB consumer group, i.e., adolescents in a Flemish school, and the lowest decrease among the initially largest daily consumer group, i.e., adolescents in a Brussels-Capital school (Figure 2c).



Figure 2. Changes in prevalence of food consumption according to the school region between 1990 and 2014 (HBSC, Belgium, 1990–2002–2014): (a) non-daily fruit; (b) non-daily vegetable; (c) daily sugar-sweetened beverage.

4. Discussion

Throughout the years, the overall prevalence of non-daily fruit and vegetable consumption increased (with a slight decrease since 2002), while family and regional disparities decreased, except for regional disparities for non-daily fruit consumption. In contrast, the overall prevalence of daily SSB consumption decreased, whereas family and regional disparities increased. The major changes in food consumption were mainly observed between 1990 and 2002. This is most likely due to the characteristics of the adolescents and their environment rather than to methodological issues (as discussed below).

To the best of our knowledge, few studies have investigated trends in dietary habits, especially in adolescent populations [12,26–28] and covering such a long period (>20 years) [28], thus limiting their comparability. The prevalence of non-daily fruit and vegetable consumption doubled between 1990 and 2002 and slightly decreased thereafter, in line with the literature, which highlighted a similar trend for fruit consumption [27]. In addition, the HBSC reports (starting in 1993–1994) confirmed an increase in non-daily fruit and vegetable consumers between the 1990s and early 2000s [29-31]. Not eating fruit and vegetables regularly may be due to the unpleasant taste perceived by some adolescents compared with more palatable foods and to practical constraints such as washing, peeling or cooking before consumption compared with ready-to-eat snacks [32]. Fruit, frequently eaten as a snack/dessert, could be replaced by more attractive foods [32], such as biscuits or milky desserts. Furthermore, adolescents may have progressively replaced fruit and vegetables with various industrial processed ready-to-eat fruit-based or vegetable-based foods, such as applesauce or composite dishes. Adolescents may not identify such foods as a consumption of fruit or vegetables and may consequently underreport their consumption when filling out a short FFQ, such as in the HBSC survey. Between 2002 and 2014, the observed small decrease in non-daily fruit and vegetable consumers could partly be explained by public health efforts regarding such foods resulting in a possible increased awareness of the general population on their benefits [33].

The proportion of daily SSB consumers decreased by almost half between 1990 and 2014, with most of the decrease being observed between 1990 and 2002. The observed decrease in daily SSB consumers is in line with most of the HBSC countries since 1998 [30,31,34] (information was not available in the 1993–1994 international HBSC report). Previous studies in the US [12,26] have also highlighted a decline in SSB intake since 1990. For years, policy stakeholders and health professionals have advised the public to limit intake of sugary drinks due to their association with various negative health outcomes [35]. In addition, this warning has potentially pushed industries to progressively market artificially sweetened beverages (ASBs). Although the potential adverse effects of these drinks on health have recently been underlined [36], ASBs were suggested as substitutes for sugary drinks due to their low calorie content. As a result of both the awareness on SSBs and the development of ASBs, adolescents could have substituted SSBs for ASBs [37], which would explain the decrease in SSB consumption between the 1990s and the early 2000s. However, this hypothesis cannot be verified with our data, as the question regarding ASBs was not included until 2002 in the Dutch-speaking schools and 2006 in the French-speaking schools.

To our knowledge, no study has analyzed trends in family and regional disparities regarding dietary habits, thus limiting comparison. Nonetheless, to understand the reasons behind the changes and to provide tools to implement public health initiatives, potential causes of disparities are discussed.

Single-parent families, often with fewer financial resources (one-third had a low family affluence scale (FAS) [38] in 2002 and 2014 compared to one in six for other family structures), may have adopted the new dietary recommendations more slowly than other family structures did, including the limitation of SSB consumption. Indeed, income is associated with adherence to nutritional recommendations [39]. In addition, these families may have been less likely to substitute SSBs for ASBs due to the slightly higher average price of the latter [40]. Moreover, in recent years, blended families have become increasingly frequent at the expense of two-parent families. In Belgium, the share of blended families was less

than 5% in 1990, while it was almost 10% in 2002 and 15% in 2014. Since step-parents are usually less active and involved in the education and the health of the children [5], we assumed that the increase in the blended family structure could have led to a shift in the role of step-parents, resulting, in turn, in a change in the families' dietary habits. In addition, adolescents from blended families reported a higher FAS in 2014 compared to 2002 (84.3% had a medium or a high FAS in 2014 vs. 79.3% in 2002). Therefore, healthy foods, such as fruits and vegetables, may have become more affordable [6] over the years for a greater proportion of blended families.

In recent years, in Belgium, the change in federated entities responsible for health promotion led to different campaigns and interventions being implemented in the regions, in terms of messages, target population, dissemination or intensity. In addition, the effectiveness of these actions may be different given that the responsiveness could be culturally influenced [11]. Our results suggest that public health initiatives focusing on fruit and vegetable consumption were less effective in the Flemish population than they were in other regions, while those for SSB consumption were more effective in Flanders. In addition, we assumed that the food supply and the culture-related behaviors, which are complex to evaluate, may have changed differently over the years depending on the region, but this requires further examination. Furthermore, the regional changes in food consumption were also similar to the changes observed in neighboring countries, i.e., in France between 1993–1994 and 2013–2014 [29–31] and in the Netherlands between 2001– 2002 and 2013–2014 [30,31]. Indeed, a higher increase in non-daily fruit consumption and a higher decrease in daily SSB consumption were observed in the Netherlands compared to France, confirming the influence of neighboring countries. However, no similarity for vegetable consumption was observed with neighboring countries [30,31]. The imbalanced increase in non-daily vegetable consumers resulted in a homogenization of behaviors in Belgium.

A major strength of our study was the long retrospective period (24 years), with repeated and similar assessments of dietary habits. This enabled to highlight trends that would have been different compared to a shorter timer period that would have only started in the 2000s. However, some characteristics could not be used because they were not comparable across the surveys or were not yet developed, such as the Family Affluence Scale [38]. In addition, the food groups available for analyses since 1990 were rather limited, but the selected groups are amongst the most important in terms of health [35] and have particularly been subject to public health actions. The long-term assessment led to a potential bias related to the small differences between the questionnaires. Indeed, the number of response categories increased from five to seven, and some foods were grouped together ("raw" and "cooked" vegetables into one category) or specified (sugar- and nonsugar-sweetened beverages were more clearly differentiated). These changes should not cause a major methodological issue [27] and, therefore, are unlikely to be responsible for the major changes occurring since the 1990s. Nevertheless, they may be responsible for a slight overestimation of the consumption of vegetables in 1990, for instance. The initial response categories also prevented a more accurate categorization of food consumption in relation to the dietary recommendations. Furthermore, the large sample size led to a gain in statistical power but did not hinder the confidence in tests for trends based on interaction terms. The methodology used to evaluate the disparities has the advantage of considering whole regional/family distribution and not only the extreme groups as is the case in classic comparisons. Indeed, social inequalities cannot be reduced on the extremes of the social hierarchy. Actions, especially those directed at high-risk populations, could shift the risk to intermediate groups. Therefore, meaningful information on the changes in disparities would have been missed with classic measures. Furthermore, thanks to the *x*-rankings of the family and the regional distributions, these indices allow valid cross-population comparisons [23]. However, although the changing structure of the population is taken into account, their disadvantage is that they do not actually capture a possible change in the structure of the population. These measures must, therefore, be complemented by the

population attributable factor. Indeed, the change in disparities was a genuine change and was not due to changes in the population structure (data not shown). Finally, in order to facilitate the interpretation of the findings, the same category order based on prior assumption of the overall dietary pattern [3,7] was kept throughout the analyses. However, depending on the year and the food group studied, the ranking of family structure and school region categories may be somewhat different. Given the small differences observed, keeping the original order only led to a slightly lower accuracy of these estimates.

5. Conclusions

In summary, increasing disparities were observed when dietary habits improved, whereas decreasing disparities were observed when dietary habits worsened. This trend is to be confirmed with other food groups, e.g., whole grains or animal protein foods such as dairy or meat, although the consistency of our results for the three food groups suggests that the same trend will be observed. Furthermore, changes in other significant determinants of dietary habits, such as socioeconomic or migration status, must be studied when available.

While it was suspected and hypothesized, this is the first time that such a figure has been demonstrated for several indicators and food groups and over a long period of time. Our results underline that public health actions in Belgium have, thus far, failed to both improve dietary habits and tackle social inequalities, possibly due to a counterproductive environment such as intensive marketing of unhealthy foods. Furthermore, our study confirms that interventions regarding dietary habits must better mobilize the concept of proportionate universalism, i.e., improving dietary habits proportionally to the degree of needs. More practically, actions should take into account the specificities, needs and access barriers to a healthy diet of different sub-populations in order to be universal, but with an intensity that depends on the level of disadvantage. Thus, improved affordability of healthy foods and including a cultural component in actions could help improve the dietary habits of adolescents while reducing family- and regional-related inequalities, respectively.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10 .3390/ijerph18094408/s1, Figure S1: Inclusion diagram of adolescents in Belgium (HBSC, 1990–2002– 2014); Figure S2: Prevalence of food consumption by year of survey (HBSC, Belgium, 1990–2002–2014); Table S1: Food consumption and characteristics of participants in percentages by year of survey (HBSC, Belgium, 1990–2002–2014).

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.R. and K.C.; methodology, M.R. and K.C.; formal analysis, M.R.; investigation, M.R.; resources, M.D., I.G. and K.C.; data curation, M.D. and I.G.; writing—original draft preparation, M.R. and K.C.; writing—review and editing, M.D., L.D., C.P., T.L., B.D. and I.G.; visualization, M.R.; supervision, K.C.; project administration, K.C.; funding acquisition, K.C. and I.G. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the Wallonia-Brussels Federation (FWB); the Birth and Children Office (ONE); the Walloon Region; the Brussels-Capital Region and the Government of Flanders (Grant No. GEO-1GDD2A-WT). The French Community of Belgium, as part of the "Actions de Recherche Concertée" funding program provided financial support. The English editing was funded with the support of the University Foundation of Belgium.

Institutional Review Board Statement: This survey was carried out according to guidelines articulated in the Declaration of Helsinki. For Dutch-speaking schools, the study was approved by the ethics review committee of the University Hospital of Ghent (for the 2013/2014 survey: project EC/2013/1145). For French-speaking schools, the survey was approved by school authorities. This protocol was not submitted to a medical ethics committee in view of the topics and methods used for data collection (Belgian law of 7 May 2004 and Advisory Committee on Bioethics of Belgium, opinion $n^{\circ}40$, 12 February 2007).

Informed Consent Statement: Following advice from school authorities, no written consent was requested for French-speaking schools; for the Dutch-speaking schools, consent was passive. For all surveys, adolescents were clearly informed about the survey content and about their full right to

refuse to fill out the questionnaire or answer specific questions. All procedures used during data collection enabled confidentiality and anonymity.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request from the corresponding author.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank the students and the schools for their participation in the HBSC surveys. They are grateful to the HBSC International Coordination Center (University of St Andrews, United Kingdom) and the HBSC Data Management Center (University of Bergen, Norway) for their scientific support, as well as Danièle Piette, Maud Dujeu, Nathalie Moreau and Patrick De Smet (SIPES, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium) for their collaboration in data collection, cleaning and management and Emma Holmberg for editing and reviewing.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the results.

References

- Dahlgren, G.; Whitehead, M. Policies and Strategies to Promote Social Equity in Health: Background Document to WHO—Strategy Paper for Europe; Institute for Futures Studies: Stockholm, Sweden, 1991; ISBN 978-91-85619-18-4.
- Baek, Y.J.; Paik, H.Y.; Shim, J.E. Association between family structure and food group intake in children. Nutr. Res. Pract. 2014, 8, 463–468. [CrossRef]
- Desbouys, L.; de Ridder, K.; Rouche, M.; Castetbon, K. Food consumption in adolescents and young adults: Age-specific socio-economic and cultural disparities (Belgian Food Consumption survey 2014). *Nutrients* 2019, *11*, 1520. [CrossRef]
- 4. Desbouys, L.; Méjean, C.; de Henauw, S.; Castetbon, K. Socio-economic and cultural disparities in diet among adolescents and young adults: A systematic review. *Public Health Nutr.* **2020**, *23*, 843–860. [CrossRef]
- 5. Stewart, S.D.; Menning, C.L. Family structure, nonresident father involvement, and adolescent eating patterns. *J. Adolesc. Health* **2009**, 45, 193–201. [CrossRef]
- 6. Morris, M.A.; Hulme, C.; Clarke, G.P.; Edwards, K.L.; Cade, J.E. What is the cost of a healthy diet? Using diet data from the UK Women's Cohort Study. *J. Epidemiol. Community Health* **2014**, *68*, 1043–1049. [CrossRef]
- 7. Rouche, M.; de Clercq, B.; Lebacq, T.; Dierckens, M.; Moreau, N.; Desbouys, L.; Godin, I.; Castetbon, K. Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium. *Nutrients* **2019**, *11*, 812. [CrossRef]
- Chatelan, A.; Beer-Borst, S.; Randriamiharisoa, A.; Pasquier, J.; Blanco, J.M.; Siegenthaler, S.; Paccaud, F.; Slimani, N.; Nicolas, G.; Camenzind-Frey, E.; et al. Major differences in diet across three linguistic regions of Switzerland: Results from the first national nutrition survey menuCH. *Nutrients* 2017, 9, 1163. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Census/Statbel. Population Par Lieu de Résidence (Province), sexe, Position Dans le Ménage (C), État Civil, Situation sur le Marché de L'emploi (A) et Lieu de Naissance (A) [Internet]. Available online: http://census2011.fgov.be/censusselection/ selectionFR.html (accessed on 5 September 2019).
- Observatoire de la Santé et du Social de Bruxelles-Capitale. Baromètre Social 2018: Rapport Bruxellois Sur L'état de la Pauvreté, Bruxelles. Available online: https://www.ccc-ggc.brussels/sites/default/files/documents/graphics/rapport-pauvrete/ barometre_social_2018.pdf (accessed on 5 September 2019).
- 11. Lasater, G.; Piernas, C.; Popkin, B.M. Beverage patterns and trends among school-aged children in the US, 1989–2008. *Nutr. J.* **2011**, *10*, 103. [CrossRef]
- Mendez, M.A.; Miles, D.R.; Poti, J.M.; Sotres-Alvarez, D.; Popkin, B.M. Persistent disparities over time in the distribution of sugar-sweetened beverage intake among children in the United States. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 2019, 109, 79–89. [CrossRef]
- 13. Rose, G.A. The Strategy of Preventive Medicine; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 1992; ISBN 0-19-262125-4.
- Lalonde, M. Nouvelle Perspective de la Santé des Canadiens: Un Document de Travail; Government of Canada: Ottawa, ON, Canada, 1974. Available online: http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/ph-sp/pdf/perspect-fra.pdf (accessed on 3 October 2019).
- 15. Marmot, M.G.; Allen, J.; Goldblatt, P.; Boyce, T.; McNeish, D.; Grady, M.; Geddes, I. *Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot Review;* University College London: London, UK, 2010; ISBN 978-0-9564870-0-1.
- 16. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. *Doing Better for Families*; OECD Publishing: Paris, France, 2011; ISBN 978-92-64-09872-5.
- 17. Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children. Fact Sheet—The HBSC Network. Available online: http://www.hbsc.org/publications/factsheets/Info%20sheet%202013-14%20(English).pdf (accessed on 6 December 2019).
- Vereecken, C.A.; Maes, L. A Belgian study on the reliability and relative validity of the Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children food-frequency questionnaire. *Public Health Nutr.* 2003, *6*, 581–588. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Superior Health Council. Dietary Guidelines for the Belgian Adult Population; SHC: Brussels, Belgium, 2019; Available online: https://www.health.belgium.be/sites/default/files/uploads/fields/fpshealth_theme_file/20190902_shc-9284_fbdg_vweb.pdf (accessed on 19 June 2020).

- 20. Uwawunkonye, E.G.; Anaene, O.I.C. A comparative study between ridit and modified ridit analysis. *AJTAS* **2013**, *2*, 248–254. [CrossRef]
- 21. Sergeant, J.C.; Firth, D. Relative index of inequality: Definition, estimation, and inference. Biostatistics 2006, 7, 213-224. [CrossRef]
- 22. Mackenbach, J.P.; Kunst, A.E. Measuring the magnitude of socio-economic inequalities in health: An overview of available measures illustrated with two examples from Europe. *Soc. Sci. Med.* **1997**, *44*, 757–771. [CrossRef]
- 23. Moreno-Betancur, M.; Latouche, A.; Menvielle, G.; Kunst, A.E.; Rey, G. Relative index of inequality and slope index of inequality: A structured regression framework for estimation. *Epidemiology* **2015**, *26*, 518–527. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Barros, A.J.D.; Hirakata, V.N. Alternatives for logistic regression in cross-sectional studies: An empirical comparison of models that directly estimate the prevalence ratio. *BMC Med. Res. Methodol.* **2003**, *3*, 21. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ernstsen, L.; Strand, B.H.; Nilsen, S.M.; Espnes, G.A.; Krokstad, S. Trends in absolute and relative educational inequalities in four modifiable ischaemic heart disease risk factors: Repeated cross-sectional surveys from the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT) 1984-2008. BMC Public Health 2012, 12, 266. [CrossRef]
- 26. Kit, B.K.; Fakhouri, T.H.I.; Park, S.; Nielsen, S.J.; Ogden, C.L. Trends in sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among youth and adults in the United States: 1999–2010. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2013**, *98*, 180–188. [CrossRef]
- 27. Rasmussen, M.; Krølner, R.; Svastisalee, C.M.; Due, P.; Holstein, B.E. Secular trends in fruit intake among Danish schoolchildren, 1988 to 2006: Changing habits or methodological artefacts? *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 2008, *5*, 6. [CrossRef]
- 28. French, S.A.; Lin, B.-H.; Guthrie, J.F. National trends in soft drink consumption among children and adolescents age 6 to 17 years: Prevalence, amounts, and sources, 1977/1978 to 1994/1998. J. Am. Diet Assoc. 2003, 103, 1326–1331. [CrossRef]
- King, A.; Wold, B.; Tudor-Smith, C.; Harel, Y. *The Health of Youth: A Cross-National Survey: A Report of the 1993-94 Survey Results of Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children*; WHO Regional Publications; European Series; World Health Organization: Copenhague, Denmark, 1996. Available online: http://www.hbsc.org/documents/The%20Health%20of%20Youth%20A%20cross-national% 20survey.pdf (accessed on 2 July 2019).
- Currie, C.; Roberts, C.; Morgan, A.; Smith, R.; Settertobulte, W.; Samdal, O.; Rasmussen, V.B. Young People's Health in Context. Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) Study: International Report from the 2001/2002 Survey; Health Policy for Children and Adolescents No. 4; World Health Organization: Copenhaguen, Denmark, 2004. Available online: http://www.euro.who.int/ _____data/assets/pdf_file/0008/110231/e82923.pdf?ua=1 (accessed on 2 July 2019).
- 31. Inchley, J.; Currie, D.; Young, T.; Samdal, O.; Torsheim, T.; Augustson, L.; Mathison, F.; Aleman-Diaz, A.Y.; Molcho, M.; Weber, M.W.; et al. Growing up Unequal: Gender and Socioeconomic Differences in Young People's Health and Well-Being Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) Study International Report from the 2013/2014 Survey; Health Policy for Children and Adolescents; World Health Organization: Copenhagen, Denmark, 2016. Available online: http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/Life-stages/child-and-adolescent-health/health-behaviour-in-school-agedchildren-hbsc/hbsc-international-reports/growing-up-unequal.-hbsc-2016-study-20132014-survey (accessed on 2 July 2019).
- 32. Krølner, R.; Rasmussen, M.; Brug, J.; Klepp, K.-I.; Wind, M.; Due, P. Determinants of fruit and vegetable consumption among children and adolescents: A review of the literature. Part II: Qualitative studies. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 2011, *8*, 112. [CrossRef]
- 33. Ashfield-Watt, P.A.L.; Welch, A.A.; Godward, S.; Bingham, S.A. Effect of a pilot community intervention on fruit and vegetable intakes: Use of FACET (Five-a-day Community Evaluation Tool). *Public Health Nutr.* **2007**, *10*, 671–680. [CrossRef]
- Currie, C.; Hurrelmann, K.; Settertobulte, W.; Smith, R.; Todd, J. *Health and Health Behaviour among Young People*; Health Policy for Children and Adolescents No. 1; World Health Organization: Copenhagen, Denmark, 2000. Available online: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/119571/E67880.pdf (accessed on 2 July 2019).
- Schwingshackl, L.; Schwedhelm, C.; Hoffmann, G.; Lampousi, A.-M.; Knuppel, S.; Iqbal, K.; Bechthold, A.; Schlesinger, S.; Boeing, H. Food groups and risk of all-cause mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 2017, 105, 1462–1473. [CrossRef]
- 36. Imamura, F.; O'Connor, L.; Ye, Z.; Mursu, J.; Hayashino, Y.; Bhupathiraju, S.N.; Forouhi, N.G. Consumption of sugar sweetened beverages, artificially sweetened beverages, and fruit juice and incidence of type 2 diabetes: Systematic review, meta-analysis, and estimation of population attributable fraction. *BMJ* **2015**, *351*, h3576. [CrossRef]
- 37. Bolt-Evensen, K.; Vik, F.N.; Stea, T.H.; Klepp, K.-I.; Bere, E. Consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and artificially sweetened beverages from childhood to adulthood in relation to socioeconomic status—15 years follow-up in Norway. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* **2018**, *15*, 8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Torsheim, T.; Cavallo, F.; Levin, K.A.; Schnohr, C.; Mazur, J.; Niclasen, B.; Currie, C. Psychometric validation of the revised family affluence scale: A latent variable approach. *Child Indic. Res.* 2016, *9*, 771–784. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kirkpatrick, S.I.; Dodd, K.W.; Reedy, J.; Krebs-Smith, S.M. Income and race/ethnicity are associated with adherence to food-based dietary guidance among US adults and children. J. Acad. Nutr. Diet 2012, 112, 624–635.e6. [CrossRef]
- 40. Leider, J.; Powell, L.M. Sugar-sweetened beverage prices: Variations by beverage, food store, and neighborhood characteristics, 2017. *Prev. Med. Rep.* **2019**, *15*, 100883. [CrossRef]

3. Additional analyses on the Brussels-Capital Region

These additional analyses aimed to determine how the dietary disparities related to migration status have evolved between 1986 and 2014 in the Brussels-Capital Region, which includes a high proportion of immigrants from very various backgrounds. The data came from three waves of French-speaking surveys: 1986, 2010 and 2014. The gap in years between the first two selected surveys is due to the fact that migration status was not available between these two surveys, when adolescents were questioned about their nationality rather than their country of birth. The Dutch-speaking surveys were not taken into account here as adolescents from Dutch-speaking schools in the Brussels-Capital Region were not included in the sampling.

In total, 3,458 adolescents were included in analyses, 417 in 1986, 1,096 in 2010 and 1,945 in 2014. The same methodology as the main analyses of this chapter was followed (see **section 2**). Three food groups categorised in daily and non-daily consumption were considered: fruit, vegetables and SSB. The RII and SII were used to quantify the gradient of inequality related to the migration status. In this respect, the migration status was ranked according to prior hypotheses on dietary behaviours, mainly drawn from our previous results (**Chapter III**, **section 2**). Thus, the ranking was as follows: natives, 2nd-generation immigrants, and 1st-generation immigrants. Note that the ranking was disordered for certain food groups and survey years. Nevertheless, with the exception of fruit in 1986 and SSB in 2010, the proportion of 2nd-generation immigrants with unfavourable consumption was close either to that of natives or to that of 1st-generation immigrants, which should not affect the RII and SII interpretation in a consequent way. For further interpretation of these measures of inequalities, the PAF was determined and is presented together with the RII and SII and their evolution over time in **Table M-1**.

Overall, prevalence of non-daily consumption of healthy foods (fruit and vegetables) increased between 1986 and 2010, and then stabilised, regardless the migration status of adolescents attending schools in Brussels-Capital (**Table 10**). The proportion of adolescents of all migration status who daily consumed unhealthy foods (SSB) decreased between 1986 and 2010, then increased in 2014 (without, however, reaching the 1986 proportion again).

No significant relative or absolute disparities related to migration status were observed for fruit. By contrast, disparities were observed for vegetable consumption throughout the survey years. For instance, in 2014, hypothetical worst-placed adolescents (i.e. close to 1st-generation immigrants) were 1.40-fold (95%CI: 1.18-1.65) more likely to consume vegetables on a daily basis than hypothetical best-placed (i.e. close to natives). Finally, while no significant relative or absolute migration-related disparities were observed for SSB in 1986 and 2010, significant disparities appeared in 2014.

No trend was observed for fruit and SSB consumption. However, a trend toward decreasing absolute inequalities was sizeable for vegetable consumption (p = 0.02). The PAF suggests that between 2010 and 2014 the decrease in inequality may be partly due to a change in the structure of the population. However, it confirms that, overall, the observed fall in inequality is a genuine reduction and thus, cannot be completely due to the increasing number of immigrants in Brussels-Capital Region. Further analyses should be carried out on larger samples, in particular to confirm the lack of disparities and trends, as well as the impact of changing population structure, and to investigate migration-related disparities in other food groups.

In summary, while the number of immigrants has increased, and their origins as well as reasons for coming in the Brussels-capital Region have changed, the consumption of fruit has overall evolved in a similar way between natives and immigrants. In addition, no migration-related disparities were observed for this food group. Conversely, different trends according to migration status were noted for vegetables, resulting in changes in disparities. Indeed, a decrease in disparities was observed in vegetable consumption since 1986, whereas the proportion of non-daily vegetable consumption increased. Therefore, actions directed at vegetables must ensure that they improve the overall frequency of vegetable consumption and continue not to increase inequalities. Regarding unhealthy foods, while an overall decrease in non-daily SSB consumers was observed between 1986 and 2014, an increase was observed between 2010 and 2014, and disparities related to migration status appeared in 2014. These findings suggest that public health actions implemented in recent years seem to have been ineffective, probably partly as a result of intensive private marketing of SSB. Finally, the trend of increasing inequalities when dietary habits improved and decreasing inequalities when dietary habits worsened that have been observed in Belgium with regard to family structure and school region, was partially retrieved when addressing the migration status in Brussels.

CHAPTER IV. LONG-TERM TRENDS IN DIETARY DISPARITIES AMONG ADOLESCENTS

Table 10. Prevalence and Relative Index (RII) and Slope Index of Inequalities (SII) related to migration status in fruit, vegetables, and sugar-sweetened beverages consumption among adolescents between 1986 and 2014. HBSC, French-speaking Belgium, 1986-2010-2014.

	1986	2010	2014	P for trend				
Non-daily fruit consumption								
1st-gen. imm. (%)	26.8	48.3	47.9					
2nd-gen. imm. (%)	19.9	49.8	47.7					
Natives (%)	28.8	45.2	50.6					
cRII (95% CI) ¹	0.66 (0.34-1.28)	1.13 (0.90-1.43)	0.93 (0.78-1.11)	0.99				
aRII (95% CI) ²	0.68 (0.35-1.35)	1.15 (0.91-1.45)	0.90 (0.75-1.07)	1				
cSII (95% CI) ¹	-9.46 (-24.23-5.31)	6.15 (-5.35-17.66)	-3.44 (-11.89-5.01)	0.84				
aSII (95% CI) ²	-10.43 (-25.38-4.53)	7.63 (-4.19-19.45)	-4.84 (-13.41-3.74)	0.81				
Non-daily vegetable consumption								
1st-gen. imm. (%)	37.5	56.6	54.9					
2nd-gen. imm. (%)	19.9	55.5	54.9					
Natives (%)	10.3	44.2	40.8					
cRII (95% CI) ¹	6.23 (2.74-14.17)	1.46 (1.17-1.82)	1.43 (1.21-1.69)	0.02				
aRII (95% CI) ²	6.46 (2.81-14.87)	1.46 (1.17-1.82)	1.40 (1.18-1.65)	0.02				
cSII (95% CI) ¹	29.91 (16.41-43.42)	20.33 (8.54-32.11)	19.83 (10.47-29.19)	0.14				
aSII (95% CI) ²	29.74 (15.92-43.56)	20.80 (8.65-32.95)	19.03 (9.54-28.51)	0.15				
Daily sugar-sweetened beverage consumption								
1st-gen. imm. (%)	60.7	24.4	40.4					
2nd-gen. imm. (%)	57.8	32.6	41.8					
Natives (%)	59.5	26.4	32.1					
cRII (95% CI) ¹	0.99 (0.73-1.34)	1.08 (0.76-1.52)	1.32 (1.06-1.63)	0.12				
aRII (95% CI) ²	0.92 (0.68-1.25)	1.07 (0.76-1.49)	1.25 (1.01-1.54)	0.10				
cSII (95% CI) ¹	-0.63 (-18.42-17.15)	2.45 (-8.81-13.72)	11.70 (2.62-20.77)	0.15				
aSII (95% CI) ²	-5.49 (-23.84-12.86)	2.97 (-8.79-14.72)	10.92 (1.62-20.21)	0.12				

¹Crude Relative Index of Inequality and Slope Index of Inequality and their 95% confidence interval

² Adjusted Relative Index of Inequality and Slope Index of Inequality for sex, age and family structure, and their 95% confidence interval

4. Conclusion

The aim of this chapter was to assess long-term trends in dietary habits and in dietary disparities related to the family structure and school region in Belgium, and to the migration status in the Brussels-Capital Region. This research is one of the first to investigate, in adolescents, trends over many years regarding different social disparities in some iconic food groups and using appropriate methods for comparison of disparities over time. Our findings might help identify ways to improve current public health actions on both overall food consumption and related disparities.

First of all, a worsening of fruit and vegetable consumption was highlighted in the 1990s, followed by an improvement since the 2000s in Belgium. By contrast, the proportion of daily SSB consumers decreased sharply in the 1990s and then slightly in the 2000s. Note that in Brussels-Capital, the proportion of daily SSB consumers increased in the 2010s after a decrease between 1990 and 2010. Our results are in line with the literature,^{116,176,186–191} which mainly comprises international descriptive reports^{176,186,188} and studies conducted in the U.S.^{189,190} However, these studies were conducted over shorter periods of time, focusing either before the years 2000s or since then. As a result, the overall picture of the trend in healthy food consumption, which may be divided into worsening followed by improvement, could not be highlighted throughout standardized information. The recent improvements that were highlighted in dietary habits may be the result of the awareness of the general population on the disadvantages of unhealthy foods, such as SSB, and on the benefits of healthy foods like fruit and vegetable. This awareness can partly arise from the various public health actions implemented, including the fruit and vegetable "five-a-day" campaign for instance.¹⁹²

Disparities related to family structure and school region were highlighted for each food groups and almost each survey years. By contrast, few disparities related to migration status were found in the Brussels-Capital Region: they were observed for vegetable consumption and more recently, for SSB. Regarding the family structure, a trend towards increasing disparities was observed in fruit consumption, while a downward trend in disparities was revealed in SSB consumption. This may be explained by a slower adoption of the new dietary recommendation, including limiting SSB, by single-parent families due to their fewer financial resources, as income is associated with adherence to dietary recommendations.¹⁹³ In addition, given their increasing financial resources over years, blended families may have a better financial access to healthy foods,⁶³ such as fruit and vegetables. Furthermore, while decreasing region-related

CHAPTER IV. LONG-TERM TRENDS IN DIETARY DISPARITIES AMONG ADOLESCENTS

disparities were highlighted for vegetable consumption, an upward trend in disparities was observed for both fruit and SSB consumption. The most likely reasons for this would be that federal actions have culturally different impacts on the population¹⁹⁴ and actions implemented at a regional level would be more or less active and effective. Finally, a downward trend in disparities related to the migration status in Brussels-Capital was observed in vegetable consumption. The increase in immigrants may have led to an increase in the cultural diversification of the food supply, particularly regarding vegetables, which would therefore be more suitable for these populations and would induce their greater consumption. This will deserve complementary investigation through other methods.

Very few studies have investigated trends in dietary disparities among adolescents, and none over the long term or with appropriate measures to compare populations at different points in time.¹¹⁶ Among the few on trends, none have examined these indicators (family structure, school region and migration status), preventing a specific comparison. In Nordic countries, increasing and decreasing inequalities related to FAS were both observed for fruit and vegetable consumption among adolescents, depending on the country, while overall decreasing inequalities were highlighted in soft drink consumption.¹¹⁶ In the U.S., ethnicity-related disparities in typical fruit drink intake tend to decrease over time among adolescents.¹⁹⁵ Thus, unlike the evolution of food consumption which seems to be similar across the world, the change of inequalities related to social position seems to be both indicator- and context-specific. This suggests that public health actions must take into account the specifics of the social position in the context along with the context itself.

To conclude, overall, increasing disparities were emphasised when dietary habits improved, whereas decreasing disparities were observed when dietary habits worsened (**Table 11**). While it was suspected and hypothesised, this is the first time that such a figure has been demonstrated for several social position indicators and food groups, and also over a long period of time. In fact, our results underline that public health actions in Belgium have failed to improve dietary habits and tackle social inequalities at the same time. This also suggests that strategies to improve food consumption and reduce inequalities are different even if they can be combined in one action. Interestingly, some countries, such as Norway and Finland, managed to achieve this double objective of improving dietary behaviour of adolescents while addressing inequalities over the years.^{116,195} To do so, public health actions must incorporate the concept of proportionate universalism, i.e. improving dietary habits proportionally to the degree of needs, which will be addressed in the discussion section (see **Chapter VI, section 4**).

 Table 11. Summary of trends in dietary habits and related inequalities.

	Changes	in Belgium between 1990	Changes in Brussels-Capital between 1986 and 2014		
	% Non-daily consumers	RII-Family Structure	RII-School Region	% Non-daily consumers	RII-Migration Status
Fruit	Increase	Reduction	Increase	Increase	Reduction
Vegetables	Increase	Reduction	Reduction	Increase	Reduction
	% Daily consumers	RII-Family Structure	RII-School Region	% Daily consumers	RII-Migration Status
Sugar-sweetened beverages	Decrease	Increase	Increase	Decrease	Increase

CHAPTER V. DIETARY DISPARITIES AMONG ADOLESCENTS: RESPECTIVE EFFECTS OF INDIVDUAL AND SCHOOL CHARACTERISTICS

**

1. Introduction

So far, the literature as well as this doctoral thesis have mainly focused on the individual determinants of adolescents' dietary habits, especially those related to the socioeconomic and sociocultural positions. However, dietary habits of adolescents could also be influenced by more contextual determinants, especially the environment of their school (e.g. socioeconomic, nutrition-related components...). These contextual characteristics should be viewed independently of individual characteristics when investigating social disparities in dietary habits. Although these indicators may be interrelated, they are complementary and thus not interchangeable (see **Chapter I**, **section 1.2.3.1**). Therefore, distinguishing and understanding individual and contextual socioeconomic respective influences on dietary habits is useful to develop effective public health actions.

The school socioeconomic environment of adolescents in relation to their dietary habits has been addressed in a few studies.^{65,111,196} Findings highlighted that adolescents in lower socioeconomic environment tended to have less favourable dietary behaviours.^{65,111,196} Athough rarely studied together, individual and contextual socioeconomic status are likely to be independently related to adolescents' dietary habits.^{65,111} As a result, the underlying mechanisms of disparities differ;^{58,64} however, those of contextual socioeconomic disparities remain unclear due to the lack of process studies. For instance, dietary habits of adolescents may positively be influenced by their peers, through a greater exposure to healthier habits from more affluent peers when the individual socioeconomic status within the school are diverse.

Along with the contextual socioeconomic status, the nutrition-related environment could play an important role in dietary habits of adolescents. This issue has mainly been addressed in intervention studies.¹⁹⁷ In this respect, more favourable behaviours have been reported among adolescents in schools with a favourable food offer, such as free provision of fruit,¹⁹⁷ or in which food-related actions like educational program on beverages^{198,199} have been implemented. Although the literature on this subject is quite extensive,^{197,200} particularly in the U.S.,¹⁹⁷ the results need to be confirmed in "real life" settings and in diverse samples in Europe, including by considering the whole environment rather than a specific component of it only. Indeed, very often, such interventions have been evaluated after a short-term endpoint and were not easily integrated in the schools' routine.

Under these considerations, the main aim of this chapter was to estimate individual and contextual socioeconomic disparities in dietary habits of adolescents in French-speaking schools, while taking into account school nutrition-related characteristics. This objective has been addressed in the submitted paper presented in section 2. The supplemental materials of this paper are presented in appendices N-Q: (i) inclusion diagram of schools and adolescents (Appendix N); (ii) factor map of the Multiple Correspondence Analysis (Appendix O); (iii) food consumption and characteristics of participants (Appendix P); (iv) multilevel logistic regressions for dairy products consumption (Appendix Q).

In the same way as for the socioeconomic level,^{65,111} it is expected that the sociocultural position of the adolescent and its sociocultural environment may be independently involved in dietary habits. However, to the best of our knowledge, this issue has never been addressed in adolescents' dietary habits. As part of this work, we therefore assumed that individual migration status and its counterpart at the contextual level, namely the proportion of immigrants in schools, would be independently related to adolescent dietary habits. Nonetheless, in Belgium, the proportion of immigrants in schools is strongly associated with the school socioeconomic status, with very high proportions of immigrants in schools with lower socioeconomic levels. In order to be as complete as possible, the two components were kept and combined (see **Chapter II**, **section 2.2.3**). Indeed, studying dietary habits by taking into account both socioeconomic status and migration status, and both at individual and contextual levels, could provide interesting insights for understanding the disparities related to each of these determinants.

In that regard, additional analyses have been carried out on the Brussels-Capital Region, which includes a high proportion of immigrants from very various backgrounds. The objective of these complementary analyses was to **estimate the dietary disparities related to individual and contextual socioeconomic and sociocultural status, among adolescents in the Brussels-Capital Region**. The findings regarding fruit, and crisps and fries consumption are presented in the text below (**section 3**), while results relating to the other food groups are displayed in **Appendix R**. None of these latter results have been published elsewhere.
2. Draft paper: "Dietary disparities among adolescents according to individual and school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis"

Dietary disparities among adolescents according to individual and
 school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis

Manon Rouche^{1,*}, Thérésa Lebacq^{1,2}, Camille Pedroni¹, Emma Holmberg^{1,2}, Amélie Bellanger^{1,2}, Lucille
 Desbouys¹, Katia Castetbon^{1,2}

¹ Research Centre in "Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Clinical Research", School of Public Health,
Université libre de Bruxelles (ULB), 1070 Brussels, Belgium

² Service d'Information Promotion Education Santé (SIPES), School of Public Health, Université libre
 de Bruxelles (ULB), 1070 Brussels, Belgium

- 9 * Corresponding author:
- 10 Email address: manon.rouche@ulb.be
- 11 Telephone number: +32 2 555 40 59
- 12 Postal address: Route de Lennik 808, 1070 Brussels, Belgium
- 13
- 14 Shortened version of the title: Multilevel dietary disparities in adolescents

15 Disclosure statements

16 Acknowledgements

The authors thank the students and the schools for their participation in the French-speaking HBSC survey. They are grateful to the HBSC International Coordination Center (University of St Andrews, United Kingdom) and the HBSC data Management Center (University of Bergen, Norway) for their scientific support, as well as Maud Dujeu, Estelle Méroc, Véronique Desnouck, Morgane Eggen, Omer Cimpaye and Nathalie Moreau (SIPES, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium) for their collaboration in data collection, cleaning and management.

23 Financial support

This work was funded by the Birth and Children Office (ONE), the Walloon Region, and the French Community Commission. The French Community of Belgium, as part of the "Actions de Recherche Concertée" funding program provided financial support. Researchers performed the study (study design, data collection, analyses, interpretation and writing) independently of the funding bodies.

28 **Conflict of Interest**

29 None.

30 Authorship

31 Conceptualization, MR and KC; methodology, MR and KC; formal analysis, MR; investigation, MR;

32 resources, KC; data curation, KC; writing-original draft preparation, MR and KC; writing-review

- 33 and editing, TL, CP, EH, AB and LD; visualization, MR; supervision, KC; project administration, KC;
- 34 funding acquisition, KC.

35 Ethical Standards Disclosure

- 36 This study was conducted according to the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki and all
- 37 procedures involving research study participants were approved by the the Ethical Committee of the
- 38 Faculty of Psychology at the *Université libre de Bruxelles* in Belgium (opinion n°032/2017). The invited
- 39 adolescents and their parents received an information letter prior the survey. Both were free to refuse
- 40 participation, by letter for the parents and on the day of the survey for the adolescents.

41 Abstract

42 **Objective**

Along with individual socioeconomic characteristics, school socioeconomic context may influence dietary habits in adolescents. Based on a multilevel approach, this study aimed to estimate disparities in dietary habits according to the individual and contextual socioeconomic status, while taking into account school nutrition-related characteristics.

48 **Design and setting**

Data were collected from secondary schools in French-speaking Belgium that were
part of the 2017/2018 cross-sectional "Health Behaviour in School-aged Children"
(HBSC) survey.

52 Participants

53 The final sample include 6,017 adolescents from 120 secondary schools in French-54 speaking Belgium.

55 Results

Over two-thirds of the observed variance was explained by individual and school 56 57 characteristics, with SES and SEI being the main contributors. For example, 76.9% of the initial variance observed for daily sugar-sweetened beverage (SSB) intake was 58 59 explained by individual and school characteristics. Indeed, adolescents of a secondary 60 or lower parental education level were more likely to consume SSB daily than those of a post-secondary level (aOR= 1.46 (1.29-1.66)). Compared to those in a high SEI 61 62 school, the odds to consume SSB daily was higher for adolescents attending a low SEI school (aOR= 2.37 (1.90-2.96)). 63

64 Conclusions

Individual and school socioeconomic background are independently related to the dietary habits of adolescents. Since the association with nutrition-related projects and health promotion is not conclusive, schools should pursue a consistent nutrition policy, with an increased support in low socioeconomic populations.

69 Keywords

70 Dietary habits; socioeconomic disparities; contextual disparities; multilevel analyses;

71 adolescents

Introduction 72

73 Growing evidence is available on disparities in adolescent dietary habits related to individual 74 socioeconomic status (SES)⁽¹⁻³⁾. Among others, these disparities may be driven by health literacy⁽⁴⁾ and 75 food affordability⁽⁵⁾. Furthermore, adolescent dietary habits may be influenced by the contextual SES, 76 such as the SES of their school, where they spend a large time of their day and they connect with their 77 peers. Indeed, among adolescents, unhealthier dietary habits tend to be more frequent in lower SES 78 schools⁽⁶⁻⁸⁾. Since the literature on this topic is limited, the underlying determinants are still not well 79 established. Adolescent dietary habits may be influenced by peers⁽⁹⁾ through, for instance, a greater 80 exposure to healthier habits from more affluent peers when the individual SES within the school are diverse. In addition, based on the literature on contextual SES, such as the area⁽¹⁰⁾, the nutrition-related 81 82 environment within and around schools may be unhealthier in the lowest SES schools.

83 Furthermore, many strategies have been implemented in schools worldwide to improve adolescent 84 dietary habits, however, findings from interventional studies are mixed^(11,12). For example, direct provision of fruit and/or vegetables, either free of charge, at a reduced or full price, tends to increase 85 86 their daily consumption⁽¹¹⁾. Conversely, contradictory results have been noted concerning the raise in 87 access to water⁽¹¹⁾. Studies suggest that water intake would improve only when the provision of water is combined with promotion of water consumption^(13,14). Reducing availability and sales of sugar-88 89 sweetened beverages may reduce habitual intake but not in-school intake⁽¹¹⁾. Furthermore, restricting 90 unhealthy snacks may decrease their consumption⁽¹¹⁾.

- 91 Some school-based interventions aimed at improving beverage consumption have implemented a 92 curriculum, including an educational program^(15,16). For instance, reducing intakes of sugar-sweetened 93 beverages can be reached by emphasising the quantity of added sugar in such beverages⁽¹⁶⁾ or by 94 promoting water consumption⁽¹⁵⁾. Although interventional study design allows causality to be 95 established, there is a need to assess such associations in real-life settings and in large and diverse 96 samples. In addition, most studies took into account specific rather than overall school food availability 97 or health promotion. However, the availability of one given food could influence the consumption of 98 another⁽¹⁷⁾. Similarly, the consumption of one specific food, for instance sugar-sweetened beverages, 99 may be improved through health-promotion actions targeting another one, for instance water⁽¹⁵⁾.
- 100 The literature on the school environment is quite extensive^(11,12). However, previous studies have mainly 101 been conducted in the U.S.(11), where food and structural context differs greatly from European 102 countries. In addition, individual and contextual disparities have been rarely addressed simultaneously 103 when describing adolescent dietary habits and have been often limited to a few indicators⁽⁶⁾. To date, 104 only a few studies have considered both individual and contextual SES in adolescent dietary 105 disparities^(6,8). There is some evidence that contextual SES may influence dietary habits independently 106 of individual SES^(8,18) and, as a matter of fact, the underlying determinants of the two levels of disparities 107 may differ^(4,9). Therefore, distinguishing individual and contextual influences on adolescent dietary 108 habits remains useful, especially to implement effective nutrition-related interventions.

109 The aim of this study was to estimate the individual and contextual socioeconomic disparities in dietary 110 habits of adolescents in secondary schools in Belgium. Based on multilevel analyses, we assessed the 111

- extent to which these disparities together with the main nutrition-related school characteristics could
- 112 explain the school effect observed.

113 Methods

The "Health Behaviour in School-aged Children" (HBSC) is a cross-national school-based survey focusing on adolescent health behaviours, health status and well-being. It is conducted every four years in Europe and North America (about 50 countries in 2018) under the aegis of the World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe⁽¹⁹⁾. This research is based on the 2017/2018 HBSC survey conducted in the French-speaking schools of Belgium. The study protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Faculty of Psychology at the *Université libre de Bruxelles* in Belgium (opinion n°032/2017).

121 Sampling

122 The sampling was based on a two-stage plan. Schools were drawn from a random sample, stratified 123 proportionally to the distribution of the school population by province (n= 6) and education system $(n=3)^{(20)}$. In each stratum, the number of schools selected was proportional to the distribution of the 124 125 school population in these strata. Within the selected schools, one class from each level, from the 5th grade of primary school (corresponding to adolescents aged ± 10 years) to the final grade of secondary 126 127 school (corresponding to adolescents aged \pm 18 years), was randomly selected. All adolescents of the 128 selected classes were invited to take part in the survey. The invited adolescents and their parents 129 received an information letter prior the survey. Both were free to refuse participation, by letter for the 130 parents and on the day of the survey for the adolescents. The pupils who agreed to participate were 131 invited to complete the HBSC questionnaire in the classroom⁽²⁰⁾. In addition, a school member of the 132 participating schools was invited to fill out a school-level questionnaire on school characteristics, 133 including nutrition-related questions.

Due to the disparity in the nutrition-related environement and projects in primary schools (data not shown), this study included adolescents in secondary schools only. Among the 401 secondary schools invited to take part to the survey, 134 schools actually participated, leading to the inclusion of 10.289 adolescents. The final sample included all participants, whose schools fully answered the school-level questionnaire (n= 120 schools and 9,098 adolescents), who filled out a short Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) (n= 6,797) and responded to all covariates. Thus, a total of 6,017 adolescents from 120 secondary schools were included in the analyses (**Supplementary Figure 1**).

141 Measures

142 Food groups

- Food data were collected using a validated short FFQ^(21,22), including 20 food groups and 7-answer categories: "more than once a day"; "once a day"; "5–6 days a week"; "2–4 days a week"; "once a week"; "less than once a week"; and "never". Fruit, vegetables, dairy products and water were selected as food groups for which consumption was to be favoured whereas crisps and fries, and sugar-sweetened beverages (SSB) were selected as those to be limited. In order to focus on unhealthy consumption, dietary outputs were "non-daily consumption" for the former four and "daily consumption" for the latter two.
- For composite variables such as dairy products (composed of "skimmed or semi-skimmed milk", "whole milk"; "cheese" and "yoghurt, white cheese" separately in the questionnaire), crisps and fries ("crisps" and "fries") and sugar-sweetened beverages ("coke and other sugary drinks" and "light/zero

- 153 coke and other light drinks"), initial frequency consumption for each indicator was transformed into
- 154 monthly consumption by multiplying the initial consumption by the mean number of weeks per month
- 155 (i.e., 4.35). Then, frequency consumption per month of the group items were added up to obtain the
- 156 frequency consumption of the composite variable. A "daily consumption" therefore corresponded to a
- 157 consumption of at least 26.5 days.

158 Individual characteristics

Adolescents' socioeconomic and demographic characteristics included in analyses were as follows:
gender; age; family structure; siblings; Family Affluence Scale (FAS); perceived financial wealth;
parental working status; and parental education level.

- The FAS is a validated "brief assets-based measure of family wealth" composed of six items⁽²³⁾. The corresponding score ranged from 0 to 13 and was divided into three categories based on quintiles. The first quintile corresponded to adolescents with a "low" FAS, the second to the fourth quintiles to
- adolescents with a "medium" FAS and the fifth quintile to those with a "high" FAS.
- 166 Parental education level was based on the highest level of education of the household in which the
- adolescent was living and was categorised into two groups: "secondary or lower" and "post-secondary
- school". For adolescents living in single-parent and blended families, if the level of education of the
- 169 parent with whom the adolescent was living was not available, the level of education of the parent with
- whom the adolescent was not living was considered (n= 444). A significant amount of missing data
- 171 remained and was, therefore, kept in a third category named "undetermined" (n= 506).

172 School characteristics

- 173 School-level data included in analyses were the following: health promotion addressed in school
- 174 missions; purpose of food projects (3 items) and food sold in the school (10 items). In addition, school
- 175 region and school socioeconomic index (SEI) were taken into consideration.
- The school SEI is used to determine the allocation and use of school resources⁽²⁴⁾. It is based on individual characteristics of each school population: per capita income, parental education level, unemployment rates, labour force activity and social assistance allowance rates, and occupational activities⁽²⁴⁾. Schools were divided into 20 classes, with each class comprising 5% of the total secondary school population. Based on the quartiles, three categories were defined⁽²⁴⁾ and were used in our analyses. The first quartile corresponded to low SEI, the second quartile to medium SEI, and the last
- 182 two quartiles to high SEI.

183 Statistical analyses

In order to consider together, rather than separately, all the listed foods sold in the school, a Multiple Correspondence Analysis (MCA) was conducted (**Supplementary Figure 2**). The first three dimensions, accounting for 68.3% of the variance, were retained to perform a Hierarchical Clustering on Principal Components (HCPC) with Ward's methods and Euclidean distance⁽²⁵⁾. This HCPC identified three clusters of schools: (1) schools with "few foods" available for sale; (2) schools with "mainly unhealthy foods" for sale; and (3) schools with "many foods" were available.

190 The database had a two-level hierarchical structure (adolescents nested in schools). As a result, 191 multilevel logistic regressions with random intercepts were performed for each food group

192 consumption. The first model incorporated only school-specific random effects without adolescent or 193 school characteristics (model 1). The second model included all the individual characteristics in addition to the school-specific random effects (model 2). The third model included both individual 194 characteristics and school characteristics in addition to the school-specific random effect (model 3). In 195 the models 2 and 3, the slope of each individual characteristic was deemed to vary randomly across 196 197 groups (i.e. schools). A likelihood-ratio test was performed to compare the random-slope model and 198 the fixed-slope model⁽²⁶⁾. The random-slope model was retained when the *P*-value was significant, 199 indicating that this model fits better than the fixed one. Odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals (95% 200 CI) are presented as measures of association along with the Proportion of Opposed Odds Ratio (POOR) as measures of the effects of cluster-variables⁽²⁷⁾. Noteworthy, the POOR is used as a complement to OR 201 202 of contextual variables and helps to address the problematic interpretation of these OR. It can take values ranging from 0% (homogenous association) to 50% (heterogeneous association)⁽²⁷⁾. Proportional 203 204 Change of Variance (PCV), Variance Partition Coefficient (VPC) and Median Odds Ratio (MOR) are 205 displayed as measures of components of variance and of heterogeneity respectively⁽²⁷⁾. Since the 206 individual-level variance is fixed when using latent variable formulation in binary logistic regression, 207 a scale correction factor was applied to the variance of models 2 and 3, resulting in a corrected VPC⁽²⁷⁾. Statistical significance of tests was set at 0.05. Analyses on MCA and HCPC were performed using R® 208

and multilevel regression modelling was performed using Stata/IC 14® (StataCorp, College Station, TX,

210 USA).

211 **Results**

212 Characteristics of adolescents and their schools are displayed in **Supplementary Table 1**. Around half

of the adolescents did not eat fruit or vegetables daily, and one adolescent out of eight did not drink

water daily (**Fig. 1**). One-third of adolescents consumed SSB daily and one out of seven ate crisps and

215 fries daily.

216 All results on associations between variables at the individual or contextual level and the food groups

217 presented here relate to Models 3. Since we focused on adolescent SES and school SEI, results on

218 sociodemographic associations are summarised at the end of the section. The analyses performed for

219 dairy products revealed an association with gender and age only (**Supplementary Table 2**).

220 Fruit consumption (Reference Category: daily)

The likelihood of not consuming fruit daily was reduced as FAS category, perceived financial wealth 221 222 and parental education level increased (Table 1). In addition, adolescents with no working parent were 223 less likely to report non-daily consumption than adolescents with both parents working. Besides, the 224 overall odds ratio for the school SEI denoted higher non-daily consumption of fruit in adolescents 225 attending a low or medium SEI school. The POORs indicated that in around 10% of pair-wise 226 comparisons, the odds would be higher for adolescents attending a high SEI school, meaning that the 227 associations related to the SEI were homogenous across schools (Table 1). In addition, adolescents in 228 Walloon schools are homogeneously (POOR= 3.7%) more likely to not consume fruit daily than those 229 in Brussels-Capital.

- 230 Three-quarter (75.7%) of the total between-school variance, which decreased from 0.07 (model 1) to 0.02
- (model 3), was explained by individual- and school-level factors considered here (**Table 1**). The school
- 232 effect became non-significant in model 3.

233 Vegetable consumption (Reference Category: daily)

The likelihood of eating vegetables non-daily increased as the level of FAS and the parental education level decreased (**Table 2**). Furthermore, the odds of not consuming vegetables daily increased as school SEI decreased. The POORs of SEI supported a homogenous association. In contrast, perceived financial wealth and parental working status were not associated with vegetable consumption (**Table 2**). Individual- and school-level factors explained 73.9% of the total between-school variance, which

239 decreased from 0.18 (model 1) to 0.05 (model 3) (**Table 2**).

240 Water consumption (Reference Category: daily)

241 Adolescents attending a school selling mainly unhealthy foods were more likely to not drink water

daily than those attending a school where few foods were available for sale (**Table 3**). In addition,

adolescents from a school that did not aim to include fruit or vegetables at school events were more

244 likely to drink water non-daily than those attending a school that did. The odds of non-daily water

consumption were lower for adolescents attending school in Brussels compared to those attending

school in Wallonia. The POORs of each of these variables supported homogeneous associations.

247 Disparities related to the school SEI were homogeneously unfavourable to adolescents from a low and

248 medium SEI school (**Table 3**). In addition, the odds of non-daily water consumption decreased with

249 FAS and parental education level. Perceived financial wealth and parental working status were not

associated with water consumption. The between-school variance, which was equal to 0.17 in model 1,

was entirely explained by the individual- and school-level factors studied in our analyses (model 3,

252 **Table 3**).

253 Crisps and fries consumption (Reference Category: non-daily)

Adolescents who reported perceived financial wealth as "quite well off", "average" or "not so/at all well off" were less likely to consume crisps and fries daily than those who reported "very well off" (**Table 4**). Compared with adolescents with both parents working, those with one or none of their parents working were more prone to consume crisps and fries daily. The odds of consuming crisps and fries daily was reduced as parental education level increased. FAS was not associated with crisps and fries consumption. In addition, the likelihood of eating crisps and fries daily increased as school SEI decreased. The POORs indicated homogenous associations (**Table 4**).

Individual- and school-level factors explained 71.6% of the total between-school variance which decreased from 0.39 (model 1) to 0.11 (model 3) (**Table 4**). The VPC in model 1 indicated that 10.8% of the individual variation in the underlying propensity to eat crisps and fries daily is due to systematic differences between schools, i.e. unmeasured differences, while the remaining 89.2% is due to systematic differences between individuals.

266 Sugar-sweetened beverage consumption (Reference Category: non-daily)

Adolescents attending a school that did not address promotion or did not aim to include fruit or vegetables at school events were more likely to drink daily SSB than those in a school that did (**Table 5**).

- 269 However, the respective POORs indicate a heterogeneous association. Indeed, in around 30% of the
- 270 cases, an adolescent attending a school that did not address promotion or did not aim to include fruit
- or vegetables at school events will be less likely to drink daily SSB than those in a school that did. In
- 272 addition, disparities related to the school region were homogeneously unfavourable to adolescents
- 273 attending a school in Wallonia compared with Brussels-Capital.
- 274 The odds of drinking SSB daily was reduced as the school SEI increased (**Table 5**). The POORs indicated
- 275 homogenous association. In addition, the likelihood to consume SSB daily was reduced as FAS category
- 276 and parental education level increased. In contrast, compared with adolescents who reported perceived
- 277 financial wealth as "very well off", those who reported "quite well off", "average" or "not so/at all well
- 278 off" were less likely to drink SSB daily. Parental working status was not associated with SSB
- 279 consumption (**Table 5**).
- 280 Three-quarters (76.9%) of the total between-school variance, which decreased from 0.34 (model 1) to
- 281 0.08 (model 3), was explained by individual- and school-level factors. The VPC in model 1 indicated
- that 9.4% of the individual variation in the underlying propensity to drink SSB daily was due to
- 283 systematic differences between schools (**Table 5**).

284 Association between sociodemographic variables and food groups

Overall, boys were more likely to have unhealthy dietary behaviour than girls (**Tables 1-5**). Older adolescents (15-16y, 17-20y) were more likely to have non-daily fruit consumption whereas younger (<14y) adolescents were more likely to consume crisps and fries, and SSB daily. Compared with adolescents living with both parents, those living in a blended family were more likely to report an unhealthy consumption of fruit and SSB, while those living in a single-parent family were more likely to report non-daily water consumption. The presence of siblings was not associated with any of these five food groups (**Tables 1-5**).

292 Discussion

Our study aimed to determine the variation in dietary habits of adolescents in Belgium that may be 293 294 driven by individual and contextual socioeconomic characteristics. A significant school effect was 295 highlighted for all food groups explored, except dairy products; however, it became non significant for 296 fruit and water consumption. Three-quarters of the observed variance for all food groups was 297 explained by variables at the individual and school level. Adolescents' SES, school SEI, and to a lesser 298 extent, school region explained the main variability. Overall, adolescents with a lower SES, based on 299 FAS, perceived family wealth, parental education level or parental working status, were more likely to have unhealthy dietary behaviours. Similarly, adolescents attending a school with a low SEI were more 300 301 prone to have unhealthy dietary behaviours. The other contextual variables were rarely associated with 302 food groups except for beverages; water and SSB (health promotion, project to include fruits and 303 vegetables and foods available for sale). Moreover, the inclusion of contextual variables in the 304 multilevel analysis model did not fundamentally change the association between individual variables 305 and food groups, indicating independent effects.

- 306 Individual socioeconomic disparities were measured using four indicators which are interrelated but 307 independently involved in dietary habits. Parental working status was used here as an indication of
- 308 income, since two working parents are more likely to have a higher income than no working parents.

309 The FAS is a complementary indicator of socioeconomic status⁽²⁸⁾ that overcomes the difficulties of

- 310 measuring adolescents' socioeconomic status with conventional measures⁽²⁹⁾. In contrast to these two
- 311 indicators and the parental education level, the perceived family wealth is a subjective indicator. This
- 312 subjective indicator may be a more accurate measure of the socioeconomic position⁽³⁰⁾ and may also 313 reflect the relative position in the socioeconomic structure of the population. From a health perspective,
- 314 a relative position may indeed play a more important role in SES disparities than absolute position ⁽³¹⁾.
- 315 Furthermore, objective and subjective measures may be independently associated to health
- 316 outcomes⁽³²⁾. Although subjective measures are less discussed in dietary studies, relative position may
- 317 also be associated with diet $^{(33)}$.
- Our findings regarding FAS and parental educational disparities are in line with the literature^(2,19,34). 318 319 Higher educated and SES families tend to have a better grasp of the health promotion messages^(4,35) and a prone interest towards healthy foods⁽³⁶⁾. The "undetermined" category for the parental education level 320 321 was too heterogeneous and lead to mixed results, nevertheless, it helped reduce the number of lost 322 observations. Moreover, adolescents whose parents did not work were more likely to eat fruit but also 323 crisps and fries daily. Considering that healthier patterns tend to be more expensive^(5,36), it was expected 324 that parental working status would systematically be negatively associated with unhealthy dietary behaviours. Thus, our results suggest that the working indicator used here also measures concepts 325 326 complementary to income. Noteworthy, literature on parental income and dietary habits are 327 inconsistent^(2,37). Similarly, our results regarding the perceived family wealth were not consistent. 328 Furthermore, for unhealthy foods, perceived family wealth disparities contrasted with disparities 329 related to the other socioeconomic indicators, especially for SSB and crisps/fries. Given that perceived 330 family wealth partly reflects ability to purchase resources⁽³⁸⁾, we assume that adolescents cannot financially purchase accessory foods like SSB or crisps. However, literature regarding perceived family 331 332 wealth is scarce, thus limiting interpretation.
- In line with other studies⁽⁶⁻⁸⁾, school SEI was associated with adolescent food consumption. 333 334 Nonetheless, to date, more specific studies are needed to understand the mechanisms behind these 335 disparities. Given that school SEI was based on individual characteristics of the school population, 336 adolescents in a low SEI school are more likely to be socioeconomically disadvantaged, and therefore, 337 to have less favourable dietary habits⁽²⁾. This is further supported by the changes, albeit small (<10%), in the association between socioeconomic variables and food groups caused by the school SEI variable 338 introduction in the models. However, it is worth noting that school SEI was associated with dietary 339 340 behaviours independently of adolescent SES, in accordance with the literature⁽⁸⁾, suggesting that 341 independent mechanisms may be involved. In addition, a school classified as having a low SEI is likely 342 to be located in a disadvantaged neighbourhood. No study on the food environment of neighbourhoods 343 is available in Belgium, but it is expected to be different between disadvantaged and advantaged 344 neighbourhoods⁽³⁹⁾, whether in availability or in accessibility. In contrast to other countries^(40–42), disadvantaged schools in Belgium only receive support for teaching and not for nutrition-related 345 programs. Implementing such programs, especially in disadvantaged schools, could have positive 346 effects on dietary habits of adolescents(43,44). 347
- 348 Healthier beverage consumption was observed among adolescents in schools including fruit and 349 vegetables at school events, addressing health promotion in school missions, and selling limited foods.
- 350 Of the schools that sold limited foods, none sold bottled water (data not shown), and therefore were
- 351 supposed to make water available free of charge. In interventional settings, combining water provision

- and the promotion of its consumption may result in healthier water consumption^(13,14). It is worth noting
- that in our setting, almost half of the schools that did not sell bottled water addressed health promotion
- in their missions. However, the exact purpose of health promotion was not identified in our setting,
- 355 preventing interpretation and comparison of results in this regard. Besides, a reverse causality cannot
- be ruled out with regard to the cross-sectional study design, with promotion and food projects
- 357 implemented in schools where adolescents had already healthier dietary habits.

358 Moreover, a lack of association was observed between promotion and projects, and fruit, vegetables and crisps and fries consumption. This may be due to promotion and projects being recent, although it 359 cannot be verified with our questionnaire. Furthermore, the discrepancy between food availability and 360 projects and promotion may reduce the effectiveness of the latter. Indeed, of the schools addressing 361 362 promotion or having a food project, three-quarters sold unhealthy foods, a quarter of which sold mainly unhealthy foods (data not shown). Beyond these assumptions, our results emphasise that addressing 363 364 health promotion in schools to improve dietary habits is not conclusive especially when they are not 365 consistent with the food availability.

In line with the literature^(6,11), there was also a lack of association, for the groups mentioned above, between available types of food and consumption. Preliminary results with food items considered separately or as a score led to the same conclusion. However, the number of sale points is not known, while the number of vending machines may influence consumption^(17,45). Furthermore, we assumed that, given the increasing independence of adolescents in secondary school, the food environment

371 surrounding the school⁽⁴⁶⁾ may also partly explain the lack of association.

Regional disparities revealed by our study may be due to population cultural differences, leading to variation in dietary habits^(47,48). Indeed, 73.6% of adolescents attending schools in Brussels were immigrants compared to 31.8% of adolescents attending Walloon schools (data not shown). Cultural differences could also have an impact on the food environment of the two Belgian regions but has yet to be confirmed. Regional school authorities are free to use the allocated resources, resulting in different

- 377 school contexts such as health-promotion projects.
- 378 A major strength of this study was the province-based random sample along with the diversity of 379 individual and contextual indicators available. The SES of adolescents was assessed using different but 380 complementary^(4,28) objective indicators adapted to adolescents, together with a subjective indicator that should be included more systematically in future studies⁽³⁰⁾. In addition, the socioeconomic external 381 382 environment of adolescents was evaluated through the standardized school SEI. Although the cross-383 sectional design of our study precludes causality conclusion, our results highlighted possible factors 384 explaining a large part of the observed differences in food consumption between adolescents, and even 385 all of them for water consumption. The main limitation of our study was the accuracy of the schoollevel questionnaire, which was based on general statements from the schools' staff and was not based 386 387 on independent observations. The broad scope of questions related to health-promotion might be prone to interpretation and a reason of the lack of association with some food consumption. Nevertheless, the 388 school environment and the adolescent dietary habits were assessed at the same time. In addition, a 389 390 short FFQ was used to assess food consumption instead of repeated 24-hour dietary recalls as 391 recommended. It cannot be excluded that some contextual indicators may cause variations not only on 392 frequencies but also in quantities⁽¹¹⁾ which is not sizeable with a FFQ.

393 Conclusion

394 The variability in food consumption among adolescents being in different school socioeconomic 395 backgrounds indicates that efforts must be made to improve their overall nutrition-related 396 environment. Our findings suggest that the effectiveness of nutrition and health promotion projects 397 may be considered inconclusive at first glance. Indeed, food availability within school was not always 398 consistent with the nutrition-related projects and health promotion addressed in schools, which could 399 help understand such a counterintuitive finding. Further research should also consider the school environment as a whole, including the food environment within and around the school, along with all 400 401 the different specific projects and activities related to nutrition and health promotion. Finally, it would be beneficial for schools to have a two-pronged plan to both support the consumption of health-402 promoting foods and discourage unhealthy foods. Last, support to schools, with a greater intensity for 403 404 those defined as disadvantaged, is needed to develop a more consistent and effective nutrition policy 405 in those settings.

406 **References**

- Paes V, Hesketh K, O'Malley C *et al.* (2015) Determinants of sugar-sweetened beverage
 consumption in young children: a systematic review. *Obes Rev* 16, 11, 903–913.
- 2. Desbouys L, Méjean C, de Henauw S *et al.* (2020) Socio-economic and cultural disparities in diet
 among adolescents and young adults: a systematic review. *Public Health Nutr* 23, 5, 843-60.
- 3. Darmon N & Drewnowski A (2008) Does social class predict diet quality? *Am J Clin Nutr* 87, 5, 1107–
 1117.
- 413 4. Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA *et al.* (2006) Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 1). J
 414 *Epidemiol Community Health* 60, 1, 7–12.
- 415 5. Darmon N & Drewnowski A (2015) Contribution of food prices and diet cost to socioeconomic
 416 disparities in diet quality and health: a systematic review and analysis. *Nutr Rev* 73, 10, 643–660.
- Kelly C, Callaghan M, Molcho M *et al.* (2019) Food environments in and around post-primary
 schools in Ireland: associations with youth dietary habits. *Appetite* 132, 182–189.
- 419 7. Shrewsbury VA, Foley BC, Flood VM *et al.* (2018) School-level socioeconomic status influences
 420 adolescents' health-related lifestyle behaviors and intentions. *J Sch Health* 88, 8, 583–589.
- 421 8. Moore GF & Littlecott HJ (2015) School- and family-level socioeconomic status and health
 422 behaviors: multilevel analysis of a national survey in wales, United Kingdom. *J Sch Health* 85, 267–
 423 275.
- 424 9. Moreno-Maldonado C, Ramos P, Moreno C et al. How family socioeconomic status, peer behaviors, and
 425 school-based intervention on healthy habits influence adolescent eating behaviors. Sch Psychol Int 2018, 92–
 426 118.
- 427 10. Fleischhacker SE, Evenson KR, Rodriguez DA *et al.* (2011) A systematic review of fast food access
 428 studies. *Obes Rev* 12, 5, e460-71.

- 429 11. Micha R, Karageorgou D, Bakogianni I *et al.* (2018) Effectiveness of school food environment
 430 policies on children's dietary behaviors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE* 13, 3,
 431 e0194555.
- 432 12. Jaime PC & Lock K (2009) Do school based food and nutrition policies improve diet and reduce
 433 obesity? *Prev Med* 48, 1, 45–53.
- 434 13. Muckelbauer R, Libuda L, Clausen K *et al.* (2009) Promotion and provision of drinking water in
 435 schools for overweight prevention: randomized, controlled cluster trial. *Pediatrics* 123, 4, e661-7.
- 436 14. Loughridge JL & Barratt J (2005) Does the provision of cooled filtered water in secondary school
 437 cafeterias increase water drinking and decrease the purchase of soft drinks? *J Hum Nutr Diet* 18, 4,
 438 281–286.
- 439 15. van de Gaar VM, Jansen W, van Grieken A *et al.* (2014) Effects of an intervention aimed at reducing
 440 the intake of sugar-sweetened beverages in primary school children: a controlled trial. *Int J Behav*441 *Nutr Phys Act* 11, 98.
- Rauba J, Tahir A, Milford B *et al.* (2017) Reduction of sugar-sweetened beverage consumption in
 elementary school students using an educational curriculum of beverage sugar content. *Glob Pediatr Health* 4, 2333794X17711778.
- 445 17. Kubik MY, Lytle LA, Hannan PJ *et al.* (2003) The association of the school food environment with
 446 dietary behaviors of young adolescents. *Am J Public Health* **93**, 7, 1168–1173.
- 18. Turrell G, Blakely T, Patterson C *et al.* (2004) A multilevel analysis of socioeconomic (small area)
 differences in household food purchasing behaviour. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 58, 3, 208–215.
- Inchley J, Currie D, Budisavljevic S *et al.* (editors) (2020) Spotlight on adolescent health and well-being. *Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey in Europe and Canada. International report: Key findings.* Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- 452 20. Lebacq T, Pedroni C, Desnouck V *et al.* (2019) Alimentation, activité physique, sédentarité et
 453 sommeil. Comportements, santé et bienêtre des élèves en 2018 Enquête HBSC en Belgique
 454 francophone. http://sipes.ulb.ac.be (accessed August 2020).
- 455 21. Vereecken CA, Rossi S, Giacchi MV *et al.* (2008) Comparison of a short food-frequency
 456 questionnaire and derived indices with a seven-day diet record in Belgian and Italian children. *Int*457 *J Public Health* 53, 6, 297–305.
- 458 22. Vereecken CA & Maes L (2003) A Belgian study on the reliability and relative validity of the Health
 459 Behaviour in School-Aged Children food-frequency questionnaire. *Public Health Nutr* 6, 06, 581–
 460 588.
- 461 23. Torsheim T, Cavallo F, Levin KA *et al.* (2016) Psychometric validation of the revised family affluence
 462 scale: a latent variable approach. *Child Indic Res* 9, 771–784.
- 463 24. Gouvernement de la Communauté française (07/09/2009) Décret organisant un encadrement différencié
 464 au sein des établissements scolaires de la Communauté française afin d'assurer à chaque élève des chances
 465 égales d'émancipation sociale dans un environnement pédagogique de qualité: Lois 34295.
- 466 25. Jain AK, Murty MN, Flynn PJ (1999) Data clustering: a review. ACM Comput Surv **31**, 3, 264–323.

- 467 26. LaHuis DM & Ferguson MW (2009) The Accuracy of significance tests for slope variance
 468 components in multilevel random coefficient models. *Organ Res Methods* 12, 3, 418–435.
- 469 27. Austin PC & Merlo J (2017) Intermediate and advanced topics in multilevel logistic regression
 470 analysis. *Stat Med* 36, 20, 3257–3277.
- 471 28. Currie CE, Elton RA, Todd J *et al.* (1997) Indicators of socioeconomic status for adolescents: the
 472 WHO Health Behaviour in School-aged Children Survey. *Health Educ Res* 12, 3, 385–397.
- 473 29. Currie C, Molcho M, Boyce W *et al.* (2008) Researching health inequalities in adolescents: the
 474 development of the Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) family affluence scale. *Soc*475 *Sci Med* 66, 6, 1429–1436.
- 30. Singh-Manoux A, Martikainen P, Ferrie J *et al.* (2006) What does self rated health measure? Results
 from the British Whitehall II and French Gazel cohort studies. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 60, 4,
 364–372.
- 479 31. Wilkinson RG (1997) Socioeconomic determinants of health. Health inequalities: relative or absolute
 480 material standards? *BMJ* 314, 7080, 591–595.
- 481 32. Quon EC & McGrath JJ (2014) Subjective socioeconomic status and adolescent health: a meta482 analysis. *Health Psychol* 33, 5, 433–447.
- 33. Côté-Lussier C, Kakinami L, Danieles PK (2019) Ego-centered relative neighborhood deprivation
 and reported dietary habits among youth. *Appetite* 132, 267–274.
- 34. Drouillet-Pinard P, Dubuisson C, Bordes I *et al.* (2017) Socio-economic disparities in the diet of
 French children and adolescents: a multidimensional issue. *Public Health Nutr* 20, 870–882.
- 487 35. van Lenthe FJ, Bourdeaudhuij I de, Klepp K-I *et al.* (2009) Preventing socioeconomic inequalities in
 488 health behaviour in adolescents in Europe: background, design and methods of project TEENAGE.
 489 *BMC Public Health* 9, 125.
- 490 36. Morris MA, Hulme C, Clarke GP *et al.* (2014) What is the cost of a healthy diet? Using diet data from
 491 the UK Women's Cohort Study. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 68, 1043–1049.
- 492 37. Rosi A, Paolella G, Biasini B *et al.* (2019) Dietary habits of adolescents living in North America,
 493 Europe or Oceania: a review on fruit, vegetable and legume consumption, sodium intake, and
 494 adherence to the Mediterranean Diet. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 29, 6, 544–560.
- 38. Hamilton HA, Noh S, Adlaf EM (2009) Perceived financial status, health, and maladjustment in
 adolescence. *Soc Sci Med* 68, 8, 1527–1534.
- 497 39. Richardson AS, Meyer KA, Howard AG *et al.* (2014) Neighborhood socioeconomic status and food
 498 environment: a 20-year longitudinal latent class analysis among CARDIA participants. *Health Place*499 30, 145–153.
- 40. Prolepsis DIATROFI: The program on food aid and promotion of healthy nutrition.
 http://diatrofi.prolepsis.gr/en (accessed August 2020).
- 502 41. New Zealand Government Ministry of Education Free and healthy school lunches.
 503 https://www.education.govt.nz/our-work/overall-strategies-and-policies/wellbeing-in-
- 504 education/free-and-healthy-school-lunches/ (accessed August 2020).

- 42. Government of Ireland Department of Education and Skills Supports to DEIS Schools.
 https://www.education.ie/en/Schools-Colleges/Services/DEIS-Delivering-Equality-of-
- 507 Opportunity-in-Schools-/DEIS-Supporting-Information/Supports-to-DEIS-Schools.html (accessed508 August 2020).
- 43. Kastorini CM, Lykou A, Yannakoulia M *et al.* (2016) The influence of a school-based intervention
 programme regarding adherence to a healthy diet in children and adolescents from disadvantaged
 areas in Greece: the DIATROFI study. *J Epidemiol Community Health* **70**, 671–677.
- 44. Fung C, McIsaac J-LD, Kuhle S *et al.* (2013) The impact of a population-level school food and
 nutrition policy on dietary intake and body weights of Canadian children. *Prev Med* 57, 6, 934–940.
- 45. Neumark-Sztainer D, French SA, Hannan PJ *et al.* (2005) School lunch and snacking patterns among
 high school students: associations with school food environment and policies. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 2, 1, 14.
- 517 46. Engler-Stringer R, Le H, Gerrard A *et al.* (2014) The community and consumer food environment
 518 and children's diet: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 14, 522.
- 47. Rouche M, de Clercq B, Lebacq T *et al.* (2019) Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary according to
 migration status among adolescents in Belgium. *Nutrients* 11, 4, 812.
- 48. te Velde SJ, Wind M, van Lenthe FJ *et al.* (2006) Differences in fruit and vegetable intake and
 determinants of intakes between children of Dutch origin and non-Western ethnic minority
 children in the Netherlands a cross sectional study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 3, 31.

524

Table 1. Multilevel logistic regressions* for **fruit** consumption (ref: daily consumption) (n= 6,017).2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3	
	-	ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value
Individual-level variables					
Gender (vs. Girls)			< 0.001		< 0.001
Boys		1.36 (1.22-1.52)		1.35 (1.21-1.50)	
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			0.01		0.01
15-16 years old		1.19 (1.04-1.36)		1.20 (1.05-1.37)	
17-20 years old		1.20 (1.05-1.37)		1.20 (1.05-1.37)	
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.02		0.04
Blended family		1.23 (1.06-1.43)		1.20 (1.03-1.40)	
Single-parent family		1.11 (0.97-1.27)		1.11 (0.97-1.27)	
Siblings (vs.: Siblings)			0.22		0.24
Single child		1.14 (0.93-1.39)		1.13 (0.92-1.38)	
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			0.004		0.01
Middle		1.24 (1.08-1.43)		1.21 (1.05-1.39)	
Low		1.35 (1.11-1.64)		1.33 (1.09-1.62)	
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)			< 0.001		< 0.001
Quite well off		1.24 (1.05-1.48)		1.26 (1.06-1.50)	
Average		1.51 (1.25-1.83)		1.53 (1.26-1.85)	
Not so/at all well off		1.47 (1.15-1.87)		1.46 (1.14-1.86)	
Parental working status (vs. Both working)			0.07		0.04
One working parent		0.92 (0.82-1.05)		0.91 (0.81-1.04)	
No working parent		0.78 (0.63-0.97)		0.77 (0.62-0.95)	
Parental education level (vs. Post-secondary)			0.004		0.02
Secondary or lower		1.23 (0.63-0.97)		1.20 (1.06-1.36)	
Undetermined		1.16 (0.95-1.42)		1.12 (0.91-1.37)	
School-level variables					
School Region (vs. Wallonia)					< 0.001
Brussels-Capital				0.71 (0.61-0.83)	
POOR (%)				3.7%	
School socioeconomic status (vs. High)					0.005
Middle				1.23 (1.07-1.42)	
POOR (%)				13.7%	
Low				1.27 (1.07-1.52)	
POOR (%)				10.1%	
Intercept	1.60 (1.48-1.72)	0.78 (0.59-1.03)		0.70 (0.49-0.99)	
Variance of random effects	0.07ª	0.04ª		0.02	
Corrected variance of random effects +	-	0.04ª		0.02	
Measures of components of variance and heterogeneity					
PCV	Reference	39.6%		75.7%	
VPC	0.022	0.014		0.005	
MOR	1.30	1.23		1.14	

POOR, proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV, proportional change of the corrected variance; VPC, variance partition coefficient; MOR, median odds ratio ^a Significant school effect

* Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on all individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables including the nonsignificant ones: health promotion addressed in school; purpose of food project: to increase consumption of health-promoting foods, to limit consumption of unhealthy foods, to include fruits or vegetables at school events; foods available for sale at school

+ Scale correction factor= 0.987

Table 2. Multilevel logistic regressions* for **vegetable** consumption (ref: daily consumption) (n= 6,017).2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3	
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value
Individual-level variables			÷		
Gender (vs. Girls)			< 0.001		< 0.001
Boys		1.34 (1.20-1.49)		1.35 (1.22-1.51)	
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			0.81		0.57
15-16 years old		0.96 (0.84-1.10)		0.95 (0.83-1.51)	
17-20 years old		0.97 (0.84-1.11)		0.93 (0.82-1.07)	
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.13		0.11
Blended family		0.90 (0.78-1.05)		0.90 (0.82-1.07)	
Single-parent family		1.08 (0.95-1.23)		1.09 (0.95-1.24)	
Siblings (vs.: Siblings)			0.50		0.46
Single child		1.07 (0.88-1.31)		1.08 (0.88-1.32)	
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			< 0.001		< 0.001
Middle		1.40 (1.21-1.62)		1.36 (1.18-1.58)	
Low		1.55 (1.27-1.88)		1.47 (1.20-1.78)	
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)			0.37		0.25
Quite well off		1.14 (0.95-1.37)		1.17 (0.97-1.40)	
Average		1.19 (0.98-1.45)		1.22 (1.00-1.48)	
Not so/at all well off		1.11 (0.87-1.42)		1.14 (0.89-1.45)	
Parental working status (vs. Both working)			0.52		0.48
One working parent		1.06 (0.94-1.20)		1.03 (0.91-1.16)	
No working parent		0.96 (0.78-1.18)		0.90 (0.73-1.11)	
Parental education level (vs. Post-secondary)			< 0.001		< 0.001
Secondary or lower		1.47 (1.30-1.67)		1.42 (1.25-1.60)	
Undetermined		1.64 (1.34-2.00)		1.59 (1.30-1.94)	
School-level variables					
School socioeconomic status (vs. High)					< 0.001
Middle				1.36 (1.16-1.60)	
POOR (%)				15.9%	
Low				1.77 (1.46-2.16)	
POOR (%)				3.2%	
Intercept	0.84 (0.77-0.93)	0.42 (0.32-0.56)		0.30 (0.93-1.29)	
Variance of random effects	0.18ª	0.10ª		0.05ª	
Corrected variance of random effects +	-	0.10ª		0.05ª	
Measures of components of variance and heterogeneity					
PCV	Reference	42.4%		73.9%	
VPC	0.051	0.031		0.014	
MOR	1.49	1.36		1.23	

POOR, proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV, proportional change of the corrected variance; VPC, variance partition coefficient; MOR, median odds ratio ^a Significant school effect

* Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on all individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables including the nonsignificant ones: school region, health promotion addressed in school; purpose of food project: to increase consumption of health-promoting foods, to limit consumption of unhealthy foods, to include fruits or vegetables at school events; foods available for sale at school

+ Scale correction factor= 0.983

Table 3. Multilevel logistic regressions* for water consumption (ref: daily consumption) (n= 6,017).2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3	
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value
Individual-level variables					
Gender (vs. Girls)			0.001		0.002
Boys		1.29 (1.10-1.52)		1.29 (1.10-1.51)	
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			0.68		0.58
15-16 years old		0.95 (0.78-1.16)		0.95 (0.78-1.16)	
17-20 years old		0.92 (0.75-1.11)		0.90 (0.74-1.10)	
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.03		0.03
Blended family		1.12 (0.90-1.40)		1.08 (0.87-1.35)	
Single-parent family		1.28 (1.06-1.54)		1.28 (1.06-1.54)	
Siblings (vs.: Siblings)			0.82		0.78
Single child		0.96 (0.71-1.30)		0.96 (0.71-1.29)	
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			< 0.001		0.001
Middle		1.47 (1.14-1.88)		1.44 (1.13-1.85)	
Low		1.79 (1.33-2.41)		1.75 (1.30-2.37)	
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)			0.39		0.40
Quite well off		0.79 (0.61-1.03)		0.80 (0.61-1.04)	
Average		0.83 (0.63-1.10)		0.83 (0.63-1.10)	
Not so/at all well off		0.80 (0.57-1.13)		0.79 (0.56-1.12)	
Parental working status (vs. Both working)		· · · · ·	0.10	· · · · ·	0.11
One working parent		1.18 (0.99-1.41)		1.17 (0.98-1.39)	
No working parent		0.94 (0.70-1.26)		0.91 (0.68-1.23)	
Parental education level (<i>vs.</i> Post-secondary)		· · · · ·	< 0.001	· · · · ·	< 0.001
Secondary or lower		1.81 (1.52-2.16)		1.74 (1.46-2.08)	
Undetermined		1.52 (1.15-2.02)		1.45 (1.09-1.92)	
School-level variables		· · · · ·		· · · · ·	
School Region (vs. Wallonia)					< 0.001
Brussels-Capital				0.65 (0.52-0.81)	
POOR (%)				0.00%	
School socioeconomic status (vs. High)					0.005
Middle				1.36 (1.13-1.64)	
POOR (%)				0.00%	
Low				1.30 (1.03-1.64)	
POOR (%)				0.00%	
Project to include fruits or vegetables at school events (7	vs. Yes)				0.009
No	,			1.33 (1.08-1.65)	
POOR (%)				0.00%	
Foods available for sale at school (<i>vs.</i> Few foods)					0.01
Mainly unhealthy foods				1.24 (1.01-1.53)	
POOR (%)				0.00%	
Many foods				0.93 (0.77-1.13)	
POOR (%)				0.00%	
Intercept	0.14 (0.13-0.16)	0.07 (0.05-0.10)		0.06 (0.04-0.10)	
Variance of random effects	0.17^{a}	0.06ª		0.00	
Corrected variance of random effects +	-	0.06ª		0.00	
Measures of components of variance and heterogeneity					
PCV	Reference	65.9%		100%	
VPC	0.050	0.019		0.000	
MOR	1.49	1.27		1.00	

POOR, proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV, proportional change of the corrected variance; VPC, variance partition coefficient; MOR, median odds ratio ^aSignificant school effect

* Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on all individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables including the nonsignificant ones: health promotion addressed in school; purpose of food project: to increase consumption of health-promoting foods, to limit consumption of unhealthy foods + Scale correction factor= 0.976 **Table 4.** Multilevel logistic regressions for crisps and fries consumption (ref: non-daily consumption) (n= 6,017).2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3	
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value
Individual-level variables					
Gender (vs. Girls)			0.003		0.002
Boys		1.27 (1.09-1.48)		1.27 (1.09-1.47)	
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			< 0.001		< 0.001
15-16 years old		0.66 (0.55-0.79)		0.65 (0.54-0.78)	
17-20 years old		0.47 (0.39-0.57)		0.45 (0.37-0.55)	
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.27		0.33
Blended family		1.08 (0.88-1.32)		1.08 (0.88-1.33)	
Single-parent family		0.89 (0.74-1.08)		0.91 (0.75-1.09)	
Siblings (vs.: Siblings)			0.36		0.34
Single child		1.14 (0.86-1.50)		1.14 (0.87-1.51)	
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			0.09		0.26
Middle		1.07 (0.86-1.33)		1.02 (0.82-1.26)	
Low		1.31 (0.99-1.71)		1.19 (0.91-1.56)	
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)			0.004		0.01
Quite well off		0.71 (0.52-0.97)		0.73 (0.58-0.92)	
Average		0.62 (0.48-0.81)		0.65 (0.50-0.83)	
Not so/at all well off		0.71 (0.52-0.97)		0.73 (0.54-1.01)	
Parental working status (vs. Both working)			< 0.001		< 0.001
One working parent		1.56 (1.32-1.85)		1.50 (1.27-1.78)	
No working parent		1.49 (1.14-1.95)		1.39 (1.06-1.81)	
Parental education level (vs. Post-secondary)			< 0.001		< 0.001
Secondary or lower		1.43 (1.20-1.70)		1.35 (1.14-1.60)	
Undetermined		1.79 (1.40-2.29)		1.73 (1.35-2.21)	
School-level variables					
School socioeconomic status (vs. High)					< 0.001
Middle				2.03 (1.58-2.59)	
POOR (%)				7.7%	
Low				2.97 (2.23-3.94)	
POOR (%)				1.4%	
Intercept	0.19 (0.16-0.21)	0.29 (0.19-0.46)		0.14 (0.08-0.24)	
Variance of random effects	0.39ª	0.29ª		0.12ª	
Corrected variance of random effects +	-	0.27ª		0.11ª	
Measures of components of variance and heterogeneity					
PCV	Reference	32.3%		71.6%	
VPC	0.108	0.082		0.036	
MOR	1.82	1.68		1.40	

POOR, proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV, proportional change of the corrected variance; VPC, variance partition coefficient; MOR, median odds ratio ^aSignificant school effect

* Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on all individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables including the nonsignificant ones: school region, health promotion addressed in school; purpose of food project: to increase consumption of health-promoting foods, to limit consumption of unhealthy foods, to include fruits or vegetables at school events; foods available for sale at school.

+ Scale correction factor= 0.956

 Table 5. Multilevel logistic regressions* for sugar-sweetened beverages consumption (ref: non-daily consumption) (n= 6,017).

2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3	
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value
Individual-level variables					
Gender (vs. Girls)			< 0.001		< 0.001
Boys		1.30 (1.16-1.46)		1.29 (1.15-1.45)	
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			0.005		0.003
15-16 years old		1.02 (0.88-1.17)		1.01 (0.88-1.16)	
17-20 years old		0.83 (0.72-0.95)		0.82 (0.71-0.94)	
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.02		0.03
Blended family		1.23 (1.06-1.44)		1.22 (1.05-1.42)	
Single-parent family		1.10 (0.96-1.26)		1.11 (0.97-1.27)	
Siblings (vs.: Siblings)			0.19		0.19
Single child		1.15 (0.93-1.41)		1.15 (0.93-1.41)	
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			< 0.001		0.002
Middle		1.29 (1.10-1.50)		1.26 (1.08-1.47)	
Low		1.48 (1.20-1.82)		1.44 (1.17-1.77)	
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	0.02	· · · · · ·	0.03
Quite well off		0.79 (0.68-0.95)		0.79 (0.66-0.96)	
Average		0.73 (0.60-0.89)		0.74 (0.60-0.90)	
Not so/at all well off		0.78 (0.61-1.00)		0.79 (0.61-1.01)	
Parental working status (<i>vs.</i> Both working)		,	0.13	(,	0.28
One working parent		1.12 (0.99-1.28)		1.10 (0.97-1.25)	
No working parent		1 17 (0 95-1 46)		1 12 (0 90-1 39)	
Parental education level (vs. Post-secondary)		1117 (0100 1110)	<0.001	(0000 1007)	<0.001
Secondary or lower		1.51 (1.33-1.72)	01001	1 46 (1 29-1 66)	01001
Undetermined		1.50 (1.22-1.84)		1 45 (1 18-1 78)	
School-level variables		1.00 (1.22 1.04)		1.45 (1.10 1.70)	
School Region (vs. Wallonia)					<0.001
Brussels-Capital				0 53 (0 43-0 66)	-0.001
POOR (%)				0.33 (0. 1 3-0.00) 5.8%	
School socioeconomic status (218 High)				5.678	<0.001
Middle				1 81 (1 50 2 18)	<0.001
				7.00	
				7.2%	
LOW				2.37 (1.90-2.96)	
POOK(%)				1.0%	0.02
Ne				1 22 (1 02 1 44)	0.02
				1.22 (1.03-1.44)	
POOR (%)				31.4%	
Project to include fruits or vegetables at school events (vs .					0.04
Yes)					0.04
No				1.24 (1.01-1.54)	
POOR (%)				29.5%	
Intercept	0.70 (0.62-0.79)	0.47 (0.37-0.59)		0.27 (0.17-0.42)	
Variance of random effects	0.34ª	0.24ª		0.08 ^a	
Corrected variance of random effects +	-	0.24ª		0.08 ^a	
Measures of components of variance and heterogeneity					
PCV	Reference	30.9%		76.9%	
VPC	0.094	0.069		0.024	
MOR	1.75	1.60		1.31	

POOR, proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV, proportional change of the corrected variance; VPC, variance partition coefficient; MOR, median odds ratio ^aSignificant school effect

* Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on all individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables including the non-

significant ones: purpose of food project: to increase consumption of health-promoting foods, to limit consumption of unhealthy foods; foods available for sale at school + Scale correction factor= 0.984



Fig. 1 Food frequency consumption of adolescents in secondary schools (n = 6,017). 2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgian schools

3. Additional analyses on the Brussels-Capital Region

These additional analyses aimed to estimate the dietary disparities related to individual migration status and socioeconomic status, and related to the school socioeconomic context combined with the sociocultural context among adolescents in the Brussels-Capital Region. The data came from the 2018 French-speaking HBSC survey.

In total, 1,603 adolescents from 29 Brussels schools were included in our analyses. The same methodology as the main analyses of this chapter, i.e. a succession of multilevel models for each food group, was followed (see **section 2**). Thus, six food groups categorised in daily and non-daily consumption were considered: fruit, vegetables, dairy products, water, crisps and fries, and SSB. The presentation of the results will be based mainly on the consumption of fruit (**Table 12**) and crisps and fries (**Table 13**); the results of the other food groups did not require to be further commented and are displayed in **Appendix R**. After estimating the effect of school for a given food group in a model 1, individual disparities related to the adolescent socioeconomic and migration status were assessed in a second model. The third model consisted of including contextual variables, i.e. the socioeconomic status of the school were not included due to the small number of schools that responded fully to the school-level questionnaire (n= 24) and above all, to the lack of variability in the food environment of schools in Brussels-Capital.

Consumption of fruit and crisps and fries significantly differed by school (**Table 12** and **Table 13**). In fact, individual- and contextual-level factors explained almost all of the between-school variance (89.7% for fruit (**Table 12**); 90.7% for crisps and fries (**Table 13**)). The main variability was explained by individual-level factors for crisps and fries consumption (51.6%), and by the contextual-level factor for fruit consumption (52.2%). Furthermore, the VPC indicated that of the residual variation in fruit and crisps and fries consumption that persisted after adjusting for individual and school characteristics, 0.3% and 2.0%, respectively, were due to systematic differences between schools, while the remaining 99.7% and 98.0% were due to unmeasured differences between adolescents.

Only socioeconomic disparities related to the parental education level were observed in fruit consumption (**Table 12**), and to the parental working status for crisps and fries consumption (**Table 13**). The consumption of crisps and fries did not differ according to the migration status

CHAPTER V. DIETARY DISPARITIES AMONG ADOLESCENTS: RESPECTIVE EFFECTS OF INDIVDUAL AND SCHOOL CHARACTERISTICS

of the adolescent in the Brussels-Capital Region (p= 0.86). Nevertheless, 1st-generation immigrants were less likely than natives to consume fruit on a non-daily basis (ORa= 0.64 (0.47-0.87)). Compared to adolescents from schools with a high socioeconomic level and a low proportion of immigrants, and independently of their individual characteristics, adolescents from schools with a medium socioeconomic level and proportion of immigrants (ORa_{non-daily fruit}= 1.67 (1.19-2.35); ORa_{daily crisps&fries}= 2.49 (1.37-4.52)), as well as those in schools with a low socioeconomic level regardless of the immigrants' proportion (low or middle proportion: ORa_{non-daily fruit}= 1.47 (1.00-2.15) and ORa_{daily crisps&fries}= 3.42 (1.94-6.03)), were more likely to non-daily consume fruit but also more likely to daily eat crisps and fries. The respective POOR (<1.0%) supported homogenous associations. Furthermore, the MOR indicated that the magnitude of the effect of clustering was mainly smaller than that of the individual and school characteristics.

With regards to the other food groups, both individual and contextual migration status were associated with daily SSB consumption (**Table R-4** (**Appendix R**)) in a similar way to nondaily fruit consumption. Vegetable consumption differed only by socioeconomic and sociocultural context (**Table R-1**), while water consumption differed only by individual socioeconomic status (**Table R-3**). Finally, no disparities related to individual and contextual socioeconomic and sociocultural position were found for dairy product consumption (**Table R-2**).

Like for socioeconomic status, our results underline an independence between individual and contextual sociocultural variables in relation to dietary habits. Two main different situations of individual-contextual disparities were pointed out. On the one hand, individual and contextual migration components were inversely associated with daily fruit consumption. At equal socioeconomic levels (medium or low), the likelihood of not consuming fruit daily was higher for adolescents in schools with a medium or a high proportion of immigrants than for those in a low or low-medium proportion school, respectively. On the other hand, for crisps and fries consumption, while there was little difference by adolescent socioeconomic status and no association was observed for migration status, a strong association for their contextual counterparts was found.

CHAPTER V. DIETARY DISPARITIES AMONG ADOLESCENTS: RESPECTIVE EFFECTS OF INDIVDUAL AND SCHOOL CHARACTERISTICS

Table 12. Multilevel logistic regressions for fruit consumption (ref: daily consumption) (n=1,603). 2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium.

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3	Model 3	
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value	
Individual-level variables						
Gender (vs. Girls)			0.01		0.01	
Boys		1.31 (1.06-1.61)		1.31 (1.06-1.61)		
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			0.40		0.72	
15-16 years old		1.08 (0.83-1.40)		1.04 (0.81-1.35)		
17-20 years old		1.19 (0.92-1.54)		1.11 (0.86-1.44)		
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.10		0.07	
Blended family		1.19 (0.85-1.67)		1.24 (0.88-1.75)		
Single-parent family		1.30 (1.01-1.66)		1.32 (1.03-1.68)		
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			0.26		0.43	
Middle		1.13 (0.85-1.49)		1.08 (0.82-1.42)		
Low		1.43 (0.93-2.19)		1.32 (0.86-2.01)		
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)		· · · · · ·	0.18	· · · · · ·	0.12	
Ouite well off		1.34 (0.97-1.85)		1.39 (1.00-1.92)		
Average		1.51 (1.05-2.18)		1.57 (1.09-2.26)		
Not so/at all well off		1.37 (0.84-2.23)		1.40 (0.87-2.28)		
Parental working status (vs. Both working)			0 33		0 33	
One working parent		1 16 (0 91-1 47)	0.00	1 13 (0 89-1 43)	0.00	
No working parent		0.91 (0.61-1.35)		0.86 (0.58-1.28)		
Parental level of education (vs. Post-secondary)		0.91 (0.01 1.55)	0.03	0.00 (0.00 1.20)	0.05	
Secondary or lower		1 15 (0 89-1 48)	0.05	1 08 (0 84-1 40)	0.00	
Undetermined		1.19 (0.09 1.10)		1.00(0.011.10) 1.82(1.13-2.95)		
Migration Status (vs. Natives)		1.90 (1.10 5.00)	0.06	1.02 (1.15 2.95)	0.02	
Second-generation immigrants		0.87 (0.67-1.13)	0.00	0.82 (0.63-1.07)	0.02	
First-generation immigrants		0.69(0.51-0.94)		0.62(0.651.07) 0.64(0.47-0.87)		
School-level variables		0.07 (0.31-0.94)		0.04 (0.47-0.07)		
School socioeconomic index and proportion of					0.01	
immigrants (vs. high SEL low MIG)					0.01	
Medium SEL low MIG				1 22 (0 83-1 81)		
POOP(%)				1.22 (0.05-1.01) 8 /0/		
Medium SEL middle MIG				1 67 (1 10-2 35)		
\mathbf{DOOP} (9/)				1.07 (1.19-2.33)		
Low SEL low or middle MIG				1.47(1.00, 2.15)		
				1.47 (1.00-2.13)		
FOOR (70) Low SEL high MIG				0.070		
DOOD (%)				1.70 (1.24-2.30)		
POOR (%)				0.0%		
Intercept	1.26 (1.07-1.48)	0.63 (0.42-0.96)		0.53 (0.36-0.78)		
Variance of random affects	0.10	0.06		0.01		
Corrected corriging of a free down officiate ¹	0.10	0.00		0.01		
Corrected variance of random effects	-	0.00		0.01		
Measures of components of variance and						
heterogeneity		0 - -0 /		00 70/		
PCV	Reference	37.5%		89.7%		
VPC	0.029	0.019		0.003		
MOR	1.35	1.27		1.10		

POOR: proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV: proportional change of the variance; VPC: variance partition coefficient; MOR: median odds ratio. Significant school effect in **bold**. Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables

† Scale correction factor= 0.979982

Table 13. Multilevel logistic regressions for crisps and fries consumption (ref: non-daily consumption) (n=1,603).

 2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium.

	Model 1 Model 2			Model 3	\$	
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value	
Individual-level variables						
Gender (vs. Girls)			0.37		0.34	
Boys		1.15 (0.84-1.57)		1.16 (0.85-1.58)		
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			0.01		0.02	
15-16 years old		0.74 (0.50-1.09)		0.70 (0.47-1.03)		
17-20 years old		0.56 (0.37-1.09)		0.49 (0.33-0.73)		
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.28		0.30	
Blended family		1.03 (0.61-1.74)		1.06 (0.63-1.78)		
Single-parent family		0.74 (0.51-1.09)		0.76 (0.52-1.10)		
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			0.29		0.61	
Middle		1.48 (0.90-2.44)		1.28 (0.78-2.11)		
Low		1.57 (0.82-2.99)		1.32 (0.70-2.49)		
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)			0.12		0.23	
Quite well off		0.57 (0.36-0.92)		0.62 (0.38-0.99)		
Average		0.57 (0.34-0.96)		0.62 (0.37-1.05)		
Not so/at all well off		0.66 (0.34-1.27)		0.71 (0.37-1.36)		
Parental working status (vs. Both working)			< 0.001	· · · · · ·	< 0.001	
One working parent		1.93 (1.36-2.76)		1.87 (1.32-2.67)		
No working parent		2.47 (1.49-4.10)		2.37 (1.44-3.91)		
Parental level of education (vs. Post-secondary)			0.04	· · · · · ·	0.17	
Secondary or lower		1.60 (1.11-2.29)		1.41 (0.99-2.02)		
Undetermined		1.27 (0.68-2.35)		1.20 (0.65-2.23)		
Migration Status (vs. Natives)			0.84	· · · · · ·	0.86	
Second-generation immigrants		0.96 (0.62-1.49)		0.90 (0.58-1.40)		
First-generation immigrants		1.08 (0.66-1.76)		0.97 (0.60-1.60)		
School-level variables						
School socioeconomic index and proportion of					< 0.001	
immigrants (vs. high SEI, low MIG)						
Medium SEI, low MIG				1.37 (0.64-2.96)		
POOR (%)				19.2%		
Medium SEI, middle MIG				2.49 (1.37-4.52)		
POOR (%)				0.6%		
Low SEI, low or middle MIG				4.26 (2.34-7.76)		
POOR (%)				0.0%		
Low SEI, high MIG				3.42 (1.94-6.03)		
POOR (%)				0.0%		
Intercept	0.17 (0.12-0.24)	0.15 (0.07-0.30)		0.09 (0.04-0.16)		
Variance of random officits	0.66	0.35		0.07		
variance of random affactst	0.00	0.33		0.07		
Corrected variance of random effects	-	0.52		0.00		
Measures of components of variance and						
heterogeneity						
PCV	Reference	51.6%		90.7%		
VPC	0.168	0.095		0.020		
MOR	2.17	1.75		1.28		

POOR: proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV: proportional change of the variance; VPC: variance partition coefficient; MOR: median odds ratio. Significant school effect in **bold**. Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables

† Scale correction factor= 0.961681

4. Conclusion

This chapter aimed to estimate individual and contextual disparities in the dietary habits of adolescents. Two sub-objectives have been addressed and filled the gap on this issue albeit further studies are still needed to strengthen our conclusions.

First of all, our results in French-speaking schools highlighted that dietary habits differed between adolescents from different schools, except for dairy products. Greater variability was observed for unhealthy foods like crisps and fries than for healthy foods, such as fruit. For all food groups, a very large part of the observed variability was explained by individual and contextual factors, especially socioeconomic in FWB, and sociocultural and socioeconomic in Brussels-Capital. As a result, the differences in food consumption between the schools in FWB were hardly or not at all explained by the nutrition-related environment based on the indicators we collected through the school questionnaire.

In fact, while the intervention studies drew robust conclusions about the effectiveness of supportive food environments or food-related actions,¹⁹⁷ the results in "real life" settings are less conclusive.¹¹¹ Our results also pointed to an effectiveness of food-related projects that may be considered inconclusive at first glance. Our counterintuitive findings could be explained by an inconsistency between such announced projects and the availability of food in schools. In addition, a measurement bias related to the school questionnaire may also be a factor in our conclusion (see **Chapter VI**, **section 2.1.2**). More importantly, the ineffectiveness can result from a reverse causality due to the cross-sectional nature of the survey. This apparent ineffectiveness should therefore be confirmed by also taking into account all the different projects actually implemented in the schools, but also the environment as a whole, i.e. within and around the school.

In line with the literature,^{99,111,196} our findings underlined that adolescents with a low socioeconomic status or from a low socioeconomic status school were more likely to have unhealthier dietary habits than those with a high socioeconomic status or in a high socioeconomic school. The socioeconomic status of the school was associated with dietary habits independently of the adolescent socioeconomic status, suggesting that different mechanisms are involved. These results, based on four individual indicators that are interrelated but independently involved in dietary habits, reinforce the conclusion of independence that was already highlighted in the literature but to a limited extent. Indeed, the few studies that have addressed both individual and contextual socioeconomic status were

CHAPTER V. DIETARY DISPARITIES AMONG ADOLESCENTS: RESPECTIVE EFFECTS OF INDIVDUAL AND SCHOOL CHARACTERISTICS

limited to one or two indicators at the individual level, such as material wealth,¹¹¹ and therefore to a limited aspect of the socioeconomic status. Since our contextual socioeconomic indicator was based on individual population characteristics, further analysis deserves to be carried out with an indicator based on contextual characteristics (see **Chapter I**, section 1.2.3.1). In this respect, it will be easier to determine whether the association between the socioeconomic context and the dietary habits of adolescents is related to the socioeconomic characteristics of the school or to the socioeconomic characteristics of the people attending that school,⁶⁴ and thus to better understand the mechanisms involved.

As with socioeconomic status, our results highlighted that in Brussels-Capital, migration status was associated with adolescent dietary habits independently of the similar contextual component, i.e. the proportion of immigrants in the school. Two main different relationships were highlighted for the individual-contextual pair. On the one hand, individual and contextual migration status were observed to be inversely associated with dietary habits. On the other hand, still in the Brussels-Capital Region, a lack of individual socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities was observed, while a strong association of the socioeconomic and cultural context with dietary habits was highlighted. As far as we know, this is the first time that the sociocultural individual position and context have been studied simultaneously in relation to dietary habits of adolescents. Therefore, it is complex to put forward hypotheses to explain such contrasting results. Nevertheless, our findings pointed out the need to study the sociocultural environment more systematically when investigating dietary disparities.

Finally, nutrition-related projects seem ineffective, but they might be inconsistent with the real food environment. Thus, support to schools, with a greater intensity for those defined as disadvantaged, is needed to develop a more consistent and effective nutrition policy. Moreover, socioeconomic and sociocultural factors are associated with adolescents' dietary habits independently of the corresponding indicators at the contextual level. In addition, the context may have, in some situations, a more important role on diet than individual factors. Therefore, public health actions should consider including a component related to the socioeconomic and sociocultural environment in order to tackle social disparities in dietary habits more effectively.

CHAPTER VI. GENERAL DISCUSSION

**

1. Summary of results

This doctoral thesis aimed at investigating the socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities in adolescents' dietary habits through diverse but complementary approaches. **In the first part**, we have shown that food consumption frequencies among adolescents gradually increased, for both healthy and unhealthy foods, from natives to 1st-generation immigrants, with 2nd-generation immigrants in between.¹⁵⁷ This migration gradient suggests a process of acculturation across generations of immigrants, in line with the literature.^{114,174} In the course of acculturation, immigrants are likely to gradually change their dietary habits to make them both more and less healthy, thus contradicting the "best of both worlds" hypothesis.⁷⁵ However, based on analyses focusing on Brussels-Capital, we could not demonstrate that dietary habits of 1st-generation immigrants greatly differed by their proportion of time spent in the host country.⁸⁵

Furthermore, we observed that migration status did modify the association between socioeconomic characteristics and dietary habits. In this respect, compared with natives, narrower socioeconomic disparities were observed in 2nd-generation and even more so in 1st-generation immigrants. In addition, the socioeconomic profiles of immigrants were as diverse as those of natives. Although the profile of immigrants was generally less favourable, the difference with that of natives was limited in magnitude. Altogether, such findings led us to hypothesize that dietary habits of immigrants were more determined by their culture than by their socioeconomic conditions.

The socioeconomic disparities observed mainly among natives, and to a lesser extent among 2nd-generation immigrants, were in line with the literature. Adolescents with higher FAS and living in two-parent families had more favourable dietary habits than their counterparts.^{99,116,179,180,201} Regarding parental working status-related disparities, results were mixed, suggesting that our indicator, unfrequently used in the literature, could reflect both income and time available for everyday life. Finally, compared to Flanders, the dietary habits were sometimes more favourable for the Brussels-Capital Region and sometimes more unfavourable there, which could be due among others, to the different exposures to public health action within the Belgian population.

In the second part of this work, in Belgium²⁰² as well as in Brussels-Capital, overall, a trend towards increasing disparities was observed when dietary habits improved, and towards decreasing disparities when dietary habits deteriorated. The evolution of disparities related to family structure can be attributed to the more or less rapid adoption of dietary recommendations and to the evolution of the financial means of certain families. The most likely reasons for the changes in regional disparities would be that federal actions have culturally different impacts on the population¹⁹⁴ and actions implemented at a regional level would be more or less active and effective. Finally, the trend in disparities related to migration status in Brussels-Capital may be explained by the increase in the cultural diversification of food supply.

For the first time documented in such a long period of time, this trend of increasing disparities when dietary habits improved and decreasing disparities when dietary habits worsened highlights that Belgian public health actions may have, thus far, failed to both improve dietary habits and tackle social disparities, maybe due in part to a counterproductive environment. Such findings underline the increased need for public actions to incorporate the concept of proportionate universalism, which will be deepened below.

The third section of this thesis revealed that a significant part of the observed differences between schools were explained by the socioeconomic or sociocultural components but not by the nutrition-related school environment. The documented inconsistency between the nutrition-related projects and the availability of food in schools might be a reason why the nutritional environment appeared as "ineffective". Although interaction with the environment outside the school cannot be excluded, it is crucial that schools develop a fully consistent nutrition policy. Moreover, since a cross-sectional scheme was used, reverse causality cannot be excluded either.

The socioeconomic and sociocultural environments were found to be associated with adolescents' dietary habits, independently of the corresponding individual characteristics. As with the individual level, adolescents in low socioeconomic schools were more likely to have unhealthy dietary habits than those attending a more favourable setting. In contrast, individual migration status, and the corresponding school characteristic, were strongly or differently associated with adolescents' dietary habits in Brussels-Capital Region. For some food groups, there was no or only a weak association with the individual level, while a strong association was observed with the contextual level. For others, individual and contextual migration status were observed to be associated with dietary habits with opposite directions. While these

findings remain to be better understood, they highlight the importance of the environment in which adolescents evolve in addition to their individual characteristics in their dietary behaviours.

Our results largely inform the theoretical concept that health and dietary habits are determined by a set of different level factors that influence each other between and within levels (**Figure 10**).²⁰³ Key information was identified to support the implementation of public health actions that would lead to reduce social disparities. In this respect, such actions should be anchored in the concept of proportionate universalism and be comprehensive by integrating both individual and contextual sociocultural and socioeconomic components.



Figure 10. Map of dietary habits and their determinants based on the analysis of the Health Behaviour in Schoolaged Children surveys in Belgium. *Source: adapted from "Carte de la santé et de ses déterminants" of the National Institute of Public Health of Québec, 2012).*

2. Methodological considerations

Altogether, our results have to be interpreted critically, bearing in mind the methodological issues specific to the survey and the statistical analyses. Some of these aspects have already been discussed in the three respective chapters of results. In this section, we are focusing on those that are most relevant to the survey as a whole. Schematically, we are addressing the biases that can be induced by the sampling, data collection relating to indicators and the diet description, and statistical analyses. These methodological considerations also help estimate the extent to which our results can be extended to our national context but also to the international context.

2.1.Internal validity

2.1.1. Selection bias

As the HBSC survey is not an exhaustive assessment, the study population may differ from the source population. In such a case, the sampling scheme, the participation rates and the exclusion of participants due to missing values for instance may have introduced a selection bias.

To limit the bias from the outset, a stratified random sampling was applied, i.e. adolescents from randomly selected schools and classes in the strata were invited to participate in the survey. These strata were defined in such a way that the intra-stratum variability in individual characteristics and health behaviours was as low as possible, and the inter-stratum variability as high as possible, in order to improve the representativeness and the precision of the estimates. However, creating these strata is challenging, as individual characteristics of adolescents attending schools are not available for sampling; therefore, the definition is based on one¹⁴⁰ or several¹⁴⁴ contextual characteristics, such as school networks and provinces. Thanks to the sustainability of the HBSC survey repeated at regular intervals, the strata could be readjusted over the rounds to improve the representativeness of the target population, by examining the sources of variability in previous surveys. Consequently, the definition of strata has changed over the survey years and regions (see Chapter II, section 1.2). In view of the similar variability in the socioeconomic characteristics across the samples, but especially in the change in family structure and migration status that follows the evolution of Belgian society (Table 9 and Table J-1), we assume that the selection bias induced by the sampling procedure was weak.

The varying participation rates of schools and adolescents depending on their characteristics may also contribute to the selection bias. Indeed, in the HBSC surveys conducted in Belgium, the school participation rate is relatively low (at the highest 55%, see **Chapter II**, section 1.2). At-random refusal of schools has minimal effect on the baseline sampling bias, but systematic refusal is problematic and might undermine validity. Several techniques were used to limit the consequences of such refusals. These included: oversampling certain strata based on the participation rate of previous survey years; conducting a second wave as in 2018; or inviting substitute schools from the same stratum like in 2014.

In contrast to schools, the participation rate of adolescents has been very high so far (around 95%), thanks in particular to the fact that the data collection was conducted during school hours. The passive consent favoured for HBSC surveys allows for a higher participation rate²⁰⁴ (which would require a written response from parents about their adolescent's participation). Therefore, no additional bias should have been introduced at this level. Nevertheless, some immigrants may have been systematically excluded because they did not speak the survey language well enough, either because they recently arrived or because they were far away in the process of acculturation. However, the inclusion of these immigrants would certainly have reinforced rather than weakened our conclusions about the migration gradient.

Finally, the partial non-response of adolescents may be another source of selection bias. Nevertheless, the partial non-response was generally relatively limited. In addition, unlike adults,^{58,205} the partial non-response of adolescents for their socioeconomic position would be non-differential. Therefore, the selection bias generated by the partial non-response rate should be minimal. This was indeed confirmed by comparisons of included *vs.* non-included adolescents due to missing data in analyses (**Table H-1**). Overall, partial non-response is more responsible for weaker associations than for spurious associations. Exploratory analyses showed that adolescents with partial non-response for the food frequency questionnaire differed from adolescents with no missing data for the 2018 survey. In fact, they were more often young, living in a particular family configuration, such as a foster, or also had missing data for the use of the sFFQ.

Partial non-response and all of the above issues were taken into account in weighting factors since the 2018 survey. These factors ensure that the estimates are likely to be representative of the source population despite the refusal of schools and adolescents to participate and the

partial non-response of adolescents. However, they cannot be reliably included in more advanced statistical analyses, such as multilevel analyses. The objective of our analyses led us to favour statistical analyses over sampling issues. Interestingly, one-level preliminary analyses considering weighting factors showed that the results differed only very slightly from more extensive analyses without weighting factors (data not shown).

In conclusion, all of these points suggest good internal validity with respect to sampling issues; therefore, we can extrapolate our results from the sampled population to the source population, with a good degree of confidence. However, caution should be taken when extending our results beyond the source population, for example to adolescents in Belgium. Adolescents from the German-speaking community, as well as out-of-school adolescents and those who are in special education, were not included in the surveys. Though in a limited number, these adolescents may greatly differ in terms of cultural-related behaviours for the German adolescents but also in terms of dietary habits. Hence, our overall estimates are unbiased regarding the adolescents schooled in the mainstream networks.

2.1.2. Information bias

Questions related to the adolescent's social position or school environment and the methods used to describe the diet might have induced information biases. Such biases are likely to be even greater when questions are not adapted to the study population.

Most of the HBSC indicators of social position are adequate to the adolescent population and therefore of great value for the study of dietary disparities among adolescents. These include the FAS, the perceived family wealth or the parental working status (see **Chapter I**, section **1.2.3.1**).^{3,66} However, finding suitable indicators for this population is still sometimes complex. For instance, the parental education indicator may have induced a measurement bias but that should be non-differential (see section **2.1.1**). Besides, the high consistency with literature of our results regarding individual social disparities, including parental education level, suggest that the indicators used here did not constitute a source of measurement bias that would have resulted in a false estimate of associations for instance.

Furthermore, some of the questions in the school-level questionnaire seem to have been unclear and may have induced a significant and differential measurement bias. For example, almost 20% of the schools reported that adolescents did not have free access (*"accès librement"*) to a place to buy food in the school, but reported that they could buy at least one product in the school. If the term 'free access' has induced a different understanding between schools while they did sell food, a differential measurement bias might be expected. In fact, the baseline idea was that schools that did not provide free access could not declare selling food. In addition, almost 15% of the schools declared that they had a specific food project after reporting that there was no food project developed this school year. Another measurement bias may have been induced, since the question on the type of food project did not specify that it was the project developed this year. Therefore, the differential misunderstanding of the questions for schools on the food environment may have led to an over- or underestimation of associations.

Finally, the sFFQ used in the HBSC surveys can also be a source of an information bias. First, according to the validation studies,^{149,150} this tool is likely to induce a measurement bias, with an overestimation of certain foods like diet drinks¹⁴⁹ and an underestimation of some others, such as crisps.¹⁵⁰ However, the sFFQ used in HBSC surveys has a sufficient reliability and validity to rank *« subjects according to consumption of the individual food items »*.¹⁴⁹ Thus, although the raw results on dietary habits should be interpreted with caution, we assumed that the impact on dietary disparities' findings is minimal. Indeed, the conclusions regarding dietary habits using the FCS database (based on two 24-hour recalls)¹¹⁰ are similar to ours.

While the investigator bias is avoided, the sFFQ is considered as a source of a significant cognitive bias. Adolescents are not only asked to convert their consumption over a long period of time into a usual consumption per week, but also to think in terms of rough food groups and not specific foods for most of the proposed list. This effort may lead to a higher non-response rate or to an over- or underestimation of certain food groups.¹²⁰ Moreover, a social desirability bias is probable when using a sFFQ as previously mentioned. Unlike with other methods such as the FFQ and 24HR, it is very complex to detect. Thus, adolescents may tend to report their consumption to be closer to the dietary recommendations they know. This bias is likely to be differential, with a greater likelihood of social desirability among adolescents of higher socioeconomic status.²⁰⁶ Therefore, differences between social groups may have been overestimated in our study with this regard.

2.1.3. Confounding

The objective of our analyses was to investigate socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities in adolescents' dietary habits. The purpose of constructing multivariate models of social determinants was to consider that each of the social characteristics could intervene in the relationship between the other characteristics and dietary habits. Thus, a weaker association between one indicator and dietary habits due to another indicator introduction, primarily

reflected the interrelationship between these two indicators. The observed variation cannot be attributed to confounding by this third indicator, because of the distal relationship between social indicators and dietary habits (see **Chapter I**, section 2.3.2).

Other factors involved in the relationship between social determinants and dietary habits could have been taken into consideration, such as beliefs, representations, food preference, emotions or even physical activity and body mass index when they are relevant to dietary behaviours. Nevertheless, considering them would have entailed a risk of over-adjusting¹³⁵ and a difficulty in interpretation, as they often are intermediate in the relationship between social position and dietary habits. Hence, the association estimated will not be more accurate. Nevertheless, such factors could be considered in further types of analysis in order to better understand related mechanisms, but this would be outside the current scope of this doctoral thesis.

2.2. External validity

In addition to a good internal validity, good external validity of our results is expected. The use of social position indicators that are not specific to the Belgian context allows us to extend our conclusions to other European countries whose social context does not differ excessively. For instance, results regarding migration status, based on whether or not one was born abroad, can be more easily transposed to the international level than those based on ethnicity, the ethnic group being very country- or region- specific. Since our results suggest a process of acculturation, we assume that even if the origin of immigrants is very different between countries, the conclusions related to the migration status should be mostly similar. Furthermore, the relative nature of some indicators, such as the FAS purposely developed for different social contexts⁶⁶ and perceived family wealth, should not be a source of limitation to extrapolate our results. By contrast, the regional indicator, which is by definition specific to the Belgian context, cannot be used to extend our results as such. However, the overall regional disparities can be extrapolated to countries with health promotion entities or linguistic divisions, like Switzerland.¹⁸¹
3. Research perspectives

Our results, which partially fill the gap in the literature on social disparities regarding the dietary habits of adolescents, lead to several reflections. First, the differences in food consumption and socioeconomic disparities between immigrants and natives raise the question of the mechanisms behind these differences. In this respect, non- or semi-structured qualitative interviews should be conducted among natives and immigrants, the latter possibly divided into several groups according to generation and country of birth. These interviews, addressing among others, the barriers to access to a healthy diet and the place of cultural norms, would allow a better understanding of the observed differences between natives and immigrants.

In addition to social disparities, the dietary habits of adolescents were subject to significant environmental disparities. Although the dietary habits are acquired during adolescence⁹³ and are likely to track into adulthood,^{92,95} these behaviours may change with early adulthood.¹¹⁰ In fact, this period brings with it major changes in social conditions (first jobs, budget, etc.) and in the social and food environment (by leaving the family home), which may have consequences for diet. Cohorts such as the Dutch Lifelines cohort²⁰⁷ make it possible to study diet and social conditions at several points in time, from childhood to old age. Combined with other databases like GECCO,²⁰⁸ the social and dietary environment and its evolution over time can be estimated. Such data would make it possible to determine whether changes in dietary behaviours between adolescence and early adulthood are driven primarily by changes in social conditions or by changes in the environment.

Moreover, we mentioned that the apparent ineffectiveness of promotion projects in school could be explained by reverse causality. In order to confirm this hypothesis, a longitudinal design study in which diet, disparities and the exact set of projects are evaluated at several points has to be carried out. The hypothesis of the contradiction between school-based promotion projects and the school food environment was also raised to explain the apparent ineffectiveness. In this respect, interventions evaluated over the long term and at several points in time might be carried out. For example, limiting the sale of SSB, providing free fresh and drinking water points and containers like glasses or water bottles, combined with water promotion that considers access barriers is an example of an intervention. The multi-point evaluation should address changes in dietary habits and social disparities through a questionnaire for adolescents, but also implementation difficulties, sustainability, and barriers

to effectiveness through qualitative interviews with school' staffs. All these findings will guide schools in their health promotion projects.

Finally, both the promotional environment and the food environment in the school raised the issue of the food environment around the school as an important contributor to disparities between adolescents in different schools. This last reflection, being more directly operational through the HBSC survey, is developed here. As mentioned several times before, the food environment could contribute both to the dietary habits of adolescents and to social disparities in their dietary habits. The aim of this research perspective would therefore be **to estimate individual and contextual social disparities in the dietary habits of adolescents, while taking into account the nutritional environment around and within the school.** The objective of this study would require the use of two databases: (i) the 2022 HBSC survey database; (ii) the "Crossroad Banks for Enterprise" (CBE) database.²⁰⁹

First, the next HBSC will undergo significant changes that will improve the validity of these future analyses, including the way the questionnaire is administered and the school-level questionnaire. The sampling process could be improved by including the Flemish schools in the Brussels-Capital Region, which is still under discussion at this stage of the survey preparation. This inclusion would provide an overview of that region and of the population in mainstream education in Brussels-Capital.

The mode of the next HBSC survey administration will change from paper to computer. One of the main advantages of computer-based questionnaire is the use of filters and consistency controls. As a result, the number of inconsistent responses and the length of the questionnaire completion will greatly be reduced, and a lower rate of partial non-response is expected.²¹⁰

The school-level questionnaire will significantly be revised and improved. In addition to improved question wording, new and more informed questions are under consideration. These include the set of questions that help to assess Health Promoting Schools (HPS), which are described as "*holistic, whole-school approach in which a broad health education curriculum is supported by the environment and ethos of the school*".²¹¹ Compared to a specific measure, a holistic intervention approach to school health promotion²¹² would be more promising to improve health behaviours such as dietary habits,²¹³ as it goes beyond individual behaviour by including the social and physical environment. Therefore, being an HPS could have a more important effect on dietary habits and related disparities than school having only implemented a limited action like including fruit and vegetable during school events. Lastly, although not

proposed by the network, a question on free access to water and other healthy foods will be added, since free access could improve their consumption.¹⁹⁷

The food environment around school can be determined using the CBE database,²⁰⁹ developed by the Belgian Federal Public Service Economy. This database contains all enterprises in Belgium as well as information on the type of enterprise, its activities and its address. Through the NACEBEL code ("*Statistical Classification of Economic Activities in the European Community*" for Belgium), places providing foods (e.g. "restricted restaurants", supermarkets)²⁰⁹ can be identified and linked to schools through geocoding.

Since the purpose of these analyses partly would be to estimate the role of the food environment around the school, no change would be made to the selection of the variables used to determine the dietary habits (fruit, vegetables, water, crisps and fries, SSB), the social position (migration status, FAS, perceived family wealth, parental education level and working status) and the social environment (school socioeconomic status and proportion of immigrants in school).

The food environment within school will be determined with the foods available for free and for sale at school whereas the food environment around school with the distribution of supermarkets, restaurants (including fast-food) and other similar places within 400m of the school, a standard for walkability.²¹⁴ Finally, the HPS tool will help determine the health promotion environment at school.

The same analysis strategy would be chosen as for **Chapter V**. Thus, a succession of multilevel models would be carried out, each including a supplementary aspect of the adolescent's life that may be relevant to their dietary habits. Each model would meet several specific objectives (**Table 14**).

These analyses will therefore make it possible to estimate more precisely and more validly the effect of a set of *a priori* determining characteristics on the dietary habits of adolescents. Multilevel models will help determine the intensity with which actions, addressing one or more of the elements behind the disparities, should be taken. For example, if the effect of health promotion actions "disappears" as a result of an unfavourable food environment, actions should not focus primarily on the promoting environment but on the food environment, for example by regulating vending machines. Our results should thus point to ways of understanding the disparities. These avenues can be used to define and guide future surveys, such as qualitative surveys. In this respect, a better understanding of the mechanisms behind disparities is expected.

Regarding the HBSC survey itself, although the sFFQ has several limitations (see **Chapter I**, **section 2.2.2**), it remains the most appropriate tool for the HBSC survey and will not be replaced in the near future. In addition, by keeping mandatory items and the same answer modalities, it is possible to study the evolution of dietary behaviours of adolescents in the HBSC countries. It should also be noted that a data management centre (DMC, University of Bergen) has been implemented within the HBSC network. Along with guidelines for data management (missing, inconsistencies...), the DMC provides support to the network teams and has developed e-learning on statistical methods adapted to the HBSC data, such as multilevel modelling or trend analysis. Since sampling plan may differ across countries (while sharing the same objective, sampling units may differ), a standard statistical plan has not been developed. However, workshops are regularly organised to discuss problematic but not uncommon situations with HBSC data, such as how to reliably account for the study design in complex multilevel models.

Table 14	I. Description	of the	successive 1	models	and	their	specific	objectives	,
----------	----------------	--------	--------------	--------	-----	-------	----------	------------	---

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Variables	-	Social position	Model 2 + social environment	Model 3 + HPS	Model 4 + Food environment within and around school
Aim	To estimate the differences between schools	To estimate the disparities related to the social position	To estimate the social environment-related disparities	To determine the effects to being an HPS on dietary habits	To estimate the food environment-related disparities
		To estimate the differences between schools that are attributable to the social position	To estimate the effect of the social environment on the individual disparities	To estimate the effect of being an HPS on social position and environment	To estimate the effect of the food environment on HPS and social position and environment-related disparities
			To estimate the differences between schools that are attributable to the social environment	To estimate the differences between schools that are attributable to HPS	To estimate the differences between schools that are attributable to the food environment

4. Public health implications

The dietary habits of adolescents are subject to social inequalities, both at the individual and contextual levels, and which, in addition, evolve in a direction that may be inverse to more or less healthy food consumption. One way to improve dietary habits and reduce inequalities would be to implement public health actions having this double objective, such as those anchored in the concept of proportionate universalism.⁴² Actions from a proportionate universalism perspective are "*universal but with a scale and intensity that is proportionate to the level of disadvantage*".⁴² Such an approach is to be distinguished from population-based actions, which tend to aggravate inequalities, and from targeted actions, which leave aside those at a marginal risk thus addressing only a small part of the problem.²¹⁵

A universalism proportionate action is thus characterised by its aim to put in place policies that benefit the whole population structure along with measures so that the actions can benefit each individual to the extent of the needs he/she faces.³ Thus, a nutrition tax, such as the one implemented in Belgium on sugary drinks,²⁹ is a good example of this type of intervention, although the evaluation of such an action relies on modelling approaches.³ Indeed, a nutrition tax is universal in nature and the whole population is affected. Its effects will naturally be tailored to the social gradient in consumption. Thus, if the most disadvantaged populations "react" more strongly than others, a reduction in social inequalities is expected.³ However, such a tax would lead to economic inequalities and should therefore be accompanied by measures to compensate the disadvantaged, like subsidies in the form of vouchers redeemable for fruit and vegetables, for example.³

More generally, the social and physical environment must be supportive and conducive to behaviour change.²¹⁶ In fact, public health initiatives must promote an environment that is favourable to dietary recommendations. In this respect, the environment should meet the specific cultural needs of the whole population, with a culturally varied food offer for instance. In addition, an environment that encourages a change in behaviour should be promoted.²¹⁶ Although not yet sufficiently studied, certain levers have been identified to encourage change through the environment, such as moving the dessert bar and the fruit bar in the canteen or introducing additional difficulties such as payment by bank card for unhealthy foods.²¹⁶

Despite the lack of evidence, it appears that multi-component actions are the most effective.³ Thus, communication actions should accompany the environment initiatives. Such actions can also achieve the objective of proportionate universalism. For example, the communication of recommendations through different channels and forms, as was recently done in Belgium,²¹ may reach the universal target. Disseminating information in schools with low socioeconomic status or with a high rate of immigrants, i.e. high risk groups of having unfavourable dietary behaviours, while adapting the messages to these populations and accompanying them with a varied food offer in line with the recommendations, would help to reduce inequalities.

Overall, nutritional messages should encourage a shift to favourable dietary behaviour.²¹⁶ In addition to being simple, clear and unambiguous, nutritional messages must be non-coercive. Indeed, coercion could lead to a psychological reactance²¹⁶ from adolescents in search of freedom.⁹⁶ These messages can also include symbols or colours to induce change, provided that these are interpreted in the same way across different cultures. In addition, messages for adolescents must be adapted and relevant to their specific interests,⁹⁶ thus referring to their risk behaviours seem inadequate in view of their low perception of risk.⁹³ Particularly in Belgium where cultural disparities have been highlighted, messages need to be adapted to the different sociocultural meanings associated with food, without explicitly contradicting individual identities. In addition, the healthy behaviours of sociocultural groups should be more positively highlighted in the messages. Finally, the communication should be done through different channels,⁹⁶ including mass media heavily used by adolescents.⁹⁵ Several levers, specific or not to the adolescent population, have been identified to generate behavioural change and can be used for messages aimed at the population, sub-population or individual.²¹⁶ These include the use of positive emotions such as humour, the mobilisation of values shared by personalities or peers, and the valuing of favourable rather than unfavourable behaviour,²¹⁶ all provided that it is culturally appropriate.

However, nutritional information can be undermined by other factors such as immediate pleasure and taste,²¹⁶ which seem very important for adolescents.⁹⁶ Although it is mainly determined by dietary variety in the first six years of life, actions can trigger taste and pleasure through claims using words like "special ingredient".²¹⁶ Other claims have been identified among adults like those mentioning words such as "healthy",²¹⁶ but the expected effect among adolescents may be the opposite. Moreover, according to the "Law of Free Food", the taste barrier could be bypassed by the price of the food, so the cheaper the food, the better the taste.²¹⁶

Health messages must take into account that individuals resist attempts at awareness and persuasion.²¹⁶ Several theoretical models of behaviour change have been developed, such as the "trans-theoretical model of behaviour change". Following this model, the individual goes

through a total of five phases, from pre-contemplation through preparation to maintenance.²¹⁷ They will therefore first be in denial before considering and then carrying out the recommended behaviour, for instance drinking enough water every day. To accompany this change, messages must be adapted to each stage of the process and thus to the readiness for change.²¹⁶ According to the "Social Cognitive Theory", behaviour change is also influenced by self-efficacy, fixed goals or outcome expectations.²¹⁶ With regards to these models, many factors have been identified to counter resistance to change in dietary habits, such as self-affirmation. Nevertheless, these models of behaviour change place the responsibility for change exclusively on the individual. However, as mentioned above, the environment plays a key role in dietary behaviours. Thus, it seems complex to adopt a dietary behaviour change, such as a limited SSB consumption, if the environment encourages the initial food choice, a heavy SSB consumption. Therefore, addressing poor health behaviours is not only a matter of individual responsibility but also a public health priority, and the environment supplemented with nutrition messages should be a priority for action.

In Belgium, several initiatives have already been put in place to improve dietary habits, such as the taxation of sugary drinks,²⁹ the officialization of the Nutri-score²⁸ or the food guides.^{31,32} The diversity of actions should ensure a good population coverage, but the effect on disparities still needs to be addressed more specifically. Other actions, mobilising the levers mentioned above, could be targeted to adolescents in Belgium. These include the regulation of food marketing, the regulation of food supply in and around schools, the mandatory use of the Nutriscore, or a higher taxation of sugary drinks with a subsidy for healthy food. In view of the cultural diversity in Belgium and the significant disparities between natives and immigrants, actions should better take into account the cultural specificities of the population, by valuing cultural identity and improving the cultural food offer for example.

CHAPTER VII. CONCLUSION

**

Adolescence represents an opportunity to develop healthy and long-lasting dietary behaviours. Also, dietary habits are particularly subject to social variations. Specific actions should improve diet and reduce related inequalities, but a comprehensive approach to the social determinants at this life stage remains necessary. In recent decades, methods in social and nutritional epidemiology have been considerably developed and awareness of the social determinants of nutrition-related health inequalities has actually increased. Despite such developments, the disparities and associated mechanisms are still insufficiently documented.

In the framework of this doctoral thesis, differences in adolescent dietary habits according to their socioeconomic and sociocultural position were documented in Belgium. Interestingly, the observed socioeconomic differences were also specific to the migration status. Moreover, dietary habits and social disparities evolved in opposite directions. Lastly, disparities according to socioeconomic, sociocultural and to a lesser extent nutritional environment have also been documented. The mechanisms involved are still not well known and deserve to be explored further, with qualitative studies for instance, in order to further implement effective actions.

It is worth noting that all these conclusions are valid for the period prior to Covid-19. In fact, the Covid-19 pandemic may have had effects on social inequalities in dietary habits, particularly with changes in work (loss of employment, teleworking, etc.) or with the increase in food insecurity. Our findings will therefore need to be updated with post-Covid data.

In any case, future nutritional actions have to already integrate the concept of proportionate universalism in order to improve dietary habits and reduce – or at least do not increase – related social inequalities among adolescents. To avoid increasing inequalities between adolescents, especially when they are of different sociocultural backgrounds, the meaning that adolescents give to food but also the cultural aspect of diet, while respecting identities, beliefs, values and tradition, is to be integrated in actions. Finally, it is crucial that public health actions do not shift responsibility exclusively to the individual and that they focus on their environment.

To conclude, reducing inequalities in the dietary habits of adolescents in Belgium is a complex objective to achieve, given the diversity and interrelation of these inequalities and the particular nature of the Belgian and adolescent population. However, this complexity should not constitute a waiver, because acting on adolescents will promote positive health trajectories throughout life and is a considerable investment for the future.

* **

- Kromhout D, Bosschieter EB, de Lezenne Coulander C. The inverse relation between fish consumption and 20-year mortality from coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med* 1985; **312**: 1205–09.
- Avenell A, MacLennan GS, Jenkinson DJ, et al. Long-term follow-up for mortality and cancer in a randomized placebo-controlled trial of vitamin D(3) and/or calcium (RECORD trial). *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2012; **97:** 614–22.
- 3 Inserm. Inégalités sociales de santé en lien avec l'alimentation et l'activité physique. Paris: Inserm, 2014.
- 4 Gakidou E, Afshin A, Abajobir AA, et al. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet* 2017; **390:** 1345–422.
- 5 World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Diet, nutrition, physical activity and cancer: a global perspective. https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer (accessed Dec 13, 2020).
- 6 World Health Organisation. Global strategy on diet, physical activity, and health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2004.
- 7 World Health Organisation. Ending childhood obesity. Implementation plan: executive summary. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259349/WHO-NMH-PND-ECHO-17.1-eng.pdf (accessed Dec 13, 2020).
- 8 Willett W, Rockström J, Loken B, et al. Food in the anthropocene: the EAT–Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. *Lancet* 2019; **393:** 447–92.
- 9 World Health Organisation, Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations. Sustainable healthy diets. Guiding principle. http://www.fao.org/3/ca6640en/ca6640en.pdf (accessed Dec 14, 2020).
- 10 Afshin A, Sur PJ, Fay KA, et al. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet* 2019; 393: 1958–72.
- 11 Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. GBD Compare. https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/ (accessed Nov 23, 2020).

- 12 Aune D, Giovannucci E, Boffetta P, et al. Fruit and vegetable intake and the risk of cardiovascular disease, total cancer and all-cause mortality—a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Int J Epidemiol* 2017; 46: 1029–56.
- 13 Wang X, Ouyang Y, Liu J, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review and dose-response metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies. *BMJ* 2014; **349**: g4490.
- 14 Afshin A, Micha R, Khatibzadeh S, Mozaffarian D. Consumption of nuts and legumes and risk of incident ischemic heart disease, stroke, and diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2014; **100:** 278–88.
- 15 Zong G, Gao A, Hu FB, Sun Q. Whole grain intake and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Circulation* 2016; **133**: 2370–80.
- 16 Zheng J, Huang T, Yu Y, Hu X, Yang B, Li D. Fish consumption and CHD mortality: an updated meta-analysis of seventeen cohort studies. *Public Health Nutr* 2012; **15**: 725–37.
- 17 Mozaffarian D, Rimm EB. Fish intake, contaminants, and human health: evaluating the risks and the benefits. *JAMA* 2006; **296:** 1885–99.
- 18 Malik VS, Popkin BM, Bray GA, Després J-P, Willett WC, Hu FB. Sugar-sweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 2010; **33**: 2477–83.
- Grootveld M, Percival BC, Grootveld KL. Chronic non-communicable disease risks presented by lipid oxidation products in fried foods. *HepatoBiliary Surg Nutr* 2018; 7: 305–12.
- 20 Chen GC, Lv DB, Pang Z, Liu QF. Red and processed meat consumption and risk of stroke: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2013; **67:** 91–95.
- 21 Superior Health Council. Dietary guidelines for the Belgian adult population. SHC
 Advisory report n°9284. Brussels: CSS, 2019.
- 22 Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations. Food-based dietary guidelines -Belgium. http://www.fao.org/nutrition/education/food-dietaryguidelines/regions/belgium/en/ (accessed Dec 27, 2020).
- 23 EFSA European Food Safety Authority. Scientific opinion on establishing Food-Based Dietary Guidelines. EFSA J 2010; 8: 1460.
- 24 Superior Health Council. Manger et gagner des années de vie, c'est possible ! https://www.health.belgium.be/fr/news/manger-et-gagner-des-annees-de-vie-cestpossible#article (accessed Nov 22, 2020).

- 25 Superior Health Council. FBDG: eat and gain life-years? Doable!, 2019.
- 26 Food in action. L'épi alimentaire, 5 priorités pour mieux manger. https://www.foodinaction.com/epi-alimentaire-priorites-mieux-manger/ (accessed Nov 22, 2020).
- 27 Federal public service Health, food chain safety and environment. Les règles d'étiquetage. https://www.health.belgium.be/fr/alimentation/informations-auxconsommateurs/etiquetage/regles-detiquetage (accessed Dec 28, 2020).
- 28 Federal public service Health, food chain safety and environment. Qu'est-ce que le Nutri-Score. https://www.health.belgium.be/fr/le-nutri-score (accessed Dec 28, 2020).
- 29 Federal public service Economy. Loi relative au régime d'accise des boissons non alcoolisées et du café, 2009.
- 30 De Ridder K, Bel S, Brocatus L, et al. Enquête de consommation alimentaire 2014-2015. Rapport 4: la consommation alimentaire. https://fcs.wivisp.be/nl/Gedeelde%20%20documenten/FRANS/Rapport%204/Rapport_4_FR_finaal.pdf (accessed Dec 28, 2020).
- 31 Vlaams Instituut Gezond Leven. Voedingsdriehoek. https://www.gezondleven.be/themas/voeding/voedingsdriehoek (accessed Nov 22, 2020).
- 32 Food in action. La pyramide alimentaire 2020 : plus équilibrée et plus durable. https://www.foodinaction.com/pyramide-alimentaire-2020-equilibree-durable/ (accessed Nov 22, 2020).
- 33 Plan National Nutrition Santé. Coup de foudre vivement recommandé aux garçons et filles entre 12 et 18. Une initiative du Plan National Nutrition Santé. https://www.health.belgium.be/sites/default/files/uploads/fields/fpshealth_theme_file/guid e_3_12_18ans.pdf (accessed Nov 23, 2020).
- 34 Superior Health Council. Recommandations nutritionnelles pour la Belgique 2016.
 Advisory report n°9285. Bruxelles, 2016.
- 35 Vlaams Instituut Gezond Leven. Overzichtstabel aanbevelingen voeding per leeftijdsgroep - 2014. https://www.gezondleven.be/files/voeding/2014-04-overzichtstabelaanbevelingen-voeding-per-leeftijdsgroep.pdf (accessed Nov 23, 2020).
- 36 Vlaamse Regering. Engagementsverklaring ter onderteuning van het dranken-en tussendoortjeseleidvan scholen.

https://onderwijs.vlaanderen.be/sites/default/files/atoms/files/Engagementsverklaring%20 dranken-%20en%20tussendoortjesbeleid.pdf (accessed Dec 29, 2020).

- 37 Berkman LF, Kawachi I, Glymour M, eds. Social epidemiology. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2014.
- 38 Honjo K. Social epidemiology: definition, history, and research examples. *Environ Health Prev Med* 2004; 9: 193–99.
- 39 Statbel. Evolution of life expectancy at birth in Belgium, per gender, 1885-2019. https://statbel.fgov.be/en/themes/population/mortality-life-expectancy-and-causesdeath/life-expectancy-and-life-tables#panel-11 (accessed Nov 24, 2020).
- 40 Mackenbach JP. Health inequalities: Europe in profile. https://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_determinants/socio_economics/documents/ev_060302_rd0
 6_en.pdf (accessed Nov 24, 2020).
- 41 Acheson D. Independent inquiry into inequalities in health. Report. London: Stationery Office, 1998.
- 42 Marmot MG, Allen J, Goldblatt P, et al. Fair society, healthy lives. The Marmot review. London, England: University College London, 2010.
- 43 Arcaya MC, Arcaya AL, Subramanian SV. Inequalities in health: definitions, concepts, and theories. *Glob Health Action* 2015; **8:** 27106.
- 44 Saunders PR. Social class and stratification. London: Routledge, 1990.
- 45 Duggan CP, Kurpad A, Stanford FC, Sunguya B, Wells JC. Race, ethnicity, and racism in the nutrition literature: an update for 2020. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2020; **112:** 1409–14.
- 46 McCartney G, Popham F, McMaster R, Cumbers A. Defining health and health inequalities. *Public Health* 2019; **172:** 22–30.
- 47 Whitehead M. The concepts and principles of equity and health. *Int J Health Serv* 1992;
 22: 429–45.
- 48 Carter-Pokras O, Baquet C. What is a "health disparity"? *Public Health Rep* 2002; **117:** 426–34.
- 49 Organisation mondiale de la santé. 10 faits sur les inégalités en matière de santé. https://www.who.int/features/factfiles/health_inequities/fr/#:~:text=Les%20in%C3%A9g alit%C3%A9s%20en%20sant%C3%A9%20sont,individu%20que%20pour%20la%20soci %C3%A9t%C3%A9. (accessed Nov 26, 2020).
- 50 Mackenbach JP. Health inequalities persistence and change in modern welfare states. New York: Oxford University Press, 2019.
- 51 Bengtsson T, Dribe M, Helgertz J. When did the health gradient emerge? Social class and adult mortality in southern Sweden, 1813-2015. *Demography* 2020; 57: 953–77.

- 52 Haglund B, Cnattingius S, Nordström ML. Social differences in late fetal death and infant mortality in Sweden 1985-86. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 1993; **7:** 33–44.
- 53 Merghani A, Malhotra A, Sharma S. The U-shaped relationship between exercise and cardiac morbidity. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 2016; **26:** 232–40.
- 54 Aune D, Sen A, Prasad M, et al. BMI and all cause mortality: systematic review and non-linear dose-response meta-analysis of 230 cohort studies with 3.74 million deaths among 30.3 million participants. *BMJ* 2016; 353: i2156.
- 55 Jayasinghe S. Social determinants of health inequalities: towards a theoretical perspective using systems science. *Int J Equity Health* 2015; **14:** 71.
- 56 World Health Organisation. A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Document Production Services, 2010.
- 57 Petrovic D, Mestral C de, Bochud M, et al. The contribution of health behaviors to socioeconomic inequalities in health: a systematic review. *Prev Med* 2018; **113**: 15–31.
- 58 Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA, Lynch JW, Davey Smith G. Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 1). *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2006; **60**: 7–12.
- 59 Krieger N, Williams DR, Moss NE. Measuring social class in US public health research: concepts, methodologies, and guidelines. *Annu Rev Public Health* 1997; **18**: 341–78.
- 60 Mackenbach JP, Stirbu I, Roskam A-JR, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in health in 22 European countries. *New Engl J Med* 2008; **358:** 2468–81.
- 61 Sørensen K, van den Broucke S, Fullam J, et al. Health literacy and public health: a systematic review and integration of definitions and models. *BMC Public Health* 2012;
 12: 80.
- 62 Darmon N, Drewnowski A. Contribution of food prices and diet cost to socioeconomic disparities in diet quality and health: a systematic review and analysis. *Nutr Rev* 2015; 73: 643–60.
- 63 Morris MA, Hulme C, Clarke GP, Edwards KL, Cade JE. What is the cost of a healthy diet? Using diet data from the UK Women's Cohort Study. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2014; 68: 1043–49.
- 64 Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA, Lynch JW, Davey Smith G. Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 2). *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2006; **60:** 95–101.
- 65 Moore GF, Littlecott HJ. School- and family-level socioeconomic status and health behaviors: multilevel analysis of a national survey in wales, United Kingdom. *J Sch Health* 2015; **85:** 267–75.

- 66 Torsheim T, Cavallo F, Levin KA, et al. Psychometric validation of the revised family affluence scale: a latent variable approach. *Child Indic Res* 2016; **9:** 771–84.
- 67 HBSC International Coordinating Centre. Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children.
 World Health Organization collaborative cross-national study. Internal Protocol
 2017/2018. St Andrews, United Kingdom.
- 68 Singh-Manoux A, Martikainen P, Ferrie J, Zins M, Marmot M, Goldberg M. What does self rated health measure? Results from the British Whitehall II and French Gazel cohort studies. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2006; 60: 364–72.
- 69 Quon EC, McGrath JJ. Subjective socioeconomic status and adolescent health: a metaanalysis. *Health Psychol* 2014; **33:** 433–47.
- 70 Hamilton HA, Noh S, Adlaf EM. Perceived financial status, health, and maladjustment in adolescence. Soc Sci Med 2009; 68: 1527–34.
- 71 UNESCO. The Race concept: results of an inquiry. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000073351 (accessed Dec 04, 2020).
- 72 Dressler WW, Oths KS, Gravlee CC. Race and ethnicity in public health research: models to explain health disparities. *Annu Rev Anthropol* 2005; **34:** 231–52.
- 73 Gimeno-Feliu LA, Calderón-Larrañaga A, Díaz E, et al. The definition of immigrant status matters: impact of nationality, country of origin, and length of stay in host country on mortality estimates. *BMC Public Health* 2019; **19:** 247.
- 74 Eurostat. First and second-generation immigrants a statistical overview. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/First_and_second-generation_immigrants_-_a_statistical_overview (accessed Dec 05, 2020).
- 75 Deboosere P, Gadeyne S. Adult migrant mortality advantage in Belgium: evidence using census and register data. *Population* 2005; **60:** 655–98.
- 76 Statbel. Population par lieu de résidence (province), sexe, position dans le ménage, lieu de naissance et âge.

https://bestat.statbel.fgov.be/bestat/crosstable.xhtml?datasource=bbc00068-bfe2-42e2-bdf9-489eec24cfbe (accessed Aug 30, 2021).

- 77 Eurostat. Immigration by age group, sex and country of birth. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/MIGR_IMM3CTB_custom_1240507/def ault/table (accessed Aug 30, 2121).
- 78 Iweps. Population étrangère en Wallonie. https://www.iweps.be/indicateurstatistique/population-etrangere/ (accessed Aug 30, 2021).

- 79 Missinne S, Hercot D, Luyten S, Englert M, Deguerry M. Tableau de bord de la santé en Région bruxelloise - Contexte général. Observatoire de la Santé et du Social de Bruxelles-Capitale. Commission communautaire commune. https://www.cccggc.brussels/sites/default/files/2017-tbs-contextegeneral-bruxelles.pdf (accessed Aug 30, 2021).
- 80 Vandenheede H, Willaert D, Grande H de, Simoens S, Vanroelen C. Mortality in adult immigrants in the 2000s in Belgium: a test of the 'healthy-migrant' and the 'migration-asrapid-health-transition' hypotheses. *Trop Med Int Health* 2015; 20: 1832–45.
- 81 Neuman S. Are immigrants healthier than native residents? IZA World of Labor 2014.
- 82 Méjean C, Traissac P, Eymard-Duvernay S, Delpeuch F, Maire B. Influence of acculturation among Tunisian migrants in France and their past/present exposure to the home country on diet and physical activity. *Public Health Nutr* 2009; 12: 832–41.
- 83 Uitenbroek DG, Verhoeff AP. Life expectancy and mortality differences between migrant groups living in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. *Soc Sci Med* 2002; **54:** 1379–88.
- 84 Abraído-Lanza AF, Dohrenwend BP, Ng-Mak DS, Turner JB. The Latino mortality paradox: a test of the "salmon bias" and healthy migrant hypotheses. *Am J Public Health* 1999; 89: 1543–48.
- 85 Satia-Abouta J. Dietary acculturation: definition, process, assessment, and implications.
 Int J Hum Ecol 2003; 4: 71–86.
- 86 Smith KE, Hill S, Bambra C, eds. Health inequalities. Critical perspectives. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2016.
- 87 Belgian Federal Government. About Belgium. https://www.belgium.be/en/about_belgium (accessed Mar 08, 2021).
- 88 Galster GC. Neighbourhood effects research. New perspectives. Dordrecht, New York: Springer: Springer 2012.
- 89 Sawyer SM, Azzopardi PS, Wickremarathne D, Patton GC. The age of adolescence. Lancet Child Adolesc Heakth 2018; 2: 223–28.
- 90 World Health Organisation. Adolescent health. https://www.who.int/health-topics/adolescent-health#tab=tab_1 (accessed Dec 17, 2020).
- 91 World Health Organisation. Adolescent health. The missing population in universal health coverage. https://www.who.int/pmnch/media/news/2018/Adolescent-Health-Missing-Population-in-UHC.pdf?ua=1 (accessed Dec 18, 2020).
- 92 Viner RM, Ross D, Hardy R, et al. Life course epidemiology: recognising the importance of adolescence. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2015; **69:** 719–20.

- 93 Patton GC, Sawyer SM, Santelli JS, et al. Our future: a Lancet commission on adolescent health and wellbeing. *The Lancet* 2016; **387:** 2423–78.
- 94 Viner RM, Ozer EM, Denny S, et al. Adolescence and the social determinants of health. *Lancet* 2012; **379:** 1641–52.
- 95 World Health Organisation. Nutrition in adolescence. Issues and challenges for the health sector: issues in adolescent health and development. Geneva: WHO, 2005.
- 96 D'Amore S, Lepot A. Dessine comme tu manges. Les adolescents à table. Paris: Editions Fabert, 2019.
- 97 Reijonen JH, Pratt HD, Patel DR, Greydanus DE. Eating disorders in the adolescent population. *J Adolesc Res* 2003; **18**: 209–22.
- 98 Salvy S-J, Vartanian LR, Coelho JS, Jarrin D, Pliner PP. The role of familiarity on modeling of eating and food consumption in children. *Appetite* 2008; **50:** 514–18.
- 99 Desbouys L, Méjean C, de Henauw S, Castetbon K. Socio-economic and cultural disparities in diet among adolescents and young adults: a systematic review. *Public Health Nutr* 2020; 23: 843–60.
- 100 Araújo J, Teixeira J, Gaio AR, Lopes C, Ramos E. Dietary patterns among 13-y-old Portuguese adolescents. *Nutrition* 2015; **31:** 148–54.
- 101 Northstone K, Smith ADAC, Cribb VL, Emmett PM. Dietary patterns in UK adolescents obtained from a dual-source FFQ and their associations with socio-economic position, nutrient intake and modes of eating. *Public Health Nutr* 2014; 17: 1476–85.
- 102 Hosseini SH, Papanikolaou Y, Isalm N, Rashmi P, Shamloo A, Vatanparast H.
 Consumption patterns of grain-based foods among children and adolescents in Canada: evidence from Canadian Community Health Survey-Nutrition 2015. *Nutrients* 2019; 11: 623.
- 103 Serra-Majem L, Ribas L, Ngo J, et al. Food, youth and the Mediterranean diet in Spain. Development of KIDMED, Mediterranean Diet Quality Index in children and adolescents. *Public Health Nutr* 2004; 7: 931–35.
- 104 Vyncke K, Cruz Fernandez E, Fajó-Pascual M, et al. Validation of the Diet Quality Index for Adolescents by comparison with biomarkers, nutrient and food intakes: the HELENA study. *Br J Nutr* 2013; **109**: 2067–78.
- 105 Finger JD, Varnaccia G, Tylleskär T, Lampert T, Mensink GBM. Dietary behaviour and parental socioeconomic position among adolescents: the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents 2003-2006 (KiGGS). *BMC Public Health* 2015; **15**: 498.

- 106 Kastorini CM, Lykou A, Yannakoulia M, Petralias A, Riza E, Linos A. The influence of a school-based intervention programme regarding adherence to a healthy diet in children and adolescents from disadvantaged areas in Greece: the DIATROFI study. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2016; **70**: 671–77.
- 107 Yannakoulia M, Lykou A, Kastorini CM, et al. Socio-economic and lifestyle parameters associated with diet quality of children and adolescents using classification and regression tree analysis: the DIATROFI study. *Public Health Nutr* 2016; **19:** 339–47.
- 108 Vilela S, Muresan I, Correia D, Severo M, Lopes C. The role of socio-economic factors in food consumption of Portuguese children and adolescents: results from the National Food, Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey 2015-2016. *Br J Nutr* 2020; **124:** 591–601.
- 109 Xu F, Cohen SA, Greaney ML, Hatfield DL, Greene GW. Racial/ethnic disparities in US adolescents' dietary quality and its modification by weight-related factors and physical activity. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2019; **16**: 4803.
- 110 Desbouys L, de Ridder K, Rouche M, Castetbon K. Food consumption in adolescents and young adults: age-specific socio-economic and cultural disparities (Belgian Food Consumption survey 2014). *Nutrients* 2019; **11:** 1520.
- 111 Kelly C, Callaghan M, Molcho M, Nic Gabhainn S, Alforque Thomas A. Food environments in and around post-primary schools in Ireland: associations with youth dietary habits. *Appetite* 2019; **132**: 182–89.
- 112 Rasmussen M, Pedersen TP, Johnsen NF, Krølner RF, Holstein BE. Persistent social inequality in low intake of vegetables among adolescents, 2002-2014. *Public Health Nutr* 2018; 21: 1649–53.
- 113 Kolahdooz F, Nader F, Daemi M, Jang SL, Johnston N, Sharma S. Adherence to Canada's Food Guide recommendations among Alberta's multi-ethnic youths is a major concern: findings from the WHY ACT NOW project. *J Hum Nutr Diet* 2018; **31:** 658–69.
- 114 Llull R, Bibiloni M, Pons A, Tur JA. Food consumption patterns of Balearic Islands' adolescents depending on their origin. *J Immigr Minor Health* 2015; **17:** 358–66.
- 115 Bolt-Evensen K, Vik FN, Stea TH, Klepp K-I, Bere E. Consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and artificially sweetened beverages from childhood to adulthood in relation to socioeconomic status 15 years follow-up in Norway. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 2018; 15: 8.
- 116 Fismen A-S, Smith ORF, Torsheim T, et al. Trends in food habits and their relation to socioeconomic status among Nordic adolescents 2001/2002-2009/2010. *PLoS ONE* 2016;
 11: e0148541.

- 117 Chung SJ, Ersig AL, McCarthy AM. Parent, school, and peer factors related to U.S. adolescents' diet and exercise. *J Spec Pediatr Nurs* 2018; **23**: e12227.
- 118 Stahlmann K, Hebestreit A, DeHenauw S, et al. A cross-sectional study of obesogenic behaviours and family rules according to family structure in European children. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 2020; 17: 32.
- 119 Garrido-Fernández A, García-Padilla FM, Sánchez-Ramos JL, Gómez-Salgado J, Travé-González GH, Sosa-Cordobés E. Food consumed by high school students during the school day. *Nutrients* 2020; 12.
- 120 Willett W. Nutritional epidemiology. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press, 2013.
- 121 Lind J. A treatise on the scurvy: in three parts. Containing an inquiry into the nature, causes, and cure, of that disease. Together with a critical and chronological view of what has been published on the subject. S. Crowder, 1772.
- 122 Vir SC. Public health nutrition in developing countries. New Delhi, Philadelphia: Woodhead Pub. India Pvt. Ltd, 2011.
- 123 Magarey A, Watson J, Golley RK, et al. Assessing dietary intake in children and adolescents: Considerations and recommendations for obesity research. *Int J Pediatr Obes* 2011; 6: 2–11.
- 124 Subar AF, Dodd KW, Guenther PM, et al. The food propensity questionnaire: concept, development, and validation for use as a covariate in a model to estimate usual food intake. *J Am Diet Assoc* 2006; **106:** 1556–63.
- 125 Shim J-S, Oh K, Kim HC. Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiol Health* 2014; **36:** e2014009.
- 126 Coulston AM, Boushey C, Ferruzzi MG, Delahanty LM, eds. Nutrition in the prevention and treatment of disease. London, San Diego CA: Academic Press, 2017.
- 127 Cade J, Thompson R, Burley V, Warm D. Development, validation and utilisation of food-frequency questionnaires a review. *Public Health Nutr* 2002; **5:** 567–87.
- 128 Pérez Rodrigo C, Aranceta J, Salvador G, Varela-Moreiras G. Food frequency questionnaires. *Nutr Hosp* 2015; **31:** 49–56.
- 129 Kestenbaum B. Epidemiology and biostatistics. An introduction to clinical research. Cham: Springer International Publishing; Imprint: Springer, 2019.
- 130 Pantzer K, Rajmil L, Tebé C, et al. Health related quality of life in immigrants and native school aged adolescents in Spain. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2006; **60:** 694–98.
- 131 Krieger N. Proximal, distal, and the politics of causation: what's level got to do with it? *Am J Public Health* 2008; **98:** 221–30.

- 132 Link BG, Phelan J. Social conditions as fundamental causes of disease. *J Health Soc Behav* 1995; 35: 80.
- 133 Ahrens W, Pigeot I, eds. Handbook of epidemiology. Berlin, London: Springer, 2004.
- 134 Grimes DA, Schulz KF. Bias and causal associations in observational research. *Lancet* 2002; **359**: 248–52.
- 135 Schisterman EF, Cole SR, Platt RW. Overadjustment bias and unnecessary adjustment in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiology* 2009; **20:** 488–95.
- 136 Roberts C, Freeman J, Samdal O, et al. The Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) study: methodological developments and current tensions. *Int J Public Health* 2009; 54: 140–50.
- 137 HBSC International Coordinating Centre. HBSC. http://www.hbsc.org/ (accessed Mar 13, 2020).
- 138 Lebacq T, Dujeu M, Desnouck V, et al. Evolutions au cours des années d'enquêtes : Comportements, santé et bien-être des élèves en 2018 - Enquête HBSC en Belgique francophone, 2020.
- 139 HBSC Vlaanderen. Over de studie Jongeren en Gezondheid. HBSC in Vlaanderen. https://www.jongeren-en-gezondheid.ugent.be/over-ons/over-de-studie-jongeren-en-gezondheid/ (accessed Sep 04, 2020).
- 140 Maes L, Vereecken C, Hublet A, Bobelijn K, Visscher A de. Jongeren en Gezondheid in Vlaanderen: resultaten survey 2001/02. Eindrapport juli 2002- december 2004. Gent, 2004.
- 141 HBSC Vlaanderen. Jongeren en Gezondheid 2014 : studie. Gent, 2016.
- 142 Roberts C, Currie C, Samdal O, Currie D, Smith R, Maes L. Measuring the health and health behaviours of adolescents through cross-national survey research: recent developments in the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) study. *J Public Health* 2007; 15: 179–86.
- 143 HBSC International Coordinating Centre. Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC): terms of reference. http://www.hbsc.org/about/HBSC%20ToR.pdf (accessed Mar 13, 2020).
- 144 Piette D, Parent F, Coppieters Y, et al. La santé et le bien-être des jeunes d'âge scolaire.Quoi de neuf depuis 1994? Bruxelles: Unité de Promotion Education Santé, 2003.
- 145 Moreau N, Smet P de, Godin I. La santé des élèves de l'enseignement secondaire : résultats de l'enquête HBSC 2010 en Fédération Wallonie-Bruxelles. Bruxelles: Service d'Information Promotion Éducation Santé (SIPES), ESP-ULB, 2013.

- 146 Moreau N, Lebacq T, Dujeu M, Smet P de, Godin I, Castetbon K. Comportements, bienêtre et santé des élèves. Enquête HBSC 2014 en 5e-6e primaire et dans le secondaire en Fédération Wallonie-Bruxelles. Bruxelles: Service d'Information, Promotion, Éducation Santé (SIPES), École de Santé Publique, Université libre de Bruxelles, 2017.
- 147 Lebacq T, Pedroni C, Desnouck V, et al. Alimentation, activité physique, sédentarité et sommeil. Comportements, santé et bienêtre des élèves en 2018 – Enquête HBSC en Belgique francophone. http://sipes.ulb.ac.be (accessed Aug 04, 2020).
- 148 Aaro L, Wold B. Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC), a WHO crossnational survey: research protocol for the 1989-90 study. Bergen, Norway: Research Centre for Health Promotion, University of Bergen, 1989.
- 149 Vereecken CA, Maes L. A Belgian study on the reliability and relative validity of the Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children food-frequency questionnaire. *Public Health Nutr* 2003; 6: 581–88.
- 150 Vereecken CA, Rossi S, Giacchi MV, Maes L. Comparison of a short food-frequency questionnaire and derived indices with a seven-day diet record in Belgian and Italian children. *Int J Public Health* 2008; **53**: 297–305.
- 151 Gouvernement de la Communauté française. Décret organisant un encadrement différencié au sein des établissements scolaires de la Communauté française afin d'assurer à chaque élève des chances égales d'émancipation sociale dans un environnement pédagogique de qualité. Lois 34295, 2009.
- 152 Goldstein H. Multilevel statistical models. Oxford: Wiley, 2011.
- 153 Austin PC, Merlo J. Intermediate and advanced topics in multilevel logistic regression analysis. *Stat Med* 2017; **36:** 3257–77.
- 154 Steele F. Module 7: multilevel models for binary responses. Concepts. http://www.cmm.bris.ac.uk/lemma.
- 155 Regidor E. Measures of health inequalities: part 2. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2004;58: 900–03.
- 156 Renard F, Devleesschauwer B, Speybroeck N, Deboosere P. Monitoring health inequalities when the socio-economic composition changes: are the slope and relative indices of inequality appropriate? Results of a simulation study. *BMC Public Health* 2019; **19:** 662.
- 157 Rouche M, de Clercq B, Lebacq T, et al. Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium. *Nutrients* 2019; **11**: 812.

- 158 Uwawunkonye EG, Anaene O.I.C. A comparative study between ridit and modified ridit analysis. *AJTAS* 2013; **2:** 248–54.
- 159 Sergeant JC, Firth D. Relative index of inequality: definition, estimation, and inference. *Biostatistics* 2006; 7: 213–24.
- 160 Ernstsen L, Strand BH, Nilsen SM, Espnes GA, Krokstad S. Trends in absolute and relative educational inequalities in four modifiable ischaemic heart disease risk factors: repeated cross-sectional surveys from the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT) 1984-2008. BMC Public Health 2012; 12: 266.
- 161 Barros AJD, Hirakata VN. Alternatives for logistic regression in cross-sectional studies: an empirical comparison of models that directly estimate the prevalence ratio. *BMC Med Res Methodol* 2003; 3: 21.
- 162 Blasius J, Greenacre M. Visualization and verbalization of data. Boca Raton: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, 2014.
- 163 Li M, Deng S, Wang L, Feng S, Fan J. Hierarchical clustering algorithm for categorical data using a probabilistic rough set model. *Knowl Based Syst* 2014; **65**: 60–71.
- 164 Jain AK, Murty MN, Flynn PJ. Data clustering: a review. ACM Comput Surv 1999; 31: 264–323.
- 165 Escofier B, Pagès J. Analyses factorielles simples et multiples. Objectifs, méthodes et interprétation. Paris: Dunod, 2008.
- 166 Saporta G. Probabilités, analyse des données et statistique. Paris: Technip, 2011.
- 167 Husson F, Pagès J, Lê S. Analyse de données avec R. Rennes: Presses universitaires de Rennes, 2016.
- 168 LaHuis DM, Ferguson MW. The Accuracy of significance tests for slope variance components in multilevel random coefficient models. *Organ Res Methods* 2009; 12: 418–35.
- 169 Merlo J, Wagner P, Ghith N, Leckie G. An original stepwise multilevel logistic regression analysis of discriminatory accuracy: the case of neighbourhoods and health. *PLoS ONE* 2016; **11**: e0153778.
- 170 Béghin L, Dauchet L, de Vriendt T, et al. Influence of parental socio-economic status on diet quality of European adolescents: results from the HELENA study. *Brit J Nutr* 2014;
 111: 1303–12.
- 171 Drouillet-Pinard P, Dubuisson C, Bordes I, Margaritis I, Lioret S, Volatier J-L. Socioeconomic disparities in the diet of French children and adolescents: a multidimensional issue. *Public Health Nutr* 2017; 20: 870–82.

- 172 Allen ML, Elliott MN, Morales LS, Diamant AL, Hambarsoomian K, Schuster MA.
 Adolescent participation in preventive health behaviors, physical activity, and nutrition:
 differences across immigrant generations for Asians and Latinos compared with Whites. *Am J Public Health* 2007; **97:** 337–43.
- 173 Brown AGM, Houser RF, Mattei J, et al. Diet quality among US-born and foreign-born non-Hispanic blacks: NHANES 2003-2012 data. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2018; **107:** 695–706.
- 174 te Velde SJ, Wind M, van Lenthe FJ, Klepp K-I, Brug J. Differences in fruit and vegetable intake and determinants of intakes between children of Dutch origin and non-Western ethnic minority children in the Netherlands a cross sectional study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 2006; 3: 31.
- 175 Malmusi D, Borrell C, Benach J. Migration-related health inequalities: showing the complex interactions between gender, social class and place of origin. *Soc Sci Med* 2010; 71: 1610–19.
- 176 Inchley J, Currie D, Young T, et al. Growing up unequal. Gender and socioeconomic differences in young people's health and well-being Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) study international report from the 2013/2014 survey. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2016.
- 177 Inchley J, Currie D, Budisavljevic S, et al., eds. Spotlight on adolescent health and wellbeing. Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey in Europe and Canada. International report. Key findings. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2020.
- 178 Barker GG. Choosing the best of both worlds: the acculturation process revisited. *Int J Intercult Relat* 2015; 45: 56–69.
- 179 Voráčová J, Sigmund E, Sigmundová D, Kalman M. Family affluence and the eating habits of 11- to 15-Year-Old Czech Adolescents: HBSC 2002 and 2014. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2016; **13:** 1034.
- 180 Baek YJ, Paik HY, Shim JE. Association between family structure and food group intake in children. *Nutr Res Pract* 2014; **8:** 463–68.
- 181 Chatelan A, Beer-Borst S, Randriamiharisoa A, et al. Major differences in diet across three linguistic regions of Switzerland: results from the first national nutrition survey menuCH. *Nutrients* 2017; 9: 1163.
- 182 Vlaams Instituut Gezond Leven. Historiek. https://www.gezondleven.be/over-gezond-leven/historiek (accessed Mar 08, 2021).

- 183 Gouvernement de la Communauté française. Décret portant organisation de la promotion de la santé en Communauté française, 1997.
- 184 belgium.be. Sixth State Reform. https://www.belgium.be/en/about_belgium/country/history/belgium_from_1830/formatio n federal state/sixth state reform (accessed Aug 03, 2021).
- 185 Statbel. Migration. Total international migration (Belgian and stranger) 1948-2019. https://statbel.fgov.be/en/themes/population/migration#figures (accessed 03/03/21).
- 186 King A, Wold B, Tudor-Smith C., Harel Y. The health of youth: a cross-national survey. A report of the 1993-94 survey results of health behaviour in school-aged children. Copenhague: WHO Regional Office for Europe, 1996.
- 187 Currie C, Roberts C, Morgan A, et al. Young people's health in context. Health behaviour in school-aged children (HBSC) study: international report from the 2001/2002 survey. Copenhaguen: WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2004.
- 188 Currie C, Hurrelmann K., Settertobulte W, Smith R, Todd J. Health and health behaviour among young people. Copenhagen, 2000.
- 189 Kit BK, Fakhouri THI, Park S, Nielsen SJ, Ogden CL. Trends in sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among youth and adults in the United States: 1999-2010. Am J Clin Nutr 2013; 98: 180–88.
- 190 French SA, Lin B-H, Guthrie JF. National trends in soft drink consumption among children and adolescents age 6 to 17 years: prevalence, amounts, and sources, 1977/1978 to 1994/1998. J Am Diet Assoc 2003; 103: 1326–31.
- 191 Rasmussen M, Krølner R, Svastisalee CM, Due P, Holstein BE. Secular trends in fruit intake among Danish schoolchildren, 1988 to 2006: changing habits or methodological artefacts? *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 2008; **5:** 6.
- 192 Ashfield-Watt PAL, Welch AA, Godward S, Bingham SA. Effect of a pilot community intervention on fruit and vegetable intakes: use of FACET (Five-a-day Community Evaluation Tool). *Public Health Nutr* 2007; **10:** 671–80.
- 193 Kirkpatrick SI, Dodd KW, Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM. Income and race/ethnicity are associated with adherence to food-based dietary guidance among US adults and children. *J Acad Nutr Diet* 2012; **112**: 624-635.e6.
- 194 Lasater G, Piernas C, Popkin BM. Beverage patterns and trends among school-aged children in the US, 1989-2008. *Nutr J* 2011; **10:** 103.

- 195 Mendez MA, Miles DR, Poti JM, Sotres-Alvarez D, Popkin BM. Persistent disparities over time in the distribution of sugar-sweetened beverage intake among children in the United States. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2019; **109**: 79–89.
- 196 Shrewsbury VA, Foley BC, Flood VM, et al. School-level socioeconomic status influences adolescents' health-related lifestyle behaviors and intentions. *J Sch Health* 2018; 88: 583–89.
- 197 Micha R, Karageorgou D, Bakogianni I, et al. Effectiveness of school food environment policies on children's dietary behaviors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE* 2018; 13: e0194555.
- 198 van de Gaar VM, Jansen W, van Grieken A, Borsboom GJJM, Kremers S, Raat H. Effects of an intervention aimed at reducing the intake of sugar-sweetened beverages in primary school children: a controlled trial. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 2014; **11**: 98.
- 199 Rauba J, Tahir A, Milford B, et al. Reduction of sugar-sweetened beverage consumption in elementary school students using an educational curriculum of beverage sugar content. *Glob Pediatr Health* 2017; 4: 2333794X17711778.
- 200 Jaime PC, Lock K. Do school based food and nutrition policies improve diet and reduce obesity? *Prev Med* 2009; **48:** 45–53.
- 201 Stewart SD, Menning CL. Family structure, nonresident father involvement, and adolescent eating patterns. *J Adolesc Health* 2009; **45:** 193–201.
- 202 Rouche M, Dierckens M, Desbouys L, et al. Twenty-four-year trends in family and regional disparities in fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among adolescents in Belgium. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2021; **18**: 4408.
- 203 Anctil H, Jobin L, Pigeon M, Émond A. La santé et ses déterminants. Mieux comprendre pour mieux agir. Québec, 2012.
- 204 Esbensen FA, Deschenes EP, Vogel RE, West J, Arboit K, Harris L. Active parental consent in school-based research. An examination of ethical and methodological issues. *Eval Rev* 1996; **20**: 737–53.
- 205 Kim S, Egerter S, Cubbin C, Takahashi ER, Braveman P. Potential implications of missing income data in population-based surveys: an example from a postpartum survey in California. *Public Health Rep* 2007; **122:** 753–63.
- 206 Vlismas K, Stavrinos V, Panagiotakos DB. Socio-economic status, dietary habits and health-related outcomes in various parts of the world: a review. *Cent Eur J Public Health* 2009; **17:** 55–63.

- 207 Lifelines. Data and biobank. https://www.lifelines.nl/researcher/data-and-biobank (accessed May 28, 2021).
- 208 GECCO. Exposure data. https://www.gecco.nl/exposure-data-1/ (accessed May 28, 2021).
- 209 Federal public service Economy. Crossroads Bank for Enterprises. https://economie.fgov.be/en/themes/enterprises/crossroads-bank-enterprises (accessed Jan 04, 2021).
- 210 Denscombe M. Item non-response rates: a comparison of online and paper questionnaires. *Int J Soc Res Methodol* 2009; **12**: 281–91.
- 211 Lee A. Health-promoting schools: evidence for a holistic approach to promoting health and improving health literacy. *Appl Health Econ Health Policy* 2009; **7:** 11–17.
- 212 Dadaczynski K, Hering T. Health promoting schools in Germany. Mapping the implementation of holistic strategies to tackle NCDs and promote health. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2021; **18**: 2623.
- 213 Langford R, Bonell C, Jones H, et al. The World Health Organization's Health Promoting Schools framework: a Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health* 2015; **15:** 130.
- 214 Mejia N, Lightstone AS, Basurto-Davila R, Morales DM, Sturm R. Neighborhood food environment, diet, and obesity among Los Angeles County adults, 2011. *Prev Chronic Dis* 2015; 12: E143.
- 215 Rose G. Sick individuals and sick populations. Int J Epidemiol 2001; 30: 427-32.
- 216 Inserm. Agir sur les comportements nutritionnels. Réglementation, marketing et influence des communications de santé. Montrouge: EDP Sciences, 2017.
- 217 Berkman LF, Kawachi I, Glymour M, eds. Social epidemiology. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2014.
- 218 Steele F. Module 5: introduction to multilevel modelling. Concepts. http://www.cmm.bris.ac.uk/lemma.
- 219 Steele F. Module 6: regression models for binary responses. Concepts. http://www.cmm.bris.ac.uk/lemma.
- 220 Le Roux B, Rouanet H. Geometric data analysis. From correspondence analysis to structured data analysis. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2005.
- 221 Motulsky H. Intuitive biostatistics. A nonmathematical guide to statistical thinking. New York: Oxford University Press, 2018.

222 Costa PS, Santos NC, Cunha P, Cotter J, Sousa N. The use of multiple correspondence analysis to explore associations between categories of qualitative variables in healthy ageing. *J Aging Res* 2013; **2013**: 302163.

* **

Appendix A. Research syntax used in Medline for updating knowledge on dietary disparities

("Diet"[Mesh] OR "Diet" [TIAB] OR "Food"[Mesh:noExp] OR "Fruit"[Mesh] OR "Vegetables"[Mesh] OR "Dairy Products"[Mesh] OR "Nutrition Surveys"[Mesh] OR "Nutrition*" [TIAB])

AND

("Socioeconomic Factors" [Mesh] OR "Socioeconomic Factors" [TIAB] OR "Risk Factors" [Mesh] OR "Ethnic groups" [Mesh] OR "family characteristics" [Mesh] OR "health status" [Mesh] OR "human migration" [Mesh] OR "residence characteristics" [Mesh] OR "Family" [Mesh])

AND

("Europe"[Mesh] OR "Canada"[Mesh] OR "United States"[Mesh] OR "Australia"[Mesh] OR "New Zealand"[Mesh])

AND

("2018/01/01"[PDAT]: "2020/12/31"[PDAT])

AND

("humans"[MeSH Terms])

AND

("adolescent"[MeSH Terms])

Appendix B. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for studies in the literature review

Table B-1. PICOS (Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes and Study design) criteria for inclusion and exclusion of the studies in the literature review

PICOS	Inclusion and exclusion criteria					
Population	General population, 10 to 17 years old, living in Europe, the United					
	States, Canada, Australia or New Zealand.					
	Results specifically presented in adolescent (i.e. 10-17-year-old)					
	subgroup.					
	Excluded: patients, elderly, infant or pre-school children, pregnant					
	or lactating women, overweight or obese persons, those participating					
	in a diet program, persons with eating disorders, specific ethnic groups					
	(e.g. Inuits), refugees, low-income countries or geographic areas such					
	as Asia.					
Intervention	Not applicable.					
Comparison	Of subjects, their parents, their household:					
	- Individual socioeconomic status: education level, income,					
	occupation, employment status.					
	- Contextual socioeconomic status: school status, geographic					
	area status.					
	- Family structure: parenthood, sibling(s), household size.					
	- Sociocultural position: ethnicity, country of origin, migration					
	background.					
Outcome	Diet assessed by usual intake or food frequency, in terms of food					
	groups, food patterns and diet scores.					
	Excluded outcomes: energy, macro- and micronutrient intake, eating					
	behaviour (meal frequency, breakfast skipping, take-away or fast food					
	consumption), and diet assessed through biomarkers.					
Study design	Cross-sectional					
	Longitudinal: description of cohort at baseline or at follow-up point.					

Appendix C. Example of the short Food Frequency Questionnaire in HBSC

Figure C-1. The sFFQ of the 2018 French-speaking HBSC survey.

40. Habituellement, combien de fois par semaine bois-tu ou manges-tu les aliments suivants :

coche une réponse par ligne, stp	Plus d'1 fois par jour, chaque jour	Une fois par jour, chaque jour	5 à 6 jours par semaine	2 à 4 jours par semaine	1 fois par semaine	Moins d' 1 fois par semaine	Jamais
Fruits							
Légumes							
Sucreries (bonbons, chiques, chocolat)							
Coca® et autres boissons sucrées (Fanta®, Caprisun®, Ice Tea®)							
Coca [®] light/zéro et autres boissons light							
Boissons énergétiques (Red Bull [®])							
Lait aromatisé (Cécémel [®] , Fristi [®])							
Lait écrémé ou demi-écrémé							
Lait entier							
Fromages							
Yaourt, fromage blanc							
Crèmes desserts, riz au lait, flans, mousses au chocolat							
Poisson pané (fishstick)							
Poisson non pané							
Céréales pour petit-déjeuner (cornflakes, muesli, Choco pops [®])							
Pain blanc							
Pain gris, multicéréales, complet							
Chips							
Frites							
Eau							

Appendix D. Outlines of multilevel modelling – Methods related to chapters III and V

Multilevel modelling is designed to handle the data structure. In the HBSC surveys, data is organised in a hierarchical structure¹⁵² following the sampling design, with participating adolescents [level 1] nested within classes [level 2], in turn nested in schools [level 3]. Such a structure can result in correlated or non-independent data. Indeed, we might expect that two randomly selected adolescents from the same school should be more alike regarding food frequency consumption than two adolescents from different schools.¹⁵³ In other words, characteristics of the school, particularly in terms of nutrition, might influence adolescent dietary habits. In the analyses of this thesis (chapters III and V), class level is not considered, as dietary habits were not influenced by class characteristics in addition to those of schools.

Single-level modelling

In the absence of such a data structure, single-level modelling is performed. Under these circumstances, are assumed the independence of the observations and the uncorrelation with each other of the residuals denoted e_i .²¹⁸ The equation of the single-level logistic regression model is written as follows:²¹⁹

$$y_i = \beta_0 + \Sigma_{i=1}^{\kappa} \beta_i X_i + e_i$$

with $e_i \sim N(0, \sigma_e^2)$.

Two-level modelling

As mentioned throughout this work, adolescents participating in HBSC surveys are nested within schools. Let's consider that the adolescent *i* belongs to a school *j* and his/her binary response is written y_{ij} . Compared to a one-level model (**Figure D-1**), the residuals in two-level modelling are split into two components: individual residuals denoted e_{ij} and school residuals denoted u_i .²¹⁸



Figure D-1. Graphical representation of a one-level (left) and a two-level (right) binary logistic regressions. When school residuals u_j are not fixed and are assumed to vary across schools, the model is said to be "random intercept model" ¹⁵⁴. Let X_{ij} the individual-level independent variables, Z_j the school-level independent variables, the equation of this model is the following ¹⁵⁴:

$$y_i = \beta_0 + \Sigma_{i=1}^k \beta_i X_{ij} + \Sigma_{l=1}^m \beta_l Z_j + u_j + e_{ij}$$

with $u_j \sim N(0, \sigma_u^2)$ and $e_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma_e^2)$.

The first step in multilevel analyses is to determine whether dietary habits do differ between schools or not. Hence, a likelihood ratio test comparing the one-level model to the two-level random intercept model is performed.¹⁵⁴ When the null hypothesis of no group difference is rejected (P value significant), the two-level model is retained. Indeed, a significant test implies that the more complete (i.e. two-level) model fits better than the less complete (i.e. one-level) model.

In the random intercept model, only the intercept β_0 is allowed to vary while the slope β_i is assumed to be fixed across schools, meaning that the relationship between y and x does not vary across schools. The equation of the **random slope model** is the following:¹⁵⁴

$$y_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} x_{ij} + \Sigma_{i=2}^{\kappa} \beta_{i} X_{ij} + \Sigma_{l=1}^{m} \beta_{l} Z_{j} + u_{0j} + u_{1j} x_{ij} + e_{ij}$$

with $u_{0j} \sim N(0, \sigma_{u0}^2)$, $u_{1j} \sim N(0, \sigma_{u1}^2)$, covariance σ_{u01} and $e_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma_e^2)$.

The slopes of all the independent individual-level variables can be allowed to vary across schools, leading to a very complex and difficult to estimate model. Hence, if the effect of a variable is not different from one group to another, it is not necessary to use a random slope model. To determine whether the slope should be fixed or random, a likelihood ratio test is performed,¹⁶⁸ comparing a first model with a fixed slope nested in a second with a random slope. The random slope model will be retained when the *P* value is significant, meaning that

this model fits better than the fixed slope model. Note that contextual variables, which are specific to schools, may also vary and could be considered at a higher level, i.e. level 3. However, we did not consider such a level in our analyses.

Appendix E. Outlines of Multiple Correspondence Analysis – Methods related to chapter V

Multiple Correspondence Analysis (MCA) is one of the descriptive and multidimensional method of Geometric Data Analysis.²²⁰ MCA is analogous to Principal Component Analysis (PCA), with the difference that MCA is performed on categorical data while PCA on quantitative data. MCA can also be viewed as an extension of Correspondence Analysis (CA), in that it applies to more than two categorical variables.

The main objectives of MCA are:

- *i. "To study similarities between individuals from a multidimensional perspective;*
- *ii.* To assess the relationships between the variables and study the associations between the categories;
- iii. To link together the study of individuals and that of variables in order to characterise the individuals using the variables".¹⁶²

As part of this work, the MCA was performed on *foods available at schools* and is intended to be the preliminary step to hierarchical clustering.¹⁶² Indeed, one solution to avoid stability problems¹⁶³ is to first transform categorical variables into quantitative variables before performing a hierarchical clustering.

Reprocessing data

The first step before performing an MCA is to transform the raw database in an indicator^a matrix (**Figure E-1**).¹⁶² The matrix is of size I x K, with I the set of individuals and K the set of categories. As part of this work, the individuals are the schools and the variables are the foods available for sale at school (10 items, each with two modalities). A value of 1 is assigned when the individual has the category and 0 when he does not. Therefore, y_{ik} equals 1 if the individual *i* has the category *k* of the variable *j*, otherwise 0. Noteworthy in MCA, all the individuals have the same weight: $\frac{1}{I}$. Given that a rare category is much more characteristic of an individual than a frequent category, the proportion of individuals with the category *k* (p_k)

^a An indicator variable (or dummy variable) is a variable that can only takes a value of 0 or 1, corresponding to the absence or presence of a qualitative attribute.²²¹.

is taken into consideration as follows: $\frac{y_{ik}}{p_k}$. MCA is based on the matrix Z, the centred version, with $x_{ik} = \frac{y_{ik}}{p_k} - 1$.¹⁶⁷ $1 \qquad j \qquad J$ $1 \qquad j \qquad K_j \qquad K_j$



Figure E-1. Conversion of a raw database into an indicator matrix. I: individuals; J: variables; K: categories.

Studying individuals

The study of individuals provides information of the similarity between them, i.e. the variability of individuals.¹⁶² For instance, two individuals are similar if they have many categories in common. Conversely, two individuals are different if they have few categories in common. MCA aims to explore this variability from a multidimensional perspective.

Initially, individuals are represented in a vector space \mathbb{R}^{K} , each dimension representing a category k.¹⁶² As a result, the set of individuals forms a cloud N_{I} with a centre of gravity G_{I} . The profile M_{i} has the *principal coordinates* x_{ik} with respect of *principal axes* and a weight of $\frac{1}{I}$. The total inertia of the cloud, "*a multidimensional extension of the concept of variance*", is:¹⁶²

Inertia(N_I) =
$$\frac{1}{I} \sum_{i=1}^{I} d^2(i, G_I) = \frac{K}{J} - 1$$

The distance between individuals, a method of studying similarity, is calculated as follows:¹⁶²

$$d_{i,i'}^2 = \frac{1}{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \frac{1}{p_k} (y_{ik} - y_{i'k})^2$$

Therefore, the distance between two individuals equals zero if they have the same categories. Conversely, the distance is high if one individual has a rare category. Furthermore, the more rare categories an individual has, the further away he will be from the origin (centre of gravity due to data centring):²²⁰

$$d(i, G_I)^2 = \frac{1}{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \frac{y_{ij}}{p_k} - 1$$

Given that the high dimensionality of the space prevents visualisation of the cloud of individuals, the cloud N_I in \mathbb{R}^K can be represented in a lower dimensional space.¹⁶⁷ Among others, one of the challenges is to distort distances between individuals as little as possible and thus, to obtain the more accurate image of the cloud. Therefore, a sequence of orthogonal axes of maximum inertia is searched, with the origin of the axes at the centre of gravity G_I . Afterwards, the cloud N_I is projected on these axes denoted μ_s . The first two orthogonal axes correspond to the plane P, that is the best plane representation.¹⁶⁷ As a result of the projection, the profile M_i has new coordinates, that is the mean of the coordinates of the categories taken by the individual *i*. Let $F_s(i)$ the coordinates of individual *i* and $G_s(i)$ the coordinates of category *k* on the rank axis *s*:¹⁶⁷

$$F_{s}(k) = \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K_{j}} \frac{x_{ik}}{J} G_{s}$$

Therefore, the set of projections of all the points of the cloud N_I on the factorial axis μ_s forms a new synthetic variable F_s .¹⁶⁵ This quantitative synthetic variable is also called *principal component* and summarise all the original categorical variables.¹⁶⁵

Axes are characterised by two mains properties: the eigenvalue and the percentage of inertia. The eigenvalue of the axe s (λ_s) is the inertia of the cloud N_I projected on the axis s, i.e. the variance explained by this axis.¹⁶⁷ The percentage of inertia relates the projected inertia of the cloud N_I to total inertia:¹⁶⁷

$$\frac{\lambda_s}{\sum_{s=1}^K \lambda_s}$$

Noteworthy, the maximum percentage of inertia related to an axis is equal to: $\frac{J}{K-J} \times 100^{.167}$ Therefore, this percentage tend to be weak in MCA.¹⁶² The eigenvalues can be used to determine the number of axes to be retain. The challenge is to find the number of axes that allow both to interpret the data and to preserve as much variability as possible. The scree plot, a line plot of the eigenvalues, can be used to determine the number of dimensions to be kept.²²² The dimensions to be retained are those before the eigenvalues levelling-off. However, only the first plane can also be retained²²² to facilitate data visualisation and interpretation.
From the cloud of individuals, categories can be projected.¹⁶² A category is similar to a group of individuals. Therefore, a category k is at the barycentre^a of the individuals who have chosen this category k. In addition, the origin of the cloud is at the barycentre of the variable's categories. Therefore, the more frequent a category is, the closer it will be to the origin.¹⁶² By visualising the categories in the cloud of individuals, we will be able to observe the structure of the data.

Studying categories

Another way of representing the categories through the barycentre of individuals is to project the cloud of categories in a lower dimensionality space, similarly to the cloud of individuals. The categories are represented in a vector space \mathbb{R}^{I} , each dimension representing an individual *i*.¹⁶² Therefore, the set of categories forms a cloud N_{K} with a center of gravity G_{K} .

The variance of the category k is equal to:¹⁶²

$$var(k) = d^2(k, 0) = \sum_{i=1}^{l} \frac{1}{l} x_{ik}^2 = \frac{1}{p_k} - 1$$

The inertia of the category k and the inertia of the cloud N_K are equal to:¹⁶²

$$Inertia(k) = \frac{1 - p_k}{J}$$

Inertia(N_K) =
$$\frac{1}{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K_j} (1 - p_k) = \frac{K}{J} - 1$$

Therefore, the rarer the category, the further away it is from the origin and the greater the inertia. The distance between two categories is calculated as follows:¹⁶⁷

$$d_{k,k'}^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \left(\frac{y_{ik}}{p_{k}} - \frac{y_{ik'}}{p_{k'}} \right)^{2}$$

As before, in order to represent the cloud N_K in \mathbb{R}^I in a lower dimensional space, a sequence of orthogonal axes of maximum inertia is searched, with the origin of the axes at the centre of gravity G_J . The profile M_k has the coordinates x_{ik} and a weight of $\frac{p_k}{J}$. Afterwards, the cloud N_K is projected on these axes, with the first two orthogonal axes corresponding to a plane P.

^a Centroid, average. The coordinates of the barycentre are the arithmetic mean of the coordinates of all the points

Therefore, the profile M_k has new coordinates, that is the mean of the coordinates of the individuals with the category k:¹⁶⁷

$$G_s(k) = \sum_{i=1}^{l} \frac{x_{ik}}{I_k} F_s(i)$$

From the cloud of categories, individuals can be projected. An individual can be considered as a set of categories he has chosen. Therefore, an individual is at the barycenter of the categories he has.

Duality relation - graphical representation of MCA

The cloud of individuals and the cloud of categories are linked by relations of duality^a. Among others, the clouds N_I and N_J have the same total inertia, that is: $\frac{K}{J} - 1$.¹⁶⁷ In addition, the graph of individuals with the categories at the barycentre and the graph of categories with the individuals at the barycentre are identical to within one multiplier $\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_s}}\right)$:¹⁶⁷

$$F_{s} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}}} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{K_{j}} \frac{x_{ik}}{J} G_{s}$$
$$G_{s}(k) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_{s}}} \sum_{i=1}^{I} \frac{x_{ik}}{I_{k}} F_{s}(i)$$

The latter duality relation makes it possible to obtain the graph of individuals and categories simultaneously. On the graph of individuals (resp. categories), the coordinates of the categories (resp. individuals) are multiplied by λ_s .¹⁶⁷ As a result, the categories (resp. individuals) are now considered to be at the pseudo-barycentre of individuals (resp. categories).¹⁶⁷

^a If the dual of A is B, the dual of B is A

Appendix F. Supplementary material to the article "*Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium*" – Multilevel logistic regression models related to the results in figure form

Fable F-1 . Multilevel multinomial regressions for frui	consumption (reference category:	>once a day) stratified by migration statu	us (n = 19,172). 2	014 HBSC in Belgium.
--	----------------------------------	--	--------------------	----------------------

			Simple multilevel multinomial regression								Mul	iple multilev	el multinomial regress	sion	
		Frui >	it consumption >once a day	Fruit const	mption 5-7 days a we	ek	Fruit c	onsumption <5 days		F	ruit consumption 5-7 d	ays a week	Fruit consumption <	5 days	
										Overall P					Overall P
	Variables	n	%	%	cRRR (IC 95%) b	P value	%	cRRR (IC 95%) ^b	P value	value	aRRR (IC 95%) °	P value	aRRR (IC 95%) °	P value	value
	Gender					0.08			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.03		< 0.001	< 0.001
	Boys	6 872	12.9	29.4	1.10 (0.99-1.23)		57.7	1.68 (1.51-1.87)			1.13 (1.01-1.26)		1.69 (1.53-1.88)		
	Girls	6 481	18.1	35.8	1		46.1	1			1		1		
	Age					0.48			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.55		< 0.001	< 0.001
	10-12 y	3 956	18.7	38.3	1		43.0	1			1		1		
	13-16 y	6 662	14.4	30.7	1.09 (0.93-1.27)		54.9	1.74 (1.50-2.02)			1.07 (0.94-1.21)		1.71 (1.51-1.94)		
	17-19 y	2 735	13.2	28.5	1.11 (0.92-1.34)		58.3	2.02 (1.68-2.43)			1.08 (0.91-1.27)		1.88 (1.61-2.21)		
	Family structure *					0.12			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.05		< 0.001	< 0.001
	Two parents	8 826	16.5	33.7	1		49.8	1			1		1		
	Blended family	2 104	13.2	31.3	1.18 (1.01-1.38)		55.5	1.42 (1.22-1.64)			1.21 (1.03-1.41)		1.46 (1.26-1.69)		
	Single-parent family	2 423	13.5	29.3	1.05 (0.91-1.22)		57.2	1.39 (1.21-1.60)			1.07 (0.92-1.24)		1.29 (1.12-1.49)		
353	Family Affluence Scale ^a					0.29			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.14		< 0.001	< 0.001
3	High	2 7 4 6	19.3	37.5	1		43.2	1			1		1		
Ĩ	Medium	8 826	14.6	32.1	1.10 (0.97-1.26)		53.3	1.59 (1.40-1.80)			1.14 (1.00-1.29)		1.65 (1.46-1.87)		
s (1	Low	1 781	13.4	26.8	1.03 (0.84-1.25)		59.8	1.99 (1.65-2.39)			1.08 (0.89-1.31)		2.13 (1.77-2.56)		
ve	Parental working status ^a					0.3			0.05	0.001					
ati	Both parents working	10 162	15.5	33.4	1.15 (0.98-1.35)		51.1	1.00 (0.86-1.16)							
z	One working, the other at home	1 786	16.1	30.3	1		53.6	1							
	One working, the other not at home	969	14.7	29.4	1.07 (0.83-1.38)		55.9	1.16 (0.92-1.46)							
	None working	436	13.1	28.7	1.27 (0.89-1.81)		58.2	1.46 (1.06-2.02)							
	Siblings					0.31			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.22		< 0.001	< 0.001
	Single child	1 303	11.7	28.6	1.11 (0.91-1.35)		59.7	1.49 (1.23-1.79)			1.13 (0.93-1.38)		1.40 (1.16-1.69)		
	Siblings	12 050	15.8	32.9	1		51.3	1			1		1		
	School Region					< 0.001			< 0.001	< 0.001		< 0.001		< 0.001	< 0.001
	Brussels-Capital	452	20.8	38.1	1		41.1	1			1		1		
	Wallonia	6 507	21.2	34.4	0.84 (0.61-1.15)		44.4	1.00 (0.73-1.37)			0.86 (0.64-1.16)		0.99 (0.74-1.33)		
	Flanders	6 394	9.2	30.2	1.75 (1.26-2.42)		60.6	3.25 (2.35-4.49)			1.76 (1.30-2.38)		3.21 (2.38-4.33)		
	Intercept				2.12 (1.92-2.35)	<0.001		3.40 (3.09-3.75)	<0.001		1.50 (1.10-2.05)	0.01	0.62 (0.46-0.85)	0.003	

				Simple multilevel multinomial regression							Mult	iple multilev	el multinomial regress	sion	
		Fruit >0	consumption once a day	Fruit consu	mption 5-7 days a we	ek	Fruit co	onsumption <5 days		F	ruit consumption 5-7 d	ays a week	Fruit consumption <	5 days	
										Overall P					Overall P
	Variables	n	%	%	cRRR (IC 95%) ^b	P value	%	cRRR (IC 95%) ^b	P value	value	a RRR (IC 95%) °	P value	a RRR (I C 95%) °	P value	value
	Gender					0.29			0.002	0.002		0.28		0.003	0.006
	Boys	2 002	18.8	32.5	1.10 (0.92-1.31)		48.7	1.31 (1.11-1.55)			1.10 (0.92-1.31)		1.29 (1.09-1.53)		
	Girls	2 212	22.3	34.4	1	0.00	43.3	1	-0.001	-0.001	1	0.00	1	-0.001	.0.001
	Age 10.12	1 200	26.0	27.7	1	0.38	26.2	1	<0.001	<0.001	1	0.23	1	<0.001	<0.001
	10-12 y 12 16 y	2 1 2 0 9	20.0	37.7	1 17 (0 94 1 45)		30.5	1 79 (1 44 2 22)			1 20 (0 97 1 47)		1 82 (1 48 2 22)		
_	17-19 v	2 130	17.9	29.4	1.09 (0.83-1.43)		40.J 52.7	2.03 (1.56-2.64)			1.20(0.97 - 1.47) 1.14(0.88 - 1.48)		2 17 (1.68-2.79)		
14]	Family structure ^a	0/5	17.5	27.4	1.07 (0.05-1.45)	0.38	52.7	2.05 (1.50-2.04)	0.07	0.001	1.14 (0.00-1.40)	0.44	2.17 (1.00-2.77)	0.19	0.03
4,2	Two parents	2 861	21.2	35.1	1	0.50	43.7	1	0.07	0.001	1	0.11	1	0.17	0.00
Ę.	Blended family	416	18.7	33.2	1.06 (0.78-1.43)		48.1	1.23 (0.92-1.64)			1.07 (0.79-1.45)		1.22 (0.92-1.64)		
ts	Single-parent family	937	19.6	28.9	0.87 (0.70-1.08)		51.5	1.24 (1.01-1.52)			0.88 (0.71-1.10)		1.16 (0.95-1.43)		
rar	Family Affluence Scale *				. ,	0.39			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.29		< 0.001	< 0.001
ig.	High	716	26.5	38.1	1		35.4	1			1		1		
Ē	Medium	2 519	19.5	33.7	1.14 (0.91-1.43)		46.8	1.71 (1.37-2.15)			1.19(0.95 - 1.48)		1.74 (1.39-2.19)		
	Low	979	19.1	29.7	1.02 (0.77-1.34)		51.2	1.89 (1.45-2.47)			1.10 (0.83-1.44)		1.94 (1.48-2.54)		
tio	Parental working status ^a					0.87			0.39	0.41					
era	Both parents working	2 187	21.3	34.6	1.08 (0.88-1.33)		44.1	0.95 (0.78-1.15)							
en	One working, the other at home	1 172	20.6	32.4	1		47.0	1							
	One working, the other not at home	358	19.0	32.4	1.13 (0.80-1.60)		48.6	1.17 (0.84-1.62)							
Ū.	None working	497	18.7	32.2	1.09 (0.80-1.48)	0.00	49.1	1.14 (0.85-1.53)	0.00	0.07		0.00		0.52	0.72
ĕ	Siblings	215	10.4	20 5	0.07 (0.(0.1.27)	0.88	50.1	1 10 (0 07 1 (2)	0.29	0.27	0.00 (0.70, 1.27)	0.90	1 11 (0 00 1 52)	0.53	0.63
•.	Single child	2 800	19.4	30.5	0.97 (0.69-1.37)		50.1 45.5	1.19 (0.87-1.63)			0.98 (0.70-1.37)		1.11 (0.80-1.53)		
	School Region	3 8 9 9	20.7	33.6	1	<0.001	45.5	1	<0.001	<0.001	1	<0.001	1	<0.001	<0.001
	Brussels-Capital	1 2 2 9	23.3	35.2	1	<0.001	41.5	1	~0.001	<0.001	1	~0.001	1	<0.001	<0.001
	Wallonia	1 811	23.8	34.1	1.00 (0.76-1.32)		42.1	1.05 (0.80-1.38)			0.96 (0.76-1.22)		1.05 (0.83-1.33)		
	Flanders	1 174	12.9	30.8	1.69 (1.22-2.33)		56.3	2.61 (1.91-3.57)			1.60 (1.21-2.12)		2.72 (2.07-3.57)		
	Intercept				1.73 (1.53-1.96)	<0.001		2.37 (2.10-2.67)	<0.001		1.19 (0.88-1.60)	0.25	0.56 (0.51-0.76)	<0.001	
	Gender					0.60			0.14	0.28		0.49		0.18	0.40
	Boys	829	21.2	32.5	1.08 (0.82-1.42)		46.3	1.22 (0.94-1.59)			1.10 (0.84-1.45)		1.20 (0.92-1.57)		
	Girls	776	24.6	33.4	1		42.0	1			1		1		
	Age	2/1	21.2	24.1		0.02	24.6		<0.001	< 0.001		0.01		< 0.001	< 0.001
	10-12 y	361	31.3	34.1	1 41 (1 00 2 00)		34.6	1			1 41 (1 00 1 05)		1 05 (1 11 0 50)		
	13-16 y	825	21.5	32.1	1.41 (1.00-2.00)		46.4	2.01 (1.43-2.82)			1.41 (1.02-1.95)		1.95 (1.41-2.70)		
2)	17-19 y Family structure ^a	419	10.4	55.4	1.70 (1.10-2.00)	0.48	40.2	2.52 (1.69-5.76)	0.08	0.007	1.81 (1.23-2.67)	0.55	2.55 (1.74-5.75)	0.12	0.02
99	Two parents	1.044	23.7	35.3	1	0.40	41.0	1	0.00	0.007	1	0.55	1	0.12	0.02
Ξ	Blended family	192	18.2	28.7	0.99 (0.62-1.59)		53.1	1.59 (1.04-2.44)			0.98 (0.62-1.56)		1.53 (0.99-2.37)		
5	Single-parent family	369	23.0	28.2	0.81 (0.58-1.14)		48.8	1.21 (0.89-1.66)			0.83 (0.59-1.16)		1.20 (0.87-1.65)		
nt;	Family Affluence Scale ^a				,	0.79			0.008	< 0.001	/	0.86	,	0.002	< 0.001
ii.	High	264	26.1	39.8	1		34.1	1			1		1		
Ē	Medium	860	23.1	32.9	0.88 (0.61-1.29)		44.0	1.38 (0.94-2.01)			0.91 (0.63-1.31)		1.42 (0.97-2.08)		
<u> </u>	Low	481	20.6	29.1	0.95 (0.62-1.45)		50.3	1.91 (1.26-2.91)			0.95 (0.62-1.44)		2.10 (1.38-3.21)		
on	Parental working status ^a					0.71			0.83	0.89					
ati	Both parents working	755	22.9	32.1	0.88 (0.63-1.25)		45.0	1.03 (0.74-1.44)							
Iei	One working, the other at home	381	23.1	34.9	1		42.0	1							
ŝ	One working, the other not at home	224	24.1	31.7	0.82 (0.52-1.29)		44.2	0.95 (0.61-1.47)							
rst.	None working	245	21.2	33.5	1.05 (0.67-1.66)	0.70	45.3	1.18 (0.76-1.83)	0.20	0.68		0.71		0.02	0.02
H	Similar	160	20.8	22.2	1 10 (0 60 1 7 4)	0.69	47.0	101/078 1940	0.39	0.68	1.00 (0.60, 1.72)	0.71	1.05 (0.68,1.62)	0.83	0.93
	Siblinge	108	20.8	32.2	1.10 (0.69-1.74)		47.0	1.21 (0.78-1.86)			1.09 (0.69-1.72)		1.05 (0.68-1.63)		
	School Region	1 437	43.1	33.0	1	0.01	43.7	1	<0.001	<0.001	1	0.009	1	<0.001	<0.001
	Brussels-Capital	509	27.7	35.8	1	0.01	36.5	1	~0.001	~0.001	1	0.009	1	~0.001	~0.001
	Wallonia	613	26.4	33.9	1.02 (0.72-1.44)		39.7	1.16 (0.82-1.64)			1.02 (0.74-1.41)		1.26 (0.91-1.73)		
	Flanders	483	13.2	28.6	1.72 (1.14-2.61)		58.2	3.44 (2.31-5.11)			1.74 (1.17-2.57)		3.95 (2.71-5.75)		
	Intercept				1.48 (1.25-1.75)	<0.001		1.99 (1.69-2.34)	<0.001		0.98 (0.62-1.56)	0.94	0.37 (0.23-0.60)	<0.001	

^a For details, see *Methods* section ^b Crude relative risk ratio and 95% confidence interval ^c Adjusted relative risk ratio and 95% confidence interval

			Si	mple multilevel mult	inomial regres	sion				Mult	tiple multile	evel multinomial regres	sion	
		Vegetable consumption								Vegetable consumption	5-7 days a	Vegetable consumption	n<5 days a	
		>once a day	Vegetable co	insumption 5-7 days a	week	Vegetable co	onsumption <5 days a v	veek		week		week		
		,							Overall P					Overall P
Variables	n	%	%	cRRR (IC 95%) ^b	P value	%	cRRR (IC 95%) ^b	P value	value	aRRR (IC 95%) °	P value	a RRR (IC 95%) °	P value	value
Gender					0.06			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.15		< 0.001	< 0.001
Boys	6 817	16.5	58.5	1.10 (1.00-1.21)		25.0	1.68 (1.50-1.88)			1.07 (0.98-1.18)		1.76 (1.57-1.98)		
Girls	6 419	20.0	62.5	1		17.5				1		1		
Age					< 0.001			0.33	< 0.001		< 0.001		0.77	< 0.001
10-12 y	3 912	20.7	55.3	1		24.0	1			1		1		
13-16 y	6 613	17.7	62.2	1.37 (1.20-1.56)		20.1	1.02 (0.88-1.19)			1.36 (1.21-1.53)		0.96 (0.84-1.10)		
17-19 y	2 711	15.8	63.7	1.53 (1.30-1.80)		20.5	1.14 (0.95-1.37)			1.51 (1.30-1.75)		1.01 (0.85-1.20)		
Family structure *					0.09			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.17		0.002	< 0.001
Two parents	8 754	18.9	60.7	1		20.4	1			1		1		
Blended family	2 084	17.5	63.1	1.14 (1.00-1.30)		19.4	1.04 (0.89-1.22)			1.13 (0.99-1.30)		1.00 (0.85-1.17)		
 Single-parent family 	2 398	16.1	57.3	1.10 (0.97-1.25)		26.6	1.52 (1.31-1.76)			1.05 (0.92-1.20)		1.30 (1.11-1.51)		
Family Affluence Scale "					< 0.001			< 0.001	< 0.001		< 0.001		< 0.001	< 0.001
e High	2 7 2 8	23.5	60.2	1		16.3	1			1		1		
🗓 Medium	8 7 4 3	17.2	61.3	1.37 (1.23-1.54)		21.5	1.78 (1.54-2.05)			1.39 (1.24-1.56)		1.77 (1.54-2.04)		
Low	1 765	15.0	56.3	1.45(1.22-1.72)		28.7	2.74 (2.25-3.34)			1.52 (1.27-1.82)		2.54 (2.07-3.12)		
Parental working status *					0.17			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.16		0.05	< 0.001
Both parents working	10 074	18.4	61.6	1.14 (0.99-1.30)		20.0	0.86 (0.73-1.01)			1.16 (1.01-1.33)		0.93 (0.79-1.10)		
Z One working, the other at home	1 773	19.0	56.7	1		24.3	1			1		1		
One working, the other not at home	957	15.4	57.9	1.26 (1.01-1.58)		26.7	1.36 (1.06-1.75)			1.22 (0.97-1.54)		1.25 (0.97-1.62)		
None working	432	16.9	53.5	1.10 (0.82-1.48)		29.6	1.42 (1.02-1.97)			1.09 (0.80-1.47)		1.18 (0.85-1.65)		
Siblings					0.21			0.002	0.002		0.51		0.008	0.007
Single child	1 295	15.4	59.5	1.11(0.94 - 1.31)		25.1	1.36 (1.12-1.64)			1.06 (0.90-1.25)		1.29 (1.07-1.56)		
Siblings	11 941	18.5	60.6	í		20.9	í			1		í		
School Region					< 0.001			< 0.001	< 0.001		< 0.001		< 0.001	< 0.001
Brussels-Capital	451	20.4	58.5	1		21.1	1			1		1		
Wallonia	6 4 3 2	22.9	53.7	0.78 (0.58-1.05)		23.4	0.94 (0.67-1.33)			0.77 (0.58-1.02)		0.94 (0.68-1.31)		
Flanders	6 353	13.3	67.4	1.68 (1.24-2.28)		19.3	1.34 (0.94-1.90)			1.67 (1.25-2.23)		1.32 (0.94-1.85)		
Intercept				3.39 (3.13-3.67)	<0.001		1.20 (1.10-1.30)	<0.001		7.55 (1.12-2.15)	0 009	0.48 (0.33-0.71)	<0.001	

Table F-2. Multilevel multinomial regressions for vegetable consumption (reference category: >once a day) stratified by migration status (n = 18,974). 2014 HBSC in Belgium.

				Simple multilevel multinomial regression						Mult	iple multilev	el multinomial regres	sion		
		Veg	table consumption	Vegetable co	nsumption 5-7 days a	week	Vegetable co	nsumption <5 days a	week	V	egetable consumption	5-7 days a V	egetable consumptio	n <5 days a	
			>once a day	vegetable to	isumption 5-7 days a	WEEK	vegetable co	insumption <5 days a	WEEK		week		week		
										Overall P					Overall P
	Variables	n	%	%	cRRR (IC 95%)	P value	%	cRRR (IC 95%)	P value	value	aRRR (IC 95%)	P value	aRRR (IC 95%) °	P value	value
	Bowe	1 0 4 9	171	44.4	1 27 (1 07 1 51)	0.006	29.5	1 66 (1 20 1 09)	<0.001	<0.001	1 22 (1 02 1 44)	0.02	1 68 (1 41 2 01)	<0.001	<0.001
	Cirls	2 188	22.7	44.4	1.27 (1.07-1.51)		30.8	1.00 (1.39=1.98)			1.22 (1.03-1.44)		1.08 (1.41-2.01)		
	Age	2 100	10 Acres 17	10.0		0.05	00.0		0.24	0.19		0.008		0.40	0.01
	10-12 v	1 1 9 0	22.9	42.8	1	0.000	34.3	1	0 Mil 1	0127	1	01000	1	0110	0101
	13-16 v	2 101	18.5	46.8	1.31 (1.05-1.62)		34.7	1.21 (0.97-1.51)			1.36 (1.11-1.67)		1.15 (0.93-1.42)		
	17-19 y	865	19.8	46.2	1.22 (0.94-1.62)		34.0	1.12 (0.86-1.47)			1.35 (1.05-1.73)		1.05 (0.81-1.36)		
156	Family structure *					0.35			0.06	0.002		0.29		0.19	0.02
4	Two parents	2 814	20.4	44.5	1		35.1	1			1		1		
Ë	Blended family	411	20.7	53.5	1.20 (0.91-1.58)		25.8	0.73 (0.53-0.99)			1.17 (0.89-1.55)		0.78 (0.57-1.07)		
nts	Single-parent family	931	18.7	45.2	1.10 (0.90-1.36)		36.1	1.11 (0.90-1.38)			1.16 (0.93-1.44)		1.07 (0.86-1.34)		
gra	Family Affluence Scale *					0.02			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.04		< 0.001	< 0.001
Ĩ	High	708	25.7	49.9	1		24.4	1			1		1		
<u> </u>	Medium	2 483	18.4	46.5	1.19 (0.96-1.49)		35.1	1.84 (1.44-2.35)			1.26 (1.01-1.57)		1.79 (1.40-2.29)		
E.	Low	965	20.0	39.9	0.91 (0.70-1.18)	0.05	40.1	1.86 (1.40-2.47)	0.001	-0.001	1.03 (0.78-1.36)	0.10	1.73 (1.28-2.33)	0.000	-0.001
ati	Parental working status	2 1 5 2	21.0	50.1	1 12 (0 02 1 20)	0.05	28.0	0 (7 (0 54 0 82)	0.001	<0.001	1.07 (0.97.1.21)	0.19	0.70 (0.56, 0.86)	0.008	<0.001
Jer.	One working the other at home	2 155	21.0	50.1 41.7	1.15 (0.92-1.56)		20.9	0.67 (0.54-0.65)			1.07 (0.87-1.51)		0.70 (0.56-0.66)		
ger	One working, the other not at home	354	10.1	41.7	1 00 (0 72-1 39)		40.2	0.89 (0.63-1.25)			0.93 (0.66-1.31)		0.88 (0.62-1.26)		
Ę.	None working	490	20.6	36.1	0.76(0.56-1.02)		43.3	0.94 (0.70-1.26)			0.78 (0.57-1.05)		0.93 (0.68-1.25)		
Ū.	Siblings	170	20.0	50.1	0.70 (0.50 1.02)	0.15	10.0	0.94 (0.70 1.20)	1	0.14	0.70 (0.57 1.05)	0.25	0.55 (0.00 1.25)	0.81	0.19
s	Single child	311	18.3	50.8	1.27 (0.92-1.75)	0110	30.9	1.00 (0.71-1.41)		0111	1.21 (0.88-1.67)	0120	0.96 (0.68-1.36)	0101	0117
	Siblings	3 845	20.2	45.1	1		34.7	1			1		1		
	School Region					0.001			0.001	0.001		< 0.001		< 0.001	< 0.001
	Brussels-Capital	1 209	21.3	37.4	1		41.3	1			1		1		
	Wallonia	1 785	23.5	46.9	1.16 (0.90-1.50)		29.6	0.66 (0.51-0.86)			1.09 (0.87-1.38)		0.70 (0.55-0.89)		
	Flanders	1 162	13.3	51.9	2.20 (1.64-2.93)		34.8	1.33 (0.99-1.79)			2.09 (1.59-2.74)		1.39 (1.06-1.83)		
	Intercept				2.34 (2.10-2.62)	<0.001		1.77 (1.58-1.98)	<0.001	0.02	1.10 (0.79-1.54)	0.56	1.04 (0.73-1.47)	0.84	0.000
	Gender	P10	10.4	20.7	1.00 (0.82 1.42)	0.55	10.0	1 20 /1 06 1 84)	0.02	0.03	1.00 (0.76, 1.22)	1	1 20 (1 05 1 84)	0.02	0.009
	Cirls	763	23.1	39.7	1.09 (0.65-1.45)		40.9	1.59 (1.00-1.04)			1.00 (0.76-1.52)		1.59 (1.05-1.64)		
	Age	705	20.1	42.0	1	0.20	54.5	1	0.19	0.37	1	0.14		0.33	0.38
	10-12 v	357	24.9	39.2	1	0.20	35.9	1	0.17	0.07	1	0.11	1	0.00	0.00
	13-16 v	811	20.2	42.2	1.36 (0.96-1.94)		37.6	1.33 (0.93-1.90)			1.37 (0.97-1.93)		1.24 (0.87-1.75)		
	17-19 y	414	19.8	40.6	1.34 (0.89-2.01)		39.6	1.43 (0.95-2.15)			1.42 (0.96-2.12)		1.34 (0.90-2.00)		
32)	Family structure ^a					0.69			0.27	0.18		0.97		0.41	0.59
5	Two parents	1 029	22.1	41.1	1		36.8	1			1		1		
Ъ	Blended family	189	20.1	46.6	1.20 (0.79-1.84)		33.3	0.96 (0.62-1.50)			1.04 (0.67-1.60)		0.97 (0.62-1.53)		
ts (Single-parent family	364	19.2	38.2	1.05 (0.75-1.46)		42.6	1.30 (0.93-1.82)			1.04 (0.73-1.48)		1.26 (0.88-1.78)		
an	Family Affluence Scale *					0.31			0.005	< 0.001		0.50		0.01	0.003
. <u>5</u>	High	262	26.3	46.6	1		27.1	1			1		1		
8	Medium	849	19.9	43.1	1.15 (0.80-1.66)		37.0	1.70 (1.14-2.52)			1.19 (0.82-1.73)		1.66 (1.11-2.48)		
ці.	Low	471	20.6	34.4	0.90 (0.60-1.36)	0.22	45.0	2.02 (1.32-3.11)	0.(2	0.05	1.02 (0.66-1.58)	0.54	2.00 (1.27-3.15)	0.00	0.02
tio	Parental working status	740	20.7	44.2	1.24 (0.06.1.99)	0.55	25.1	1.01 (0.72, 1.42)	0.62	0.25	1 26 (0 80 1 77)	0.56	1.06 (0.75.1.50)	0.88	0.85
era	One working the other at home	272	20.7	44.2	1.34 (0.96-1.66)		20.2	1.01 (0.72-1.42)			1.20 (0.09-1.77)		1.00 (0.75-1.50)		
u a	One working, the other not at home	221	18.6	39.8	1 34 (0 84-2 13)		41.6	1 32 (0 83-2 10)			1 32 (0 81-2 15)		1 20 (0 74-1 94)		
ŝ.	None working	240	21.3	38.7	1.04(0.04-2.15) 1.12(0.72-1.75)		40.0	1.09 (0.70-1.70)			1.19 (0.75-1.88)		1.00 (0.64-1.57)		
irs	Siblings	= 10	=1.0	000	= (0= 1.0.0)	0.47	10.0	1.0.2 (0.0.0 1.0.0)	0.95	0.59		0.63	100 (000 1 107)	0.65	0.52
щ	Single child	165	20.0	44.8	1.18 (0.75-1.83)		35.2	0.98 (0.62-1.56)		/	1.12 (0.71-1.75)		0.90 (0.57-1.43)	2.200	
	Siblings	1 417	21.3	40.7	1		38.0	· 1			1		1		
	School Region					< 0.001			0.01	< 0.001		< 0.001		0.01	< 0.001
	Brussels-Capital	496	25.0	32.5	1		42.5	1			1		1		
	Wallonia	609	24.0	40.2	1.38 (0.96-1.99)		35.8	0.94 (0.65-1.35)			1.35 (0.95-1.93)		0.96 (0.68-1.37)		
	Flanders	477	13.6	51.2	3.12 (2.06-4.72)		35.2	1.64 (1.08-2.48)			3.01 (2.01-4.51)		1.67 (1.11-2.51)		
	Intercent				2712717322411	201001		1 8711 58-2 711	<0.001		11747043-1271	0.27	(164 (036-111)	0.11	

^a For details, see *Methods* section ^b Crude relative risk ratio and 95% confidence interval ^c Adjusted relative risk ratio and 95% confidence interval

Table F-3. Multilevel logistic regressions for fish consumption (reference category: ≥two days a week) stratified by migration status (n = 18,924). 2014 HBSC in Belgium.

			Simple multil	evel logistic regr	ession		Multiple multilevel	logistic
			Fish consumption ≥two days a week	Fish consu	mption <two a="" days="" th="" we<=""><th>ek</th><th>Fish consumption <tv week</tv </th><th>vo days a</th></two>	ek	Fish consumption <tv week</tv 	vo days a
	Variables	n	%	%	cOR (IC 95%) ^b	P value	aOR (IC 95%) °	P value
	Gender	6.679	18 5	81.5	0.77 (0.70-0.85)	<0.001	0.78 (0.71-0.86)	<0.001
	Girls	6 407	14.8	85.2	1		1	
	Age					0.77		0.69
	10-12 y	3 897	16.0	84.0	1		1	
	13-16 y 17-19 y	6 585 2 704	17.1	82.9	0.96 (0.84-1.08)		0.95 (0.84-1.08)	
	Family structure ^a	2701	10.0	00.2	0.00 (0.00 1.12)	0.002	0.01 (0.01 1.10)	0.006
	Two parents	8 722	17.4	82.6	1		1	
	Blended family	2 082	14.2	85.8	1.28 (1.11-1.46)		1.26 (1.09-1.44)	
86)	Family Affluence Scale ^a	2 302	10.5	65.5	1.08 (0.95-1.22)	< 0.001	1.04 (0.91-1.18)	< 0.001
13,1	High	2 7 2 8	20.7	79.3	1		1	
Ē	Medium	8 698	16.0	84.0	1.36 (1.21-1.52)		1.34 (1.20-1.50)	
es	Low Parental working status ^a	1760	14.0	86.0	1.59 (1.34-1.88)	0.19	1.57 (1.32-1.87)	0.55
ativ	Both parents working	10 034	17.0	83.0	0.97 (0.84-1.11)	0.17	1.01 (0.88-1.17)	0.55
Z	One working, the other at home	1 767	16.5	83.5	1		1	
	One working, the other not at home	958	14.2	85.8	1.20 (0.96-1.49)		1.10 (0.88-1.38)	
	Siblings	427	16.9	83.1	0.96 (0.72-1.28)	0.43	0.87 (0.65-1.16)	
	Single child	1 291	17.7	82.3	0.94 (0.81-1.10)	0.40		
	Siblings	11 895	16.6	83.4	1			
	School Region		21.2	20.2		0.03		0.04
	Brussels-Capital Wallonia	445 6 4 2 1	21.3	78.7	1 1 46 (1 10-1 94)		1 1 44 (1 08-1 91)	
	Flanders	6 320	17.1	82.9	1.42 (1.06-1.89)		1.43 (1.08-1.90)	
	Intercept				5.12 (4.80-5.45)	<0.001	3.16 (2.28-4.36)	<0.001
	Gender	1.075	20.1	70.0	0.77 (0.67,0.00)	< 0.001	0.77 (0.66, 0.80)	< 0.001
	Girls	2 184	29.1	70.9	0.77 (0.67-0.89)		0.77 (0.66-0.88)	
	Age	2101	40 X 140	,010	1	0.54	*	0.30
	10-12 y	1 188	27.3	72.7	1		1	
_	13-16 y 17 19 y	2 104	26.7	73.3	1.05 (0.88-1.26)		1.06 (0.90-1.26)	
59)	Family structure ^a	807	20.1	74.9	1.13 (0.91-1.41)	0.04	1.18 (0.90-1.40)	0.19
=4,1	Two parents	2 823	27.7	72.3	1		1	
ü.	Blended family	412	21.1	78.9	1.36 (1.05-1.76)		1.26 (0.98-1.64)	
ant	Single-parent family	924	25.4	74.6	1.12 (0.94-1.33)	0.001	1.08 (0.90-1.29)	<0.001
igi	High	708	31.2	68.8	1	0.001	1	<0.001
8	Medium	2 486	25.3	74.7	1.41 (1.16-1.71)		1.43 (1.18-1.73)	
л.	Low	965	26.2	73.8	1.43 (1.14-1.80)		1.53 (1.21-1.93)	
atio	Parental working status "	2 156	24.9	75.1	1 13 (0 96-1 34)	0.001	1 17 (0 98-1 38)	<0.001
ner	One working, the other at home	1 153	28.1	71.9	1.15 (0.96-1.94)		1.17 (0.96-1.90)	
-fee	One working, the other not at home	356	21.3	78.7	1.42 (1.07-1.90)		1.29 (0.96-1.74)	
ono	None working	494	33.4	66.6	0.79 (0.63-1.00)	0.10	0.75 (0.59-0.95)	
Sec	Single child	311	22.8	77.2	1 21 (0 91-1 60)	0.18		
	Siblings	3 848	26.8	73.2	1			
	School Region					< 0.001		< 0.001
	Brussels-Capital Wallonia	1 210	34.1	65.9	1 02 (1 50 2 22)		1 87 (1 55 2 27)	
	Flanders	1 1 5 9	21.6	73.9	1.92 (1.39-2.33)		1.87 (1.35-2.27)	
	Intercept				2.98 (2.71-3.29)	<0.001	1.38 (1.05-1.81)	0.02
	Gender					0.44		0.46
	Boys	808	31.6	68.4 66.7	1.09 (0.88-1.35)		1.09 (0.87-1.35)	
	Age	//1	55.5	00.7	1	0.16	1	0.10
	10-12 y	357	28.0	72.0	1		1	
	13-16 y	808	33.7	66.3	0.77 (0.58-1.02)		0.75 (0.57-0.99)	
ê	17-19 y Family structure ^a	414	33.8	66.2	0.77 (0.56-1.06)	0.009	0.75 (0.55-1.02)	0.03
22	Two parents	1 0 2 5	34.9	65.1	1	0.009	1	0.05
1	Blended family	191	24.6	75.4	1.64 (1.15-2.34)		1.58 (1.10-2.28)	
ts (Single-parent family	363	29.5	70.5	1.29 (0.99-1.67)		1.24 (0.94-1.63)	
ran	Family Affluence Scale "	261	35.6	64.4	1	0.22	1	0.16
nig	Medium	846	30.5	69.5	1.27 (0.94-1.72)		1.34 (1.00-1.63)	
Ë.	Low	472	34.1	65.9	1.10 (0.79-1.54)		1.25 (0.89-1.77)	
ion	Parental working status ^a		20.2	(0.0	1 44 /1 11 1 00	0.03	1 41 /1 00 1 0 4	0.08
erat	Both parents working One working the other at home	745	30.2 38.7	69.8 61.3	1.44 (1.11-1.88)		1.41 (1.08-1.84)	
e ne	One working, the other not at home	219	29.2	70.8	1.53 (1.07-2.19)		1.32 (0.91-1.93)	
st-g	None working	240	32.5	67.5	1.33 (0.94-1.88)		1.33 (0.93-1.88)	
Eir	Siblings	a =	o · -	== -	1.05 (0.01.1.05)	0.10		
	Single child Siblings	165 1 4 1 4	26.7	73.3	1.35 (0.94-1.95)			
	School Region	1414	55.1	00.9	1	0.007		0.02
	Brussels-Capital	504	37.9	62.1	1		1	_
	Wallonia	600	30.0	70.0	1.42 (1.11-1.83)		1.39 (1.07-1.80)	
	Interent	4/5	29.7	/0.3	2.12 (1.88-2.40)	<0.001	1.37 (1.04-1.81)	0.53

httercept ^b For details, see *Methods* section ^b Crude odds ratio and 95% confidence interval ^c Adjusted odds ratio and 95% confidence interval

Table F-4. Multilevel logistic regressions for dairy product consumption (reference category: >once a day) stratified by migration status (n = 18,541). 2014 HBSC in Belgium.

			Simple multilevel	logistic regressi	on		Multiple multilevel logistic	regression
			Dairy product consumption	Dairy produc	t consumption ≤once	a dav		-
	Variables		>once a day	o/	*OP (ICOF%) ^b	Davalua	Dairy product consumption	≤once a day
	Gender	n	70	70	COK (IC 95%)	<0.001	aOK (IC 95%)	20.001
	Boys	6 6 4 5	83.0	17.0	0.70 (0.64-0.77)		0.70 (0.64-0.77)	
	Girls	6 290	76.7	23.3	1	0.03	1	<0.001
	10-12 y	3 804	82.3	17.7	1	0.05	1	<0.001
	13-16 y	6 472	79.1	20.9	1.19 (1.04-1.35)		1.23 (1.11-1.37)	
	17-19 y	2 659	78.6	21.4	1.20 (1.03-1.40)	0.70	1.27 (1.12-1.45)	
	Two parents	8 560	80.1	19.9	1	0.79		
	Blended family	2 0 3 2	80.0	20.0	0.99 (0.88-1.12)			
(2)	Single-parent family	2 343	79.2	20.8	1.04 (0.92-1.17)	0.11		
2,93	High	2 659	81.0	19.0	1	0.11		
1	Medium	8 552	80.1	19.9	1.07 (0.95-1.20)			
es (Low	1 724	77.7	22.3	1.18 (1.01-1.39)	0.00		
ativ	Both parents working	9 844	80.4	19.6	0.97 (0.85-1.10)	0.90		
Ž	One working, the other at home	1 740	79.0	21.0	1			
	One working, the other not at home	932	78.4	21.6	1.02 (0.84-1.24)			
	None working Siblings	419	77.6	22.4	0.99 (0.76-1.29)	0.03		0.03
	Single child	1 269	78.2	21.8	1.17 (1.02-1.35)	0.05	1.18 (1.02-1.36)	0.05
	Siblings	11 666	80.1	19.9	1		1	
	School Region Brussels-Capital	445	72.6	27.4	1	<0.001	1	<0.001
	Wallonia	6 355	74.7	25.3	0.88 (0.69-1.11)		0.88 (0.70-1.10)	
	Flanders	6 135	85.9	14.1	0.43 (0.33-0.54)		0.43 (0.34-0.55)	
	Intercept Candar				0.24 (0.22-0.26)	<0.001	0.38 (0.30-0.48)	<0.001
	Boys	1 931	81.7	18.3	0.68 (0.58-0.80)	<0.001	0.69 (0.59-0.81)	<0.001
	Girls	2 1 3 0	75.3	24.7	1		1	
	Age 10.12	1 1 5 2	84.7	15.2	1	< 0.001	1	< 0.001
	13-16 v	2 056	76.9	23.1	1.64 (1.35-2.01)		1.68 (1.39-2.04)	
Ē	17-19 y	853	73.3	26.7	1.97 (1.56-2.48)		1.93 (1.55-2.41)	
1,06	Family structure a	2 752	70 7	21.2	1	0.64		
j=L	Blended family	404	79.2	20.8	0.99 (0.76-1.29)			
nts	Single-parent family	905	77.1	22.9	1.09 (0.91-1.31)			
gra	Family Affluence Scale "	690	70.7	20.2	1	0.74		
Ē	Medium	2 432	79.7	20.3	1.09 (0.88-1.35)			
n ir	Low	940	78.0	22.0	1.07 (0.83-1.38)			
atic	Parental working status "	2.105	70.2	20.7	0.05 (0.80.1.14)	0.50		
ner	One working, the other at home	1 1 30	79.5 78.1	20.7	0.95 (0.80-1.14)			
-ge	One working, the other not at home	345	75.4	24.6	1.18 (0.88-1.57)			
ouc	None working	481	77.1	22.9	1.02 (0.79-1.33)	0.17		0.00
Sec	Single child	310	75.8	24.2	1.22 (0.92-1.61)	0.16	1.28 (0.97-1.69)	0.08
	Siblings	3 751	78.6	21.4	1		1	
	School Region	1.100		25.5		< 0.001		< 0.001
	Brussels-Capital Wallonia	1 189	74.5	25.5	0.90 (0.75-1.08)		1 0.91 (0.77-1.08)	
	Flanders	1 1 1 0	85.4	14.6	0.50 (0.40-0.63)		0.53 (0.43-0.65)	
	Intercept				0.25 (0.23-0.28)	<0.001	0.25 (0.21-0.31)	<0.001
	Boys	795	83.4	16.6	0.66 (0.51-0.86)	0.002	0.68 (0.52-0.88)	0.004
	Girls	750	77.2	22.8	1		1	
	Age	2.42		17.0		0.32		0.44
	10-12 y 13-16 y	343 792	82.8 80.4	17.2	1 17 (0.83-1.63)		1 19 (0 84-1 67)	
	17-19 y	410	78.3	21.7	1.33 (0.92-1.93)		1.28 (0.87-1.86)	
45)	Family structure *					0.06		
=1,5	Two parents Blended family	1 006	82.1 77 1	17.9	1 38 (0 94-2 01)			
ä,	Single-parent family	351	77.2	22.8	1.37 (1.01-1.85)			
ant	Family Affluence Scale *					0.20		
nign	High Medium	257	84.1 80.4	15.9	1 1 28 (0 87-1 86)			
	Low	462	78.4	21.6	1.45 (0.96-2.17)			
io	Parental working status ^a			40.1		0.34		
rati	Both parents working One working the other at home	730	81.6 79.8	18.4	0.89 (0.65-1.23)			
ene	One working, the other not at home	213	79.8	23.9	1.25 (0.83-1.87)			
st-g	None working	235	81.3	18.7	0.90 (0.59-1.37)			
Fir	Siblings Single child	160	77 5	22.5	1.21 (0.82-1.80)	0.34	1 23 (0 83-1 84)	0.30
	Siblings	1 385	80.7	19.3	1.21 (0.02-1.00)		1.23 (0.03-1.04)	
	School Region					0.12		0.24
	Brussels-Capital Wallonia	485	78.1	21.9	1		1 0 95 /0 60 1 22	
	Flanders	460	79.8 83.5	16.5	0.70 (0.50-0.99)		0.75 (0.52-1.07)	
	Intercept				0.24 (0.21-0.28)	<0.001	0.27 (0.19-0.39)	<0.001

^a For details, see *Methods* section ^b Crude odds ratio and 95% confidence interval ^c Adjusted odds ratio and 95% confidence interval

Table F-5. Multilevel logistic regressions for crips and fries consumption (reference category: <once a day) stratified by migration status (n = 18,853). 2014 HBSC in Belgium.

			Simple multilevel	logistic regressi	on		Multiple multilevel logistic	regression
			Chips and fries consumption <once a day</once 	Chips and fr	ies consumption ≥once	a day	Chips and fries consumptio day	on≥once a
	Variables	n	4 44 y %	%	cOR (IC 95%) ^b	P value	aOR (IC 95%) °	P value
	Gender	6 769	88.6	11.4	1 55 (1 37-1 76)	<0.001	1.62 (1.43-1.83)	< 0.001
	Girls	6 393	92.0	8.0	1.55 (1.57 1.76)		1.02 (1.40 1.00)	
	Age 10-12 y	3 881	80.1	9.9	1	0.004	1	0.002
	13-16 y	6 566	89.8	10.2	1.13 (0.94-1.35)		1.06 (0.91-1.25)	
	17-19 y	2 715	91.7	8.3	0.84 (0.67-1.05)	-0.001	0.78 (0.64-0.96)	-0.001
	Two parents	8 709	91.5	8.5	1	<0.001	1	<0.001
	Blended family	2 072	87.9	12.1	1.40 (1.20-1.64)		1.35 (1.15-1.58)	
62)	Single-parent family Family Affluence Scale ^a	2 381	88.1	11.9	1.36 (1.17-1.57)	<0.001	1.23 (1.05-1.44)	0.004
13,1	High	2 698	92.0	8.0	1	-0.001	1	0.004
) III	Medium	8 710	90.7	9.3	1.06 (0.90-1.25)		1.08 (0.92-1.27)	
ves	Parental working status ^a	1734	0.00	14.4	1.51 (1.22-1.65)	< 0.001	1.39 (1.12-1.73)	< 0.001
Vati	Both parents working	10 026	91.4	8.6	0.80 (0.68-0.95)		0.83 (0.70-0.99)	
-	One working, the other at home One working, the other not at home	1752	88.6 87.2	11.4	1 10 (0 86-1 41)		1 00 (0 78-1 28)	
	None working	424	78.5	21.5	1.82 (1.37-2.42)		1.57 (1.17-2.09)	
	Single child	1 202	90.0	10.0	1.06 (0.87.1.29)	0.56	1.07 (0.87.1.30)	0.53
	Siblings	11 870	90.3	9.7	1.00 (0.07 1.22)		1.07 (0.07 1.00)	
	School Region	120	0.5.5	10.0		< 0.001		< 0.001
	Wallonia	438 6 398	87.7	12.3	0.97 (0.66-1.44)		1.01 (0.70-1.46)	
	Flanders	6 326	93.1	6.9	0.45 (0.30-0.68)		0.49 (0.34-0.72)	
	Intercept Gender				0.11 (0.10-0.12)	<0.001	0.10 (0.07-0.16)	<0.001
	Boys	1 965	80.7	19.3	1.34 (1.12-1.60)		1.40 (1.17-1.66)	
	Girls	2 171	84.7	15.3	1	0.04	1	0.03
	10-12 y	1 178	83.4	16.6	1	0.04	1	0.00
	13-16 y	2 090	82.4	17.6	1.07 (0.83-1.39)		1.02 (0.80-1.30)	
[36]	Family structure *	000	65.1	10.9	0.79 (0.58-1.08)	0.54	0.75 (0.56-1.00)	0.60
1	Two parents	2 805	82.4	17.6	1		1	
ts (r	Blended family Single-parent family	409 922	86.5 82.4	13.5 17.6	0.84 (0.61-1.15) 0.98 (0.80-1.21)		0.85 (0.62-1.18) 0.95 (0.76-1.18)	
gran	Family Affluence Scale *					0.82	,	0.78
iii	High Medium	703 2.477	85.3 83.5	14.7	0.95 (0.74-1.22)		1 0.91 (0.71-1.18)	
'nï	Low	956	79.2	20.8	1.01 (0.75-1.35)		0.93 (0.69-1.25)	
atio	Parental working status *	2.140	97.1	12.0	0.00.00.00.00.000	< 0.001	0.00.00.00.00.00.00	< 0.001
ner	One working, the other at home	1 152	87.1 79.0	21.0	0.69 (0.56-0.65)		0.69 (0.56-0.85)	
q-8c	One working, the other not at home	353	83.0	17.0	0.85 (0.61-1.18)		0.88 (0.62-1.24)	
con	Siblings	491	12.1	27.3	1.29 (0.99-1.67)	0.26	1.32 (1.01-1.73)	0.31
Š	Single child	310	87.4	12.6	0.81 (0.56-1.17)		0.83 (0.57-1.19)	
	Siblings School Region	3 826	82.4	17.6	1	< 0.001	1	< 0.001
	Brussels-Capital	1 203	73.9	26.1	1		1	
	Wallonia Flanders	1 776	84.3 89.7	15.7	0.50 (0.35-0.71)		0.54 (0.38-0.76)	
	Intercept	1 157	07.7		0.15 (0.13-0.18)	<0.001	0.37 (0.24-0.55)	<0.001
	Gender	804	78.6	21.4	1.45 (1.10.1.90)	0.008	1 50 (1 14 1 97)	0.004
	Girls	751	78.0 82.4	21.4 17.6	1.10-1.90)		1.50 (1.14-1.97)	
	Age	051	70.0	20.0	4	0.10	4	0.07
	10-12 y 13-16 y	795	79.2 79.7	20.8	0.98 (0.69-1.40)		0.89 (0.63-1.27)	
-	17-19 y	409	82.9	17.1	0.70 (0.46-1.06)		0.64 (0.43-0.97)	
555	Two parents	1 0 1 3	80.2	19.8	1	0.92	1	0.48
Ľ.	Blended family	189	80.9	19.1	0.99 (0.66-1.50)		1.21 (0.79-1.86)	
nts (Single-parent family Family Affluence Scale ^a	353	81.0	19.0	0.94 (0.68-1.29)	0.03	0.90 (0.64-1.26)	0.32
gra	High	256	85.2	14.8	1		1	
Ï	Medium	837	82.2 74 7	17.8	1.16(0.77-1.74) 1.64(1.06-2.54)		1.11 (0.73-1.67)	
ino	Parental working status ^a	402	/4./	20.0	1.01 (1.00-2.04)	< 0.001	1.00 (0.00-2.12)	< 0.001
rati	Both parents working	738	86.2	13.8	0.50 (0.36-0.70)		0.53 (0.38-0.74)	
tene	One working, the other not at home	218	75.7	24.3 22.5	0.90 (0.60-1.36)		0.91 (0.59-1.41)	
st-s	None working	233	72.5	27.5	1.04 (0.70-1.54)	0.0.1	1.05 (0.70-1.57)	0.07
Fir	Single child	163	85.9	14.1	0.63 (0.39-1.01)	0.06	0.61 (0.38-0.99)	0.05
	Siblings	1 392	79.8	20.2	1		1	
	School Region Brussels-Capital	487	72.9	27.1	1	< 0.001	1	< 0.001
	Wallonia	594	81.8	18.2	0.61 (0.41-0.89)		0.61 (0.41-0.89)	
	Flanders	474	86.5	13.5	0.40 (0.26-0.61)	<0.001	0.42 (0.27-0.64)	0.002

Intercept ⁶ For details, see Methods section ^b Crude odds ratio and 95% confidence interval ^c Adjusted odds ratio and 95% confidence interval

Table F-6. Multilevel multinomial regressions for sugar-sweetened beverages consumption (reference category: \leq once a week) stratified by migration status (n = 18,642). 2014 HBSC in Belgium.

				Sim	ple multilevel multinom	ial regressio	on				Mul	tiple multile	vel multinomial regres	sion	
			Sugar-sweetened beverages	Sugar-sweeten	d beverages consumpti	on 2-6 days	Sugar-sweetened	beverages consumptio	n≥once a		Sugar-sweetened be	verages	Sugar-sweetened bev	erages consi	umption
			consumption ≤once a week		a week			day			consumption 2-6 days	s a week	≥once	a day	
			-							Overall P				-	Overall P
	Variables	n	%	%	cRRR (IC 95%) ^b	P value	%	cRRR (IC 95%) ^b	P value	value	a RRR (IC 95%) °	P value	aRRR (IC 95%) °	P value	value
	Gender					< 0.001			< 0.001	< 0.001		< 0.001		< 0.001	< 0.001
	Boys	6 680	20.4	32.9	1.52 (1.38-1.68)		46.7	1.76 (1.60-1.93)			1.51 (1.37-1.66)		1.81 (1.65-1.99)		
	Girls	6 335	30.1	31.3	1		38.6	1			1		1		
	Age					0.08			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.07		< 0.001	< 0.001
	10-12 y	3 827	28.4	32.7	1		38.9	1			1		1		
	13-16 y	6 514	24.1	32.6	1.17 (1.02-1.34)		43.3	1.31 (1.14-1.50)			1.16 (1.02-1.33)		1.26 (1.11-1.44)		
	17-19 y	2 674	22.8	30.1	1.09 (0.92-1.29)		47.1	1.43 (1.22-1.69)			1.10 (0.93-1.29)		1.34 (1.14-1.56)		
	Family structure *					0.006			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.003		< 0.001	< 0.001
	Two parents	8 609	27.1	33.0	1		39.9	1			1		1		
	Blended family	2 057	19.7	31.1	1.26 (1.09-1.44)		49.2	1.64 (1.44-1.87)			1.28 (1.11-1.48)		1.60 (1.40-1.83)		
	Single-parent family	2 349	22.3	29.9	1.06 (0.93-1.20)		47.8	1.40 (1.24-1.57)			1.06 (0.93-1.21)		1.23 (1.09-1.40)		
,015)	Family Affluence Scale ^a					0.20			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.62		< 0.001	< 0.001
3,6	High	2 687	29.9	36.3	1		33.8	1			1		1		
Ē	Medium	8 604	24.5	31.8	0.95 (0.85-1.06)		43.7	1.40 (1.25-1.57)			0.98 (0.87-1.10)		1.40 (1.25-1.58)		
- C	Low	1 724	20.9	26.9	0.85 (0.72-1.01)		52.2	1.78 (1.51-2.10)			0.91 (0.76-1.10)		1.65 (1.39-1.96)		
ve	Parental working status ^a					0.56			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.67		< 0.001	< 0.001
ati	Both parents working	9 9 1 9	26.2	33.1	1.05 (0.91-1.22)		40.7	0.83 (0.73-0.95)			1.01 (0.87-1.16)		0.87 (0.76-1.00)		
z	One working, the other at home	1 734	23.5	30.0	1		46.5	1			1		1		
	One working, the other not at home	947	19.5	29.5	1.17 (0.93-1.48)		51.0	1.31 (1.06-1.62)			1.14 (0.90-1.45)		1.13 (0.91-1.41)		
	None working	415	17.6	22.6	0.97 (0.69-1.36)		59.8	1.65 (1.23-2.21)			1.03 (0.73-1.45)		1.44 (1.07-1.95)		
	Siblings					0.97			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.84		0.002	< 0.001
	Single child	1 274	21.8	29.2	1.00 (0.85-1.18)		49.0	1.29 (1.11-1.51)			1.02 (0.86-1.20)		1.28 (1.10-1.50)		
	Siblings	11 741	25.5	32.4	1		42.1	1			1		1		
	School Region					< 0.001			0.07	< 0.001		< 0.001		0.03	< 0.001
	Brussels-Capital	431	31.8	25.5	1		42.7	1			1		1		
	Wallonia	6 305	27.6	29.2	1.23 (0.85-1.77)		43.2	1.09 (0.77-1.54)			1.29 (0.92-1.81)		1.10 (0.80-1.52)		
	Flanders	6 279	22.2	35.5	1.82 (1.26-2.63)		42.3	1.30 (0.92-1.84)			1.86 (1.32-2.62)		1.31 (0.95-1.82)		
	Intercept				1.32 (1.22-1.44)	<0.001		1.77 (1.63-1.92)	<0.001		0.64 (0.44-0.94)	0.02	0.67 (0.47-0.96)	0.03	

				Simpl	e multilevel multinom	ial regression					Mul	tiple multilev	el multinomial regres	sion	
			Sugar-sweetened beverages	Sugar-sweetened	beverages consumption	n 2-6 days St	ugar-sweetened l	beverages consumptio	on≥once a		Sugar-sweetened be	verages	Sugar-sweetened bey	erages consu	umption
			consumption <once a="" th="" week<=""><th></th><th>a week</th><th></th><th>0</th><th>dav</th><th></th><th></th><th>consumption 2-6 day</th><th>sa week</th><th>>once</th><th>a day</th><th>r</th></once>		a week		0	dav			consumption 2-6 day	sa week	>once	a day	r
			consumption source a neer		umeen			uiy		Overall P	consumption 2 o uny	Ju Week	Lonee	u uu y	Overall P
	Variables		0/_	0/_	cRRR (IC 95%) b	P value	0/2	cRRR (IC 95%) b	Paralua	value	aRRR (IC 95%) °	P value	3 R R (IC 95%) °	Pvalue	value
	Gender	"	<i>,</i> 0	/0	ciuti (i c 55 /6)	<0.001	/0	ender (re 5576)	<0.001	<0.001	and (i C)5 /6)	<0.001	and (i C 55 %)	<0.001	<0.001
	Boys	1 944	18.5	32.1	1.72 (1.44-2.06)	-01001	49.4	1.79 (1.51-2.12)	.01001	101001	1.69 (1.42-2.03)	.01001	1.84 (1.55-2.17)	.01001	-01001
	Girls	2 1 4 3	28.4	28.8	1		42.8	1			1		1		
	Age					0.56			0.001	< 0.001		0.62		0.009	0.02
	10-12 v	1 179	28.8	31.8	1		39.4	1			1		1		
	13-16 v	2 062	21.7	29.6	1.13 (0.90-1.42)		48.7	1.50 (1.21-1.87)			1.11 (0.89-1.39)		1.39 (1.13-1.72)		
£	17-19 y	846	21.6	30.3	1.08 (0.82-1.42)		48.1	1.38 (1.06-1.80)			1.11 (0.84-1.46)		1.23 (0.94-1.59)		
387	Family structure *					0.15			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.26		0.001	0.002
4,0	Two parents	2 779	25.1	31.2	1		43.7	1			1		1		
Ë	Blended family	402	20.4	31.3	1.35 (1.00-1.83)		48.3	1.49 (1.12-1.98)			1.30 (0.95-1.77)		1.53 (1.14-2.05)		
ats	Single-parent family	906	20.7	27.4	1.07 (0.86-1.33)		51.9	1.45 (1.18-1.77)			1.04 (0.83-1.32)		1.36 (1.10-1.68)		
ra	Family Affluence Scale *					0.59			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.54		0.008	0.03
in in it is	High	700	30.6	32.3	1		37.1	1			1		1		
Ē	Medium	2 437	23.4	30.4	1.11 (0.88-1.39)		46.2	1.46 (1.17-1.82)			1.11 (0.88-1.40)		1.37 (1.09-1.71)		
'n	Low	950	19.5	28.8	1.15 (0.87-1.52)		51.7	1.79 (1.37-2.34)			1.18 (0.88-1.58)		1.51 (1.14-1.99)		
tio	Parental working status ^a					0.23			< 0.001	< 0.001		0.09		< 0.001	< 0.001
era	Both parents working	2 117	27.3	31.7	0.90 (0.73-1.10)		41.0	0.70 (0.57-0.84)			0.85 (0.69-1.05)		0.70 (0.58-0.86)		
ene	One working, the other at home	1 1 4 4	20.7	29.7	1		49.6	1			1		1		
-a-	One working, the other not at home	345	24.6	29.0	0.89 (0.63-1.25)		46.4	0.85 (0.62-1.16)			0.83 (0.58-1.19)		0.70 (0.50-0.97)		
Ŭ	None working	481	14.6	27.0	1.23 (0.87-1.73)		58.4	1.60 (1.17-2.18)			1.25 (0.88-1.77)		1.39 (1.01-1.92)		
ĕ	Siblings					0.79			0.53	0.58		0.95		0.41	0.61
	Single child	313	25.6	31.9	1.04 (0.76-1.43)		42.5	0.91 (0.67-1.23)			0.99 (0.72-1.36)		0.88 (0.65-1.19)		
	Siblings	3774	23.6	30.2	1	0.000	46.2	1	0.14		1	0.007	1	0.15	
	School Region	1 170	22.2	24.7	1	0.009	52.1		0.16	<0.001	1	0.006	1	0.15	<0.001
	Wallonia	1 175	22.2	24./	1.06 (0.76.1.47)		45.8	0.70 (0.58 1.08)			1.05 (0.78 1.42)		0.81 (0.61.1.08)		
	Flanders	1157	23.5	38.7	1.56 (0.70-1.47)		38.7	0.79 (0.58=1.08)			1.52 (1.11-2.09)		0.74 (0.54-1.03)		
	Intercent	1 137	22.0		1.29 (1.14-1.46)	<0.001		1.95 (1.74-2.20)	<0.001		0.80 (0.55-1.17)	0.25	1.20 (0.84-1.72)	0.32	
	Gender					< 0.001		100 (10 1 200)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0100 (0100 2127)	< 0.001	100001001	< 0.001	< 0.001
	Boys	796	17.3	34.8	1.93 (1.43-2.59)		47.9	1.88 (1.42-2.49)			1.85 (1.37-2.49)		1.97 (1.49-2.61)		
	Girls	744	27.2	30.2	1		42.6	1			1		i		
	Age					0.01			0.002	0.008		0.02		0.008	0.03
	10-12 y	343	30.0	30.6	1		39.4	1			1		1		
	13-16 y	796	19.5	33.7	1.74 (1.20-2.51)		46.8	1.88 (1.32-2.67)			1.67 (1.15-2.41)		1.71 (1.21-2.43)		
-	17-19 y	401	20.4	32.2	1.54 (1.01-2.36)		47.4	1.77 (1.18-2.65)			1.59 (1.04-2.43)		1.65 (1.10-2.47)		
40	Family structure *					0.67			0.07	0.12		0.60		0.04	0.05
1,5	Two parents	1 003	22.5	33.5	1		44.0	1			1		1		
Ę	Blended family	187	17.1	28.9	1.15 (0.71-1.87)		54.0	1.64 (1.06-2.56)			1.11 (0.68-1.82)		1.73 (1.10-2.73)		
tts (Single-parent family	350	23.4	32.0	0.91 (0.64-1.27)		44.6	0.96 (0.70-1.33)			0.86 (0.60-1.24)		0.91 (0.65-1.29)		
rar	Family Affluence Scale "					0.27			0.12	0.17		0.29		0.22	0.35
. <u>6</u>	High	256	29.3	30.1	1		40.6	1			1		1		
2	Medium	832	21.3	34.2	1.38 (0.93-2.04)		44.5	1.33 (0.91-1.92)			1.37 (0.92-2.05)		1.29 (0.88-1.89)		
i.	Low	452	19.5	31.0	1.32 (0.84-2.06)	0.52	49.5	1.56 (1.02-2.38)			1.35 (0.84-2.17)	0.45	1.48 (0.95-2.32)	0.55	0.00
io	Parental working status	70.4	22.0	22.1	1 1 4 (0 00 1 (0)	0.73		1 10 (0 50 1 54)	0.44	0.72	1.10 (0.70, 1.(0)	0.65	1 12 (0 00 1 50)	0.55	0.82
rai	Both parents working	734	22.8	33.1	1.14 (0.80-1.63)		44.1	1.10 (0.79-1.54)			1.13 (0.79-1.62)		1.13 (0.80-1.59)		
an	One working, the other at nome	367	24.0	31.9	1 20 (0 60 2 10)		44.1	1 00 (0.01 0.00)			1 25 (0.01 0.04)		1 00 (0 75 1 07)		
ě,	None working	212	19.8	30.0	1.30 (0.80-2.10)		46.2	1.20 (0.81-2.02)			1.33 (0.81-2.24)		1.40 (0.88-2.24)		
irst	Siblinge	227	16.9	50.9	1.21 (0.74-1.90)	0.83	50.2	1.42 (0.70-2.23)	0.49	0.74	1.20 (0.70-2.10)	0.63	1.40 (0.00-2.24)	0.32	0.61
E	Single child	159	24.5	33.3	0.95 (0.60-1.50)	0.05	42.2	0.86 (0.55-1.32)	0.40	0.74	0.89 (0.56-1.42)	0.05	0.80 (0.51-1.25)	0.35	0.01
	Siblings	1 381	24.3	32.5	1		45.7	0.00 (0.00-1.02)			0.09 (0.00-1.42)		1		
	School Region	1001	21.0	52.5		0.10	100	1	0.32	0.006	1	0.12		0.23	0.007
	Brussels-Capital	476	195	29.4	1	0.10	51.1	1	0.02	0.000	1	0.12	1	0.20	0.007
	Wallonia	593	25.6	30.2	0.86 (0.56-1.33)		44.2	0.73 (0.48-1.10)			0.85 (0.56-1.29)		0.71 (0.48-1.05)		
	Flanders	471	20.2	38.8	1.33 (0.84-2.09)		41.0	0.81 (0.52-1.25)			1.27 (0.82-1.97)		0.76 (0.50-1.17)		
	Intercept				1.54 (1.29-1.83)	<0.001		2.14 (1.80-2.53)	<0.001		0.56 (0.31-1.02)	0.06	0.87 (0.49-1.53)	0.63	

^a For details, see *Methods* section ^b Crude relative risk ratio and 95% confidence interval ^c Adjusted relative risk ratio and 95% confidence interval

Appendix G. Supplementary material to the article "Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium" - Multilevel logistic regression stratified by geographical origin of immigrants

Table G-1. Multilevel logistic regressions* for food consumption stratified by geographical origin of immigrants. 2014 HBSC Belgium.

				Reference: Europe			America			Asia			Middle East and I	North Africa		Sub-Saharan /	Africa	
			n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	Overall P value
			1830			124			307			1 510			419			0.86
	Second-generation	%		34.3	45.3		33.0	46.0		33.9	49.8		33.4	45.5		29.8	46.8	
Fruit consumption (Reference:	immigrants	aRRR (IC 95%) ¹					0.99 (0.59-1.67)	1.09 (0.66-1.80)		1.06 (0.73-1.55)	1.02 (0.71-1.47)		0.90 (0.73-1.12)	0.94 (0.76-1.15)		0.78 (0.58-1.06)	0.92 (0.69-1.23)	
>once a day)			953			107			123			209			202			0.32
	First-generation	0/2		34.6	42.8		29.9	48.6		24.4	47.1		31.1	47.4	1	32.7	43.5	
	immigrants	nnn (comul		0.110			0.08 (0.55, 1.75)	1 26 (0 78 2 25)		0.52 (0.21.0.80)	0.72 (0.45.1.19)		0.88 (0.57.1.26)	1.02 (0.67.1.55)		0.02 (0.50 1.42)	0.94 (0.55.1.29)	
		akkk (IC 95%)			- 1 - 1		0.98 (0.55-1.75)	1.50 (0.78-2.55)		0.52 (0.51-0.89)	0.75 (0.45-1.18)	-	0.88 (0.57-1.50)	1.02 (0.07-1.55)	<u>+</u>	0.92 (0.39-1.43)	0.84 (0.55-1.28)	0 11 1
			n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	n	5-7 days a week	<5 days a week	Overall P value
	Second-generation		1 808	50.4	20.4	123	61.0	20.2	305	(2.0	20.4	1488	20.5	44.5	410		22.0	<0.001
Vegetable consumption (Reference:	immigrants	%		50.4	29.4		61.8	20.3		42.9	38.4		39.5	41.5		42.2	32.9	
>once a day)	0	aRRR (IC 95%) ²					1.51 (0.91-2.50)	0.81 (0.44-1.48)		0.75 (0.53-1.07)	1.02 (0.71-1.47)		0.89 (0.72-1.10)	1.18 (0.94-1.48)		0.71 (0.53-0.94)	0.89 (0.66-1.20)	
	First-generation		942			105			121		A	205		44.0	198			<0.001
	immigrants	%		44.7	35.9		41.9	33.3		41.3	36.4		27.8	41.0	1	37.9	47	
	0	aRRR (IC 95%) ²					0.85 (0.49-1.46)	0.79 (0.45-1.38)		0.70 (0.42-1.18)	0.76 (0.45-1.29)		0.35 (0.23-0.54)	0.59 (0.39-0.88)		1.15 (0.71-1.89)	1.44 (0.89-2.34)	
			n	<two day<="" td=""><td>s a week</td><td>n</td><td><two day<="" td=""><td>s a week</td><td>n</td><td><two da<="" td=""><td>/s a week</td><td>n</td><td><two c<="" td=""><td>days a week</td><td>n</td><td><two da<="" td=""><td>ys a week</td><td>Overall <i>P</i> value</td></two></td></two></td></two></td></two></td></two>	s a week	n	<two day<="" td=""><td>s a week</td><td>n</td><td><two da<="" td=""><td>/s a week</td><td>n</td><td><two c<="" td=""><td>days a week</td><td>n</td><td><two da<="" td=""><td>ys a week</td><td>Overall <i>P</i> value</td></two></td></two></td></two></td></two>	s a week	n	<two da<="" td=""><td>/s a week</td><td>n</td><td><two c<="" td=""><td>days a week</td><td>n</td><td><two da<="" td=""><td>ys a week</td><td>Overall <i>P</i> value</td></two></td></two></td></two>	/s a week	n	<two c<="" td=""><td>days a week</td><td>n</td><td><two da<="" td=""><td>ys a week</td><td>Overall <i>P</i> value</td></two></td></two>	days a week	n	<two da<="" td=""><td>ys a week</td><td>Overall <i>P</i> value</td></two>	ys a week	Overall <i>P</i> value
	Second-generation		1 804			123			303	_		1 4 9 2			413			<0.001
Fish consumption (Reference:	immigrants	%		78	5.4		77	.2		7	1.3			66.4		7	6.0	
≥two davs a week)	0	aOR (IC 95%) ³					1.02 (0.6	5-1.58)		0.85 (0.	63-1.14)		0.63	(0.53-0.75)	1	0.90 (0	.69-1.16)	
	First-generation		939			105			121			204			199			0.004
	immigrants	%		68	5.9		76	.2		7	1.1			64.7		5	7.3	
	0	aOR (IC 95%) ³					1.43 (0.2	38-2.30)		1.14 (0	/5-1./4)		0.92	(0.66-1.30)		0.56 (0	.40-0.78)	
			n	≤once	a day	n	≤once	a day	n	≤once	a day	n	≤on	nce a day	n	≤once	e a day	Overall <i>P</i> value
	Second-generation		1776			120			291			1442			409			0.13
Dairy consumption (Reference:	immigrants	%		22	1.6		23	.3 (5 - 2 - 10)		2	J.6			21.7		1	8.1	
>once a day)	0	aOR (IC 95%) ⁴					1.07 (0.6	99-1.67)		1.10 (0.	80-1.51)		0.88	(0.73-1.05)		0.73 (0.	.55-0.97)	
	First-generation		919			102			119			202			192			0.03
	immigrants	%		19	0		20	.6		2	3.5			12.9		2	.5.5	
	0	aOR (IC 95%)*					1.05 (0.6	53-1.78)		1.30 (0	82-2.08)		0.59	(0.37-0.93)	<u> </u>	1.39 (0	.95-2.02)	
			n	≥once	a day	n	≥once	a day	n	≥once	a day	n	≥on	ice a day	n	≥once	e a day	Overall <i>P</i> value
	Second-generation	0	1 803	10		124			301			1 479			405			<0.001
Crisps and fries (Reference:	immigrants	70		12			8.	1		1 20 (0	5.6		1.67	24.9		1 25 (9	6.5	
<once a="" day)<="" th=""><th>0</th><th>aOR (IC 95%)*</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>0.69 (0.2</th><th>55-1.37)</th><th></th><th>1.29 (0.</th><th>55-1.91)</th><th></th><th>1.67</th><th>(1.55-2.09)</th><th></th><th>1.55 (0.</th><th>.98-1.86)</th><th></th></once>	0	aOR (IC 95%)*					0.69 (0.2	55-1.37)		1.29 (0.	55-1.91)		1.67	(1.55-2.09)		1.55 (0.	.98-1.86)	
	First-generation	0/	930	10	0	104	F	0	122			197		22 E	191		14.0	<0.001
	immigrants	70 CD (CC		10	5.0		0.25 (0.1	0		0.52.00	28.0.07)		1.00	(1 20 2 78)	1	1.42.0	0.2	
	-	aOR (IC 95%) ⁻		0 (dama a muscle	Sec		2.6 dama a susali	Norman a dara		0.52 (0	20-0.97)	<u> </u>	1.90	(1.50-2.78)	.	1.45 (0	.95-2.10)	Owene II D. weber
			n 1 770	2-6 days a week	≥once a day	n 100	2-6 days a week	≥once a day	n 202	2-6 days a week	≥once a day	n 1.450	2-6 days a week	≥once a day	n (02	2-6 days a week	≥once a day	Overall P value
	Second-generation	0/_	1779	28.5	43.6	120	31.7	30.8	302	37.7	37.1	1 459	30.0	52.7	+03	34.2	42.7	<0.001
Sugar-sweetened beverages	immigrants	- DDD (IC 059() ²		20.5	43.0		0.94 (0.59-1.50)	0.57 (0.35-0.91)		1.32 (0.94-1.84)	0.92 (0.66-1.28)		1.73 (1.37-2.18)	1 65 (1 33-2 04)	÷	153 (113-207)	1 13 (0 85-1 52)	
(Reference: ≤once a week)		akkk (IC 95%)"	027			00	0.54 (0.59-1.50)	0.57 (0.55-0.51)	121	1.52 (0.94-1.04)	0.22 (0.00-1.20)	105	1.75 (1.57-2.18)	1.00 (1.00-2.04)	197	1.55 (1.15-2.07)	1.15 (0.05-1.52)	0.004
	First-generation	%	921	33.3	43.5	<u> </u>	38.4	35.3	121	31.4	37.2	195	29.7	55.4	107	30.0	54 5	0.004
	1 1	/0		332	1000	-	50.4	00.0	-			-	-/./	50.T	-			
	immigrants	$_{2}PPP (IC 95%)^{2}$					1.09 (0.62-1.91)	0.68 (0.39-1.21)		0.62 (0.37-1.04)	0.60 (0.37-0.98)		1.25 (0.75-2.10)	1 78 (1 10-2 87)		1.27 (0.76-2.15)	1.62 (1.00-2.64)	

¹ Adjusted for gender, age, family structure, family affluence scale, siblings and school region

² Adjusted for gender, age, family structure, family affluence scale, parental working status, siblings and school region ³ Adjusted for gender, age, family structure, family affluence scale, parental working status and school region

⁴ Adjusted for gender, age, siblings and school region

Appendix H. Supplementary material to the article "Socioeconomic disparities in diet vary according to migration status among adolescents in Belgium" – Comparisons between adolescents included in analyses and those eligible but not included

 Table H-1. Comparisons of food consumptions, cultural, and sociodemographic characteristics between participants included in the analyses and those excluded due to missing data. 2014 HBSC Belgium.

	Inclu	ded			
	particij	pants	Eligible participants	not	
	(n = 19	,172)	included (n _{max} = 3,85	59)	
	п	%	n	%	P value
Fruit			3,634		0.004
>once a day		17.2		19.4	
5-7 days a week		32.8		31.2	
<5 days a week		50.0		49.4	
Vegetable	18,974		3,674		<0,001
>once a day		18.8		19.9	
5-7 days a week		55.6		48.7	
<5 days a week		25.6		31.4	
Fish	18,924		3,676		< 0,001
≥two days a week		20.2		24.3	
<two a="" days="" td="" week<=""><td></td><td>79.8</td><td></td><td>75.7</td><td></td></two>		79.8		75.7	
Dairy products	18,541		3.539		0.20
>once a day	,	79.6	- ,	80.6	
<once a="" day<="" td=""><td></td><td>20.4</td><td></td><td>19.4</td><td></td></once>		20.4		19.4	
Crisps and fries	18,853		3,615		< 0,001
<once a="" day<="" td=""><td>,</td><td>87.7</td><td>,</td><td>81.1</td><td>,</td></once>	,	87.7	,	81.1	,
>once a day		12.2		18.9	
Sugar-sweetened beverages	18,642		3,567		<0,001
≤once a week		24.5	,	21.3	,
2-6 days a week		31.8		29.9	
≥once a day		43.7		48.8	
Gender			3,859		<0,001
Boys		50.6		58.9	,
Girls		49.4		41.1	
Age			3,859		<0,001
10-12		28.8		31.8	,
13-16		50.2		47.1	
17-19		21.0		21.1	
Migration status ^a			3,381		<0,001
Natives		69.6		59.8	
2 nd -generation immigrants		22.0		25.8	
1 st -generation immigrants		8.4		14.4	
Family structure ^a			2,955		<0,001
Two parents		66.4		58.4	
Blended family		14.1		15.6	
Single-parent family		19.5		26.0	
Family Affluence Scale ^a			2,089		<0,001
High		19.4		15.4	
Medium		63.7		56.7	
Low		16.9		27.9	

(Continued)

	Included participants (n = 19,172)		Eligible participants included (n _{max} = 3,85	not 59)	
	п	%	п	%	P value
Parental working status ^a			3,314		<0,001
Both parents working		68.4		52.7	
One working, the other at home		17.4		16.6	
One working, the other not at home		8.1		12.2	
None working		6.1		18.5	
Siblings			2,606		0.52
Single child		9.3		9.7	
Siblings		90.7		90.3	
School Region			3,859		<0,001
Brussels-Capital Region		11.4		15.2	
Walloon Region		46.6		49.4	
Flemish Region		42.0		35.4	

^a For details, see Methods section

Appendix I. Supplementary material to the article "*Twenty-four-year trends in family and regional disparities in fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among adolescents*" – Inclusion diagram



* Family structure and school region

Figure I-1. Inclusion diagram of adolescents in Belgium, HBSC, 1990-2002-2014.

Appendix J. Supplementary material to the article "*Twenty-four-year trends in family and regional disparities in fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among adolescents*" – Food consumption and characteristics of participants by survey year

Table J-1. Food consumption and characteristics of participants in percentages by year of survey. 1990-2002-2014 HBSC in Belgium.

	1990	2002	2014	P value
	n = 8,001	n = 29,825	n = 21,939	
Non-daily fruit	27.7	69.2	60.6	< 0.001
Non-daily vegetables	23.1	49.5	44.6	< 0.001
Daily Sugar-sweetened beverages	58.9	40.7	34.8	< 0.001
Sex				< 0.001
Boys	47.3	48.6	51.7	
Girls	52.7	51.4	48.3	
Age Group				< 0.001
10-12 y	33.6	33.5	29.6	
13-16 y	45.5	47.4	49.8	
17-19 у	20.9	19.1	20.6	
Family Structure				< 0.001
Two parents	83.9	77.4	65.4	
Blended family	4.4	9.4	14.4	
Single-parent family	11.7	13.2	20.2	
School Region				< 0.001
Brussels-Capital	13.3	10.6	12.1	
Wallonia	36.6	37.3	47.3	
Flanders	50.1	52.1	40.6	

Appendix K. Supplementary material to the article "*Twenty-four-year trends in family and regional disparities in fruit, vegetable and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among adolescents*" – Graphical representation of prevalence of food consumption by survey year



Figure K-1. Prevalence of food consumption by year of survey. 1990-2002-2014 HBSC in Belgium.

Appendix L. Measures of inequalities related to family structure and school region in dietary habits of adolescents in Belgium (Chapter IV)

Table	L-1.	Measures	of	inequalities	related	to	family	structure	for	fruit,	vegetables	and	sugar-sweetened
bevera	ges ar	nong adole	sce	nts between	1990 an	d 2	014. 199	90-2002-2	014	HBSC	in Belgium		

	1990	2002	2014	Change between	Change between	Change between
				1990 and 2002	2002 and 2014	1990 and 2014
Non-daily fruit c	onsumptio	on				
RII ¹	1.58	1.15	1.18	-27.2%	+2.6%	-25.3%
SII ²	13.14	9.53	10.40	-27.5%	+9.1%	-20.9%
PAF ³	0.04	0.01	0.03	-75.0%	+200%	-25.0%
Non-daily vegeta	ble consu	mption				
RII^1	1.30	1.11	1.16	-14.6%	+4.51%	-10.8%
SII ²	6.74	5.56	6.81	-17.5%	+22.5%	+1.0%
PAF ³	0.03	0.01	0.02	-66.7%	+100%	-33.3%
Daily sugar-swee	etened bev	erage con	sumption			
RII^1	1.08	1.27	1.47	+17.6%	+15.7%	+36.1%
SII ²	4.80	10.10	14.34	+110.4%	+42.0%	+198.8%
PAF ³	0.01	0.03	0.08	+200.0%	166.7%	+700.0%

¹RII: Adjusted Relative Index of Inequality; ²SII: Adjusted Slope Index of Inequality; ³PAF: Population Attributable Risk

 Table L-2. Measures of inequalities related to school region for fruit, vegetables and sugar-sweetened beverages

 among adolescents between 1990 and 2014. 1990-2002-2014 HBSC in Belgium.

	1990	2002	2014	Change between	Change between	Change between
				1990 and 2002	2002 and 2014	1990 and 2014
Non-daily fruit c	onsumpti	on				
RII^1	0.83	0.73	0.55	-12.0%	-24.7%	-33.7%
SII ²	-4.19	-20.71	-34.68	-394.3%	-67.5%	-727.7%
PAF ³	-0.03	-0.08	-0.20	-166.7%	-150.0%	-566.7%
Non-daily vegeta	able consu	mption				
RII^1	1.55	1.29	0.99	-16.8%	-23.3%	-36.1%
SII ²	11.38	12.65	-0.38	+11.2%	-103.0%	-103.3%
PAF ³	0.14	0.06	-0.05	-57.1%	-183.3%	-135.7%
Daily sugar-swee	etened bev	erage con	sumption	I		
RII^1	1.15	0.99	1.37	-13.9%	+38.4%	+19.1%
SII ²	8.13	1.13	11.03	-86.1%	+876.1%	+35.7%
PAF ³	0.03	0.00	0.08	-100.0%	+1500.0%	+166.7%

¹RII: Adjusted Relative Index of Inequality; ²SII: Adjusted Slope Index of Inequality; ³PAF: Population Attributable Risk

Appendix M. Measures of inequalities related to migration status in dietary habits of adolescents in French-speaking Belgium (Chapter IV)

Table M-1. Measures of inequalities related to migration status for fruit, vegetables and sugar-sweetened beverages among adolescents between 1986 and 2014. *1986-2010-2014 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium*.

	1986	2010	2014	Change between	Change between	Change between
				1986 and 2010	2010 and 2014	1986 and 2014
Non-daily fruit	consumptio	n				
RII ¹	0.68	1.15	0.90	+69.1%	-21.7%	+32.4%
SII^2	-10.43	7.63	-4.84	+173.2%	-163.4%	+53.6%
PAF ³	-0.14	0.06	-0.05	+142.9%	-183.3%	+64.3%
Non-daily veget	able consur	nption				
RII ¹	6.46	1.46	1.40	-77.4%	-4.1%	-78.3%
SII^2	29.74	20.80	19.30	-30.1%	-7.2%	-35.1%
PAF ³	0.41	0.15	0.21	-63.4%	+40.0%	-48.8%
Daily sugar-swe	etened bev	erage con	sumption			
RII ¹	0.92	1.07	1.25	+16.3%	+16.8%	+35.9%
SII^2	-5.49	2.97	10.92	+154.1%	+267.7%	+298.9%
PAF ³	-0.01	0.09	0.18	+1000.0%	+100.0%	+1900.0%

¹RII: Adjusted Relative Index of Inequality; ²SII: Adjusted Slope Index of Inequality; ³PAF: Population Attributable Risk

Appendix N. Supplementary material to the article "*Dietary disparities among* adolescents according to individual and school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis" – Inclusion diagram



Figure N-1. Inclusion diagram of schools and adolescents in French-Speaking Belgium, HBSC, 2018.

Appendix O. Supplementary material to the article "*Dietary disparities among adolescents according to individual and school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis*" – Factor map of the Multiple Correspondence Analysis



Figure O-1. Multiple Correspondence Analyses factor map of the 10 food items sold at schools. *2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium*.

Appendix P. Supplementary material to the article "*Dietary disparities among adolescents according to individual and school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis*" – Food consumption and characteristics of participants

Table P-1. Food consumption and characteristic of participants in percentages (n= 6,017). 2018 HBSC in Frenchspeaking Belgium.

Variables	n	%
Food groups	**	/0
Non-daily fruit	3.651	60.7
Non-daily vegetable	2.653	44.1
Non-daily dairy products	2.024	33.6
Non-daily water	750	12.5
Daily crisps and fries	920	15.3
Daily sugar-sweetened beverages	1.876	31.2
Individual-level characteristics	7 - · · -	
Gender		
Boys	2,827	47.0
Girls	3,190	53.0
Age group	,	
< 14 years old	1,957	32.5
15-16 years old	1,931	32.1
17-20 years old	2,129	35.4
Family structure	,	
Two-parent family	3,630	60.3
Blended family	963	16.0
Single-parent family	1,424	23.7
Siblings		
Single child	454	7.6
Siblings	5,563	92.4
Family Affluence Scale		
High	1.240	20.6
Medium	3.661	60.8
Low	1.116	18.6
Perceived family wealth		
Well off	667	11.1
Quite well off	2,984	49.6
Average	1,796	29.9
Not so/at all well off	570	9.5
Parental working status		
Both parents working	3,782	62.8
One working parent	1,749	29.1
No working parent	486	8.1
Parental education level		
Post-secondary	3,447	57.3
Secondary or lower	2,064	34.3
Undetermined	506	8.4

(Continued)

Variables	n	%
School-level characteristics		
School region		
Brussels-Capital	1,275	21.2
Wallonia	4,742	78.8
School socioeconomic index	,	
High	2,801	46.6
Medium	1,970	32.7
Low	1,246	20,7
Health promotion addressed in school	,	,
Yes	3,757	62.4
No	2,260	37.6
Project to increase consumption of health-promoting		
foods		
Yes	2,230	37.1
No	3,787	62.9
Project to limit the consumption of unhealthy foods		
Yes	2,900	48.2
No	3,117	51.8
Project to include fruit or vegetables at school events		
Yes	2,110	35.1
No	3,907	64.9
Foods available for sale at school		
Few foods	1,904	31.6
Mainly unhealthy foods	1,535	25.5
Many foods	2,578	42.9

Appendix Q. Supplementary material to the article "*Dietary disparities among adolescents according to individual and school socioeconomic status: a multilevel analysis*" – Multilevel logistic regressions for dairy products consumption

 Table Q-1. Multilevel logistic regressions* for dairy products consumption (ref: daily consumption) (n= 6,017).

 2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium.

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3*	¢
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value
Individual-level variables					
Gender (vs. Girls)			< 0.001		< 0.001
Boys		0.74 (0.66-0.82)		0.73 (0.66-0.82)	
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			< 0.001		< 0.001
15-16 years old		1.25 (1.09-1.43)		1.25 (1.09-1.43)	
17-20 years old		1.26 (1.10-1.44)		1.27 (1.11-1.45)	
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.54		0.59
Blended family		1.09 (0.94-1.27)		1.08 (0.93-1.26)	
Single-parent family		1.02 (0.89-1.17)		1.02 (0.89-1.17)	
Siblings (vs.: Siblings)			0.10		0.11
Single child		1.18 (0.97-1.45)		1.18 (0.96-1.44)	
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			0.43		0.41
Middle		1.08 (0.93-1.25)		1.08 (0.93-1.25)	
Low		1.14 (0.93-1.38)		1.15 (0.94-1.40)	
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)			0.70		0.71
Quite well off		1.02 (0.84-1.22)		1.02 (0.85-1.23)	
Average		1.09 (0.89-1.33)		1.09 (0.89-1.33)	
Not so/at all well off		1.00 (0.78-1.29)		1.00 (0.78-1.28)	
Parental working status (vs. Both working)			0.09		0.11
One working parent		0.93 (0.82-1.06)		0.94 (0.82-1.06)	
No working parent		0.79 (0.64-0.98)		0.79 (0.64-0.99)	
Parental education level (vs. Post-secondary)			0.86		0.85
Secondary or lower		1.00 (0.88-1.13)		0.99 (0.88-1.13)	
Undetermined		1.06 (0.86-1.29)		1.05 (0.86-1.30)	
Intercept	0.51 (0.48-0.53)	0.37 (0.37-0.55)		0.35 (0.25-0.49)	
Variance of random effects	0.00	0.00		0.00	
Corrected variance of random effects [‡]	0.00	0.00		0.00	
Measures of components of variance and					
heterogeneity					
PCV	Reference	-		-	
VPC	0.00	0.00		0.00	
MOR	1.00	1.00		1.00	

POOR, proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV, proportional change of the corrected variance; VPC, variance partition coefficient; MOR, median odds ratio. Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on all individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables including the non-significant ones: school region, school SEI, health promotion addressed in school; purpose of food project: to increase consumption of health-promoting foods, to limit consumption of unhealthy foods, to include fruit or vegetables at school events; foods available for sale at school.

[†]Scale correction factor= 0.994

Appendix R. Results of the additional analyses carried out on the Brussels-Capital Region

(Chapter V)

 Table R-1. Multilevel logistic regressions for vegetable consumption (ref: daily consumption) (n= 1,603). 2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium.

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3	
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value
Individual-level variables					
Gender (vs. Girls)			0.04		0.03
Boys		1.25 (1.01-1.54)		1.25 (1.02-1.55)	
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			0.55		0.64
15-16 years old		0.92 (0.70-1.20)		0.89 (0.68-1.15)	
17-20 years old		1.06 (0.81-1.38)		0.97 (0.75-1.26)	
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.21		0.17
Blended family		0.99 (0.69-1.40)		1.03 (0.73-1.47)	
Single-parent family		1.24 (0.97-1.60)		1.27 (0.99-1.63)	
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			0.06		0.15
Middle		1.25 (0.94-1.67)		1.18 (0.89-1.57)	
Low		1.69 (1.10-2.59)		1.52 (0.99-2.34)	
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)			0.19		0.11
Ouite well off		1.24 (0.88-1.75)		1.30 (0.93-1.82)	
Average		1.25 (0.85-1.82)		1.32 (0.91-1.93)	
Not so/at all well off		0.86 (0.52-1.41)		0.89 (0.54-1.45)	
Parental working status (vs. Both working)		· · · · ·	0.44	· · · · ·	0.33
One working parent		1.09 (0.86-1.39)		1.05 (0.83-1.34)	
No working parent		0.85 (0.57-1.27)		0.78 (0.53-1.16)	
Parental level of education (vs. Post-secondary)			0.003		0.009
Secondary or lower		1.33 (1.03-1.73)		1.25 (0.96-1.61)	
Undetermined		2.11 (1.31-3.39)		2.01 (1.25-3.22)	
Migration Status (vs. Natives)			0.02	()	0.10
Second-generation immigrants		1.43 (1.10-1.87)		1.33 (1.02-1.74)	
First-generation immigrants		1.41 (1.02-1.93)		1.26 (0.91-1.73)	
School-level variables				()	
School socioeconomic index and proportion of					< 0.001
immigrants (vs. high SEI, low MIG)					
Medium SEI, low MIG				0.83 (0.56-1.25)	
POOR (%)				6.8%	
Medium SEI, middle MIG				1.77 (1.27-2.47)	
POOR (%)				0.0%	
Low SEI. low or middle MIG				1.94 (1.33-2.82)	
POOR (%)				0.0%	
Low SEI, high MIG				2.29 (1.62-3.23)	
POOR (%)				0.0%	
Intercept	0.94 (0.75-1.17)	0.35 (0.22-0.55)		0.27 (0.18-0.41)	
Variance of random effects	0.27	0.13		0.01	
Corrected variance of random effects [†]	-	0.12		0.01	
Measures of components of variance and					
heterogeneity					
PCV	Reference	53.7%		97.4%	
VPC	0.075	0.038		0.002	
MOR	1.64	1.41		1.09	

POOR: proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV: proportional change of the variance; VPC: variance partition coefficient; MOR: median odds ratio. Significant school effect in **bold**. Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables

Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 ORa (95% CI) P value ORa (95% CI) P value Individual-level variables Gender (vs. Girls) < 0.001 < 0.001 0.63 (0.51-0.79) Boys 0.63(0.51-0.78)Age group (vs. <14 years old) 0.04 0.03 15-16 years old 1.17 (0.89-1.53) 1.17 (0.89-1.54) 17-20 years old 1.40 (1.08-1.82) 1.43 (1.09-1.88) Family structure (vs. Two-parent family) 0.007 0.006 Blended family 1.73 (1.23-2.43) 1.74 (1.23-2.44) Single-parent family 1.06 (0.82-1.37) 1.06 (0.82-1.37) Family Affluence Scale (vs. High) 0.36 0.34 Middle 0.97 (0.73-1.28) 0.98 (0.74-1.31) 1.24 (0.81-1.90) 1.27 (0.82-1.97) Low 0.92 Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off) 0.93 Ouite well off 1.13 (0.80-1.59) 1.12 (0.79-1.58) Average 1.08 (0.73-1.59) 1.06(0.72 - 1.57)Not so/at all well off 1.10 (0.66-1.83) 1.09 (0.65-1.81) Parental working status (vs. Both working) 0.27 0.30 One working parent 1.03(0.80-1.32)1.03(0.80-1.33)No working parent 0.72 (0.47-1.11) 0.74 (0.48-1.14) Parental level of education (vs. Post-secondary) 0.41 0.51 Secondary or lower 0.86 (0.66-1.11) 0.88 (0.67-1.15) Undetermined 1.09 (0.67-1.76) 1.12 (0.69-1.81) 0.38 Migration Status (vs. Natives) 0.45 0.89 (0.67-1.76) 0.90 (0.69-1.18) Second-generation immigrants First-generation immigrants 0.80(0.58-1.10)0.81 (0.58-1.12) School-level variables School socioeconomic index and proportion of 0.87 immigrants (vs. high SEI, low MIG) Medium SEI, low MIG 1.04 (0.71-1.51) POOR (%) 0.0% Medium SEI, middle MIG 1.03 (0.74-1.44) POOR (%) 0.0% Low SEI, low or middle MIG 0.84 (0.57-1.24) POOR (%) 0.0% Low SEI, high MIG 0.93(0.66-1.32)POOR (%) 0.0% 0.48(0.32 - 0.71)Intercept 0.48 (0.43-0.53) 0.49(0.33-0.72)Variance of random effects 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 Corrected variance of random effects⁺ Measures of components of variance and heterogeneity PCV Reference VPC 0.000 0.000 0.000 MOR 1.00 1.00 1 00

 Table R-2. Multilevel logistic regressions for dairy products consumption (ref: daily consumption) (n= 1,603).

 2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium.

POOR: proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV: proportional change of the variance; VPC: variance partition coefficient; MOR: median odds ratio. Significant school effect in **bold**. Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3	
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value
Individual-level variables					
Gender (vs. Girls)			0.22		0.25
Boys		0.81 (0.57-1.14)		0.82 (0.58-1.16)	
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			0.98		0.88
15-16 years old		0.96 (0.62-1.50)		0.91 (0.59-1.42)	
17-20 years old		0.99 (0.64-1.53)		0.90 (0.58-1.39)	
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.007		0.004
Blended family		1.80 (1.11-3.21)		1.95 (1.15-3.32)	
Single-parent family		1.72 (1.17-2.53)		1.76 (1.20-2.60)	
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			0.18		0.37
Middle		1.60 (0.92-2.76)		1.45 (0.83-2.54)	
Low		1.87 (0.93-3.77)		1.63 (0.80-3.32)	
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)			0.43		0.56
Quite well off		0.63 (0.37-1.10)		0.68 (0.39-1.18)	
Average		0.71 (0.39-1.27)		0.76 (0.42-1.37)	
Not so/at all well off		0.78 (0.39-1.27)		0.83 (0.40-1.72)	
Parental working status (vs. Both working)			0.75	× /	0.85
One working parent		1.10 (0.74-1.63)		1.07 (0.72-1.59)	
No working parent		1.23 (0.70-2.19)		1.18 (0.66-2.09)	
Parental level of education (vs. Post-secondary)			0.006	· · · · · ·	0.03
Secondary or lower		1.83 (1.24-2.71)		1.66 (1.11-2.47)	
Undetermined		0.95 (0.43-2.14)		0.90 (0.40-2.03)	
Migration Status (vs. Natives)		× /	0.85	× /	0.96
Second-generation immigrants		1.07 (0.68-1.69)		0.99 (0.62-1.57)	
First-generation immigrants		1.16 (0.69-1.96)		1.05 (0.62-1.79)	
School-level variables				· · · · ·	
School socioeconomic index and proportion of					0.21
immigrants (vs. high SEI, low MIG)					
Medium SEI, low MIG				0.85 (0.39-1.83)	
POOR (%)				23.5%	
Medium SEI, middle MIG				1.71 (0.98-3.00)	
POOR (%)				10.5%	
Low SEI. low or middle MIG				1.55 (0.84-2.87)	
POOR (%)				29.3%	
Low SEI, high MIG				1.67 (0.94-2.97)	
POOR (%)				1.4%	
Intercept	0.11 (0.09-0.14)	0.06 (0.03-0.13)		0.06 (0.03-0.11)	
Variance of random offects	0.22	0.07		0.02	
variance of random effects*	U. <i>LL</i>	0.07		0.03	
Corrected variance of random effects	-	0.00		0.03	
Measures of components of variance and					
heterogeneity	D (
PCV	Reference	72.3%		88.7%	
VPC	0.063	0.020		0.008	
MOR	1.57	1.28		1.17	

 Table R-3. Multilevel logistic regressions for water consumption (ref: daily consumption) (n= 1,603). 2018

 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium.

POOR: proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV: proportional change of the variance; VPC: variance partition coefficient; MOR: median odds ratio. Significant school effect in **bold**. Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables

	Model 1	Model 2		Model 3	
		ORa (95% CI)	P value	ORa (95% CI)	P value
Individual-level variables					
Gender (vs. Girls)			0.05		0.06
Boys		1.40 (1.11-1.77)		1.39 (1.10-1.75)	
Age group (vs. <14 years old)			0.10		0.04
15-16 years old		1.15 (0.86-1.55)		1.11 (0.83-1.49)	
17-20 years old		0.84 (0.62-1.14)		0.78 (0.58-1.05)	
Family structure (vs. Two-parent family)			0.56		0.69
Blended family		0.90 (0.61-1.34)		0.94 (0.64-1.40)	
Single-parent family		0.86 (0.65-1.14)		0.89 (0.67-1.17)	
Family Affluence Scale (vs. High)			0.05		0.11
Middle		1.54 (1.08-2.18)		1.45 (1.02-2.04)	
Low		1.58 (0.97-2.56)		1.38 (0.85-2.22)	
Perceived family wealth (vs. Very well off)			0.24		0.34
Quite well off		0.68 (0.47-0.99)		0.72 (0.50-1.04)	
Average		0.76 (0.51-1.15)		0.81 (0.54-1.22)	
Not so/at all well off		0.72 (0.42-1.22)		0.75 (0.44-1.28)	
Parental working status (vs. Both working)			0.03		0.08
One working parent		1.34 (1.02-1.76)		1.28 (0.98-1.67)	
No working parent		1.62 (1.07-2.46)		1.50 (0.99-2.26)	
Parental level of education (vs. Post-secondary)			0.04		0.16
Secondary or lower		1.44 (1.09-1.90)		1.30 (0.99-1.72)	
Undetermined		1.14 (0.69-1.88)		1.08 (0.66-1.79)	
Migration Status (vs. Natives)			0.08		0.02
Second-generation immigrants		0.84 (0.62-1.13)		0.80 (0.59-1.08)	
First-generation immigrants		0.66 (0.45-0.95)		0.60 (0.42-0.87)	
School-level variables					
School socioeconomic index and proportion of					< 0.001
immigrants (vs. high SEI, low MIG)					
Medium SEI, low MIG				1.48 (0.93-2.35)	
POOR (%)				0.7%	
Medium SEI, middle MIG				2.52 (1.72-3.70)	
POOR (%)				0.0%	
Low SEI, low or middle MIG				3.86 (2.53-5.89)	
POOR (%)				0.0%	
Low SEI, high MIG				3.13 (2.13-4.61)	
POOR (%)				0.0%	
Intercept	0.46 (0.36-0.60)	0.35 (0.20-0.60)		0.19 (0.12-0.30)	
Variance of random effects	0.38	0.26		0.01	
Corrected variance of random effects \dagger	-	0.25		0.01	
Measures of components of variance and					
heterogeneity					
PCV	Reference	32.6%		96.9%	
VPC	0.103	0.074		0.004	
MOR	1.80	1.63		1.11	

 Table R-4.
 Multilevel logistic regressions for sugar-sweetened beverages consumption (ref: non-daily consumption) (n= 1,603).
 2018 HBSC in French-speaking Belgium.

POOR: proportion of odds ratios in the opposite direction; PCV: proportional change of the variance; VPC: variance partition coefficient; MOR: median odds ratio. Significant school effect in **bold**. Model 1: school-specific random effects; model 2: model 1 adjusted on individual-level variables; model 3: model 2 adjusted on school-level variables